UDY OF AQUATIC ENVIRONMENTS IN THE SYNCRUDE . **ELOPMENT AREA, 1984** R.L. & L. Environmental Services Ltd. and A.A. Aquatic Research Ltd.

> ENVIRONMENTAL RESEARCH MONOGRAPH 1985-3 A Public Service of Syncrude Canada Ltd.

This document has been digitized by the Oil Sands **Research and Information** Network, University of Alberta, with the permission of Syncrude Canada Ltd.

DE

ENVIRONMENTAL RESEARCH MONOGRAPH 1985- 3 A Public Service of

Syncrude Canada Ltd.



A STUDY OF AQUATIC ENVIRONMENTS IN THE SYNCRUDE DEVELOPMENT AREA, 1984 R.L. & L. Environmental Services Ltd. and A.A. Aquatic Research Ltd.

A STUDY OF AQUATIC ENVIRONMENTS

IN THE SYNCRUDE DEVELOPMENT AREA

1984

Prepared for SYNCRUDE CANADA LTD. ENVIRONMENTAL AFFAIRS DEPARTMENT

by R.L. & L. ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES LTD. and

A.A. AQUATIC RESEARCH LTD.

·

FOREWORD

The following report describes the physical, chemical and biological characteristics of streams and lakes on Syncrude's leases 17 and 22 for the open-water period of 1984. The study was designed to determine what changes, if any, have occurred since the Mildred Lake facility began operating in 1978.

Syncrude's Environmental Research Monographs are published verbatim from final reports of professional environmental consultants. Only proprietary technical or budget-related information is withheld. Because Syncrude does not necessarily base decisions on just one consultant's opinion, recommendations found in the text should not be construed as commitments to action by Syncrude.

Syncrude Canada Ltd., welcomes public and scientific interest in its environmental activities (Please address any public as or comments to Environmental Affairs, Syncricity (Canada and Canada and Ca

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

INTRODUCTION

Syncrude Canada Ltd., which has operated an oil sands extraction plant at Mildred Lake since 1978, has undertaken various environmental studies associated with the development since 1971. The purpose of the 1984 investigation, which involved a multi-disciplinary study team, was to characterize and re-define aquatic habitats and resources in the Syncrude development area. In general, the results of the study indicate that the aquatic habitat, water quality, flora, and fauna of the aquatic systems in the development area are typical of those found in the oil sands region of Alberta.

The present study entailed seasonal sampling of the following environmental components: water quality, stream flow, aquatic habitat, and aquatic biota (phytoplankton, zooplankton, zoobenthos, macrophytes, and fish). The three major sampling periods (selected by Syncrude Canada Ltd.) were early June, summer (late July to early August), and early fall (late September to early October).

AQUATIC HABITAT AND FISH

Aquatic habitats associated with both flowing and standing waterbodies were investigated. Flowing water habitats included highorder streams (e.g., MacKay River - summer flows in 1984 in the 5 to 40

iii

 $m^{3} \cdot s^{-1}$ range), medium-order streams (e.g., Poplar Creek - summer flows in the 0.2 to 3.0 $m^3 \cdot s^{-1}$ range), and low-order streams (e.g., West Interception Ditch - summer flows in the 0.02 to 0.1 $\text{m}^3 \cdot \text{s}^{-1}$ range). In terms of streamflow, the contribution of run-off water from the development area (i.e., Leases #17 and #22) to the major drainage systems (i.e., MacKay River and Athabasca River) is small. Due to major differences between systems with respect to streamflow, size, gradient, and accessibility to fish, the availability and quality of habitat varied Low-order streams (West Interception Ditch and substantially. tributaries, Bridge Creek, Lower Beaver Creek, minor tributaries to MacKay River) contained low quality habitat suited only for seasonal use by forage species such as fathead minnow, brook stickleback and lake chub. Medium-order streams (Upper Beaver Creek, Dover River, Poplar Creek) exhibited fish habitat in the low to moderate suitability range. These systems provide habitat on a seasonal basis for the larger species in addition to possible year-round habitat for forage species. The sources of the seasonal migrants are Beaver Creek Reservoir, which contributes white suckers to Upper Beaver Creek; the Athabasca River, which contributes Arctic grayling, northern pike, burbot, and suckers to Poplar Creek; and the MacKay River, which likely serves as a source of numerous species for the Dover River. The MacKay River was characterized by moderate fish habitat suitability; it provided habitat for approximately 20 species (including goldeye, walleye, northern pike, Arctic grayling, and suckers), several on a year-round basis.

Standing waterbodies in the study area (Beaver Creek Reservoir, Ruth Lake, Poplar Creek Reservoir, and Horseshoe Lake) were characterized by shallow to moderately-shallow maximum depths (range 2 to 18 m), gently sloping shorelines, and substrates dominated by organic debris. Macrophyte communities in the standing waterbodies were well developed. Submersed vegetation occurred around the periphery, to a depth of 2 m. Waterbodies within the diversion system (Ruth Lake, Beaver Creek Reservoir and Poplar Creek Reservoir) supported a simplified assemblage of fish species. Of the larger species, only white suckers were present. White suckers were abundant in the system, particularly in Beaver Creek Reservoir. The remaining species in these waterbodies were fathead minnow, brook stickleback, and lake chub. Available data indicate that Horseshoe Lake was used to a limited extent for rearing by northern pike from the Athabasca River.

WATER QUALITY

In the flowing water systems, the waters were brown in colour (except for the Athabasca River) and indicative of a typical boreal watershed. Characteristics considered deleterious or seriously inhibitory to the existing aquatic life were not encountered. The waters generally were alkaline and of the calcium bicarbonate type, although sodium bicarbonate waters frequently were present. Salinity levels in the streams remained uniform throughout the study, even though ionic dominance varied greatly. Except for some tributaries associated with the West Interception Ditch, the dissolved oxygen concentrations were above the minimum acceptable limit for fish. Concentrations of total nitrogen, total phosphorous, total iron, total manganese, and phenol

v

frequently exceeded the Alberta Surface Water Quality Objectives. The sources of these substances are considered natural since no anthropogenic inputs are known.

Standing waterbodies in the study area (i.e., Beaver Creek Reservoir, Ruth Lake, Poplar Creek Reservoir, and Horseshoe Lake) exhibited similar water quality. The waters were slightly acidic to alkaline and of the sodium bicarbonate type, with notably high concentrations of sodium and chloride ions. Beaver Creek Reservoir and Poplar Creek Reservoir were stratified. In Beaver Creek Reservoir dissolved oxygen concentrations in the deepest areas were reduced to levels below that required by fish. In Poplar Creek Reservoir, anaerobic conditions prevailed in the hypolimnion in June and July, and hydrogen sulphide gas was present. In both reservoirs, the epilimnetic waters were well oxygenated. In Poplar Creek Reservoir, highest levels of specific conductance, total nitrogen, total phosphorous, and reactive silica were present in the hypolimnion. Concentrations of total nitrogen and total phosphorus exceeded the Alberta Surface Water Quality Objectives, indicating the eutrophic nature of the system. As was the case in the flowing water systems, concentrations of trace metals and elements were generally below the detection limits. Concentrations of iron, manganese, and phenol generally exceeded the water quality objectives. The above conditions are typical of shallow and medium depth boreal lakes rich in organic matter.

vi

Except for some minor differences, the results of this investigation were similar to those described by other researchers for both flowing and standing water systems in the study area.

PHYTOPLANKTON

Phytoplankton communities in Beaver Creek Reservoir were dominated (on a volumetric basis) by Cryptophyta (cryptomonads) in the late spring, by Cyanophyta (blue-green algae) followed closely by Bacillariophyta (diatoms) in the summer, and by Bacillariophyta in the fall. Ruth Lake phytoplankton was dominated by Euglenophyta (euglenoids) in spring, Cyanophyta in summer, and Cryptophyta in fall. Phytoplankton in Poplar Creek Reservoir was dominated during all three study periods by Cyanophyta.

The dominance of the phytoplankton communities by Cyanophyta during the summer in the three waterbodies suggests that physical conditions, including macronutrient levels (i.e., low available nitrogen) and high turbidity levels (narrow trophogenic zone), were favourable for the species of this division. Overall, the species composition and trend in seasonal abundance did not differ substantially from that recorded in 1977.

ZOOPLANKTON

Zooplankton communities in Beaver Creek Reservoir, Ruth Lake, and Poplar Creek Reservoir exhibited a similar species composition in 1984. Calanoid copepods were dominated by Diaptomus oregonensis; common cyclopoids included Ancanthocylops vernalis, Diacyclops thomasi and Mesocyclops edax. Cladocerans were dominated by Daphnia parvula and other small species such as Bosmina longirostris. Rotifers generally were dominated by Keratella spp.

In general, fewer commonly occurring crustacean species and more rotiferan species were present in 1984 than in previous studies. Communities of all three waterbodies were dominated by relatively smallbodied species in 1984, although large-bodied species had been common in 1974 and 1977. Zooplankton-feeding fish (e.g., fathead minnows) may account, in part, for the apparent shift in community structure.

ZOOBENTHOS

Zoobenthic communities at stations within the study area generally exhibited diversity, abundance, and composition typical of the boreal region of northeastern Alberta. Dominant groups in the standing waterbodies included Oligochaeta and Chironomidae, and to a lesser extent, Mollusca, and the dipteran Chaoborus. Changes in the relative abundance among these groups with reference to earlier studies suggest that Beaver Creek Reservoir may be becoming more eutrophic, and that Poplar Creek Reservoir may exhibit hypolimnetic anoxia of longer duration during summer months.

Flowing water systems showed relatively low diversity. Dominant taxa were Chironomidae and Oligochaeta in depositional habitats, and

viii

Simuliidae (blackflies) and various mayfly groups in erosional habitats. During spring and summer months, the community structure appeared related to stream discharge and energy source. Erosional habitats on the larger streams harboured a community that depends on seston (i.e., drifting living and dead organic matter) probably produced within the system. Benthic communities in erosional habitats on smaller streams and in depositional habitats likely rely on dead organic matter (e.g., leaves, etc.); these habitats supported lower densities and different types of benthos.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This study was conducted jointly by R.L. & L. Environmental Services Ltd. and A.A. Aquatic Research Ltd. with the aid of a number of outside specialists. The individuals who authored sections of the report, their affiliation, and their area of contribution include the following:

Name

Affili**atio**n

Study Component

G.R. Ash J.P. O'Neil	R.L. & L. Env. Serv. Ltd. R.L. & L. Env. Serv. Ltd.	Study Manager, Editor Fisheries, Aquatic Habitat
L. Hildebrand	R.L. & L. Env. Serv. Ltd.	Fisheries, Aquatic Habitat
A. Andreychuk	A.A. Aquatic Research	Water Quality
J. Ciborowski	University of Alberta	Aquatic Invertebrates
D. Beliveau	Bio-Aquatics Research	-
	& Consulting	Phytoplankton
E.A.D. Allan	University of Alberta	Aquatic Macrophytes

In addition, the following staff of R.L. & L. Environmental Services Ltd. assisted in field data collection, sample identifications, data analyses or report typing: R. Nelson, C. Pattenden, R. Pattenden, B. Anderson, T. Clayton, C. Brodie, H. Neelands, and C. Henderson. Dr. R.S. Anderson of AMRS Bios provided the zooplankton identifications and counts. Drafting was conducted by R. Dressler of RSD Canadian Geographics Ltd.

The study team would like to thank the staff of the Environmental Affairs Department of Syncrude Canada Ltd. for their input and assistance throughout the study. The study was initiated and directed by Dr. M. Aleksiuk. Additional input and suggestions were provided by Drs. M. MacKinnon and H. Boerger. Field coordination on the Syncrude lease area was provided by J. Doyle.

xi

TABLE OF CONTENTS

PAGE

EXECU ACKNO	TIVE SUMMARY DWLEDGMENTS	iii xi
1.0	INTRODUCTION	1
1.1	BACKGROUND	1
1.2	OBJECTIVES STUDY ADEA	2
1.4	APPROACH	2
2.0		5
2.1	STUDY CHRONOLOGY AND LOCISTICS	7
2.2	NUMBER AND DISTRIBUTION OF SAMPLE STATIONS	7
2.3	AQUATIC HABITAT	9
2.3.1	FLUVIAL SYSTEMS	9
2.3.2	STANDING WATERBODIES	15
2.4	WATER QUALITY	21
2.4.1	FIELD PROCEDURES	20
2.4.2	LABORATORY PROCEDURES	26
2.4.3	DATA ANALYSIS	28
2.5	PHYTOPLANKTON	28
2.5.1	FIELD SAMPLING	28
2.5.2	LABORATORY PROCEDURES	29
	ZOOPLANKTON	29
2.0.1	FIELD PROCEDURES	29
2.0.2	BENTHIC INVERTERD ATES	30
2.7.1	LENTIC SAMDLES	33
2.7.2	LOTIC SAMPLES	33
2.7.3	ESTIMATION OF BIOMASS	35
2.7.4	SPECIES DIVERSITY	31 27
2.7.5	MULTIVARIATE ANALYSIS	30 20
2.8	FISHERIES	41
2.8.1	FIELD PROCEDURES	42
2.8.2	LIFE HISTORY ANALYSIS	47
3.0	MACKAY RIVER SYSTEM	49
3.1	AQUATIC HABITAT	49
3.1.1 3.1.9	DESCRIPTION OF DRAINAGE AREA	49
313	SIREAMFLOWS DURING STUDY PERIOD	50
3.1.4	MINOR TRIBUTARIES TO MACKAN DIVED	50
3.1.5	MAINSTEM DOVER RIVER	60
3.1.6	TRIBUTARIES TO DOVER RIVER	b1 70
3.2	WATER QUALITY	70 71
3.2.1	PHYSICAL PARAMETERS	71
3.2.2	MAJOR IONS	77
3.2.3	NUTRIENTS	80
3.2.4	TRACE METALS AND OTHER SUBSTANCES	83
3.3	ZOOBENTHOS	83
3.3.1	MACKAY RIVER	83
3.3.2	TRIBUTARIES TO MACKAY RIVER	87

TABLE OF CONTENTS

PAGE

.

Ċ

3.4	FISH	89
3.4.1	MACKAY RIVER	89
3.4.2	DOVER RIVER	110
4.0	WEST INTERCEPTION DITCH/LOWER BEAVER CREEK SYSTEM	115
4.1	AQUATIC HABITAT	115
4.1.1	DESCRIPTION OF DRAINAGE AREA	115
4.1.2	STREAMFLOWS DURING STUDY PERIOD	116
4.1.3	WEST INTERCEPTION DITCH (W.I.D.)	117
4.1.4	MINOR TRIBUTARIES TO W.I.D.	121
4.1.5	BRIDGE CREEK	122
4.1.6	LOWER BEAVER CREEK	129
4.2	WATER QUALITY	131
4.2.1.	PHYSICAL PARAMETERS	131
4.2.2	MAJOR IONS	136
4.2.3	NUTRIENTS	136
4.2.4	TRACE METALS AND OTHER SUBSTANCES	139
4.3	ZOOBENTHOS	140
4.3.1	WEST INTERCEPTION DITCH	140
4.3.2	LOWER BEAVER CREEK SYSTEM	147
4.4	FISH	151
4.4.1	WEST INTERCEPTION DITCH	151
4.4.2	W.I.D. TRIBUTARIES	153
4.4.3	BRIDGE CREEK	154
4.4.4	LOWER BEAVER CREEK	156
5.0	BEAVER CREEK DIVERSION SYSTEM	159
5.1	UPPER BEAVER CREEK	160
5.1.1	AQUATIC HABITAT	160
5.1.2	WATER QUALITY	167
5.1.3	ZOOBENTHOS	174
5.1.4	FISH	178
5.2	CREEK B1	180
5.2.1	AQUATIC HABITAT	180
5.2.2	WATER QUALITY	184
5.2.3	ZOOBENTHOS	187
5.2.4	FISH DEAMER CREEK DECERVOID	187
5.3 5.2 1	BEAVER CREEK RESERVOIR	190
5.3.1		190
522	WAILK QUALIII Duvtodi Ankton	190
534	ΓΠΙΙΟΡΔΑΝΚΙΟΝ ΖΟΟΡΙΑΝΙζΤΟΝ	202
535	ZOOPLANKION	207
536	FIGU	210
5.4	PIITH LAKE	220
5.4.1	ΑΟΠΑΤΙΟ ΗΔΒΙΤΔΤ	224
5.4.2	WATER QUALITY	224 990
5.4.3	PHYTOPLANKTON	225
5.4.4	ZOOPLANKTON	237
5.4.5	ZOOBENTHOS	245
5.4.6	FISH	247

xiv

TABLE OF CONTENTS

PAGE

5.5	POPLAR CREEK RESERVOIR	250
5.5.1	AQUATIC HABITAT	250
5.5.2	WATER QUALITY	255
5.5.3	PHYTOPLANKTON	262
5.5.4	ZOOPLANKTON	266
5.5.5	ZOOBENTHOS	273
5.5.6	FISH	279
5.6	POPLAR CREEK	281
5.6.1	AQUATIC HABITAT	281
5.6.2	WATER QUALITY	291
5.6.3	ZOOBENTHOS	294
5.6.4	FISH	299
6.0	HORSESHOE LAKE	309
6.1	AQUATIC HABITAT	309
6.1.1	PHYSICAL CHARACTERISTICS	309
6.1.2	MACROPHYTES	310
6.2	WATER QUALITY	310
6.2.1	PHYSICAL PARAMETERS	310
6.2.2	MAJOR IONS	314
6.2.3	NUTRIENTS	315
6.2.4	TRACE METALS AND OTHER SUBSTANCES	315
6.3	FISH	316
7.0		317
(.U 7 1		317
(.L 7 1 1	WAIER QUALITI DIVERAT DADAMETEDS	217
(.1.1 7 1 9	MAJOR JONS	321
(.1.4	MAJOR IONS	200
(.1.3 714	NUINIENIS TDACE METAIS AND OTHED SUBSTANCES	322
(.1.4	IRACE METALS AND OTHER SUBSTANCES	020
8.0	DISCUSSION	325
8.1	WATER QUALITY	325
8.2	PHYTOPLANKTON	328
8.3	ZOOPLANKTON	331
8.4	ZOOBENTHOS	335
8.5	FISH	336
9.0	LITERATURE CITED	343
	PHOTOGRAPHIC PLATES	351
4 DDT11		
APPENI	DIX A ~ LOCATION AND IDENTIFICATION OF 1984 SAMPLE STATIONS	
APPENI	$\mathbf{J}\mathbf{X} = \mathbf{A}\mathbf{U}\mathbf{A}\mathbf{I}\mathbf{U} \mathbf{H}\mathbf{A}\mathbf{D}\mathbf{I}\mathbf{A}\mathbf{I}$	
	DIA = 200FLANKION	
AFFENI	NY F _ FICHEDIES	
APPENI	ΊΑ Ε - ΓΙΟΠΕΛΙΕΟ ΝΥ Ε - SITE SDECIEIC COMMENTS ΒΕΙ ΑΤΊΝΟ ΤΟ ΤΗΕ ΝΙSTΒΙΤΙΤΙΟΝ -	
AFFENI	OF ACILATIC MACROPHYTES IN THE FOUR STANDING	
	WATERBODIES IN THE STUDY APEA	
ΔΡΡΕΝΙ	$\mathbf{H} \mathbf{H} \mathbf{H} \mathbf{H} \mathbf{H} \mathbf{H} \mathbf{H} \mathbf{H} $	
APPENI	$\mathbf{H} = \mathbf{Z} \mathbf{O} \mathbf{O} \mathbf{R} \mathbf{F} \mathbf{H} \mathbf{O} \mathbf{H} \mathbf{O} \mathbf{H}$	

xv

xvii

LIST OF TABLES

TABLE		PAGE
2.1	Sampling chronology for the various study components examined on waterbodies within the Syncrude Development Area, 1984.	8
2.2	Aquatic habitat variables described at transect locations.	22
2.3	Summary of analytical methods.	27
3.1	Summary of physical habitat characteristics at sampling stations on the MacKay River and Dover River, September 1984.	55
3.2	Distribution of cover types at habitat transects on the MacKay River within the Syncrude Development Area, 1984.	57
3.3	Summary of water quality data for the MacKay River system, 1984.	72
3.4	Summary of water quality objectives for the protection of aquatic life.	76
3.5	Mean density (no. per 0.1 m ²), mean biomass (mg per 0.1 m ²), diversity and taxonomic richness of zoobenthos at MacKay River mainstem and tributary stations, 1984.	86
3.6	Fish species recorded in the MacKay River system, 1984.	90
3.7	Percentage composition of fish species at repetitive boat electro- fishing (ES) stations on the MacKay River, spring and summer 1984.	92
3.8	Percentage composition of fish species at repetitive seine stations on the MacKay River, spring and summer 1984.	102
3.9	Percentage composition of fish species recorded at synoptic back- pack electrofishing and seine stations on the mainstem MacKay River, September 1984.	104
3.10	Percentage composition of fish species recorded at backpack electrofishing and seine stations on the Dover River, 1984.	112
4.1	Summary of physical habitat characteristics at sampling stations on the West Interception Ditch, July 1984.	119
4.2	Summary of physical habitat characteristics at sampling stations on Bridge Creek, July 1984.	127

xviii

LIST OF TABLES (CONT'D)

TABLE		PAGE
4.3	Summary of physical habitat characteristics at sampling stations on Lower Beaver Creek, July 1984.	132
4.4	Summary of water quality data for the West Interception Ditch/ Lower Beaver Creek System, 1984.	133
4.5	Mean density (no. per 0.1 m ²), mean biomass (mg per 0.1 m ²), diversity and taxonomic richness of zoobenthos at stations associated with the West Interception Ditch/Lower Beaver Creek System, 1984.	- 143 -
4.6	Mean density (no. per 0.1 m ²), mean biomass (mg per 0.1 m ²), diversity and taxonomic richness of zoobenthos at West Interception Ditch and tributary stations, 1977 as estimated from data of Tsui et al. (1977).	145
4.7	Percentage composition of fish species recorded at electrofishing stations on the West Interception Ditch (WID), Bridge Creek (BRC), and Lower Beaver Creek (LBC), 1984.	-
5.1	Summary of physical habitat characteristics at sampling stations on Upper Beaver Creek, September 1984 and Creek B1, July 1984.	164
5.2	Summary of water quality data for the Beaver Creek Diversion System, 1984.	168
5.3	Mean density (no. per 0.1 m ²), mean biomass (mg per 0.1 m ²), diversity and taxonomic richness of zoobenthos at stations associated with the Beaver Creek Diversion System, 1984.	-
5.4	Percentage composition of fish species recorded at backpack electrofishing stations on Creek B1, 1984.	188
5.5	Distribution pattern and relative abundance of macrophytes found in Beaver Creek Reservoir, July 1984.	195
5.6	Summary of temperature, dissolved oxygen, specific conductance and pH levels in Beaver Creek Reservoir (Station BCR-W).	197
5.7	Species composition, numerical abundance, and calculated biomass of crustacean plankton from Beaver Creek Reservoir (Station BCR-Z), 1984.	- 208
5.8	Species composition and numerical abundance of rotifers in the zooplankton of Beaver Creek Reservoir (Station BCR-Z), 1984.	209

xix	

LIST OF TABLES (CONTD)

TABLE	F	PAGE
5.9	Mean density (no. per sample), mean biomass (mg per 0.1 m ²), diversity and taxonomic richness of zoobenthos in Beaver Creek Reservoir, 1984.	218
5.10	Percentage composition of fish species recorded from Beaver Creek Reservoir, 1984.	221
5.11	Distribution pattern and relative abundance of macrophytes found in Ruth Lake, 1984.	228
5.12	Species composition, numerical abundance, and calculated biomass of crustacean plankton from Ruth Lake (Station RL-Z), 1984.	238
5.13	Species composition and numerical abundance of rotifers in the zooplankton of Ruth Lake (Station RL-Z), 1984.	239
5.14	Mean density (no. per sample), mean biomass (mg per 0.1 m ²), diversity and taxonomic richness of zoobenthos in Ruth Lake, 1984.	246
5.15	Percentage composition of fish species recorded from Ruth Lake, 1984.	248
5.16	Distribution pattern and relative abundance of macrophytes found in Poplar Creek Reservoir, 1984.	254
5.17	Summary of temperature, dissolved oxygen, specific conductance and pH levels in Poplar Creek Reservoir (Station PCR-W) during June, July and September, 1984.	256
5.18	Species composition, numerical abundance, and calculated biomass of crustacean zooplankton from Poplar Creek Reservoir (Station PCR-Z), 1984.	267
5.19	Species composition and numerical abundance of rotifers in the zooplankton of Poplar Creek Reservoir (Station PCR-Z), 1984.	269
5.20	Mean density (no. per sample), mean biomass (mg per 0.1 m ²), diversity and taxonomic richness of zoobenthos in Poplar Creek Reservoir, 1984.	277
5.21	Percentage composition of fish species recorded from Poplar Creek Reservoir, 1984.	279

XX

LIST OF TABLES (CONT'D)

TABLE PAGE 5.22 Summary of physical habitat characteristics at sampling stations on Poplar Creek, September 1984. 286 5.23 Percentage composition of various fish species in backpack electrofishing collections from Poplar Creek, 1984 (all seasons combined). 301 6.1 Distribution pattern and relative abundance of macrophytes found in Horseshoe Lake, July 1984. 312 6.2 Summary of water quality data for Horseshoe Lake, 1984. 313 7.1 Summary of water quality data for the Athabasca River, 1984. 318 8.1 Phytoplankton standing crop estimates based on the mean of three seasonal samples. 329 8.2 Post-development fish species composition in the Beaver Creek Diversion Study area recorded by previous investigators (1977. 1978 and 1981), and during the present study (1984). 342

LIST OF FIGURES

FIGURE		PAGE
1.1	Study Area	3
2.1	MacKay River watershed, fishery and habitat stations, 1984	10
2.2	West Interception Ditch/Lower Beaver Creek System, fishery and habitat stations, 1984	11
2.3	Beaver Creek Diversion System, fishery and habitat stations, 1984	12
2.4	Poplar Creek, fishery and habitat stations, 1984	13
2.5	Athabasca River and Horseshoe Lake water quality and fishery stations, 1984	14
2.6	MacKay River Watershed, limnology and water quality stations, 1984	15
2.7	West Interception Ditch/Lower Beaver Creek System, water quality and benthic stations, 1984	16
2.8	Beaver Creek Diversion System, limnology and water quality stations, 1984	17
2.9	Poplar Creek, water quality and benthic stations, 1984	18
2.10	Relationship between mean ash free dry mass (AFDM) of aquatic organisms retained in sieves and sieve aperture.	38
3.1	MacKay River hydrograph, 1 May to 21 September 1984 (based on preliminary Water Survey of Canada data for Station No. 07DB001).	51
3.2	Longitudinal profile and habitat zonation, MacKay River	53
3.3	Longitudinal profile and habitat zonation, Creek M1 and Creek M2	62
3.4	Longitudinal profile and habitat zonation, Creek M3 and Creek M4	63
3.5	Longitudinal profile and habitat zonation, Creek M5 and Creek M6	64
3.6	Longitudinal profile and habitat zonation, Creek M7 and Creek M8	65

LIST OF FIGURES (CONTD)

FIGURE		PAGE
3.7	Longitudinal profile and habitat zonation, Creek M9 and Creek M10	66
3.8	Longitudinal profile and habitat zonation, Creek M11 and Creek D1	67
3.9	Longitudinal profile and habitat zonation, Dover River	69
3.10	Ionic dominance of the major ions, and specific conductance profiles for the MacKay River System in June, July and September, 1984.	78
3.11	Relative abundance of major taxonomic groups of benthic invertebrates in the MacKay River drainage area, 1984.	85
4.1	Longitudinal profile and habitat zonation, West Interception Ditch	118
4.2	Longitudinal profile and habitat zonation, Creek W2 and Creek W3.	123
4.3	Longitudinal profile and habitat zonation, Creek W4 and Creek W5.	124
4.4	Longitudinal profile and habitat zonation, Bridge Creek	126
4.5	Longitudinal profile and habitat zonation, Lower Beaver Creek	130
4.6	Ionic dominance of the major ions, and specific conductance profiles, for the West Interception Ditch system in June, July and September, 1984.	137
4.7	Relative abundance of major taxonomic groups of benthic invertebrates in the West Interception Ditch, and Creek W3, 1984	142
4.8	Relative abundance of major taxonomic groups of benthic invertebrates in the Lower Beaver Creek drainage area, 1984	148
5.1	Beaver Creek hydrograph, 1 May to 21 September 1984 (based on preliminary Water Survey of Canada data for Station No. 07DA018).	161
5.2	Longitudinal profile and habitat zonation, Upper Beaver Creek	163
5.3	Longitudinal profile and habitat zonation, Cache Creek and Creek B2	166
5.4	Ionic dominance of the major ions, and specific conductance profiles, for the Beaver Creek Diversion system in June, July and September, 1984.	172

xxii

xxiii

LIST OF FIGURES (CONT'D)

FIGURE		PAGE
5.5	Relative abundance of major taxonomic groups of benthic invertebrates in Upper Beaver Creek and Creek B1, 1984	176
5.6	Longitudinal profile and habitat zonation, Creek B1	182
5.7	Beaver Creek Reservoir bathymetry	192
5.8	Beaver Creek Reservoir, macrophyte distribution, 1984	194
5.9	Depth profiles of temperature, dissolved oxygen, and specific conductance in Beaver Creek Reservoir during June, July, and September, 1984.	198
5.10	Abundance and percent composition of phytoplankton in Beaver Creek Reservoir, 1984.	204
5.11	Seasonal variation (by volume) of dominant phytoplankton in Beaver Creek Reservoir, 1984.	206
5.12	Abundance of Rotifera in Beaver Creek Reservoir in 1984 (present study) and in 1977 (Station BCR-1; Noton and Chymko 1978)	211
5.13	Total number and biomass of crustacean zooplankton in Beaver Creek Reservoir in 1984 (present study) and 1977 (Station BCR-1; Noton and Chymko 1978)	214
5.14	Relative abundance of major taxonomic groups of benthic invertebrates in Beaver Creek Reservoir, 1984.	217
5.15	Ruth Lake bathymetry	225
5.16	Ruth Lake macrophyte distribution 1984	227
5.17	Abundance and percent composition of phytoplankton in Ruth Lake, 1984	232
5.18	Seasonal variation (by volume) of dominant phytoplankton in Ruth Lake, 1984.	235
5.19	Abundance of Rotifera in Ruth Lake in 1984 (present study) and in 1977 (Station RL-2; Noton and Chymko 1978)	241
5.20	Total number and biomass of crustacean zooplankton in Ruth Lake in 1984 (present study) and in 1977 (Station RL-2; Noton and Chymko 1978)	244

xxiv

LIST OF FIGURES (CONTD)

FIGURE PAGE 5.21 Poplar Creek Reservoir bathymetry 251 5.22 Poplar Creek Reservoir, macrophyte distribution, 1984. 253 5.23 Depth profiles of temperature, dissolved oxygen, and specific conductance in Poplar Creek Reservoir during June, July, and September, 1984. 257 5.24Abundance and percent composition of phytoplankton in Poplar Creek Reservoir, 1984. 263 5.25 Seasonal variation (by volume) of dominant phytoplankton in Poplar Creek Reservoir, 1984. 264 5.26 Abundance of Rotifera in Poplar Creek Reservoir in 1984 (present study) and 1977 (Station PCR-1; Noton and Chymko 1978). 270 5.27 Total number and biomass of crustacean zooplankton in Poplar Creek Reservoir in 1984 (present study) and 1977 (Station PCR-1; Noton and Chymko 1978) 274 5.28 Relative abundance of major taxonomic groups of benthic invertebrates in Poplar Creek Reservoir, 1984. 2755.29 Poplar Creek hydrograph, 1 May to 16 September 1984 (based on preliminary Water Survey of Canada data for Station No. 07DA007) 283 5.30 Longitudinal profile and habitat zonation, Poplar Creek. 287 5.31 Relative abundance of major taxonomic groups of benthic invertebrates in Poplar Creek, 1984. 296 6.1 Horseshoe Lake macrophyte distribution, 1984. 311 7.1 Ionic dominance of the major ions, and specific conductance profiles, for the Athabasca River in May, July and September, 1984. 321

SECTION 1.0

INTRODUCTION

1.1 BACKGROUND

Syncrude Canada Ltd. has operated an oil sands extraction plant at Mildred Lake in northeastern Alberta since 1978. Prior to development of the project, the natural streamflow of Beaver Creek and other surface drainages was diverted from the mine and plant area. To accomplish this for the major inflow, Beaver Creek was re-channeled via Ruth Lake and a second impoundment (Poplar Creek Reservoir) to Poplar Creek and eventually the Athabasca River. To re-direct runoff from other local drainages along the west side of the development area, a 17 km long ditch was constructed. This channel, completed in May 1976, was termed the West Interception Ditch. The flows from four small tributaries presently enter the ditch and are diverted northward entering Bridge Creek, a tributary to Lower Beaver Creek. A small dam, located near the southern end of the interception ditch, diverts the flows from a fifth tributary southward into Beaver Creek Reservoir.

Syncrude Canada Ltd. has conducted numerous baseline and impact related studies of the aquatic resources in the vicinity of their development; these have been summarized in detail in a report entitled "Biophysical impact assessment for the new facilities of the Syncrude Canada Ltd. Mildred Lake Plant" by Syncrude Canada Ltd. (1984).

1.2 **OBJECTIVES**

The objective of the present study was to characterize the aquatic habitats and resources in the Syncrude development area, specifically those in Lease 17, Lease 22, and the Beaver Creek Diversion System. The study comprised an assessment (on a seasonal basis where appropriate) of the following environmental components: water quality, streamflow, physical habitat, and biological resources in the major waterbodies in the Syncrude development area.

1.3 STUDY AREA

The study area encompassed the major waterbodies in the Syncrude development area, including those in the Beaver Creek Diversion System (Figure 1.1). Specifically, the major waterbodies sampled for one or more study components were as follows:

- a) MacKay River and tributaries;
- b) Lower Beaver Creek;
- c) Bridge Creek;
- d) West Interception Ditch and four tributaries;
- e) Horseshoe Lake;
- f) Upper Beaver Creek;
- g) Beaver Creek Reservoir and one tributary (Creek B1);
- h) Ruth Lake;
- i) Poplar Creek Reservoir;



j) Poplar Creek; and

k) Athabasca River (water quality sampling only).

Due to the importance of riverine habitat outside the Syncrude lease area to fish populations within the MacKay River system, the study area was extended to km 76 on the MacKay River and km 40 on the Dover River.

The present study also included sampling of the various unnamed tributaries entering the West Interception Ditch (W.I.D.). Prior to the construction of the W.I.D., tributaries designated as Creek No. 1, Creek No. 2, Creek No. 3, and Creek No. 4 entered Beaver Creek through the area presently occupied by the mine site (Noton and Chymko 1978; O'Neil 1979; Syncrude Canada Ltd. 1984). The construction of the W.I.D. intersected these streams and in the case of Creek No. 3. intersected two branches of the system creating two separate drainages. In this study, the watersheds have been designated as Creek W2 (formerly Creek No. 1), Creek W3 (formerly Creek No. 2), Creek W4 (formerly the northern branch of Creek No. 3), and Creek W5 (formerly the southern branch of Creek No. 3). W1 refers to a drainage situated to the northwest of the W.I.D. that lacks a defined stream channel, but which flows into the W.I.D. at numerous points along its course. The designation "W" indicates those drainages entering the W.I.D. The creek entering the section of the ditch that diverts flow southward to Beaver Creek Reservoir previously has been referred to as Creek No. 4 by the above authors. In the present study, Creek No. 4 and the section of the drainage ditch to Beaver Creek

Reservoir have been designated Creek B1 since this system is contiguous with the reservoir rather than the northward draining section of the West Interception Ditch. Consequently, Creek B1, including the southward draining section of the diversion ditch, will be discussed as part of the "Beaver Creek Diversion System" section of the report (i.e., Section 5).

1.4 APPROACH

In response to the conditions specified by Syncrude Canada Ltd., the study was conducted on a seasonal basis, with major sampling periods in early June, late July to early August, and late September to early October. Through consultation with personnel in the Environmental Affairs Department, the study was designed to include the following components:

- a) physical habitat including discharge measurements;
- b) water quality;
- c) phytoplankton and zooplankton (Beaver Creek Reservoir, Ruth Lake and Poplar Creek Reservoir only);
- d) benthic macroinvertebrates;
- macrophytes (delineation of major macrophyte communities in the four standing waterbodies only); and
- f) fish.

In addition, Syncrude Canada Ltd. requested that the following tasks be undertaken for each of 14 drainage basins identified within the study

area:

- a) calculate the drainage areas;
- b) differentiate the drainage basin terrain (predominantly muskeg or highland);
- c) determine frequency of beaver impoundments (from aerial photographs);
- d) determine longitudinal gradient profiles of the major stream channel in each basin; and
- e) estimate discharges at the mouths of selected streams.

The report has been divided into nine chapters with the results presented according to the major river/lake systems or diversion system. Within each system or major waterbody, the results are presented by study component (e.g., habitat, water quality, zooplankton, etc.).

SECTION 2.0

METHODOLOGY

2.1 STUDY CHRONOLOGY AND LOGISTICS

Field surveys were conducted in the late spring, summer, and fall of 1984. Authorization to proceed with the spring fish survey and the water quality sampling on the Athabasca River was received from Syncrude Canada Ltd. in a letter dated 18 May 1984. Field work on these components commenced on 22 May and continued to 31 May. Authorization to proceed with the remainder of the study program was received on 5 June upon finalization of the study plan with Syncrude Canada Ltd. Field activities associated with the study components were conducted concurrently (Table 2.1). For most study components, sampling was conducted by two-person study teams; however, an additional person was employed for the boat electroshocking survey (spring segment) on the MacKay River. Access to the majority of sample stations was achieved either by truck, outboard powered boat, or canoe; during the fall fisheries surveys on the MacKay and Dover rivers and during the water quality/benthic surveys on the MacKay River, access was gained by helicopter. The fall habitat survey on the MacKay River was carried out using a Zodiac inflatable boat; access to the river was by helicopter. A jet-drive river boat and an all-terrain vehicle were used to access MacKay River fisheries sample stations during the spring and summer surveys. Accommodation was provided by Syncrude Canada Ltd. at the Alberta Environment Mildred Lake Research Facility.

	Habitat		Habitat		Water Quality		b	Benthic Invertebrate			Phytoplankton/ Zooplankton			Fisheries		
	Summer 18-22 July	Fall 5-10 Sept.	Spring 15-21 June	Summer 23-31 July	Fall 21-27 Sept.	Spring 15-19 June	Summer 24-30 July	Fall 21-26 Sept.	Spring 15-16 June	Summer 24-25 July	Fail 23-25 Sept.	Spring 22-31 June	Summer 15-17 July	Fall 21-18 Sept.	Summer 24–26 July	
MacKay River		x	х	х	х	х	х	х				х	х	х		
M1, M3, M4, M5, M7, M8, M9, M10, M11 M2, M6 Dover River		x	X X X	X X X	X X X	X X	X X	X X				х	X	x		
Dover River Tributary (D1)			x	х	х											
W.I.D.	х											х	x	х		
W 2												х				
W 3			х	х	х	х	Х	х								
W 4			х	х	х											
W 5			х	х	х											
Bridge Creek	х		х	х	Х	х	х	х				х	Х	х		
Lower Beaver Creek	х		х	х	х	х	х	х				х	Х	х		
Upper Beaver Creek		x ^a	х	х	х	х	Х	х				х		х		
Creek B1	х		х	х	х	х	Х	х								
Beaver Creek Res.			х	х	х	х	Х	х	х	х	х	x ^b	х		х	
Ruth Lake			х	х	х	х	х	х	х	Х	х	xb	х		х	
Poplar Creek Res.			х	х	х	х	х	х	х	х	х		х		х	
Poplar Creek		xe	х	х	х	х	х	х				х	х	х		
Athabasca River			$\mathbf{x}^{\mathbf{d}}$	х	х											
Horseshoe Lake			х	х	х								х	х	x	

1

Table 2.1 Sampling chronology for the various study components examined on waterbodies within the Syncrude Development Area, 1984.

^asurvey conducted on 26 September ^bsurvey conducted on 13 June

 $^{\rm c}$ survey initiated in 5-10 September, completed in 21-28 September period

^dsurvey conducted on 16 May

2.2 **NUMBER AND DISTRIBUTION OF SAMPLE STATIONS**

The selection of sample stations (Figures 2.1 to 2.9) was determined through discussions with Syncrude Canada Ltd. A minimum number of stations was selected to adequately characterize the various biological and chemical components of waterbodies within the study area, and allow for a reasonable comparison to previous study results.

The selection and distribution of sample stations were based on the location of previous study stations (i.e., in the Beaver Creek Diversion System), the geographical and physical characteristics of a waterbody in relation to the study component objectives, and the accessibility of the station.

To facilitate future location and identification, the 1984 sample stations were marked using paint or survey ribbon; a detailed description of location and identifying marks at each station is provided in Appendix A, Table A1.

2.3 AQUATIC HABITAT

Fluvial systems and standing waterbodies in the study area were investigated to identify pertinent physical habitat characteristics. The surveys were done in a systematic and reproducible manner to facilitate comparison of data between systems and on a year-to-year basis. The survey focused on the streams in the study area, as they had not



I

I

1

ŧ

ŧ

1

ł

£

£

I

l

ł





I

ŧ

I

ŧ

I

ſ

ſ

Ł

ł






Figure 2.5 Athabasca River and Horseshoe Lake Water Quality and Fishery Stations 1984.



ſ

ŧ

ł

ŧ

t

E

Ĩ

Ĩ

I

f

ſ

ſ

ŧ

f

f

1

ŧ

ł

f





8

ŧ

ſ

8

1

£



previously been examined in detail. Habitat surveys on the fluvial systems were scheduled during base flow periods to ensure that habitat features were recognizable and that low-flow limitations were evident (Table 2.1).

2.3.1 FLUVIAL SYSTEMS

2.3.1.1 Pre-typing

Fourteen drainage basins within Lease 17 and Lease 22 were identified by Syncrude Canada Ltd. Information on various drainage features was obtained for each of these systems using a 1:20 000 airphoto mosaic (lease area only) and 1:50 000 NTS maps (area outside lease). Drainage area was determined with a polar planimeter. Major beaver ponds along the streams (within the lease area only) were enumerated from the 1:20 000 airphoto mosaic. The surface area of the ponds was estimated using a dot grid matrix. Stream order ratings were assigned (from 1:50,000 NTS maps) for the mainstems of study streams according to the method of Strahler (1957). First-order streams are defined as those that have no tributaries; second-order streams receive only first-order channels, and so on. Stream lengths were measured using the method described by Herrington and Tocher (1967). Stream gradient profiles were based on the intersection of 2 m (1:20 000 map) and 10 m (1:50 000 maps) contour intervals. Stream discharge was estimated using the midsection procedure as described by Church and Kellerhals (1970). Velocities were recorded, using a Marsh-McBirney Model 201 electronic current meter, at

0.6 of the water column depth where channel depths were less than 0.76 m; at deeper stations the two-point method was employed (0.2 d, 0.8 d).

Prior to conducting habitat field surveys, the major study streams were delineated into discrete habitat reaches. Necessary pre-typing information was obtained from initial mapping data, from previous studies, and from information obtained during the fishery investigation program. To characterize pertinent habitat variables, sample stations were established in each of the discrete habitat reaches. The habitat stations were pre-designated in the office to minimize bias at the station selection stage. Randomness with respect to location of individual transects was achieved by using a pre-determined interval approach (e.g., first transect established at station marker; second transect 50 m upstream of first transect, etc.)

2.3.1.2 Field Procedures

Habitat stations generally consisted of multiple transects (transect cluster). The number of transects was determined by the degree of homogeneity of the habitat in the reach. Generally, only three to five transects were necessary to ensure that all habitat types were encountered. It was not feasible (due to logistic and time constraints) to sample multiple transects at habitat stations on the MacKay River, Dover River, and Upper Beaver Creek. Transect data were supplemented by habitat observations recorded during the downstream float survey on the MacKay River. An aerial habitat reconnaissance was undertaken on the Dover River (lower 40 km), and habitat observations were recorded. The spacing between transects was dependent upon the recurrence pattern of habitat features in that particular reach (i.e., wide enough spacing to ensure that all cover types had an equal opportunity of being sampled). In the present study, intervals between transects were set at either 25 m or 50 m (depending on stream size). Stations were marked or located in relation to visible landmarks to facilitate future sampling. Where feasible, aluminum plates were fastened to mature trees (above the high water mark) in the immediate vicinity of the initial transect (T1). The remaining transects were chained off from the preceeding transect and marked with flagging and/or fluorescent paint marks on nearby trees. A description of the various transect locations is provided in Appendix A, Table A1. Representative photographs were taken at each of the transect locations. A wide range of habitat descriptors was used to characterize conditions along each of the transects (Table 2.2). These variables were derived from several aquatic habitat methodologies which have been used extensively in previous studies in western Canada and the western United States (Platts 1979; Chamberlin 1980; U.S. Fish Wildlife Service 1981; Armantrout 1982; Nielsen and Johnson 1983), and from previous studies conducted in the tar sands area (O'Neil 1979, 1982). The system was modified, where necessary, after initial field testing in the present study Information obtained in the field was recorded on standardized area. habitat forms (Appendix B, Table B1).

2.3.2 **STANDING WATERBODIES**

Information on the physical habitat characteristics of standing waterbodies in the study area was collected during the course of the Table 2.2 Aquatic habitat variables described at transect locations in the Syncrude Development Area, 1984.

Variables	General Description of Variables				
Channel width	(Rooted) between rooted vegetation; (Wetted) active channel.				
Gradient	Local Gradient (%) determined at habitat stations using a clinometer.				
Mean Depth	Mean of depths at transect intervals (min. of $1/4$, $1/2$, $3/4$ width).				
Mean Velocity	Mean of velocities at transect intervals; 0.6d or 0.2d and 0.8d (d = depth).				
Cover Type Distribution	Distribution (%) of various cover types along transect.				
- Riffle - Run - Flat - Pool	Area of increased velocity, broken water surface. Area with rapid, non-turbulent flows (water surface unbroken). Area with low velocity, near laminar flow, depositional area. Area of increased depth and reduced velocity, more defined than Flat.				
Pool Type	Distribution (%) of various types, based on depth, width, cover.				
 Class 1 Class 2 Class 3 Class 4 Class 5 	Low quality, diameter <1/4 a.c.w. (average channel width), depth <0.75 m, low cover. Low to moderate quality, diameter <1/4 a.c.w., depth <0.75 m. moderate cover. Moderate quality; diameter <1/4 a.c.w., depth >0.75 m. moderate cover. Moderate to high quality, diameter >1/4 a.c.w., depth 0.75-1.0 m, low - moderate cover. High quality, diameter >1/4 a.c.w., depth >1.0 m, moderate - high cover.				
Macrophytes/algae	Extent of channel coverage on transect, Class 1 - 5 ($<5\%$ to $>75\%$).				
Bank Features	Description of various parameters on LUB (left bank viewed upstream) and RUB (right bank viewed upstream).				
 Condition (Cond.) Stability (Stab.) Undercut (Under.) Overhang (Over.) Slope Cover Depth 	Degree (%) alteration from optimal for that habitat type. Resistance to erosion (plant cover, cobble etc.), Class 1-4 (poor to excellent). Extent (cm)of bank undercutting at ends of transect. Extent (cm) of vegetation overhanging channel at ends of transect. Bank angle (Degrees) measured with clinometer. Dominant type: Class 1 (>50% bare), Class 2 (grass/forbs), Class 3 (trees), Class 4 (shrubs) Water depth (cm) at edge of wetted channel.				
Substrate Distribution ^a	Dominant size class along transect, assigned at intervals.				
- Fines - Gravels ^b - Larges ^c (cobble, boulder)	Sand, Silt (VFG (0.2 - 0.4cm), FG (0.4 - 0.8 cm) MG (0.8 - 1.6 cm) CG (1.6 - 3.2 cm), VCG (3.2 - 6.4 cm) SC (6.4 - 12.8 cm), LC (12.8 - 25.6 cm), SB (25.6 - 51.2), LB (57.2 cm+)				
- Bedrock (BR)	Bedrock Extent Surface area of coerce substrate surrounded/covered by silt				

^aModified Wentworth Classification

bVFG = very fine gravel; FG = fine gravel; MG = medium gravel; CG = coarse gravel; VCG = very coarse gravel.

CSC = small cobble; LC = large cobble; SB = small boulder; LB = large boulder.

Note: local gradient may differ from average gradient (i.e., determined for reach) due to specific variation in slope, or imprecise site measurements; useful for general comparison between stations only.

fishery, water quality, and benthic invertebrate component studies, and from descriptions provided in previous studies. This included information on depth distribution, substrate type and aquatic macrophytes. The macrophyte survey was carried out from a canoe, surveying the entire periphery of each waterbody. At irregular intervals, observations of aquatic macrophyte distribution were made along transects perpendicular to the depth contours. Vegetation generally was located at depths less than 2.0 m of water; for this reason, most of the plants could be observed from the surface. A plant hook was pulled over the bottom to determine the presence of aquatic vegetation and the extent of dispersal into the deeper portions of the lake or reservoir. A sounding line was used to measure depth. Plant identification follows the description in the Flora of Alberta, Second Edition (Moss 1983).

2.4 WATER QUALITY

The water quality program was designed to characterize the physical and chemical parameters of streams, lakes, and reservoirs within Syncrude's Leases 17 and 22, and the Beaver Creek Diversion system. A total of 45 sampling stations was established (Figures 2.5 to 2.9); of these, 22 were primary and 23 were secondary stations. Primary stations are distinguished from secondary stations by the extended number of parameters analyzed. Primary stations generally were located on the mainstem of the streams, or in lakes and reservoirs. The secondary stations were located mainly on tributaries (Appendix A, Table A1).

2.4.1 FIELD PROCEDURES

In the fluvial systems, water samples were collected at mid-channel and mid-depth using either the hand held method or a Van Dorn waterbottle (capacity: 4.5 L), depending on depth. Water samples from standing waterbodies in the study area were collected using a Van Dorn waterbottle.

On Beaver Creek Reservoir, during each survey, composite samples (containing an equal volume of water from each of 0.3 m, 2.5 m, and 4.5 m depths) were obtained from the deepest area of the reservoir. The composite samples were analyzed for the primary set of parameters. An additional sample, obtained at the same location but from a depth of 5.0 m, was analyzed for the secondary set of parameters.

Primary and secondary samples also were obtained from Poplar Creek Reservoir. During the June and July surveys, composite samples comprised of water from 1.0 m, 10.0 m, and 15.0 m depths, were analyzed for the primary set of parameters. Additional samples obtained from 15.0 m depth were analyzed for the secondary set of parameters. During July when Poplar Creek Reservoir was stratified, two additional samples (at 2.0 m and 11.0 m, indicative of waters in the epilimnion and hypolimnion, respectively) were obtained for primary analysis. During the September survey, the composite sample was comprised of water from depths of 2.0 m, 9.5 m, and 17.0 m. The epilimnion and hypolimnion samples were obtained from 5.0 m and 15.0 m depths, respectively. The

sampling location in September was changed from the previous surveys (by approximately 30.0 m) to attain a greater maximum depth.

On Ruth Lake, during the June and July surveys, composite samples contained equal portions of water from 1.0 m and 2.5 m depths. In September, because the lake was isothermal, the sample was obtained from 1.5 m depth. Samples from all periods were analyzed for the primary set of parameters. Water samples from Horseshoe Lake were collected from mid-depth (0.5 m) and analyzed for the primary set of parameters.

In the field, selected portions of the water samples were preserved according to the following:

Parameter(s)	Bottle Type	Preservative
Metals	1 L plastic	5 mL 1:1 HNO3
T. Kjeldahl N & Phosphorus	250 mL plastic	5 mL 1:1 H ₂ SO ₄
Oil & Grease	1 L glass	5 mL 1:1 H ₂ SO ₄
Mercury	150 mL glass or plastic	$2 \text{ mL } \text{K}_2 \text{Cr}_2 \text{O}_7\text{-HNO}_3$
Phenol	1 L glass	10 mL phenol preservative
Cyanide	250 mL plastic	1 mL 6N NaOH
Sulphide	250 mL plastic	2 mL 1M Zinc Acetate

Except for the samples for calcium and magnesium determinations, water samples were not filtered prior to analyses. All samples were kept refrigerated prior to air shipment to the laboratory.

Recordings of temperature, pH, specific conductance, dissolved oxygen, and turbidity were obtained in the field using the following meters:

	Parameter	Meter
1)	Dissolved oxygen/ temperature	IBC Dissolved Oxygen and Temperature Monitor Field Unit
2)	Specific conductance	Chemtrix Type 700
3)	рН	Broadley James Digital Model 10511-LCD
4)	Turbidity	HF Instruments Model DRT 15

To ensure accurate readings with the meters, each was calibrated periodically with standards of known concentrations or values. For the dissolved oxygen meter, readings periodically were compared to measurements on a given sample as determined by the azide modification of the Winkler method.

On the lakes and reservoirs, the above mentioned physical parameters, except for turbidity, generally were measured at 1.0 m intervals; turbidity measurements were taken on the composite sample.

2.4.2 LABORATORY PROCEDURES

Chemical analyses of the water samples were conducted by Chemex Labs Alberta (1984) Ltd. in Calgary. The analytical methods, summarized in Table 2.3, are based on methods adopted by Environment Canada (1983), and Alberta Environment (1977).

Table 2.3 Summary of analytical methods

Parameter	NAQUADAT CODE	Method	Detection Limit		
Calcium	20103L	A.A.	10.0		
Magnesium	121021	A.A. by Direct Aspiration	10.0 µg·L		
Sodium	111031	Flame Bhatemetry on Automation	0.1 mg-L		
Potassium	191031	Flame Photometry on Autoanalyzer	0.1 mg·L_1		
Chloride	172031	Colouring store and Autoanalyzer	0.1 $mg \cdot L_{-1}^{-1}$		
Sulphate	163061	Colourimetry on Autoanalyzer	0.1 $mg \cdot L_{1}^{-1}$		
PP-Alkalinity	101517	Colourimetry on Autoanalyzer	1.0 mg·L_1		
Alkalinity total	101011	Potentiometric Titration	0.5 mg-L_1		
Carbonate	062011	Potentiometric Titration	0.5 mg·L ⁻¹		
Bicarbonate	063011	Calculated			
Total Hardness	106001	Calculated			
Silice (Reactive)	106021	Calculated			
Total Filterable Posidue	14101L	Colourimetry - Heteropoly Blue	20.0 µg·L ⁻¹		
Total Non-Elitanoble Residue	10451L	Gravimetric	$10.0 \text{ mg} \cdot \text{L}^{-1}$		
Chamical Original Descuid	10401L	Gravimetric	10.0 mg·L ⁻¹		
Oil & Crease	08301L	K ₂ Cr ₂ 07 method	$1.0 \text{ mg} \cdot \text{L}^{-1}$		
Oli & Grease	06521P	Petroleum Ether Ext.	1.0 mg·L ⁻¹		
Total Nitrogen	07601L	UV Digestion followed by			
		Colourimetry on Autoanalyzer	25.0 ug.L ⁻¹		
Nitrate + Nitrite	07110L	Colourimetry on Autoanalyzer	3.0 10-1		
Total Kjeldahl	07015P	Colourimetry on Autoanalyzer	$0.05 \text{ mg} \text{ J}^{-1}$		
Total Ammonia	07555P	Colourimetry on Autoenalyzer	1.0 Hig L-1		
Total Phosphorus	15406P	Colourimetry on Autoanelyzer	$1.0 \mu g L_{-1}$		
Total Organic Carbon	06005L	Infrared Analysis	2.0 µg·L		
Total Inorganic Carbon	06052L	Infrared Analysis	0.2 mg·L		
Phenol	06537P	Automated 4-Aminoentinumine Colourimeters	0.5 mg·L		
Ortho-Phosphorus	152561	Colourimetry on an Autophlyzer	1.0 µg·L		
Arsenic, T.	33004P	A.A. with Hoso + UNOs Direction	2.0 µg·L -1		
Selenium, T.	34005P	A.A. with Hason + UNO2 Digestion	0.2 µg·L_1		
Boron, T.	051061	Colourimetry on an Autoanolyzer	$0.2 \mu g L_{-1}$		
Cadmium, T.	48002P	A A with Solvent Firt	0.1 µg-L_1		
Copper, T.	290052	A A with Solvent Ext.	1.0 µg·L		
ron. T.	26004P	A.A. by Direct Assistant	1.0 µg·L 1		
Chromium, T.	20004P	A.A. by Direct Aspiration	50.0 µg·L		
Manganese, T.	250041	A.A. with Graphite Furnace	1.0 $\mu g \cdot L_1$		
Zine, T.	300050	A.A. with Direct Aspiration	10.0 ug·L_1		
Lead. T.	89009P	A.A. with Solvent Ext.	1.0 µg·L		
Anadium, T.	22002F	A.A. with Solvent Ext.	1.0 µg-L_1		
Jickel T	23004P	A.A. Graphite Furnace	0.001mg·L ⁻¹		
APPOURV T	28002P	A.A. with Solvent Ext.	1.0 µg·L		
Venide T	800112	Flameless A.A. on an Autoanalyzer	0.05 μg·L ⁻¹		
Cannin & Lignin	065511	Colourimetry on an Autoanalyzer	2.0 $\mu g \cdot L^{-1}$		
annin or Eightin	062217	Tungstophosphoric and Molybdophosphate			
hulphide	101017	acid Colourimetry	0.1 mg-L ⁻¹		
luorido	16101L	Spectrophotometer	±10%		
herechold Odeur Number	09105L	Specific Ion electrode	$0.05 \text{ mg} \cdot \text{L}^{-1}$		
aleur	02001L	Sniff Test	1.0 unit		
	02021L	Colourmetric Platinum Cobalt Technique	5.0 units		
artactants	10701L	Automated Solvent Ext.	$0.02 \text{ mg} \cdot \text{L}^{-1}$		
arbon Chloroform Extraction		Concentration by Activated Carbon and Chloroform Ext.	0.2 mg·L ⁻¹		
nochemical Oxygen Demand	08202L	Measuring oxygen demand producted by	•••• mg·L		
ilver, T.	473021.	A. A with Solvent Ext	1.0 mg·L		
obalt, T.	273021	A A with Solvent Ext.	1.0 µg·L_1		
itanium, T.	925001	A.A. Burnage With Late	1.0 μg·L ₁		
luminum. T.	122001	A.A. Furnace Technique	10.0 µg·L		
arium	13302L	A.A. using graphite furnace	1.0 µg·L		
lethyl Mercaptan	200015	A.A. using graphite furnace	0.01 mg·L_1		
- · · · ·		das enromatograph	0.1 mg·L		

Notes: A.A. - Atomic Absorption; Ext. - Extraction; T. - Total

2.4.3 DATA ANALYSIS

The description of the water quality includes a comparative evaluation (description of similarities and dissimilarities) among sampling stations for each monitoring period within each of the drainage systems. The evaluation focuses on four major groups of parameters. These include: physical parameters (temperature, pH, dissolved oxygen, specific conductance), major ions, nutrients, and metals. The behaviour of the parameters and their possible sources (i.e., whether natural or anthropogenic) are discussed. The evaluation addresses the hydrological influence on water quality. Where possible, concentrations of parameters are compared to the Alberta Surface Water Quality Objectives (Alberta Environment 1977) and the Environment Canada - Water Quality Sourcebook (McNeely et al. 1979). Where possible, characterization of the waterbodies is substantiated with references.

2.5 PHYTOPLANKTON

2.5.1 FIELD SAMPLING

Discrete vertical samples were collected on a seasonal basis at one location in each of Beaver Creek Reservoir, Ruth Lake, and Poplar Creek Reservoir (Figure 2.8). Samples were collected with a Van Dorn waterbottle (capacity: 4.5 L) at 1 m depth intervals, and composited for the water column, to compensate for vertical stratification. Samples were preserved with 5% acid-Lugol's solution.

2.5.2

LABORATORY PROCEDURES

Prior to analysis, the phytoplankton samples were agitated vigorously, and 10 mL subsamples (50 mL for Ruth Lake, 24 September 1984) were dispensed into 22 mm I.D. glass sedimentation chambers (Lund et al. 1958) and allowed to sediment for 24 h (two stage sedimentation was utilized for the 50 mL sample). After sedimentation, half the basal area was scanned qualitatively with a Prior (Model 29331) inverted microscope to measure and record cell dimensions of species present for subsequent cell volume estimates. Species encountered at this level, but not enumerated, were recorded as present (P). Taxonomic keys of Prescott (1970), Taft and Taft (1971) and Webber (1971) were used for species identifications. Counts of individual cells were made at a magnification of 775X on horizontal transects of the chamber's diameter; a minimum of 200 algal units were enumerated. Individual mean cell volume estimates obtained in this manner were used to calculate total cell volumes for each enumerated species.

2.6 **ZOOPLANKTON**

2.6.1 FIELD PROCEDURES

Six vertical hauls were taken at a single station near the deepest point in each sampled waterbody (Figure 2.8). Zooplankton hauls were made with a Wisconsin style net of Nitex mesh (net mouth diameter 133.4 mm; mesh aperture 0.080 X 0.080 mm), combined, and preserved in 5% formalin.

2.6.2 LABORATORY PROCEDURES

Zooplankton counts were made under a Wild M5 stereomicroscope; identifications were made using Wild M11 or M40 compound microscopes equipped with phase-contrast.

The basic taxonomic keys used for crustacean plankton were those of Brooks, Wilson and Yeatman (in Edmondson 1959), supplemented by the keys of Brooks (1957), Smirnov (1971), Brandlova et al. (1972), Flössner (1972) and Kiefer (1978). The basic taxonomic key used for rotifers was the Voigt revision by Koste (1978), supplemented by the keys of Ahlstrom (1943) and Ruttner-Kolisko (1974). The keys used for the Chaoboridae were those of Cook (1956) and Saether (1970).

In comparison with previous investigations in the study area, some different taxonomic nomenclature has been used during the present study. **Diacyclops thomasi** is considered by Dr. F. Kiefer, the leading expert in the field, to be the correct designation of **Cyclops bicuspidatus thomasi** (Kiefer 1978) and, therefore, has been used throughout this report. Similarly, and for consistency, **Acanthocyclops vernalis** has been used in preference to **Cyclops vernalis**, and **Diacyclops navus** in preference to **Cyclops navus**.

The combined samples (i.e., six hauls) from each waterbody for each sampling date were subsampled using a modified Folsom-style splitter.

For the reservoirs, from one to three sixteenths of the original sample was counted until approximately 400 mature or identifiable organisms (excluding nauplii, early copepodids, and rotifers) were processed. For Ruth Lake, the total number counted was sometimes less than 400 because of the low total numbers of identifiable forms encountered (e.g. in the September sample, a count of the total combined sample gave less than 100 mature or identifiable crustaceans). Replication in the aliquots was very good, based on counts of certain mature forms in three aliquots or in the total sample (see Appendix C, Tables C1 to C3). Total zooplankton numbers calculated for the combined samples for each station and date were converted to numbers per cubic metre by determining the total theoretical volume filtered (i.e., net mouth area · depth of haul · six hauls), assuming a net efficiency of 100%. Although the latter assumption probably results in an underestimate of actual numbers, especially for small nauplii and rotifers, it has been retained in this study to allow data comparisons with previous studies (i.e., Syncrude Canada Ltd. 1975; Noton and Chymko 1978).

Nets cannot be considered adequately quantitative for sampling rotifers, because coarser mesh sizes (especially those greater than 0.065 mm) may allow small forms to escape, or because clogging of the net may occur; consequently, numbers derived from net hauls should at best be considered as an "order of magnitude" indication of abundance (Green 1977). Because all 1984 samples were similar in having relatively low accumulations of phytoplankton and detritus which could contribute to net aperture blockage and variable efficiency, it is likely that plankton net efficiency was similar for all samples.

Body sizes of crustacean plankton other than nauplii were determined according to the scheme employed by Noton and Chymko (1978) in order to derive a biomass estimate permitting a comparison of the 1984 data with the data gathered in 1977. Conversion formulae and rationale were the same as those employed by Noton and Chymko (1978).

Because only three samples were taken during the open water period in this study, comments on seasonal changes in zooplankton species composition and abundance and comments on changes since previous studies, will be general rather than detailed.

2.7 **BENTHIC INVERTEBRATES**

2.7.1 LENTIC SAMPLES

2.7.1.1 Field Procedures

Benthic invertebrate samples were collected from each of Beaver Creek Reservoir, Ruth Lake, and Poplar Creek Reservoir (Figure 2.8) during the spring, summer, and fall survey periods (Table 2.1). Sampling depth varied with lake morphology as shown below:

	Season		Sample Depth (m)					
Waterbody	Spring	Summer	Fall	1	3	5	10	15
Beaver Creek Reservoir	, ,			<u></u>				
(Stations B1, B2, B3)	Х	X	Х	х	Х	Х		
(Stations B4 and B5)		X	Х	Х	Х			
Ruth Lake	Х	X	Х	Х				
Poplar Creek Reservoir	Х	X	Х	X	Х	Х	Х	Х

Three replicate Ekman grab samples (area: 0.023 m^2) were taken at designated sampling depths. Each sample was washed through a sieve bucket (0.250 mm square mesh) to remove silt and fine debris. Stones, twigs, leaves and large plant fragments were discarded after examination for adhering animals. The remaining sample was placed in a tray and repeatedly flooded with lake water. The water and organic material were

poured through a 0.250 mm square mesh sieve. Remaining inorganic material was inspected for molluscans and stonecased caddisflies, and then discarded. The organic fraction was placed in a collection jar (to which was added 1.2 mL lignin pink dye; saturated solution in 95% ethanol) and preserved in 10% formalin.

In order to obtain a more extensive taxonomic list of invertebrates from each waterbody, qualitative dip net samples (0.250 mm square mesh) were taken from shoreline areas in summer and fall, when macrophyte growth was abundant.

2.7.1.2 Laboratory Procedures

In the laboratory, samples were rinsed through a graded series of sieves (mesh aperture 4.00, 2.00, 1.00, 0.500, 0.250 mm). Fractions retained in each sieve were sorted and invertebrates identified using a dissecting microscope. Fractions that contained large amounts of organic material were subsampled. Identifications were made to the lowest practical taxonomic level. Taxonomic keys used for identification included Edmondson (1959), Clarke (1973), Edmunds et al. (1976), Baumann et al. (1977), Wiggins (1977), Merritt and Cummins (1978) and Pennak (1978). Because of the possibility of contamination of the samples by planktonic forms during sample collection and processing, entomostracan crustaceans (Cladocera, Copepoda, Ostracoda) were not included in the analyses.

2.7.2 LOTIC SAMPLES

2.7.2.1 Field Procedures

Invertebrate samples were collected from the streambed of flowing waterbodies during each of the spring, summer and fall surveys (Table 2.1) at the stations identified by Syncrude Canada Ltd. (Figures 2.6 to 2.9; Appendix A, Table A1). An additional station (on Creek B1) was added during the summer and fall periods after consultation with Syncrude Canada Ltd. Triplicate samples were taken at each lotic sampling station.

A Neill cylinder sampler (Neill 1938), enclosing an area of 0.1 m^2 (mesh aperture 0.210 mm), was used to collect invertebrates from erosional habitats. Two of 18 stations (Upper Beaver Creek and Creek W3) were characterized by depositional habitats and were too deep to be sampled with a cylinder sampler. At these stations, an Ekman grab sampler was employed following the procedures used in lentic habitats. A third station (West Interception Ditch, WID-B2) also was depositional, but was shallow enough to permit use of the cylinder sampler.

The cylinder sampler was pushed 10 cm into the streambed. Cobbles were removed by hand and rubbed to dislodge adhering invertebrates. The remaining substrate was thoroughly disturbed with a metal rod and by hand to a depth of 20 cm. A sampling effort of two to three minutes was expended per sample. Contents of the catchment net were emptied into

plastic trays. Trays were repeatedly flooded with water and agitated to suspend organic material. The slurry was poured through a 0.250 mm square mesh sieve. Remaining inorganic material was examined for stonecased invertebrates and then discarded. Organic material was placed in a collection jar (to which was added 1.2 mL of lignin pink dye) and preserved in 10% formalin.

Qualitative samples also were taken at each sample station, using a dip net (0.250 mm square mesh). Aquatic sweep and/or kick samples were taken from adjacent pools, riffles, along banks, and among submerged wood and vegetation. Material collected from each habitat was placed in a water-filled tray. Each tray was examined for two to three minutes. Representatives of all visibly distinct taxa were removed and preserved in 10% formalin.

2.7.2.2 Laboratory Procedures

Sorting and identification techniques for the stream sampling program usually were identical to those used in lake surveys; however, samples containing large quantities of bitumen were pretreated prior to fractioning and sorting. This involved draining the sample, flooding with butanol and draining off this fluid. The sample was then repeatedly flooded with mineral spirits (i.e., varsol) to dissolve the bitumen. A final butanol wash was used to remove residual thinner before fractioning and sorting.

2.7.3 ESTIMATION OF BIOMASS

Reger et al. (1982) demonstrated a very precise relationship between ash-free dry mass (AFDM) of a wide variety of lentic and lotic invertebrates, and the mesh aperture of sieves that would retain them. That study used a graded series of nine sieves with apertures ranging from 0.250 to 4.0 mm. Data from Reger et al. (1982) were reanalyzed to produce a regression equation suitable for use with the sieve series employed in the present study. The resultant equation provided an excellent fit to the data ($r^2 = 0.996$; Figure 2.10). The regression equation was used to interpolate expected AFDM of an organism retained by a sieve of given aperture as shown below:

Sieve Aperture (mm)	AFDM (mg)		
0.250	0.013		
0.500	0.049		
1.00	0.189		
2.00	0.729		
4.00	2.819		

Total biomass of organisms was estimated by multiplying the number of organisms retained per sieve by the appropriate interpolated AFDM value, then summing the products.

2.7.4 SPECIES DIVERSITY

Species diversity (H') at all lotic and lentic stations was estimated using the Shannon-Weaver function as expressed by Lloyd et al. (1968).



Figure 2.10 Relationship between mean ash free dry mass (AFDM) of aquatic organisms retained in sieves and sieve aperture. Dashed lines represent 95% prediction limits. Data from Reger et al. (1982). Data points are means of composite measurement of at least 7000 animals.

This was calculated according to the formula:

 $H' = -\Sigma p_i Log_2 p_i$

where: p_i was the decimal fraction of total individuals in

all replicates belonging to the ith taxon.

To avoid bias induced by over-representation of taxa identifiable to lower taxonomic categories, taxa were considered only at the family level.

A second measure of diversity, taxonomic richness (i.e., total number of taxa present in all collections at a station), also was determined, to make maximum use of the additional information gained from the qualitative sweep samples.

2.7.5 MULTIVARIATE ANALYSIS

Multivariate analysis techniques such as cluster analysis (CA) and principal component analysis (PCA) are frequently used in the assessment of water quality (Green 1979). These techniques summarize data sets (matrices) into graphical forms that are relatively easy to interpret.

Cluster analysis graphically illustrates the degree of similarity among pairs of groups of similar sites, but distorts the relationships among members of larger (i.e., more dissimilar) clusters (Sneath and Sokal 1973). In contrast, PCA is characterized by faithful representation of similarity between major groups or clusters, but is notorious for distorting apparent similarity between (compositionally) close neighbours (Sneath and Sokal 1973). In this study, cluster analysis (Wishart 1978) was used to group river sampling stations that were similar in macroinvertebrate composition. Dendrograms were used to display station groupings.

Seasonal progression in running water systems induces marked changes in zoobenthic composition independently of most habitat characteristics. Because interstation similarities and differences were of primary interest in this study, data from each sampling season were analysed independently.

Principal component analysis (PCA) was used to estimate which taxa were most responsible for differences in taxonomic composition of invertebrate communities among lotic sampling stations. The details of PCA have been outlined by several authors including Davis (1973) and Orloci (1975). Briefly, PCA summarizes the information from a covariance matrix (for abundance data) or correlation matrix (for presence/absence data) in terms of new components. The first principal component accounts for the greatest proportion of total variation among stations. Successive components contribute progressively smaller portions of the total variation. The first two or three principal components usually account for most of the variability in the original data.

Further analysis may then be performed to evaluate the relationship between abundance of individual taxa among sites, and each principal component. A correlation between a taxon and a principal component implies that differences in the abundance of that particular taxon among stations are largely responsible for the observed overall differences in composition. This information, together with knowledge of the ecological requirements of these taxa, permits speculation as to what environmental features (natural or otherwise) may be controlling zoobenthic distribution among stations in the study area.

In this study, the abundance data were transformed to logarithms (Ln(X+1)) before the statistical analysis was performed. To eliminate the potential undue influence of rare species, only taxa that constituted at least 10 % of the total number in any one sample were included in the analysis.

Detailed results of the multivariate analyses are presented in Appendix H; general findings are summarized in the Discussion (Section 8.4).

2.8 **FISHERIES**

Fisheries sampling stations were established in 1984 on the waterbodies indicated by Syncrude Canada Ltd. (Figures 2.1 to 2.5; Table 2.1). The sampling method employed was dictated by the physical characteristics of the system. At sample stations established during previous studies (i.e., O'Neil 1979, 1982), and sampled again in the present study, similar sampling gear and procedures were employed. The designations of these stations also were retained. Sample stations established in 1984 (i.e., those without a prior station designation) were generally coded in a consistent manner, with station numbers increasing with increased upstream distance. In some systems, however, the inclusion of a new station between established stations resulted in nonsequential station codes.

2.8.1 FIELD PROCEDURES

Four fish sampling techniques were employed in the present study: boat electroshocking (ES), backpack electrofishing (EF), seining (S) and gill netting (G). Of these, only boat electrofishing had not previously been employed in the study area. A description of each of the sampling methods is provided below.

2.8.1.1 Gill Netting

In standing waterbodies, standardized gill net gangs were used as the primary method for sampling larger fish. These gangs consisted of 15.2 m by 2.4 m net panels of the following mesh sizes: 3.8 cm, 6.4 cm, 8.9 cm, and 10.2 cm (stretched measure). All nets were of monofilament construction.

In all instances, nets were set overnight. Catch per unit effort (CUE) was calculated on a standard unit of effort, namely, the application of one net-unit over a 12 h (overnight) period. The combined surface area of the 3.8 cm, 6.4 cm, and 8.9 cm mesh panels constituted one net-unit. The 10.2 cm mesh was excluded from the calculations as this mesh size failed to catch fish. In addition, CUE values were calculated from a netunit applied overnight (regardless of time set) with no indexing to a standard 12 h sampling duration.

Gill nets were set at or near the surface of the water column. Water depth of set locations generally ranged from 3.5 m to 6.0 m (Beaver Creek Reservoir), 2.0 m to 2.5 m (Ruth Lake), and 3.0 m to 4.0 m (Poplar Creek Reservoir). In each waterbody, test-gangs were set at locations sampled in previous studies (Figure 2.3).

2.8.1.2 Seining

An 8.6 m by 1.7 m seine was used to collect smaller fish (i.e. cyprinids and young-of-the-year) in standing waterbodies and in the MacKay and Dover rivers. The main body of the seine was constructed of 1.0 cm mesh (stretched measure), with a centre mounted collection bag constructed of 0.3 cm mesh (stretched measure).

Seine hauls in standing waterbodies were conducted at stations established during previous studies (Figure 2.3). Three seine hauls were conducted at each station to account for localized differences in habitat type and the habitat preferences displayed by the various fish species present. At seine stations on the MacKay and Dover rivers (Figure 2.1), the number of hauls at each station varied from one to three, depending on the availability of shoreline area suitable for sampling by this method.

Haul length in standing waterbodies was set at 25 m; in flowing waterbodies, haul lengths ranged from 20 m to 35 m. Maximum water depth at sample stations varied from 30 cm to 120 cm. Median depth (i.e. the depth at a point midway between shore and the offshore end of haul) was recorded for each haul to allow characterization of the depth profile. Other parameters recorded at each haul location included extent of aquatic vegetation, substrate type, and fish distribution-habitat preferences.

Sampling efficiency during each haul was rated on a scale of one to four, with one representing the highest level of efficiency. Only data from hauls assessed ratings of one or two were considered valid for CUE calculations. In some cases, this involved conducting additional hauls to obtain three efficient replicates. CUE calculations were based on the number of fish per unit area (i.e., number of fish per 10 m² of sampled surface area).

2.8.1.3 Backpack Electrofishing

Backpack electrofishing was conducted in streams and rivers within the study area using a Smith-Root Type VII backpack electrofisher. The majority of sampling was conducted with the unit producing 300 VDC (pulsed) at 0.5 to 1.5 A. Pulse rate and pulse width were normally set at 60 Hz and 6 ms, respectively.

Stream reaches selected for replicate sampling were flagged during the spring survey. On Poplar Creek, sampling was conducted at stations previously sampled in 1978 and 1981 (Figure 2.4). The primary sample sections (i.e., sampled during each of the spring, summer, and fall periods) ranged from 150 m to 300 m in length. Catch per unit effort values were based on a standard unit of effort, in this case, electrofisher operating time in minutes. Operating time rather than stream length or area was selected as the unit of sampling effort because it was more readily quantifiable and allowed comparison of catch between stations. Length and area of stream sampled varied considerably between stations in response to seasonal changes in stream flow and/or wading conditions. Sampling efficiency was rated at each station on a scale of one to four, with one representing the highest efficiency level. Also recorded was information describing fish distribution-habitat preferences, stream habitat conditions, water clarity, and water temperature.

2.8.1.4 Boat Electroshocking

Boat electroshocking was conducted on the MacKay River in 1984. Three sample stations (each approximately 5 km in length) were sampled during the spring and summer periods (Figure 2.1). Low water levels prevented the use of this method during the fall period. Boat electroshocking also was conducted during the spring on Beaver Creek Reservoir, Ruth Lake, the diversion channel connecting Beaver Creek Reservoir and Ruth Lake, and the lower section of Upper Beaver Creek (Figure 2.3). Boat electroshocking was conducted using a Smith-Root Type V1-A boat electroshocking unit powered by a 4000-watt gas-powered generator. The electroshocking apparatus was operated from a 4.6 m aluminum work boat, modified for safe and efficient sampling (i.e., flat bowdeck with safety rail, mounted anodes, etc.). A three-person crew was utilized (i.e., boat operator and two netters) during the spring survey on the MacKay River. A two-person crew (i.e., one operator and one netter) was employed during the summer MacKay River survey and the spring reservoir surveys as insufficient numbers of fish were present to warrant the use of two netters.

The Smith-Root Type V1-A electroshocking system operates at an input voltage of 230 VAC at approximately 15 A; output voltages of 0-1000 VAC (in 166V increments) at 0.1-10.0 A are available to the operator. Most effective fish capture occurred with the unit set between 336-504 VDC and outputting between 5 to 7 A. A pulse rate of 60 Hz and a pulse width of 7 ms were utilized.

The electroshocking procedure consisted of moving in a downstream direction (at motor idle) and alternating from bank to bank to allow sampling of all habitat types. Captured fish were placed in holding tubs; when holding capacity was reached (approximately 20 fish), electroshocking was suspended and fish sampling undertaken. Fish escaping the electric field or avoiding the netter were enumerated by crew members and recorded as observed. At each stop, pertinent data were recorded on standardized catch record forms, including: number of fish captured and observed, section length (km), sampling time (s), sampling efficiency (on a one to four rating scale with one as the most efficient rating), habitat conditions (depth, velocity, substrate, cover type, water temperature, visibility, etc.), and electroshocker settings.

2.8.2 LIFE HISTORY ANALYSIS

All sport fish species and a representative sample of coarse fish (i.e., sucker) and forage fish (i.e., cyprinid) species were measured (fork length to the nearest millimetre) and weighed. Sex and state of maturity were determined either externally from the extrusion of gametal products or by dissection. Appropriate aging materials were collected from all sport fish species. Fin-rays and scales were collected from a representative sample of sucker species; aging was carried out largely to complement the length-frequency analysis (i.e., the assignment of ageclasses to modal peaks) for these species. Scales (from goldeye, whitefish and yellow perch) were mounted between glass microscope slides and read using a 3M, Model SRC816 microfiche reader. Fin-rays (first two left pelvic rays from walleye) were sectioned with a jewellers' saw (7/0 blade). Fin sections were mounted in Diatex mounting medium and viewed under a dissecting microscope. Cleithra (from northern pike) and otoliths (from burbot) were aged using a dissecting microscope.

Life history data (i.e., age, length, weight, sex, maturity, etc.) collected during the study were entered onto standard fish data forms suitable for computer analysis using R.L. & L. Environmental Services Ltd. software package (FISHPAK).

SECTION 3.0

MACKAY RIVER SYSTEM

3.1 AQUATIC HABITAT

3.1.1 DESCRIPTION OF DRAINAGE AREA

The MacKay River (and associated tributaries) drains an area of 5550 km^2 and is the largest system within the Syncrude Development Area (Appendix B, Table B2). The lower reaches of the river (approximately 60 km) pass through the northwest corner of Syncrude Lease 17 and bisects Syncrude Lease 22 (Figure 1.1). At present, mining activities do not occur within the MacKay River watershed.

The MacKay River originates in the Algar Plains of the Birch Mountains Upland and flows in a generally northeastern direction for approximately 200 km before entering the Athabasca River near the village of Fort MacKay. Two major tributaries, the Dover River (drainage area 963 km²) and the Dunkirk River (drainage area 2183 km²) drain areas to the west of the MacKay River, entering the mainstem approximately 27 km and 147 km, respectively, upstream from the mouth.

The majority of the MacKay River drainage basin consists of mixed spruce and sparsely treed muskeg terrain. The river water is coloured due to the presence of dissolved organic matter; however, suspended sediment levels generally are low.

The study area on the MacKay River extended from the mouth upstream to km 76.0 (Figure 2.1). Numerous smaller drainages, some ephemeral, enter the MacKay River within the study area. Eleven of these systems (M1-M11) were sampled for water quality parameters and discharge characteristics in the present study. The 1984 study area on the Dover River extended from the mouth upstream for 40 km.

3.1.2 STREAMFLOWS DURING STUDY PERIOD

In 1984, the peak flow event in the MacKay River occurred on 2 June at which time a discharge of 116.0 $\text{m}^3 \cdot \text{s}^{-1}$ was recorded (Water Survey of Canada, preliminary data, 1984). Prior to this, during the first three weeks of May, flows were in the order of 3 to 4 $\text{m}^3 \cdot \text{s}^{-1}$ (Figure 3.1). Minor peaks also occurred on 16 July (48.6 $\text{m}^3 \cdot \text{s}^{-1}$), 15 August (24.4 $\text{m}^3 \cdot \text{s}^{-1}$), and 13 September (12.6 $\text{m}^3 \cdot \text{s}^{-1}$). Relatively low flows (4 to 8 $\text{m}^3 \cdot \text{s}^{-1}$) were recorded during the late July to mid-August period. Discharge data for the three major seasonal sampling periods on the MacKay River, Dover River, and minor tributaries are provided in Appendix B, Table B2.

3.1.3 MAINSTEM MACKAY RIVER

Physical habitat characteristics of the mainstem MacKay River have been evaluated by several previous investigators. Griffiths (1973), in a study for the Alberta Fish and Wildlife Division, described and rated the system according to the Canada Land Inventory (C.L.I.) classification scheme. R.R.C.S. (1975) reviewed the information presented by Griffiths


Figure 3.1 MacKay River hydrograph, 1 May to 21 September 1984 (based on preliminary Water Survey of Canada data for Station No. 07DB001).

l

I

ł

1

ł

ł

ł

1

1

I

(1973) during a study conducted for the North East Alberta Regional Plan. Gradient profiles were developed which identified major habitat zones. In a study for Syncrude Canada Ltd., McCart et al. (1978) recorded habitat information at 13 sites distributed from km 61 to the mouth. These data, which were general in nature, pertained to channel width and depth, substrate type, riffle, bank type and stability, and species distribution of aquatic macrophytes. Machniak et al. (1980) characterized the habitat in the MacKay River under the regional A.O.S.E.R.P. studies using a preliminary application of the methodology outlined by Brown et al. (1978). This involved establishing habitat reach boundaries using 1:50 000 N.T.S. maps and available gradient information (R.R.C.S. 1975). General descriptions of each reach were acquired during aerial surveys, and site specific information collected at point sample locations. was A.O.S.E.R.P. investigators conducted a more systematic evaluation of aquatic habitat during 1979 (Walder et al. 1980). The system of reach classification and biophysical measurements used was based on the approach devised by the Resource Analysis Branch, B.C. Ministry of Environment (Chamberlin and Humphreys 1977). Reaches were defined and site specific information was obtained at point sample locations.

3.1.3.1 Habitat Zonation

Four major reaches based on gradient differences are represented within the Syncrude development area (Figure 3.2). Reach designations follow the classification of Walder et al. (1980); however, kilometreage intervals and gradients determined in the two studies (1979 and 1984) do

52



Figure 3.2 Longitudinal profile and habitat zonation, MacKay River.

ł

I

1

Î

1

1

ł

1

Ł

L

1

t

1

. L

1

not correspond in all cases. More detailed mapping was available in the present study (1:20 000 airphoto mosaics with 2 m contour intervals as opposed to 1:50 000 N.T.S. maps with 10 m contour intervals in the earlier study).

In 1984, detailed habitat sampling was conducted at nine stations (H1-H9) situated at specified intervals throughout section km 58 to km 0 (confluence with Athabasca River). The results obtained at stations H1-H9 are provided in Table 3.1. Additional sampling of a synoptic nature (49 stations) was conducted at each kilometre location.

Reach 1 (km 0.0-1.4)

Reach 1 is situated within the Athabasea River flood plain; as such, it is subject to inundation due to back-flooding. The channel exhibits a relatively straight pattern. The average gradient for the reach was estimated to be less than that determined for the adjacent upstream reach $(0.7 \text{ m} \cdot \text{km}^{-1})$ based on flow characteristics and substrate composition; however, accurate data on the elevation of the MacKay River-Athabasea River confluence was not available so the actual gradient could not be determined. The wetted channel width at the primary habitat station (H1) was 45 m (Table 3.1); the mean depth at this station was 65 cm (range: 45-74 cm). Current velocities (mean of $33 \text{ cm} \cdot \text{s}^{-1}$) were low, reflecting the low gradient nature of the reach. The habitat at H1 was predominantly Flat (i.e., 100% at transect H1); as such, it was relatively homogeneous with little habitat diversity (Table 3.1).

				Ch	annel Featur	es at Transe	et			Cove	er Type	Distri	butio	n (%)		
		Water Temp(^o C)	Rooted	Wetted	Local Gradient	Mean Depth	Mean Velocity	Discharge					Po	ol Typ	e	
Station	Date	(Time)(h)	Width (m)	Width (m)	(%)	(em)	(em•s ⁻¹)	(m ^{3.} s ⁻¹)	Riffle	Run	Flat	1	2	3	4	5
MacKay F	liver															
H1	9 Sept.	9 (1700)	52	45	0.25	65 (45-74)	33 (22-43)	9.0	-	-	100	-	-	-	-	-
H2	9 Sept.	9 (1549)	48	25	0.25	119 (88-173)	36 (30-42)	-	-	52	48	-	-	-	-	-
H3	9 Sept.	9 (1305)	42	34	0.50	68 (20-118)	56 (15-84)	10.38	-	74	2	-	-	24	~	-
H4	9 Sept.	9 (0940)	41	22	0.75	64 (38-103)	77 (70-86)	-	-	100		-	-	-	-	-
Н5	8 Sept.	9 (1414)	36	27	0.5	70 (44-105)	54 (40-62)	-	-	100		-	-		~	-
H6	8 Sept.	9 (1056)	34	27	0.75	120 (96-135)	34 (16,5-52)	-	-	85	15	-	-	-	~	-
H7	7 Sept.	10 (1626)	63	32	1.0	54 (15-89)	57 (20-104)	-	-	100	-	-	-	-	~	-
H8	7 Sept.	9 (1327)	38	34	0.5	135 (58-200)	48 (26-60)	~	-	48	16	-	-	36	~	~
H9	7 Sept.	9 (0955)	36	33	2.0	45 (30-63)	79 (58-124)	9.2	64	36		-	-	•	~	-
Dover Riv	/er															
HI	8 Sept.	9 (1623)	16	10	1.0	27 (9-52)	43 (19-66)	1.2	-	100	-	-		-	-	-
H2	24 Sept.	7 (1528)	17	8	2.0	24	67 (48-82)	-	65	11	16	8	-	-	~	-
H3-T1	24 Sept.	6 (1235)	16	14	0.5	43	8 (3~17)	-	-	66	34	-	-	-	-	-
-T2	24 Sept.	6 (1317)	22	14	1.0	24	27	-	37	28	3	32	-	-	-	~
H4	24 Sept.	(1011) 6 (1049)	20	14	0.5	44 (13-65)	6 (1-14)	0.5	-	42	58	-	-	-	-	-

Table 3.1 Summary of physical habitat characteristics at sampling stations on the MacKay River and Dover River, September 1984.

			Bank Fe	atures (RUI	B/LUB)						Subs	strate	e Distri	bution	(%)				Aquati	c Veg.
Station	Cond. (%)	Stab. (No.)	Under. (em)	Slope (Deg.)	Cover (No.)	Depth (em)	Over. (em)	Sand	Silt	FG	MG	CG	VC G	\$C	LC	SB	LB (BR)	EM B. (No.)	Macro. (No.)	Algae (No.)
MacKay I	River															-				
H1	90/40	2/2	0/0	145/145	2/4	0/0	0/0	58	-	· _	-		-	14	-	-	(28)b	3	1	1
H2	5/90	3/2	0/0	170/160	4/1	0/0	0/0	52	-	-		-		24	24		~.	3	1	1
H3	15/40	2/3	0/0	165/105	2/2	0/0	0/10	-	_			-	36	44	18	-	(2) ^b	3	1	1
H4	10/5	3/4	0/0	145/160	1/1	0/42	0/0	-	-	-	-	-	-	75C	-	-	(25)Þ	3	1	1
115	100/40	4/1	0/0	140/90	1/2	0/24	0/25	-	~	-	-	-	~	-		-	(100)b	N/Ad	1	1
H6	90/40	2/2	0/0	130/95	4/2	0/62	0/20	32	-	-		~	-	-	-	68	-	1	1	3
H7	100/100	1/1	0/0	140/140	1/1	0/0	0/0	~	-	-	-	-	~	-	38	62	-	3	0	3
H8	100/100	2/2	0/0	95/130	1/4	0/0	0/0	18	11	-	-		-	-	71		-	3	1	NDd
H9	0/100	4/1	0/0	160/145	4/1	0/0	0/0	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	63	37	-	4-5	0	2
Dover Riv	ver																			
H1	90/0	1/4	0/0	150/160	1/2	0/0	0/0	-	_			_	_	19	28	37	(16)	3	1	2-3
H2	10/20	4/4	0/0	165/145	1/1	0/0	0/0	~		-	-	-	-	51	49	-	-	4	1	3
H3-T1	30/10	3/4	0/0	90/125	4/2	47/0	80/70	~			-	-	-	-	~	100		2 - 3	1	5
-T2	60/85	2/2	0/60	160/150 (47) ^e	4/3	0/0	0/0	~	28	-	-	-	-	22	20	20	(10)	2	3	4
H4	20/15	3/3	0/0	90/115	2/2	11/0	5/50	~	-	-	-		-	-	100	-	-	3-4	1	5

^aWSC Station No. 07DB001 (preliminary data) ^bBitumen bedrock.

Cobble embedded in bitumen. ^dND - data unavailable; N/A - not applicable. ^eAngle of undercut in parentheses. Note: Description of terms in Table 2.2.

The results of the synoptic survey (Table 3.2) show similar trends. Substrate in the reach consists primarily of gravels, with some areas of sand (Walder et al. 1980). The substrate distribution at station H1 was as follows: 58% sand, 28% bitumen bedrock, and 14% small cobble (6.4-12.8 cm).

Reach 2 (km 1.4-4.5)

Reach 2, which is 3.1 km in length, lies just above the Athabasca River floodplain. The river flows in a sinuous channel through a narrow valley (Walder et al. 1980). The average gradient in the reach was $0.7 \text{ m} \cdot \text{km}^{-1}$. Channel width was considerably less than in the downstream section. A wetted channel width of 25 m was recorded at H2 (9 September). The mean channel depth at this location was 119 cm (range: 88 to 173 cm). Current velocities (mean of 36 cm \cdot s⁻¹) were slightly higher than those obtained in Reach 1. The increased gradient in Reach 2 resulted in reduced presence of Flat habitat and increased availability of Run cover At transect H2 (Table 3.1), the cover type distribution was as type. follows: 52% Run and 48% Flat. For the combined H2 and synoptic transects (Table 3.2), Run habitat accounted for 63% of the habitat; Flat contributed the remaining 37% (Plate 1). Three major pools were recorded (in intervening sections between primary transects) during the float survey. Two pools were in the Class 3 (moderate quality) category and one was in the Class 5 (high quality) category. The substrate at H2 consisted of 52% sand and 48% cobble; the cobble was distributed evenly between the small (6.4 to 12.8 cm) and large (12.8 to 25.6 cm) category.

						Major Pool Distribution ^b						
		Cover	on(%)		Class							
Reach (Sub-reach)	Location (km)	Riffle	Run	Flat	Pool	3	4	5	Total			
R1	0-1.4			100	_	0	0	0	0			
R2	1.4-4.5	-	63	37	-	2	0	1	$\frac{3}{(1,0)}$			
R3(1)	4.5-15.3	14	56	28	2	1	4	3	8			
R3(2)	15.3-36.3	11	65	22	2	1	5	4	(0.7) 10 (0.5)			
R3(3)	36.3-41.2	20	41	29	10	0	3	0	(0.5)			
R4(1)	41.2-52.9	29	40	28	3	1	3	3	(0.0)			
R4(2)	52.9-59.0+	15	48	36	1	0	0	0	0.6)			

Table 3.2. Distribution of cover types at habitat transects^a on the MacKay River within the Syncrude Development Area, 1984.

^aData collected during downstream float survey (km 58-0) on 7-9 September; 58 transects (H1-H9 and 49 synoptic). ^bTotal number; the number per kilometre is given in brackets.

L

ł

ł

1

. **L**. . **L**.

1

L

Les La L

La La La La

- L

. 1

.....

ŧ

Reach 3 (km 4.5-41.2)

The channel in Reach 3 is characterized by a tortuous, meandering pattern; it is entrenched within a canyon incised 40 to 50 m deep into the McMurray Oil Sands formation. The high, near-vertical stream banks are predominantly unstable; exposed oil sands deposits are common (Walder et al. 1980).

Reach 3 is 36.7 km in length and exhibits an average gradient of 1.3 $m \cdot km^{-1}$ which is substantially higher than that exhibited by the downstream situated Reach 2 (Figure 3.2). The section was subdivided into three sub-reaches owing to localized differences in channel form and habitat characteristics. These differences were not major enough to warrant separate reach status. Wetted channel widths at stations H3 to H6 ranged between 22 m and 34 m. Mean depths varied from 64 cm (H4) to 120 cm (H6); mean velocities also showed considerable variability. ranging between 34 cm·s⁻¹ (H6) and 77 cm·s⁻¹ (H4). The distribution of habitat cover types was fairly similar in all sub-reaches. Both primary habitat station data (Table 3.1) and synoptic transect data (Table 3.2) indicate a preponderance of Run type habitat and a corresponding decrease in Flat type habitat. This reflects the higher gradient in Reach 3 relative to Reach 2. Reach 3 also possesses a higher diversity of habitats (i.e., presence of all four major habitat cover types) relative to downstream sections. A total of 21 major pools were enumerated in Reach 3, with the majority of these being located in the lower two subreaches. The frequency of occurrence, however, was similar in all three sub-reaches, being in the order of 0.6 pools per kilometre. Granular substrates, ranging from very coarse gravel (3.2 to 6.4 cm) to small boulder (25.6 to 51.2 cm), were prevalent at each of the primary habitat transects. Bitumen bedrock and small cobble (6.4 to 12.8 cm) embedded in bitumen also were noted, particularly in Sub-reaches 1 and 2.

Reach 4 (km 41.2-60.0+)

The channel in Reach 4 is characterized by an irregular meander pattern and is confined by the valley walls; however, there is considerable evidence of previous lateral channel movement (i.e., oxbows and meander scars). Outside meander bends are frequently steep and slumping, although the proportion of unstable banks in this reach is noticeably lower than in Reach 3 (Walder et al. 1980).

Reach 4 is 25.5 km in length; of this, 18.8 km are situated within the Syncrude Development Area (i.e., upper lease boundary at km 60). The average gradient in Reach 4 is $2.1 \text{ m} \cdot \text{km}^{-1}$ which is considerably higher than downstream sections (Figure 3.2). Two sub-reaches were identified by Walder et al. (1980). Sub-reach 1 extends from km 41.2 to 52.9; the remaining section up to and beyond the lease boundary is contained within Sub-reach 2. Wetted channel widths at primary habitat stations were very similar (about 33 m) (Table 3.1). Depths and velocities at the transects were variable. Riffle and Run habitats were predominant in the reach, a reflection of the high gradient. High quality pools were well represented in Sub-reach 1 (frequency of 0.6 pools per km) but were absent in the upper section (Table 3.2). Numerous small, shallow pools were noted in Sub-reach 2.

3.1.4 MINOR TRIBUTARIES TO MACKAY RIVER

Numerous small, unnamed tributaries enter the MacKay River within the Syncrude Development Area. Eleven of these systems (M1-M11) were investigated in this study. Six of the streams (M3, M4, M5, M8, M9, M11) were assigned to the first-order category according to Strahler (1957) (Appendix B, Table B2). The mean drainage area for these systems was 4.2 km² (range: 2.1 to 6.4). Three second-order streams were identified (M1, M7, M10); the mean drainage area for these systems was 19.1 km² (range: 11.1 to 28.1). The remaining two streams (M2, M6) were given a third-order rating; the drainage area for these systems was 72.4 km² and 52.4 km², respectively.

Discharges in first-order streams during the June measurement period ranged from less than 0.01 to 0.06 m³·s⁻¹. In July, no measurable flow was recorded in M9; the remaining five were flowing at less than 0.01 m³·s⁻¹. In September, measurable flow did not occur in three of six first-order streams. Discharge in the remaining three was less than 0.01 m³·s⁻¹. June flows in second and third-order streams were higher than in first-order systems, ranging from 0.02 to 0.17 m³·s⁻¹. By September, all but M2 (the largest third-order stream) were flowing at less than 0.01 m³·s⁻¹. A discharge of 0.05 m³·s⁻¹ was recorded in M2 in September. All streams exhibited a steep gradient in the lower reaches (Figures 3.3 to 3.8; Plate 3). These sections correspond with the descent of the stream into the incised MacKay River valley. Control of these sections by beaver activity was neglible to non-existent, depending on the system. Gradients in upstream reaches were low to moderate, with an increased frequency of beaver control and pondage. Of all systems, Creek M2 exhibited the greatest ponded area (Figure 3.3). Muskeg was the dominant terrain type in all of the systems except M1 which featured predominantly highland terrain.

Due to the presence of numerous severe habitat limitations (unacceptable minimum flows, steep gradients, access blockage, etc.), Creeks M1-M11 were not considered to have any significant value as fish habitat other than for non-game or forage species (e.g., fathead minnow, brook stickleback).

3.1.5 MAINSTEM DOVER RIVER

Physical habitat conditions in the Dover River have been examined previously. Griffiths (1973), in a preliminary assessment, assigned a low suitability rating to the Dover River (Canada Land Inventory Classification). In 1978, Machniak et al. (1980) divided the Dover River into four discrete habitat reaches based on differences in gradient, flow Site specific habitat characteristics, substrate, and channel form. sampling was conducted at two locations. More detailed habitat investigations undertaken A.O.S.E.R.P. in 1979 were by



Figure 3.3 Longitudinal profile and habitat zonation, Creek M1 and Creek M2.









Figure 3.5 Longitudinal profile and habitat zonation, Creek M5 and Creek M6.



Longitudinal profile and habitat zonation, Creek M7 and Creek M8. Figure 3.6

CREEK M7



Figure 3.7 Longitudinal profile and habitat zonation, Creek M9 and Creek M10.

ست

CREEK M11



Figure 3.8 Longitudinal profile and habitat zonation, Creek M11 and Creek D1.

(Walder et al. 1980). On the basis of the additional information provided, the Dover River was further subdivided (i.e., total of six habitat reaches). Both A.O.S.E.R.P. studies concluded that habitat in the Dover River was of poor quality and that the system was rarely utilized by sport fish. Major limiting factors identified were low overwintering potential, limited spawning habitat, and high frequency of beaver dams impeding access. The habitat reaches identified by Walder et al. (1980) were maintained in the present study, although actual kilometreage at reach boundaries may differ slightly due to differences in map scales used (i.e., 1:20 000 airphoto mosaics used in 1984; 1:50 000 NTS maps used in 1979).

3.1.5.1 Habitat Zonation

The lower two habitat reaches (R1, R2) and a portion of Reach 3 are situated within the Syncrude Development area; they provide a total stream length of 29.0 km. During the present study, detailed habitat mapping was undertaken at four locations on the Dover River (H1-H4) (Figure 2.1). The results of the survey, which was conducted on 8 September (H1) and 24 September (H2-H4), are provided in Table 3.1.

Reach 1 (km 0-12.5)

Reach 1 is a high gradient section extending 12.5 km upstream from the MacKay River confluence (Figure 3.9). The channel features an irregular, meandering pattern. Stream banks generally consist of silt, sand, and gravel, and are predominantly unstable (Walder et al. 1980).

DOVER RIVER

I

I

l

l

I

l

L

I



l

Figure 3.9 Longitudinal profile and habitat zonation, Dover River.

I

1

I

I

I

L

The average gradient in Reach 1 (4.4 $\text{m}\cdot\text{km}^{-1}$) is high due to the descent of the Dover River into the incised MacKay River valley. Riffle and Run habitat were the dominant habitat cover types at stations H1 and H2 (Table 3.1). The substrate was predominantly small cobble (6.4 to 12.8 cm), large cobble (12.8 to 25.6 cm), and small boulder (25.6 to 51.2 cm).

Reach 2 (km 12.5-19.5)

Reach 2 is a transition zone between the high gradient habitat in Reach 1 and the lower gradient conditions in Reach 3. The average gradient in Reach 2 is moderate $(1.7 \text{ m} \cdot \text{km}^{-1})$. The habitat was diverse in this section; all habitat cover types were represented (Table 3.1). Pool quality in the reach was notably low.

Reach 3 (km 19.5-29.0+)

Reach 3 is a low gradient section $(0.9 \text{ m} \cdot \text{km}^{-1})$. This is reflected in the low habitat diversity (i.e., dominated by Flat cover type), and the high incidence of beaver activity (Plate 2).

3.1.6 TRIBUTARIES TO DOVER RIVER

Creek D1 is the major tributary entering the Dover River within the study area (Figure 2.1). It is a second-order stream with a drainage area of 27.6 km^2 . Discharge was recorded on three occasions during the study

(Appendix B, Table B2). Values ranged from 0.05 to $0.01 \text{ m}^3 \cdot \text{s}^{-1}$ from the June to the September survey. Creek D1 features a steep gradient in the lower reach (Figure 3.8); beaver control of this reach is negligible. Reach 2 displays a moderate gradient and frequency of beaver activity, and pondage increases correspondingly. Due to the presence of severe habitat limitations (low flow, restricted access, etc.), Creek D1 is unlikely to have any important value as fish habitat.

3.2 WATER QUALITY

3.2.1 PHYSICAL PARAMETERS

Water temperatures in the MacKay River ranged from 7.0 to 24.5^oC with the lowest and the highest values occurring in September and July, respectively (Table 3.3). A longitudinal temperature gradient was not apparent. In 1979, a maximum summer water temperature of approximately 26^oC was recorded in the MacKay River by Charlton and Hickman (1984). The high summer water temperatures recorded in previous studies and during the present survey reflect the relatively shallow, exposed nature of the MacKay River mainstem. Water temperatures of sampled tributaries ranged from 5.0 to 20.0^oC, with the highest value recorded at the Dover River in July.

The pH values recorded at all sample stations within the MacKay River drainage system ranged from neutral (pH 7.0) to alkaline (pH 8.6). Generally, pH was highest during the September sample period. Similar

Table 3.3. Summary of water quality data for the MacKay River system, 1984.

Site/Date		MR-W	3		M11-W	r		M10-W		M9-W	MS	-W		M7-W	
Parameter	20 June	30 July	21 Sept.	20 June	30 July	21 Sept.	20 June	30 July	21 Sept.	20 June	20 June	30 July	20 June	30 July	21 Sept.
Temperature ^o C	16.0	24.5	8.0	15.0	15.0	7.5	16	18.5	7.0	14.0	16.0	16.5	15	19.0	7.5
pH	7.3	7.4	7.6	7.1	7.5	8.2	8.1	8.0	8.6	7.1	7.5	7.9	7.6	8.2	8.3
Specific Conductance uS·cm ⁻¹	180	200	220	190	300	350	680	900	1000	225	450	470	455	525	575
Dissolved Oxygen	10.5	8.2	11.1	10.9	11.6	10.3	10.7	7.8	10.5	11.0	8.4	8.0	10.0	8.7	9.4
Oxygen % Saturation	100	97	93	107	112	85	107	82	86	105	85	80	97	93	77
Turbidity N.T.U.	18.0	9.0	4.4	21.0	8.5	1.7	15.5	7.0	7.0	13.0	1.1	20.0	31.5	23.0	30.0
Calcium	18.80	23.20	23.80	18.80	39.80	44.30	44.90	63.50	00.08	20.40	28 90	50.60	27.50	45 40	50.00
Magnesium	6.60	9.70	8.80	7.00	14.70	18.00	20.20	27.00	29.10	9.00	14 10	18.60	12.60	18 10	23 30
Sodium	9.60	10.20	16.30	8.50	21.50	24.70	75.00	122.00	158.00	17.80	40.50	45.50	48.00	50.50	58.00
Potassium	1.19	0.77	0.62	2.12	2.58	2.68	3.37	3.93	4.08	1.26	3.41	3.18	2.14	2 66	2 87
Chloride	1.70	1.60	1.70	1.10	1.50	1.30	6.70	11.00	15.30	3.50	3.20	3.30	5.30	5.00	5.40
Sulphate	18.4	17.9	13.5	24.9	37.6	38.6	70.0	102.0	126.0	24 7	88.0	60 0	46 5	19.4	25 5
Oil & Grease	1.0	0.9	L0.1			0010		102.0	12010	24.1	00.0	0010	4010	13.4	20.0
PP. Alkalinity as CaCO ₂	1.0.1	L0.1	L0.1	1.0.1	1.0.1	L0 1	1.0.1	31.0	1.0.1	1.0.1	1.0.1	1.0.1	1.0.1	74	101
Alkalinity, T. as CaCO2	72.0	96.2	107.0	61.0	168.0	192.0	264.0	433 0	501.0	91.0	112 0	238.0	155.0	267.0	326.0
Bicarbonate	88.0	117.5	130.5	74.5	205.0	234.0	322.0	452.0	610.5	111.0	137.0	290.0	189.0	307.5	397.5
Carbonate							02210	37.0	01000		10110	20010	10010	9.0	00110
Hardness, T. as CaC02	74.0	98.0	96.0	76.0	160.0	185.0	195.5	270 0	292.0	88.0	130.0	203.0	121.0	198.0	221.0
Silica (Reactive)	4.67	5.31	4.20	3.10	5.00	5.64	7.45	9.44	12.50	7 50	2 55	7 60	3 93	8 00	8 60
Total Filterable Residue	110	122	140						12.00		2100		0.00	0.00	0.00
Total Non-Filterable Residue	32.0	6.0	2.0												
Chemical Oxygen Demand	87	94	124												
Nitrogen, T. as N	1.04	1.13	1.19	1.11	1.17	0.67	1.07	1.28	0.63	1.21	0.98	1.19	1.21	1.46	1.28
Nitrate + Nitrite Nitrogen as N	0.040	0.007	0.006	0.006	0.167	0.010	0.005	0.051	0.010	0.008	0.003	0.006	0.008	0.156	0.022
Kieldahl Nitrogen, T. as N	1.00	1.12	1.18	1.10	1.00	0.66	1.06	1.23	0.62	1.20	0.98	1.18	1.20	1.30	1.26
Ammonia Nitrogen, T. as N	0.05	L0.01	L0.01	0.05	L0.01	L0.01	0.05	0.03	L0.01	0.07	0.03	0.10	0.05	0.10	0.03
Phosphorus, T. as P	0.124	0.126	0.053	0.078	0.027	0.025	0.250	0.042	0.132	0.070	0.029	0.355	0.102	0.089	0.057
Ortho-Phosphorus as P	0.049	0.074	0.034						01105	0.010	0.020	0.000	0.105	0.005	0.001
Total Organic Carbon	35.5	32.5	37.0	33.7	26.2	25.0	34.2	26.8	26.9	54.0	26.5	27.3	41.5	35.6	35.7
Total Inorganic Carbon	14.0	18.0	21.0	12.0	35.0	43.0	60.0	91.0	109.0	18.0	24.0	56.0	34.0	57.0	71.0
Phenol	0.009	0.022	0.012						10000	10.0	2110	00.0	01.0	0110	11.0
Cvanide, T.	0.005	0.006	0.009												
Arsenic, T.	0.0011	0.0016	0.0007												
Selenium, T., µg·L ⁻¹	L0.2	L0.2	0.4												
Boron, T.	0.20	0.17	0.15												
Cadmium, T.	L0.001	L0.001	L0.001												
Copper, T.	0.001	0.001	L0.001												
Iron, 1.	1.05	2.21	1.00												
Chromium, T.	0.001	0.001	0.001												
Manganese, T.	0.080	0.070	0.020												
Zine, T.	0.002	0.002	0.004												
Lead, T.	1.0.002	0.004	1.0.002												
Vanadium, T.	L0.001	L0.001	1.0.001												
Nickel, T.	0.006	0.001	L0.001												
Mercury, T. ug·L ⁻¹	L0.1	0.1	L0 1												
Tannin & Lignin	3.6	4 1	34												
Ion Balance	1.03	1 03	1.06	1.09	1 00	1.03	1.05		0.08	1.05	1.07	1.00	1.0.9	1.02	0.07
	2.00		1.00	1.05	1.00	1.05	1.00		0.35	1.00	1.07	1.00	1.00	1.03	u.3(

Notes: All values are reported in $mg \cdot L^{-1}$ unless otherwise stated. L - Less Than; T. - Total; N - Nitrogen; P - Phosphorus. Continued ...

Table 3.3. Continued.

Site/Date		M6-W			M5-W			MR-W2			M4-W			M3-W	
Parameter	19 June	30 July	21 Sept.	19 June	30 July	21 Sept.	19 June	30 July	21 Sept.	19 June	30 July	21 Sept.	19 June	30 July	21 Sept.
Temperature ⁰ C		17.5	8.0	14	19.0	6.0	17.0	23.5	8.0	16.0	16.0	6.5	16.0	14.0	7.0
nemperature e	7.8	7.5	8.0	8.1	8.2	8.3	8.0	7.7	7.5	7.5	7.9	8.2	7.7	7.7	7.9
Specific Conductance uS-cm ⁻¹	260	330	340	280	380	380	175	190	225	225	250	300	220	375	340
Dissolved Oxygen	10.7	8.1	9.8	10.5	8.8	11.1	9.8	8.2	11.4	10.6	8.8	10.8	10,5	7.9	9.0
Oxygen % Saturation	105	84	82	100	94	88	100	95	96	106	88	87	105	76	73
Turbidity N.T.U.	4.3	25.0	30.0	5.0	3.0	3.2	22.0	7.8	4.3	9.8	17.0	51.0	3.3	2.7	1.6
Calcium	18.60	26.00	26.30	20.20	32.60	34.80	18.80	29.10	24.50	16.30	27.30	22.80	20.70	71.10	57.00
Magnesium	9.50	9,90	12.40	8.40	13.70	14.30	6.60	6.60	9.00	5.90	8.90	8.80	8.10	20.70	19.50
Sodium	31.10	40.00	39.00	34.60	55.00	53.50	10.00	10.60	17.00	26.00	42.50	42.50	28.50	57.00	47.00
Potassium	2.25	2.20	2.62	1.68	2.15	1.67	1.27	0.82	0.62	0.70	0.95	1.35	1.33	2.10	1.69
Chloride	8,60	9.50	8.40	9.40	14.40	16.40	2.20	2.40	2.60	15.20	21.00	20.00	10.10	32.70	24.40
Sulphate	21.8	15.0	15.4	21.7	47.5	50.0	19.1	17.9	14.5	28.1	14.8	15.1	16.5	20.2	11.6
Oil & Grease							0.7	1.1	0.6						
PP, Alkalinity as CaCO ₂	L0.1	L0.1	L0.1												
Alkalinity, T. as CaCO ₂	110.0	163.0	162.0	116.0	205.0	173.0	71.0	93.8	108.0	67.0	136.0	129.0	106.0	310.0	263.0
Bicarbonate	134.0	199.0	197.5	141.5	250.0	211.0	87.0	114.5	132.0	82.0	166.0	157.5	129.0	378.0	321.0
Carbonate															
Hardness, T. as CaC02	86.0	106.0	117.0	85.0	138.0	146.0	74.0	100.0	98.0	65.0	105.0	93.0	85.0	263.0	223.0
Silica (Reactive)	5.55	6.20	6.45	4.50	6.80	6.84	4.75	5.30	4.12	3.04	3.60	5.75	6.35	8.60	7.50
Total Filterable Residue							110	124	140						
Total Non-Filterable Residue							63.2	11.0	2.4						
Chemical Oxygen Demand							107	94	104						
Nitrogen, T. as N	1.24	1.45	1.23	1.55	1.42	1.32	1.14	1.15	1.08	1.47	1.49	1.44	1.63	1.25	1.10
Nitrate + Nitrite Nitrogen as N	0.055	0.151	0.014	0.006	0.062	0.018	0.34	0.006	0.004	0.008	0.067	0.022	0.006	0.114	0.015
Kieldahl Nitrogen, T. as N	1.18	1.30	1.22	1.54	1.36	1.30	1.10	1.14	1.08	1.46	1.42	1.42	1.62	1.14	1.08
Ammonia Nitrogen, T. as N	0.06	0.01	L0.01	0.06	0.01	L0.01	0.05	0.05	L0.01	0.07	0.05	L0.01	0.07	0.02	L0.01
Phosphorus, T. as P	0.124	0.192	0.080	0.089	0.077	0.051	0.119	0.109	0.049	0.112	0.142	0.145	0.066	0.035	0.030
Ortho-Phosphorus as P							0.046	0.070	0.034						
Total Organic Carbon	38.0	38.0	37.0	53.0	50.0	46.0	36.2	33.0	37.7	65.0	66.5	66.0	59.0	36.5	36.5
Total Inorganic Carbon	23.0	33.0	35.0	23.0	43.0	36.0	14.0	19.0	21.0	11.0	28.0	26.0	21.0	67.0	57.0
Phenol							0.012	0.009	0.010						
Cvanide, T.							0.005	0.007	0.008						
Arsenic, T.							0.0015	0.0012	0.0008						
Selenium, T. ug·L ⁻¹							L0.2	L0.2	0.5						
Boron. T.							0.19	0.17	0.15						
Cadmium, T.							L0.001	L0.001	L0.001						
Copper, T.							0.001	0.001	L0.001						
fron T							1.52	2.13	0.96						
Chromium T							0.001	0.002	0.001						
Mangapasa T							0.070	0.080	0.030						
Zing T							0.003	0.012	0.004						
Land T							1.0.002	1.0.002	1.0.002						
Venedium T							0.004	L0.001	0.001						
Nickel T							0.006	10.001	1.0.001						
Manual T un I-1							1.0 1	101	1.0.1						
mercury, 1. µg.1.							3 7	4 4	3 4						
rammi a Lignin	1.09	1.02	1.08	1.07	0.95	1.06	1 04	1.07	1.07	1.04	1.09	1.08	1.08	1.03	1.06
Ion Datance	1.08	1.02	1.00	1.01	0.33	1.00	1.04	1.01	1.01	**04	1.00		-100		2.00

All values are reported in mg·L⁻¹ unless otherwise stated. L - Less Than; T. - Total; N - Nitrogen; P - Phosphorus. Notes:

Continued ...

Table 3.3. Continued

Site/Date		D1-W			DR-W			M2-W			M1-W			MR-W	1
Parameter	20 June	30 July	21 Sept.	19 June	30 July	21 Sept.	19 June	30 July	21 Sept.	19 June	28 July	21 Sept.	20 June	24 July	22 Sept.
Temperature ⁰ C	13.0	13.5	6.0	18.0	20.0	8.0	12.0	16.0	7.0	12.0	18.0	5.0	16.0	24.0	7.0
рН	7.1	7.6	8.1	8.0	7.9	8.0	7.6	7.5	8.0	7.4	7.7	7.7	7.1	7.0	7.1
Specific Conductance µS·em ⁻¹	260	440	275	325	300	380	250	580	300	325	475	540	220	200	225
Dissolved Oxygen	11.2	8.5	10.2	9.7	8.0	9.3	9.8	7.7	10.0	10.5	8.3	9.0	10.3	8.4	11.5
Oxygen % Saturation	105	80	81	100	87	77	90	77	82	96	86	70	102	100	94
Turbidity N.T.U.	7.1	3.0	1.9	8.5	10.0	6.4	21.0	21.0	9.2	6.5	4.4	3.3	21.0	8.5	4.2
Caleium	20.30	41.90	26.00	26.80	34.10	41.20	22.20	43.70	27.20	26.00	46.00	54.00	19.80	20.00	27.10
Magnesium	9.10	16.60	12.30	11.50	9.20	16.80	10.50	16.70	12.60	9.90	15.60	22.00	7.10	6.50	9.70
Sodium	21.00	39.00	25.50	27.40	24.00	37.50	24.70	42.50	26.50	41.50	50.00	57.00	11.50	10.50	19.20
Potassium	1.06	2.00	1.37	1.83	1.13	2.00	1.80	2.38	1.60	1.75	2.75	2.52	1.27	0.65	0.73
Chloride	8.70	9.30	7.50	5.00	3.90	6.20	7.00	15.00	7.70	17.20	19.30	16.70	2.50	1.80	3.40
Sulphate	38.0	91.0	33.2	20.0	13.6	20.5	23.0	37.5	18.4	28.2	14.0	16.6	19.6	15.1	15.0
Oil & Grease				1.1	0.4	0.9							1.4	0.4	L0.1
PP. Alkalinity as CaCO ₃	L0.1	L0.1	L0.1	1.0.1	L0.1	L0.1									
Alkalinity, T. as CaCO ₃	76.0	142.0	117.0	145.0	148.0	217.0	125.0	201.0	140.0	132.0	233.0	287.0	78.0	84.5	119.0
Bicarbonate	93.0	173.0	143.0	177.0	180.5	265.0	152.5	245.0	171.0	161.0	284.0	350.0	95.0	103.0	145.0
Carbonate															11010
Hardness, T. as CaCO ₃	88.0	173.0	116.0	114.5	123.0	172.0	99.0	178.0	120.0	106.0	179.0	225.5	79.0	77.0	108.0
Silica (Reactive)	2.76	4.70	4.00	2.40	2.90	3.23	2.10	3.50	3.75	6.75	9.70	9.00	4.52	4.75	4.00
fotal Filterable Residue				195	176	265							120	115	155
Total Non-Filterable Residue				4.8	4.0	3.6							28.4	23.6	1.6
Chemical Oxygen Demand				78	94	79							87	83	104
Nitrogen, T. as N	1.27	1.17	1.03	1.14	1.25	1.00	1.15	1.24	1.01	1.63	1.85	1.01	1.08	1.22	1.11
Nitrate + Nitrite Nitrogen as N	0.005	0.032	0.007	0.006	0.017	0.005	0.005	0.057	0.010	0.005	0.111	0.012	0.036	0.023	0.006
Kjeldahl Nitrogen, T. as N	1.26	1.14	1.02	1.08	1.24	1.00	1.14	1.18	1.00	1.62	1.74	1.00	1 04	1 20	1 10
Ammonia Nitrogen, T. as N	0.05	0.02	L0.01	0.05	0.02	L0.01	0.05	0.03	L0.01	0.09	0.15	0.01	0.05	0.19	10.01
Phosphorus, T. as P	0.066	0.034	0.037	0.120	0.142	0.068	0.086	0.086	0.064	0.064	0.103	0.065	0 129	0 105	0.049
Ortho-Phosphorus as P				0.051	0.078	0.048							0.052	0.060	0.034
Total Organic Carbon	51.5	46.5	49.5	35.2	36.0	28.8	40.0	35.0	37.3	64.0	64.0	50.5	35.0	36 7	36 3
Total Inorganic Carbon	15.0	29.0	22.0	30.0	27.0	48.0	24.0	42.0	29.0	27.0	55.0	65.0	15.0	16.0	23.0
Phenol				0.007	0.007	0.005							0.009	0.011	0.011
Cyanide, T.				0.004	0.006	0.006							0.005	0.006	0.008
Arsenic, T.				0.0009	0.0011	0.0008							0.0010	0.0008	0.0007
Selenium, T. µg·L ⁻¹				L0.2	L0.2	0.3							10.2	L0 2	0.0001
Boron, T.				0.30	0.24	0.22							0.20	0.19	0.17
Cadmium, T.				L0.001	L0.001	L0.001							L0.001	1.0.001	10.001
Copper, T.				0.001	0.001	L0.001							0.001	0.001	10.001
iron, T.				1.52	2.21	1.23							1 31	1 95	0.01
Chromium, T.				L0.001	0.002	0.001							0.001	0.002	0.01
Manganese, T.				0.040	0.060	0.020							0.060	0.050	0.001
Zine, T.				0.002	0.001	0.005							0.000	0.030	0.010
Lead, T.				L0.002	L0.002	L0.002							10.000	10.004	10.003
Vanadium, T.				0.005	L0.001	0.003							1.0.001	10.002	10.002
Nickel, T.				0.005	1.0.001	L0.001							0.007	0.001	10.001
Mercury, T. µg·L ⁻¹				L0.1	L0.1	L0.1							101	0.001	P0.001
Tannin & Lignin				3.0	4.2	2.3							2.0	10.1	LU.1
lon Balance	1.09	1.04	1.06	1.02	1.05	1.04	0.98	1.05	1.05	1.07	1.06	1.09	3.0	4.1	J.5
							0.00		1.03	1.01	1.00	1.00	1.03	0.98	1.08

Notes: All values are reported in $\operatorname{ing} L^{-1}$ unless otherwise stated. L - Less Than; T. - Total; N - Nitrogen; P - Phosphorus pH levels were reported by Akena et al. (1981) in the MacKay River during the summer. The pH levels recorded in the present study were within the Alberta Surface Water Quality Objectives (ASWQO) of 6.5 to 8.5 (Table 3.4).

In the MacKay River, total non-filterable residue concentrations ranged from 1.6 to $63.2 \text{ mg} \cdot \text{L}^{-1}$; the concentrations were notably higher in June than in the subsequent sample periods, and exhibited a positive relationship to discharge rates.

A brown colouration was exhibited by MacKay River drainage waters due to the presence of dissolved organic matter.

Dissolved oxygen concentrations in the MacKay River drainage ranged from 7.7 to 11.6 mg·L⁻¹ and were above the ASWQO of 5.0 mg·L⁻¹, which is generally considered adequate for the survival of fish. The dissolved oxygen levels recorded in June and September were similar while the July values generally were lower. The percent saturation values ranged from 70 to 112% with the highest values recorded in June. Supersaturation probably was a result of increased oxygen production by photosynthesizing plants. McCart et al. (1978) recorded similar dissolved oxygen levels in the MacKay River in 1977, although supersaturated conditions were not recorded until August and September.

Parameter ^a	ASWQO ^b	Environment Canada ^c
рН	6.5 - 8.5	
Dissolved Oxygen	5.0 (minimum)	
Total Nitrogen as N	1.0	
Total Phosphorus as P	0.05	0.100 ^d ; 0.025 ^e
Aluminum, T.		0.100 (tentative
Cyanide, T.	0.01	
Arsenic, T.	0.01	
Selenium, T.	0.01	
Boron, T.	0.5	
Cadmium, T.	0.01	0.0002
Copper, T.	0.02	0.005
Iron, T.	0.30	
Chromium	0.05	0.040
Manganese, T.	0.05	
Zinc, T.	0.05	0.030
Lead, T.	0.05	0.030
Nickel, T.		0.025
Mercury, T.	0.0001	
Silver, T.	0.05	
Fluoride	1.5	
Threshold Odour Number (20°C)	8	
Phenol	0.005	0.001
Surfactants	0.05	
Carbon Chloroform Extraction	0.2	
Sulphide	0.05	
Methyl Mercaptan	0.05	

Table 3.4Summary of water quality objectives for the protection of aquatic life.

aAll values are reported as $mg \cdot L^{-1}$ unless stated otherwise.

^bASWQO - Alberta Surface Water Quality Objectives by Alberta Environment (1977).

cEnvironment Canada by McNeely et al. (1979).

^dValue for flowing water.

eValue for lakes and reservoirs.

3.2.2 MAJOR IONS

The MacKay River water was of the calcium bicarbonate type with an ionic dominance of $HCO_3^- > Ca^{++} > Mg^{++} > Na^+ > SO_4^- > C1^- > K^+$ (Figure 3.10). Although the concentrations of each ion generally were similar at each sampling station, slight seasonal variation was exhibited by most ions, with concentrations increasing from June to September. This was confirmed by the specific conductance values which showed a similar pattern. Charlton and Hickman (1984) also reported summer peaks of specific conductance. Sodium concentrations exhibited the greatest increase in September, relative to the previous sampling periods. This increase likely resulted from an increase in the proportion of groundwater, which is common during periods of low flow. Similar conditions were reported by McCart et al. (1978). In addition, these authors indicated that water in the MacKay River shifted to a sodium chloride type during the winter period. However, in 1978 and 1979 sodium concentrations in the MacKay River during the summer periods nearly equalled those recorded in the winter (Charlton and Hickman 1984). These authors indicated that the summer flows during 1978 and 1979 were similar except that in 1978 the September flows were three times higher. The 1984 summer flows were similar to those in 1979 except that the June flows in 1984 were two times higher. In 1978 and 1979, the mean flows for July and September were approximately three to four times less than the long term means for those months (Water Survey of Canada 1983). In 1979, the mean flow in June was similar to the long term mean, while in the same month the 1978 monthly mean was approximately one-half of the long term mean.

77



Figure 3.10 Ionic dominance of the major ions, and specific conductance profiles for the MacKay River System in June, July and September, 1984.

Ĩ

ł

E

I

f

ł

f

I

ŧ

I

ľ

I

I

I

I

I

l

ł

f

In general, the tributaries exhibited higher concentrations of total filterable residue than the MacKay River mainstem. Highest concentrations of total filterable residue among the tributaries was recorded at station M1-W. The ionic dominance varied considerably among the tributaries. At stations M11-W, M9-W, M2-W, D1-W, and DR-W (Dover River), the water was of the calcium bicarbonate type; at the remaining stations, water of the sodium bicarbonate type was present during at least one sampling period. At the majority of stations, the concentrations of most ions were inversely related to discharge rates, with the highest concentrations generally recorded in September. At stations M3-W, D1-W, and M2-W, however, concentrations of major ions exhibited a decrease in this period. The flows in these creeks during September were equal to or greater than those present during the July survey. Normally, concentrations of most major ions increase during low flow periods, particularly in fall and winter due to increased influence from groundwater. Groundwater generally has higher concentrations of total filterable residue than waters originating from surface runoff. The data suggest that the groundwater to surface runoff ratio has an important role in determining the ionic composition of the waters in this drainage system.

Although notable differences existed in ionic composition between tributary and mainstem MacKay River waters, the tributaries, because of their low discharges, did not contribute to a discernible change in the water quality of the mainstem.

79

3.2.3 NUTRIENTS

Nitrogen, phosphorus, and reactive silica are the major nutrients required by plants: of these, the dissolved fractions of total nitrogen and total phosphorus are most important in determining primary productivity in streams. Reactive silica is particularly important to diatoms. Total organic carbon is used as an energy source by bacteria and other heterotrophic organisms.

3.2.3.1 Nitrogen

The total nitrogen concentrations among the stations in the MacKay River system were similar and ranged from 0.63 mg N \cdot L⁻¹ at M10-W to 1.85 mg N \cdot L⁻¹ at M1-W. Most values exceeded the ASWQO of 1.0 mg N \cdot L⁻¹. Lowest concentrations generally occurred in September, showing a direct relationship to stream discharge. Important seasonal changes in nitrogen concentrations normally occur between early spring, summer, and winter periods. Logan (1977) reported that maximum transport of nitrogen occurs during storm runoff and early spring, and that during summer low flow, sediment transport of nitrogen is minimal. McCart et al. (1978) reported that total nitrogen in the MacKay River ranged from approximately 0.55 to 0.75 mg N \cdot L⁻¹ during the June to September period. The nitrate + nitrite concentrations in the MacKay River ranged from 0.006 to 0.340 mg N \cdot L⁻¹, with the highest concentrations occurring in June. Similar concentrations were evident in the tributaries. Normally, maximum inorganic nitrogen levels occur

80

during the winter and spring periods as a result of nitrification (Hutchinson 1957). Ammonia concentrations in the MacKay River system were low, ranging from less than 0.01 to 0.19 mg N \cdot L⁻¹. Natural waters generally contain ammonia with concentrations less than 0.1 mg N \cdot L⁻¹. Levels greater than 0.1 mg N \cdot L⁻¹ may be indicative of anthropogenic inputs.

3.2.3.2 Phosphorus

In the MacKay River, total phosphorus concentrations ranged from 0.049 to 0.129 mg $P \cdot L^{-1}$. A general decrease in phosphorous concentrations occurred from June to September. Considerable seasonal fluctuations in concentrations normally occur between spring, summer, and winter periods. A strong correlation often is found between total phosphorus and suspended sediment concentrations, and both parameters closely parallel a natural hydrograph. Cahill (1977) reported that mass transport during storms tends to contribute a very large proportion of total annual phosphorus loading. He also indicated that unlike total phosphorus, ortho-phosphorus concentrations do not always have a positive association with stream discharge, and may be inversely related to discharge during the lower flow range. This relationship was exhibited in the MacKay River where the ortho-phosphorus levels (0.034 to 0.074 mg $P \cdot L^{-1}$) were notably higher in July, a period when the discharge was considerably lower than in June. McCart et al. (1978) found that total phosphorus concentrations in the MacKay River ranged from 0.030 to 0.100 mg P \cdot L⁻¹ during the June to September period with the lowest value reported in September. For the same period they also reported mean ortho-phosphorous concentrations of 0.015 to 0.035 mg $P \cdot L^{-1}$ with the highest value in July. Among the tributaries, the relationship between total phosphorus and discharge was less defined than in the MacKay River. The total phosphorus levels in MacKay River system generally exceeded the ASWQO limit of 0.05 mg $P \cdot L^{-1}$. McNeely et al. (1979) reported that total phosphorous levels should not exceed 0.10 mg $P \cdot L^{-1}$ in order to not accelerate eutrophication of water systems.

3.2.3.3 Reactive Silica

In the MacKay River drainage system, concentrations of reactive silica (SiO₂) ranged from 2.10 to 12.50 mg·L⁻¹. Most natural waters contain concentrations of silica from 1 to 30 mg·L⁻¹ (McNeely et al. 1979). Concentrations in the MacKay River were lower in September than in previous months, a relationship similar to that found by McCart et al. (1978). In the tributaries, the highest reactive silica values generally were found in September; this probably was the result of increased influence by groundwater. Concentrations of silica in groundwater may range from 1000 to 4000 mg·L⁻¹ (McNeely et al. 1979).

3.2.3.4 Total Organic Carbon

Concentrations of total carbon in the MacKay River system ranged from 25.0 to 66.5 $\text{mg}\cdot\text{L}^{-1}$. Trends among sampling stations and among monitoring periods were not evident. McCart et al. (1978), however, reported that in the MacKay River, highest values were found in mid-winter with lower values in mid-summer. The total organic carbon content in natural waters may vary from 1 to 30 $\text{mg}\cdot\text{L}^{-1}$, with higher values considered to be the result of anthropogenic input (McNeely et al. 1979).

3.2.4 TRACE METALS AND OTHER SUBSTANCES

The concentrations of trace metals and elements in the MacKay River generally were below the detection limits. Iron (0.91 to 2.21 mg·L⁻¹) and manganese (0.010 to 0.080 mg·L⁻¹) concentrations frequently exceeded the ASWQO limits of 0.30 and 0.050 mg·L⁻¹, respectively. The sources of these parameters were natural since no anthropogenic inputs were apparent. McCart et al. (1978) reported that boron, iron, lead, mercury and cadmium exceeded the ASWQO most frequently during the winter period. During the present study, phenol concentrations ranged from 0.009 to 0.022 mg·L⁻¹, and also exceeded the ASWQO of 0.005 mg·L⁻¹. Values exceeding the ASWQO also were reported in McCart et al. (1978). The source of phenol was likely natural, originating mainly from hydrocarbon and decaying vegetation. Oil and grease (<0.1 to 1.4 mg·L⁻¹) present in the MacKay River probably were derived from the natural hydrocarbon present in the substrate.

3.3 ZOOBENTHOS

3.3.1 MACKAY RIVER

Changes in physical structure along the length of the MacKay River were reflected in the composition of zoobenthos. The downstream sample

83

station (MR-B1; Figure 2.6) was located within a reach of the river characterized by slow flow and homogeneous substrate comprised mainly of sand and silt. The fauna at B1 was composed primarily of Oligochaeta, Chironomidae and, to a lesser extent, Ephemeroptera (**Ephemerella**, **Tricorythodes**, Baetidae). Relative composition was stable over the three seasons sampled (Figure 3.11); however, densities increased markedly in fall.

At upstream stations, water velocities increased, and the substrate exhibited a greater proportion of gravels and cobble. Simuliidae, which require hard substrates for attachment, constituted the most prevalent taxon at upstream stations B2, B3 and B4 during spring and summer, and almost completely dominated spring samples from B4 (Figure 3.11). Diversity at this station was 40% lower than that of any other MacKay River station in spring (H' = 0.626), even though more taxa were collected at this station than at the others (Table 3.5). Simuliidae remained abundant at the three upstream stations in summer, but all had emerged by fall (Figure 3.11). At this time all four MacKay River stations were dominated by Oligochaeta, Ephemeroptera and Chironomidae.

Benthic densities were variable within stations and seasons. Animals were much more abundant at station B4 in spring and fall, but densities were reduced in summer. At stations B2 and B3 the trend was reversed, with greatest densities (primarily Simuliidae) observed in summer. At station B1, relatively low densities were recorded except in the fall. MACKAY RIVER DRAINAGE



Figure 3.11 Relative abundance of major taxonomic groups of benthic invertebrates in the MacKay River drainage area, 1984.

Station		Spring	Summer	Fall
MR-B1	Density	21.9	50.9	260.0
	Biomass	3.5	4.0	16.9
	Diversity	2.051	2.214	2.632
	Richness	12	16	23
MR-B2	Density	5.0	193.1	12.9
	Biomass	0.7	11.6	2.4
	Diversity	1.890	1.757	2.059
	Richness	8	14	16
MR-B3	Density	73.3	194.9	49.3
	Biomass	7.0	16.7	3.3
	Diversity	1.677	1.727	2.180
	Richness	9	18	20
MR-B4	Density	331.8	87.1	647.1
	Biomass	60.1	7.9	50.7
	Diversity	0.626	2.729	2.252
	Richness	15	18	23
M2-B	Density	47.3	35.9	73.9
	Biomass	6.9	6.5	10.0
	Diversity	1.535	2.326	2.228
	Richness	6	14	12
DR-B	Density	66.1	157.3	139.2
	Biomass	11.1	19.7	11.9
	Diversity	2.404	2.324	2.177
	Richness	16	21	26
M6-B	Density	85.8	99.2	1919.4
	Biomass	11.6	15.3	76.7
	Diversity	2.510	1.644	0.852
	Richness	13	13	15

Table 3.5 Mean density (no. per 0.1 m^2), mean biomass (mg per 0.1 m^2), diversity, and taxonomic richness of zoobenthos at MacKay River mainstem and tributary stations, 1984.

.
Biomass estimates roughly paralleled those of benthic density; however, because the modal size class of individuals at all stations decreased through the year, summer and fall increases in biomass were not as great as density increases (Table 3.5). Most organisms collected in the fall were early stages of species that overwinter as immatures. Diversity and taxonomic richness generally increased at all stations throughout the year (Table 3.5). The upper and lower stations had highest diversity and richness in the fall. Detailed tables of taxonomic composition and abundance are presented in Appendix D, Tables D1 to D4.

3.3.2 TRIBUTARIES TO MACKAY RIVER

3.3.2.1 Creek M2

During the June sample period, Creek M2 was 3 m wide at station M2-B, with moderate current flowing over substrate of sand and fine gravel impregnated with bitumen (Figure 2.6). Benthic densities were fairly constant among seasons, ranging from 35.9 to 73.9 animals per 0.1 m^2 (Table 3.5).

The ephemeropteran **Baetis** was the most abundant organism in spring and summer. Simuliidae was codominant in spring, but was replaced by Chironomidae in summer and fall (Figure 3.11). Diversity and richness were low in spring (six taxa, H' = 1.535, Table 3.5), but increased in summer and fall. Trends in biomass paralleled those reported for the MacKay River (Appendix D, Table D31).

Detailed tables of taxonomic composition and abundance of the benthos at MacKay River tributary stations are presented in Appendix D, Tables D5 to D7.

3.3.2.2 Dover River

At station DR-B (100 m upstream of the confluence), the Dover River was approximately 7 m wide and had a shallow, rapid flow over coarse limestone talus (Figure 2.6).

In spring and summer, **Baetis** and Simuliidae were the most abundant organisms. Oligochaeta replaced Simuliidae as the most common taxon in fall (Figure 3.11). Fauna were substantially richer and more abundant in the Dover River than in Creek M2. Richness also consistently exceeded that of any station in the MacKay River drainage, although other stations were more diverse (Table 3.5).

Biomass in fall was equivalent to that in spring even though animals were twice as abundant (Table 3.4). This reflected the small size of most individuals at this time (Appendix D, Table D31).

3.3.2.3 Creek M6

Creek M6 was sampled downstream of a beaver dam where the creek descends sharply into the MacKay River valley (Figure 2.6). The creek at M6-B was less than 1 m wide and very shallow, flowing over coarse cobble embedded in sand, and through deadfall snags. Aspen overstory provided dense shading.

Chironomidae and Oligochaeta were the dominant taxa present, although **Baetis** and Simuliidae were common in spring (Figure 3.11). Taxonomic richness was intermediate in comparison to M2-B and DR-B (Table 3.5). The fall sample contained very high densities of Chironomidae and Oligochaeta, and this produced estimates of density and biomass greater than at any other sample station in the MacKay River drainage (Appendix D, Table D31).

3.4 FISH

3.4.1 MACKAY RIVER

Nineteen species of fish were recorded in the MacKay River in 1984 (Table 3.6). Of these, eight were sportfish species (i.e., species having some sport, domestic or commercial importance), two were coarsefish species (i.e., sucker), and eight were forage species (i.e., cyprinids, sculpins, etc.). Fish species previously recorded in the MacKay River (Sekerak and Walder 1980) but absent from 1984 collections were finescale dace (Chrosomus neogaeus), spottail shiner (Notropis hudsonius), spoonhead sculpin (Cottus ricei) and brook stickleback (Culaea inconstans). Species recorded in the present study but not previously reported from the MacKay River drainage were fathead minnow and northern redbelly dace.

Species	Species Code	Scientific Name
Lake whitefish	LW	Coregonus clupeaformis (Mitchill)
Mountain whitefish	MW	Prosopium williamsoni (Girard)
Arctic grayling	AG	Thymallus arcticus (Pallas)
Goldeye	GE	Hiodon alosoides (Rafinesque)
Northern pike	NP	Esox lucius Linnaeus
Walleye	YW	Stizostedion vitreum (Mitchill)
Yellow perch	ΥP	Perca flavescens (Mitchill)
Burbot	LING	Lota lota (Linnaeus)
Longnose sucker	LNS	Catostomus catostomus (Forster)
White sucker	WS	Catostomus commersoni (Lacepede)
Fathead minnow	FHM	Pimephales promelas Rafinesque
Flathead chub	FHC	Platygobio gracilis (Richardson)
Lake chub	LKC	Couesius plumbeus (Agassiz)
Longnose dace	LND	Rhinichthys cataractae (Valenciennes)
Pearl dace	PD	Semotilus margarita (Cope)
Northern redbelly dace	NRD	Chrosomus eos Cope
Emerald shiner	ES	Notropis atherinoides Rafinesque
Slimy sculpin	SS	Cottus cognatus Richardson
Trout-perch	TP	Percopsis omiscomaycus (Walbaum)

Table 3.6. Fish species recorded in the MacKay River system, 1984.

Total = 19 species

The fish species assemblage of the MacKay River has been grouped for discussion into sportfish, coarsefish and forage fish categories. Several previous fisheries studies have been conducted on the MacKay River system (Griffiths 1973; McCart et al. 1978; Machniak et al. 1980; Walder et al. 1980); however, a detailed comparison between these and present study results is beyond the scope of this report. Comparisons, when made, will be general in nature and limited to species for which a sufficient data base is available.

3.4.1.1 Sportfish Species

The majority of sportfish species in the MacKay River were recorded during boat electroshocking surveys in the spring and summer periods (Appendix E, Table E1). Yellow perch, Arctic grayling, northern pike, and walleye were the only species recorded by other capture methods (seine and backpack electrofisher; Appendix E, Tables E1 and E2).

Goldeye

Goldeye was the most abundant sportfish species encountered during electroshocking surveys, contributing 22.6% to the total catch from all stations and periods combined (Table 3.7). This species was present in catches from all stations and sample periods. During the summer survey at stations ES1, ES2, and ES3, goldeye contributed 42.2%, 41.5%, and 37.0%, respectively, to the total catch. Capture rates (fish per electroshocking minute) for this species at these stations were 0.6, 0.4, and 0.2

91

E.	ſ	ſ	f	ł	ľ	ſ	ſ	I	ŧ	ŧ	ł	ſ	ľ	f	Ç	ŧ	I	•
-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-										

Table 3.7Percentage composition of fish species at repetitive boat electrofishing stations on the MacKay River,
spring and summer 1984.

	Boat Electroshocking (ES) Stations														
Species ^a		MR-ES1			MR-ES	2		MR-ES	3		All Statio	ns			
(n) ^b	Spring (120)	Summer (64)	Combined (184)	Spring (29)	Summer (41)	Combined (70)	Spring (24)	Summer (27)	Combined (51)	Spring (173)	Summer (132)	Combined (305)			
LW	0	3.1	1.1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1.5	0.7			
MW	1.7	6.3	3.3	0	4.9	2.9	4.2	0	2.0	1.7	4.6	3.0			
GE	10.7	42.2	21.7	3.4	41.5	25.7	4.2	37.0	21.6	8.7	40.9	22.6			
NP	0.8	3.1	1.6	0	4.9	2.9	8.3	3.7	5.9	1.7	3.8	2.6			
YW	15.8	7.8	13.0	3.4	4.9	4.3	33.3	7.4	19.6	16.2	6.8	12.1			
LING	0	0	0	3.4	0	1.4	0	0	0	0.6	0	0.3			
LNS	4.2	0	2.7	17.2	12.2	14.3	0	14.8	7.8	5.8	6.8	6.2			
WS	55.0	32.8	47.3	51.7	24.4	35.7	25.0	33.3	29.4	50.3	30.3	41.6			
FHC	1.7	4.7	2.7	10.4	7.3	8.6	0	3.7	2.0	2.9	5.3	3.9			
LKC	10.0	0	6.4	3.4	0	1.4	25.0	0	11.8	11.0	0	6.2			
ТР	0	0	0	6.9	0	2.9	0	0	0	1.2	0	0.7			

^aFor species code explanation see Table 3.6.

^bNumber of fish captured and observed.

fish-min.⁻¹, respectively (Appendix E, Table E1), indicating a decreased abundance with increased distance from the Athabasca River.

The majority of the goldeye captured were juveniles although adults also were represented in the catch, particularly in the July period. Evidence of spawning by this species in the MacKay River was not obtained; those individuals present in the system likely were migrants from the Athabasca River, moving into the MacKay River to forage. This is supported by the findings of Machniak et al. (1980). Results of the 1980 study, however, indicated a lower abundance of goldeye in the MacKay River than found during the present study. In addition, trapping and gillnetting operations in 1980 captured only juvenile fish, whereas in 1984, 47% of the aged fish were adults or sub-adults (i.e., age six or older). This indicates that the present use of summer feeding habitat in the MacKay River for both adults and juveniles of this species is greater than previously observed.

Goldeye (n=32) captured in the MacKay River in 1984 ranged in fork length from 135 to 395 mm with a relatively even representation from all size-classes within this range (Appendix E, Table E2). In previous studies on the MacKay River, McCart et al. (1978) reported goldeye from 232 to 287 mm fork length, and Machniak et al. (1980) reported a range of 258 to 318 mm for this species. During studies on the Athabasca River in the Mildred Lake area, a similar size range was found (Bond and Berry 1980). In 1984, 15 (47%) of the goldeye captured were over 300 mm in length and ranged from age six to eight. Of the 17 goldeye aged and sexed, eight

93

were mature. Seven of the mature goldeye were females six to eight years-of-age. McCart et al. (1978) and Machniak et al. (1980) found all goldeye captured in the MacKay River (for which sex and age were determined) were immature four to six year-old fish. In the Athabasca River, 99% of all goldeye examined were sexually immature (Bond 1980).

Walleye

Thirty-eight walleye were collected from the MacKay River. Walleye were present at all electroshocking stations during each of the sample periods (Table 3.7). This species was second in abundance and contributed 12.1% to the total electroshocking catch. Most walleye were taken during the spring period, from stations ES1 and ES3, with the latter station contributing 33.3% to the total electroshocking catch.

Although representing a major component of the sportfish assemblage, walleye exhibited low densities and a sporadic distribution in the MacKay River. The highest capture rate recorded for walleye was 0.3 fish·min⁻¹ from ES1 during the spring period. The majority of these individuals were present below the bridge crossing at Highway 63, suggesting a close association with the Athabasca River. A localized concentration of walleye also was present at the mouth of the Dover River (in ES3) during the spring. Presence in these confluence areas likely indicates preferred feeding habitat for this species.

Direct evidence of walleye spawning in the MacKay River was not obtained in the present study. Most adult walleye captured in the late

94

May survey were spent males. Only one spent female was recorded. Machniak and Bond (1979) reported a similar preponderance of spent males and low numbers of female walleye in the Steepbank River, and attributed their presence to a post-spawning migration into the system for

feeding.

McCart et al. (1978) captured young-of-the-year (y-o-y) walleye 20 km upstream in the MacKay River; however, based on the low numbers (n = 39) of y-o-y walleye captured, these authors suggested only a limited spawning use of the river. Availability of spawning habitat, however, does not appear to be a limiting factor. Surveys conducted in the fall of 1984, indicated numerous areas of good potential spawning habitat are present in the MacKay River.

Machniak et al. (1980) indicated that walleye leave the MacKay River drainage during the summer and suggested that few, if any, overwinter in the system. McCart et al. (1978) reported that walleye were most abundant in the lower reaches of the MacKay River in May, with catches declining by late September. In the present study, walleye abundance decreased from the May to July period (Appendix E, Table E1) indicating movements out of the area had occurred.

Walleye captured in the MacKay River in 1984 ranged in fork length from 247 to 484 mm, with those in the 385 to 443 mm size range accounting for 42% of the catch (Appendix E, Table E2). Most (95%) of walleye sexed were males. Machniak et al. (1980) reported 73% of the MacKay River walleye were between 300 to 460 mm in length, with 94% of walleye captured being males. A similar dominant size range and a preponderance of males also were reported for MacKay River walleye by McCart et al. (1978).

Fin-ray age was determined for 24 walleye in the present study. Lengths of these fish ranged from 247 mm (age three) to 484 mm (age nine). Most walleye were age seven (42%) although age three (21%) and age four (17%) fish also were well represented in the catch. McCart et al (1978) reported scale ages for MacKay River walleye ranged from 0+ to 14. Machniak et al. (1980) reported scale ages ranged from 0+ to nine, with the majority (96%) being age two to age seven, inclusive. The agelength relationship for MacKay River walleye in 1984 (Appendix E, Table E2) is similar to that recorded by Machniak et al. (1980).

Northern Pike

In 1984, eight northern pike were captured by boat electroshocking in the MacKay River. This species occurred infrequently, contributing 2.6% to the total electroshocking catch (Table 3.7). The highest contribution of northern pike (8.3%) was recorded during spring surveys in ES3. At stations ES1 and ES2, the highest percentage composition in catches occurred during the summer survey. Capture rates of northern pike at all stations and during all surveyed periods were less than 0.1 fish·min⁻¹. The majority of northern pike captured in 1984 were adults. Within the study area, the MacKay River contained few areas of suitable pike spawning habitat. This, combined with the absence of y-o-y and the low abundance of juvenile northern pike, indicated a limited spawning use of the system. Only one spent male was captured (at ES3) in the spring survey.

In 1978, Machniak et al. (1980) recorded an upstream post-spawning migration of northern pike into the lower MacKay River in the spring and a return downstream movement, possibly to the Athabasca River, in the fall. These movements suggest the primary use of the lower MacKay River by northern pike was for summer foraging. McCart et al. (1978) indicated a resident population of northern pike was present in the upper reaches of the MacKay River.

The seven northern pike examined in the present study ranged in length from 336 to 679 mm. The largest individual was eight years of age. McCart et al. (1978) reported a maximum age of 11 years for MacKay River northern pike, with most (81%) ranging from four to seven years. Machniak et al. (1980) reported a range in ages from 0+ to nine years with the majority (75%, excluding y-o-y) of pike aged being three to six years of age.

Mountain Whitefish

Mountain whitefish were a minor component in the 1984 electroshocking catch. They were most frequently encountered in stations ES1 and ES2 during the summer survey, contributing 6.3% and 4.9%, respectively, to the total catch from these stations (Table 3.7). Of the seven mountain whitefish captured in 1984, five were juveniles. The occurrence of this species primarily at the lower sample stations and the absence of y-o-y mountain whitefish in all sampled areas indicates that the source of this population was probably the Athabasca River, with individuals undertaking feeding movements into the MacKay River during the spring and summer periods. Previous studies (McCart et al. 1978; Machniak et al. 1980) also indicated a low, seasonal use of the MacKay River by mountain whitefish.

In 1984, mountain whitefish (n=7) captured in the MacKay River ranged from 136 to 336 mm in length with the majority (71%) being in the 136 to 146 mm size range (Appendix E, Table E2). The dominant size class (n=5) consisted of age one fish. A single age three fish (a mature female) and one age four fish (a mature male) were the only other mountain whitefish recorded. Machniak et al. (1980) captured only two mountain whitefish (299 and 319 mm fork length) in the MacKay River; both fish were five-year-old males.

Lake Whitefish

Only two lake whitefish (i.e., one captured and one 'observed) were recorded in 1984. Both individuals were adults, collected at station ES1 during the summer survey (Table 3.7). Results of this and previous studies (McCart et al. 1978; Machniak et al. 1980) indicate that lake whitefish

98

utilize the MacKay River only during short feeding excursions from the Athabasca River.

The one lake whitefish captured in the present study was a six-yearold (scale age), mature female, measuring 359 mm in length. In 1978, Machniak et al. (1980) collected five lake whitefish ranging in length from 333 to 376 mm, and in scale age from six to eight years.

Arctic Grayling

Arctic grayling were absent from boat electroshocking and seining samples in 1984. One Arctic grayling (a y-o-y) was captured by backpack electrofishing at EF9, near the upstream limit of the study area (Appendix E, Table E1).

Trapping operations on the lower MacKay River in 1978 (Machniak et al. 1980) recorded the presence of a small (n=45), upstream spawning migration of Arctic grayling in late April to early May. Although the location of spawning areas was not identified, the authors indicated the most suitable spawning areas in the MacKay River were situated above the Dover River confluence, upstream to approximately km 125. They also recorded one y-o-y Arctic grayling in the vicinity of EF9.

One Arctic grayling was captured in the MacKay River in 1984. This individual, taken in late September, was 113 mm in length and age 0+. Machniak et al. (1980) recorded Arctic grayling ranging in fork length from 66 to 378 mm and in scale age from 0+ to age seven with the majority being ages two, three, and five.

Yellow Perch

Nine yellow perch (all y-o-y) were collected from the MacKay River in the present study; all were recorded at seine stations located within 3 km of the mouth (Appendix E, Table E3). Yellow perch y-o-y also were recorded at the mouth of the MacKay River in 1978 (Machniak et al. 1980).

All yellow perch captured in the MacKay River (n=9) during the present study were age 0+ (scale age). These individuals, captured in late September, ranged in length from 47 to 52 mm, with a mean length of 50.7 mm. Machniak et al. (1980) collected y-o-y perch (n=62) from the mouth of the MacKay River. These individuals ranged in length from 33 to 53 mm. Mean lengths were 36.1 and 44.0 mm on 22 July and 26 August, respectively.

Burbot

One burbot (an adult) was recorded in electroshocking captures (Table 3.7); none were taken by other sampling methods during the present study. Low numbers of burbot have been found in the lower reaches of the MacKay River during previous studies (McCart et al. 1978; Machniak et al. 1980). Burbot likely utilize the lower reaches of the MacKay River for feeding. Spawning use of the system by this species is unknown. The burbot captured in the present study was a mature male, 610 mm in total length and age seven (otolith age). Machniak et al. (1980) captured 16 burbot, ranging in length from 134 to 589 mm, in 1978. The oldest burbot aged in 1978 were five years of age and were maturing males, 496 and 499 mm in total length.

3.4.1.2 Coarsefish Species

Two species of coarsefish, white sucker and longnose sucker, were recorded in the MacKay River during the present study. These species were present at the majority of sample stations within the study area and were collected by all sampling methods.

White Sucker

In 1984, white sucker was the most abundant species in electroshocking captures, contributing 41.6% to the total catch (Table 3.7). Adult and juvenile white suckers were most common at the lower two sample stations (ES1 and ES2) in the spring, contributing 55.0 and 51.7% to the total catch at those respective stations. Capture rates (CUE) in this period exhibited a decline with increased upstream distance from the Athabasca River (Appendix E, Table E1). White sucker juveniles were present in low numbers in seine collections during the spring survey, being recorded only from the two lowermost stations (Table 3.8). White sucker y-o-y were absent from spring collections.

	Seine (S) Stations														
Species ^a		MR-S1			MR-S2			MR-S3			All Static) Ins			
(n)	Spring (226)	Summer (528)	Combined (754)	Spring (212)	Summer (315)	Combined (527)	Spring (146)	Summer (384)	Combined (530)	Spring (584)	Summer (1227)	Combined (1811)			
NP	0.9	0	0.3	0	0	0	0	0.3	0.2	0.3	0.1	0.2			
YW	0.4	0	0.1	0.5	0	0.2	0	0	0	0.3	0	0.1			
ΥP	0.4	0	0.1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0.2	0	L 0.1 ^b			
LNS	3.1	0.2	1.1	1.9	1.3	1.5	0.7	0	0.2	2.0	0.4	0.9			
WS	0.9	3.2	2.5	1.4	0.6	1.0	0	11.7	8.5	0.9	5.2	3.8			
FHM	0	12.7	8.9	0	0.3	0.2	0	0	0	0	5.5	3.8			
LKC	26.6	64.4	53.0	84.4	70.2	75.9	97.3	81.2	85.7	65.2	71.2	69.2			
LND	0	11.9	8.4	3.3	18.1	12.1	0.7	1.3	1.1	1.4	10.2	7.3			
NRD	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0.3	0.2	0	0.1	L 0.1			
ES	2.7	0	0.8	0	0	0	0	0	0	1.0	0	0.3			
SS	0	0.2	0.1	1.4	1.3	1.3	0	0.3	0.2	0.5	0.5	0.5			
ТР	65.0	7.4	24.7	7.1	8.2	7.8	1.4	4.9	4.0	28.1	6.8	13.7			

Table 3.8Percentage composition of fish species at repetitive seine stations on the MacKay River,
spring and summer 1984.

Ĩ

I.

f

ł

1

^aFor species code explanation see Table 3.6.

^bL = Less than

.

In the summer, white sucker adults and juveniles were encountered in reduced numbers in electroshocking captures. Seine collections of white suckers increased in the summer surveys, reflecting the greater abundance of y-o-y, particularly in collections at stations S1 and S3 (Appendix E, Table E3).

Synoptic surveys in the fall recorded a low occurrence and sporadic distribution of white suckers. White sucker (primarily y-o-y) were recorded only from stations EF2, S1B, and EF9, with the greatest numbers recorded at the latter station (Table 3.9).

White sucker spawning in the MacKay River was not documented in 1984. Previous investigations have documented large numbers of white suckers migrating into the MacKay River to upstream spawning areas (Machniak et al. 1980). In 1978, this migration was essentially completed by 18 May; spawning was thought to have occurred during mid-May when maximum daily water temperatures of 11°C to 13°C were attained. In 1984, water temperature was 14.5°C in the MacKay River during the spring survey period (i.e., 27-28 May). The high temperatures and the capture of spent white suckers suggests spawning was completed prior to the 1984 spring surveys.

White sucker spawning areas have not been previously identified in the MacKay River; however, indirect evidence obtained by previous investigators (i.e., the capture of newly emergent fry and y-o-y) indicated this species likely spawned in the MacKay River upstream from the Dover

				Electr	ofishin	g (EF) \$	Station	S				A11						
Species ^a (n) ^b	MR- EF1 (47)	MR- EF2 (45)	MR- EF3 (30)	MR- EF4 (14)	MR- EF5 (22)	MR- EF6 (26)	MR- EF7 (36)	MR- EF8 (11)	MR- EF9 (149)	Comb- ined (380)	MR- S1A (5)	MR- S1B (40)	MR- S2A (12)	MR- S3A (5)	MR- S4 (10)	MR- S5 (30)	Comb- ined (102)	Stations Combined (482)
AG	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0.7	0.3	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0.2
ΥP	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	5.0	0	0	0	0	2.0	0.4
LNS	0	0	0	28.6	13.6	0	5.6	18.2	20.1	10.8	0	0	0	0	0	3.3	1.0	8.7
WS	0	2.2	0	0	0	0	0	0	13.4	5.5	0	10.0	0	0	20.0	0	5.9	5.6
LKC	87.2	93.3	86.7	71.4	54.5	76.9	69.4	54.5	19.5	55.5	40.0	40.0	58.3	60.0	30.0	76.7	52.9	55.0
LND	0	0	0	0	27.3	11.5	2.8	27.3	1.3	4.0	0	0	0	20.0	40.0	13.3	8.8	5.0
PD	8.5	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	14.1	6.6	0	12.5	0	0	0	0	4.9	6.2
NRD	4.3	0	0	0	0	3.8	0	0	19.5	8.4	40.0	5.0	0	0	0	6.7	5.9	7.9
SS	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	8.3	20.0	0	0	2.0	0.4
ТР	0	4.4	13.3	0	4.6	7.7	22.2	0	11.4	8.9	20.0	27.5	33.3	0	10.0	0	16.7	10.6

Table 3.9 Percentage composition of fish species recorded at synoptic backpack electrofishing and seine stations on the mainstem MacKay River, September 1984.

^aFor species code explanation, see Table 3.6. ^bNumber of fish captured (captured and observed for electrofishing).

River, and in the Dunkirk and Dover rivers. McCart et al. (1978) found white sucker y-o-y distributed throughout the lower MacKay River during the summer, but indicated they were most abundant in the mainstem between km 80 and km 40. The distribution patterns of y-o-y white suckers recorded in the present study were similar to those recorded by previous investigators.

In 1978, Machniak et al. (1980) recorded a defined out-migration of white sucker y-o-y in the MacKay River. These authors indicated that large numbers of emergent fry left the MacKay River during June, and that by the end of June, only a small portion of the 1978 year-class remained in the system. A second out migration by y-o-y individuals was recorded during October. Movements of fry and y-o-y out of the system may account for the low abundance of y-o-y white suckers encountered in the 1984 summer and fall survey periods. A portion of the white sucker population (consisting of all age-classes) likely overwinters in the MacKay River.

Longnose Sucker

In 1984, longnose suckers were considerably less abundant in the MacKay River than white suckers. Longnose sucker adults and larger juveniles were present in greatest abundance at ES2 during both the spring and summer electroshocking surveys (Table 3.7). Smaller juveniles were taken at most seine stations sampled in the spring and summer periods (Table 3.8); however, y-o-y were absent from spring and summer

collections in the lower MacKay River. During the fall survey, juvenile and y-o-y longnose suckers were present only at sample stations situated upstream from the Dover River confluence (Table 3.9).

All adult longnose suckers captured in the spring 1984 survey were spent, indicating spawning was completed by this time. Machniak et al. (1980) reported that in 1978, longnose sucker spawning in the MacKay River was essentially completed by mid-May. Trapping results in 1978 indicated the size of the longnose sucker spawning population in the MacKay River was considerably lower than the white sucker population. Although longnose sucker spawning areas were not identified by these investigators, they indicated spawning likely occurred in areas of the MacKay River upstream from the Dover River confluence. McCart et al. (1978) found sucker y-o-y to be widely distributed in the lower MacKay River but felt that most longnose suckers spawned upstream of the Lease 17 boundary. In 1984, large concentrations of fry were observed near the mouth of the MacKay River on 26 May. A dip-netted sample of these was preserved and the fry subsequently were identified as longnose suckers. These individuals ranged in length from 12 to 14 mm indicating recent hatching. The source of these y-o-y (in the MacKay River or the Athabasca River) is unkown; however, the absence of y-o-y from spring and summer collections in the lower MacKay River may indicate that the fry observed originated from mainstem Athabasca River spawning areas. Sampling in the fall of 1984 recorded longnose sucker y-o-y only from stations upstream of the Dover River, with the highest capture rate (3.3 fish·min⁻¹) recorded from EF-9, the farthest upstream station

106

(Appendix E, Table E1). These results support previous conclusions that longnose sucker spawning areas are located in the upper reaches of the MacKay River above the Dover River. The presence of these age-classes during the fall indicates the MacKay River provides an important rearing habitat function. Some overwintering use of the system by all age-classes of longnose suckers is probable also.

3.4.1.3 Forage Fish Species

Lake Chub

Lake chub was the most abundant species in the MacKay River in 1984. This species was captured at all sample stations. Lake chub accounted for 69.2% of the seine collections at repetitive sample stations (Table 3.8), 55.5% of catches at synoptic backpack electrofishing stations, and 52.9% of synoptic seine collections (Table 3.9). This species was most abundant at stations S1, S2, and S3 during the summer survey; CUE values for these stations were 7.6, 4.4, and 6.9 fish per 10 m² of surface area, respectively (Appendix E, Table E1).

Machniak et al. (1980) found lake chub to be the most abundant species in the MacKay River watershed in 1978, accounting for 50.0% of the total seine catch. This species exhibited a ubiquitous distribution in 1978 but was most abundant in the lower 80 km of the MacKay River. Sampling in 1978 indicated the occurrence of a substantial upstream migration into the lower MacKay River during May. These fish apparently utilize the system for spawning, feeding, and rearing. A substantial downstream migration of lake chub was recorded in October, although it was not determined if these fish moved into the Athabasca River for overwintering or remained in the lower reaches of the MacKay River.

The MacKay River contains important spawning and rearing habitat for lake chub. The capture of ripe adults during the upstream migration in 1978 indicated this movement was related to spawning (Machniak et al. 1980). In 1984, lake chub y-o-y were present at most stations indicating widespread spawning and nursery use of the MacKay system. A similar distribution of y-o-y was noted in 1978.

Trout-Perch

Trout-perch was the second most abundant forage species encountered in the MacKay River and was present at the majority of sample stations in 1984. This species accounted for 13.7% of collections from repetitive seine stations (Table 3.8), and 10.6% of the combined catch at synoptic seine and electrofishing stations (Table 3.8).

Although adult trout-perch in spawning condition were not encountered in the present study, the capture of y-o-y from stations S1 and S3 in the summer survey indicates spawning use of the MacKay River in 1984.

In 1978, Machniak et al. (1980) recorded an upstream movement of trout-perch into the lower reaches of the MacKay River in early May, and a subsequent return migration in September. Spawning reportedly occurred in mid-June and y-o-y were recorded in catches during July. Numerous y-o-y trout-perch apparently drifted out of the spawning stream into the Athabasca River shortly after hatching although some remained in the MacKay River throughout the summer. A portion of the trout-perch population was thought to overwinter in the MacKay River watershed.

Other Species

Fathead minnow, flathead chub, longnose dace, pearl dace, northern redbelly dace, emerald shiner, and slimy sculpin were the other forage species recorded in the MacKay River in 1984 (Appendix E, Tables E1 and E3). Of these, flathead chub and emerald shiner were present only in the lower reaches of the MacKay River, likely a result of localized feeding movements from Athabasca River populations. Fathead minnow y-o-y were recorded in the lower MacKay River only during the summer survey (Table 3.8); adults or juveniles were absent. This species was frequently recorded from small, low gradient drainages in the present study area, and the presence of y-o-y in the MacKay River may indicate a downstream drift from the smaller associated drainages.

Northern redbelly dace have not been reported previously from the MacKay River. The species was encountered infrequently in the MacKay River, with the majority of specimens taken in the lower reaches (Table 3.9). The capture of one individual at EF6 and 29 y-o-y at EF9 in

the fall period, however, may indicate the presence of a small resident population within other areas of the MacKay River.

Longnose dace and slimy sculpin likely are resident species in the MacKay River. Longnose dace were common in the lower MacKay River and also in the upper sections of the study area. Slimy sculpins were absent from upstream collections, occurring only in catches from the lower MacKay River. In 1984, longnose dace y-o-y were captured at both upstream (ES9) and downstream (S1) sample stations. Machniak et al. (1980) reported that slimy sculpins spawned in the MacKay River from mid-May to mid-June.

Pearl dace were recorded at both the farthest upstream and downstream sample stations in the MacKay River. The presence of y-o-y in September at EF9 indicates this species spawned in the MacKay River in 1984, and possibly is resident in the upper reaches of the MacKay River.

3.4.2 DOVER RIVER

Eight fish species were recorded from the Dover River in 1984. All species encountered in the Dover River also were present in the MacKay River in 1984. Previous studies on the Dover River (Sekerak and Walder 1980) captured several species (i.e., yellow perch, northern pike, finescale dace, pearl dace, brook stickleback) not recorded in the present study. Their absence likely is due to the limited sampling, particularly in upper reaches of the Dover River, in 1984.

3.4.2.1 Sportfish Species

Burbot was the only sportfish species found in the Dover River in 1984 (Table 3.10). One individual (an adult) was observed in EF1 during the spring survey (Figure 2.1). This species has not previously been recorded in the Dover River; its presence in 1984 likely represents a feeding incursion from the MacKay River.

Resident populations of yellow perch and northern pike have been reported from the headwater lakes of the Dover River (Machniak et al. 1980).

3.4.2.2. Coarsefish Species

Both white sucker and longnose sucker were recorded in the Dover River in 1984. White suckers were the most abundant coarsefish, accounting for 14.7% of the combined catch (Table 3.10). White suckers were present at all sample stations on the Dover River; longnose suckers were present at all stations except EF2. Adults of both sucker species were absent from captures. White sucker y-o-y were captured at EF1 in July and at EF4 in September; longnose sucker y-o-y were found at EF4 in September. The presence of y-o-y confirms the occurrence of spawning by these species in the Dover River in 1984. Machniak et al. (1980) reported similar findings in 1978.

		Electro	fishing (EF)	Stations		All Stations			
Species ^a (n) ^c	DR-EF1 ^b (171)	DR-EF2 (86)	DR-EF3 (96)	DR-EF4 (137)	Combined (490)	DR-S1 (11)	DR-S2 (10)	Combined (21)	Combined (511)
LING	0.6	0	0	0	0.2	0	0	0	0.2
LNS	0.6	0	6.3	5.8	3.1	0	0	0	2.9
WS	26.9	9.3	5.2	11.7	15.3	0	0	0	14.7
LKC	49.7	59.3	57.3	59.9	55.7	63.6	70.0	66.7	56.2
LND	2.9	3.5	5.2	0	2.6	0	0	0	2.5
NRD	0.6	2.3	0	0	0.6	0	0	0	0.6
SS	4.1	3.5	10.4	4.4	5.3	0	0	0	5.1
TP	14.6	22.1	15.6	18.2	17.1	36.4	30.0	33.3	17.8

Table 3.10 Percentage composition of fish species recorded at backpack electrofishing and seine stations on the Dover River, 1984.

Ŧ

ŧ

1

E

ŧ

1

^aFor species code explanation, see Table 3.6.

^bDR-EF1 sampled during each of the spring, summer, and fall survey periods; remainder of electrofishing and seine stations sampled only during the fall survey period.

^cNumber of fish captured (captured and observed for electrofishing).

The high incidence of beaver dams found on the Dover River during the fall 1984 suggests that some individuals of both sucker species may become temporarily entrapped and overwinter in the Dover River. A certain portion of the spawning population likely originates from outside the Dover River (i.e., MacKay or Athabasca rivers) during the spring freshet and vacates the system after spawning. In years with low spring flows (e.g., 1984), however, some beaver dams may remain intact, preventing access by upstream migrants to spawning areas. The presence of y-o-y suckers in upstream locations in 1984 indicates successful overwintering by mature adults within these areas.

3.4.2.3 Forage Species

Five forage fish species were collected from the Dover River in 1984. All species present were considered to be resident and completing all life history functions within the system. Lake chub were the most abundant species recorded, accounting for 56.2% of the combined 1984 captures; the majority of fish captured at all Dover River stations were lake chub (Table 3.9). This species was most abundant at EF4 where a CUE of 6.8 fish·min⁻¹ was recorded in September (Appendix E, Table E1).

Trout-perch also were abundant in Dover River collections, contributing 17.8% to the combined catch (Table 3.10). Highest capture rate for this species was 2.1 fish·min⁻¹ at EF4 (Appendix E, Table E1). This species was present in catches from all stations. Slimy sculpins were present at all stations in 1984, and accounted for 5.1% of the combined catch (Table 3.10). This species exhibited a similar abundance at all stations.

Northern redbelly dace and longnose dace exhibited a more sporadic distribution and lower abundance in the Dover River, relative to the other forage species. Both dace species were recorded only from the lower reaches of the Dover River.

1.00

SECTION 4.0

WEST INTERCEPTION DITCH/LOWER BEAVER CREEK SYSTEM

4.1 AQUATIC HABITAT

4.1.1 **DESCRIPTION OF DRAINAGE AREA**

The West Interception Ditch (W.I.D.) was constructed in 1976 to divert stream flow and surface runoff from the Syncrude Canada Ltd. mine site. It presently drains an area of approximately 73 km² (Appendix B, Table B2). Situated approximately 2.5 km west of the plant site, the W.I.D. originates in the southwestern corner of the mine site (Figure 2.2). An earthen dam forms the headwaters of the W.I.D., and separates the W.I.D. from Creek B1, diverting flow from Creek B1 into Beaver Creek Reservoir. From the dam, the W.I.D. flows north for approximately 14 km before entering Bridge Creek. Four main tributaries (Creeks W2, W3, W4 and W5) and several ephemeral drainages (draining a large muskeg area to the west) flow into the W.I.D. prior to its confluence with Bridge Creek. The drainage areas for these systems range from 1.8 km^2 (W2) to 26.0 km^2 (W3).

Bridge Creek originates in a muskeg area to the northwest of the mine site and drains directly (i.e., not including W.I.D. system) an area of approximately 14 km² (Appendix B, Table B2). From the headwaters, Bridge Creek flows in a southeasterly direction for 3.0 km before it is joined by the W.I.D. (Figure 2.2). From this confluence, Bridge Creek

115

flows east for 3.5 km before emptying into Lower Beaver Creek. The total drainage area of Bridge Creek (including the W.I.D. system) is 86.3 km² (Appendix B, Table B2).

The remaining section of Lower Beaver Creek originates below the North Starter Dike and flows in a northeasterly direction for 5.5 km to the confluence with Bridge Creek, and then east for 2.5 km to the Athabasca River (Figure 2.2). Seepages and springs provide the majority of the flow in Lower Beaver Creek. The present drainage area for this system (excluding input from Bridge Creek) is approximately 4 km² (Appendix B, Table B2).

4.1.2 STREAMFLOWS DURING STUDY PERIOD

Discharges in the W.I.D. and Lower Beaver Creek system were measured on three occasions (June, July, September) during the study period (Appendix B, Table B3). Highest discharges were recorded in all systems during the June survey. In most systems, flow rates were similar during the July and September surveys. Discharge in the West Interception Ditch (WID-W) ranged seasonally from $0.10 \text{ m}^{3} \cdot \text{s}^{-1}$ in June to $0.06 \text{ m}^{3} \cdot \text{s}^{-1}$ in September. Tributaries to the W.I.D. experienced the following seasonal fluctuation: W3 - $0.07 \text{ m}^{3} \cdot \text{s}^{-1}$ in June to less than $0.01 \text{ m}^{3} \cdot \text{s}^{-1}$ in September; W4 - $0.02 \text{ m}^{3} \cdot \text{s}^{-1}$ in June to less than $0.01 \text{ m}^{3} \cdot \text{s}^{-1}$ in September; W5 - less than $0.1 \text{ m}^{3} \cdot \text{s}^{-1}$ on all three occasions. Discharge in Lower Beaver Creek (LBC-W1) in June was $0.26 \text{ m}^{3} \cdot \text{s}^{-1}$ compared to $0.02 \text{ m}^{3} \cdot \text{s}^{-1}$ in September. Bridge Creek (BRC-W1) also displayed lower discharges during the fall ($0.16 \text{ m}^{3} \cdot \text{s}^{-1}$ in June; $0.01 \text{ m}^{3} \cdot \text{s}^{-1}$ in September).

4.1.3

WEST INTERCEPTION DITCH (W.I.D.)

A study of the various forms of aquatic biota and the physical habitat characteristics of the W.I.D. was undertaken in 1977, one year after its construction (Tsui et al. 1977). Physical habitat conditions were recorded at four locations in the ditch. Tsui et al. (1977) described the W.I.D. as a shallow, slow-moving stream varying in width from 4 m (upstream) to 12 m (downstream). They noted that the substrate was predominantly mud except where gravel had been placed for stream bed protection. In 1977, maximum discharge occurred in June; streamflow was negligible by August. Visible erosion of the non-vegetated sloping banks was evident in June. By August, the banks were completely revegetated and apparently stabilized.

During the present study, habitat stations were established in the lower (H1), middle (H2), and upper reaches (H3) (Figure 2.2). The location of these stations in relation to the habitat zonation on the W.I.D. is shown in Figure 4.1. A summary of the data collected at the habitat stations is presented in Table 4.1.

Three major habitat reaches on the W.I.D. are evident. Reach 1, which originates at the confluence with Bridge Creek, is approximately 1.0 km in length. This section features a high gradient ($8.0 \text{ m} \cdot \text{km}^{-1}$) in relation to upstream reaches. Reach 2 (km 1.0-2.2), with a gradient of 2.9 m·km⁻¹, constitutes a transition zone between the high gradient conditions in Reach 1 and the low gradient conditions in the upper reach. Reach 3 (km 2.2-13.0) is characterized by a low gradient ($1.9 \text{ m} \cdot \text{km}^{-1}$).

117

WEST INTERCEPTION DITCH

L

L

ŧ

. **L**.



Gradient (m/km) No. Beaverponds/km

E . . .

Reach-

1

L.

ŧ

I.

t

Ł

L

L

Figure 4.1 Longitudinal profile and habitat zonation, West Interception Ditch.

and the second second

Table 4.1 Summary of physical habitat characteristics at sampling stations on the West Interception Ditch, July 1984.

				Ch	annel Feature	es at Transe	et			Cov	er Type	Distri	bution	n (%)		
		Water Temp(ºC)	Rooted	Wetted	Local Gradient	Mean Depth	Mean Velocity	Discharge®					Po	ol Ty	æ	
Station	Date	(Time)(h)	Width (m)	Width (m)	(%)	(em)	(em-s ^{~1})	(m ^{3.} s ⁻¹)	Riffle	Run	Flat	1	2	3	4	5
H1-T1	18 July	24 (1415)	4.2	4.2	2.0	8 (4-14)	27 (5-43)	0.02	48	43	-	9	-	-	-	
-T2	18 July	25 (1600)	7.2	5.7	1.5	$\begin{array}{ccc} 10 & 25 \\ (9-12) & (15-31) \\ 12 & 29 \end{array}$		0.02	14	60	26		-	-	-	-
-T3	18 July	25 (1640)	10.5	5.5	1.5	$\begin{array}{ccc} 12 & 29 \\ (8-16) & (22-34) \end{array}$		0.02	-	79	-	21	-	-	-	-
-T4	19 July	17 (0920)	7.7	3.9	2.5	15 (14-16)	34 (11-46)	0.02	21	74	-	5	-	-	-	-
-T5	19 July	17 (1000)	18.3	11.2	0.8	17 (14-20)	18 (14-20)	0.02		12	84	4	-	-	-	-
H2-T1	19 July	23 (1625)	14.0	13.2	0.25	37 (27-43)	2.3 (2-3)	0.02	-	-	100	-	-	-	-	-
-T2	19 July	23 (1640)	12.8	12.8	0.25	22 (18-26)	2.3 (2-3)	0.02	-	-	100	-	-	-	-	-
-T3	19 July	-	10.7	9.7	0.25	15 (11-19)	7 (5-11)	0.02	-	-	100	-	-	-	-	-
H3-T1	20 July	16 (0945)	5.8	5.8	0.25	33 (29-37)	Negl.	0.02	-	-	100	-	-	-	-	•
-T2	20 July	16 (1000)	7.6	7.6	0.25	46 (3360)	Negl.	0.02	-	-	100	-	-	-	-	-
-ТЗ	20 July	16 (1020)	6.3	6.3	0.25	35 (14-48)	Negl.	0.02	-	-	100	-	-	-	-	-

			Bank Fe	atures (RUB	/LUB)						Sube	trate	Distri	bution	(%)				Aquatic Veg.		
Station	Cond. (%)	Stab. (No.)	Under. (cm)	Slope (Deg.)	Cover (No.)	Depth (em)	Over. (em)	Sand	Silt	FG	MG	CG	VCG	SC	LC	SB	LB (BR)	ЕМ В. (No.)	Macro. (No.)	Algae (No.)	
H1-T1	10/70	4/2	8/10	136/136 (50)/(32)b	4 /1	20/22	90/0	-	-	76	24	-	-	-		-	-	4	1	1	
-T2	80/20	1/4	0/0	135/154	1/2	0/0	0/0	-	-	35	18		-		47	-	~	4	1	1	
-T3	75/5	2/4	0/0	145/145	2/2	0/6	0/0	-	-	18	36	18	~	-		28	-	4	1	2	
-T4	0/0	4/4	0/0	160/168	1/2	0/0	0/0	-	-		-	-	-		49	51	-	4	1	1	
-T5	0/0	4/4	0/0	145/160	2/1	0/0	0/0	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	71	29	-	4	3	3	
H2-T1	0/0	4/4	0/0	160/170	2/2	0/0	0/0	-	100	-	~	-	-	-	-	-	-	N/AC	4	1	
-T2	0/0	4/4	0/0	166/174	4/4	0/0	0/0	-	100	-	-	-	-	-		-	-	N/A	4	1	
-T3	0/0	4/4	0/0	165/165	2/4	0/0	0/0	-	100	-	-	~	-		-	-	-	N/A	5	1	
H3-T1	0/0	4/4	0/0	155/164	2/2	0/0	0/0	-	100	-	-		-	-	-	-	-	N/A	2	1	
-T2	0/0	4/4	0/0	175/167	2/2	0/0	0/0	-	100	~	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	N/A	2	1	
-T3	0/0	4/4	0/0	175/175	2/2	0/0	0/0	-	100	-		-	~	~	-	-	-	N/A	4	1	

.

^aRecorded during water quality sampling on 25 July. ^bAngle of undercut in parentheses. ^cN/A - not applicable. Note: Description of terms in Table 2.2.

Data from habitat station H1 (T1-T4) describe the habitat conditions in Reach 1. Data from the upper transect at this station (T5) likely are more representative of conditions in Reach 2; accordingly, data from T5 were not grouped with the T1-T4 data for analysis purposes. The mean wetted channel width at H1 was 4.8 m; mean depth was 11 cm. Mean current velocity at the station was 29 cm·s⁻¹. The overall distribution of cover types at the four transects was as follows: Riffle (21%); Run (64%); Flat (6%); and Pool (9%). The substrate was dominated by coarse textured material; it ranged in size from fine gravel (0.4 to 0.8 cm) to small boulder (25.6 to 51.2 cm). Sedimentation of the coarse substrate material generally was low. Significant stream bank erosion was evident although on a localized basis. Macrophyte density was low, being restricted to sparse distribution of **Potamogeton pectinatus** along the channel margin.

Data from stations H2 and H3 provide a characterization of habitat conditions in Reach 3. Mean channel width in the lower section of the reach (H2) was 11.9 m; mean channel depth was 25 cm. The mean velocity at the three transects was $3.9 \text{ cm} \cdot \text{s}^{-1}$. Channel configuration in the upper portion of the reach (H3) differed noticeably. In this section the channel was narrower (mean width 6.6 m), deeper (mean depth 38 cm), and current velocity was markedly reduced (i.e., negligible). Despite differences in channel configuration, the cover type distribution was uniform at both stations (i.e., 100% Flat). The substrate consisted of 100% silt at all transects. Predominance of Flat type habitat and fine textured substrate characterize low gradient, low habitat diversity areas. Bank erosion was negligible in the entirety of Reach 3 owing to the presence of sloping, well-vegetated banks. The density of macrophyte growths in the W.I.D. varied on a longitudinal basis. In Reach 1 (H1) channel coverage was less than 5%. In the upper sections, macrophyte channel coverage ranged from 50-75% (H2) to 15-75% (H3; Plate 4). The dominant species at all stations was **Typha latifolia**; also represented were **Potamogeton**, **Elodea** and **Megalodonta**. Conditions in 1984 are similar to those described in 1977 (Tsui et al. 1977), although overall channel coverage appears to have increased.

4.1.4 MINOR TRIBUTARIES OF W.I.D.

Inflow from several small tributaries enter the West Interception Ditch and contribute to the Bridge Creek - Lower Beaver Creek drainage system (Figure 2.2). Creeks W2 to W5 in the present study represent the mainstem and/or tributaries of Creek No. 1 to Creek No. 3 (Noton and Chymko 1978) which prior to the diversion entered directly into Beaver Creek. Creeks W2 and W3 correspond to former Creeks No. 1 and 2, respectively. Creeks W4 and W5 represent a tributary of Creek No. 3 and the main branch of Creek No. 3, respectively. Creek W1 was not investigated since the drainage pattern and point of entry into the W.I.D. were undefined.

Two of the four defined drainages, W2 and W4, are classed as firstorder streams (Appendix B, Table B2). These systems are characterized by relatively short stream channel lengths (W2 - approx. 2.5 km; W4 -approx. 5.0 km) and small drainage areas (W2-1.8 km²; W4-10.4 km²). Creeks W3 and W5 feature greater stream channel lengths (W3 - approx. 16 km; W5 approx. 8 km) and relatively larger drainage areas (W3-26 km²; W5-18.3 km²). Streamflows were measured in W3, W4, and W5 on three occasions during the study period (June, July, September). Highest flows were recorded in the June survey (Appendix B; Table B3); values ranged from $0.07 \text{ m}^3 \cdot \text{s}^{-1}$ in Creek W3 to less than $0.01 \text{ m}^3 \cdot \text{s}^{-1}$ in Creek W5. Discharge in each of the streams was less than $0.01 \text{ m}^3 \cdot \text{s}^{-1}$ both during July and September.

Creeks W2 to W5 are characterized by high gradients in the lower reaches, ranging from 3.4 to $5.7 \text{ m} \cdot \text{km}^{-1}$ (Figures 4.2 and 4.3). Habitat features generally associated with high gradient reaches (predominance of Riffle/Run cover types, coarse substrate, etc.) are not evident. This likely is due to the extensive occurrence of channel control by beaver (Plate 5). The frequency of beaver dams and total pondage is highest in Creek W3 (Reach 1 - 2.8 beaverponds per km, 17.8 ha ponded water).

Habitat in the lower reaches of all streams is dominated by Flat type habitat resulting from beaver pondage; substrates primarily consist of silt. Overall, habitat diversity in these streams is low and they are suited only to use by small, non-game fish species (e.g., cyprinids).

4.1.5 BRIDGE CREEK

Habitat conditions in Bridge Creek have not previously been described. In the present study habitat stations were established at three locations (Figure 2.2). Station H1 was situated on lower Bridge Creek (km 0.2) immediately upstream of the Highway 63 road crossing. Stations


Distance (km)

.8

4

1.2

1.6

2.0

CREEK W2

ō







Figure 4.3 Longitudinal profile and habitat zonation, Creek W4 and Creek W5.

H2 and H3 were located immediately downstream and upstream of the Bridge Creek-W.I.D. confluence (km 3.6), respectively. The position of these stations in relation to the longitudinal profile and habitat zonation is illustrated in Figure 4.4. A summary of the data collected at the habitat stations is presented in Table 4.2.

Three major habitat reaches are identifiable on the basis of stream gradient (Figure 4.4). Reach 1 (km 0-0.5) exhibits a steep gradient (46 m·km⁻¹). Data from station H1 which were collected on 21 July 1984 provide a description of existing habitat conditions. Major channel characteristics were as follows: mean wetted width was 2.6 m, mean depth was 21 cm, and mean velocity was 24 cm \cdot s⁻¹. Habitat diversity in the reach was high; Riffle (15%), Run (35%), and Pool (50%) cover types were well represented. Pools were all of low quality (Class 1). Substrates contained a substantial proportion of both sand (40%) and coarse (60%)substrate. The coarse substrate ranged in size from medium gravel (0.8 to 1.6 cm) to small boulders (25.6 to 51.2 cm); bedrock also was well represented. Much of the large cobble (12.8 to 25.6 cm) and bedrock was formed of bitumen. Existing bank erosion was moderate to high; stability against further erosion generally was low. Sedimentation of coarse substrates (embeddedness) ranged from low to moderate.

Reach 2 (km 0.5-4.5) is characterized by a high gradient (14.3 m·km⁻¹). Two habitat sub-reaches are present in this section due to the inflow of the W.I.D. (i.e., resulting in altered channel configuration). Downstream from the W.I.D. confluence at station H2, the major channel



BRIDGE CREEK



Figure 4.4 Longitudinal profile and habitat zonation, Bridge Creek.

Table 4.2 Summary of physical habitat characteristics at sampling stations on Br	Bridge Cr	Creek, July	1984.
--	-----------	-------------	-------

				Ch	annel Featur	es at Transe	et			Cov	er Type	Distri	bution	1 (%)		
		Water Temp(^o C)	Rooted	Wetted	Local Gradient	Mean Depth	Mean Velocity	Discharge					Po	ol Ty	pe	
Station	Date	(Time)(h)	Width (m)	Width (m)	(%)	(em)	(em•s ⁻¹)	(m ³ -s ⁻¹)	Riffle	Run	Flat	1	2	3	4	5
H1-T1	21 July	15 (1420)	5.4	3.2	2.0	9 (5~12)	48 (45-54)	0.02	39	43	-	18	-	-	-	
-T2	21 July	16 (1725)	18.2	2.3	1.5	30 (24-32)	12 (2-22)	-	-	74	-	26	-	-	-	-
-T3	21 July	15 (1550)	7.6	2.4	2.0	14 (8-17)	32 (0-78)	-	34	-	-	66	-	-	-	-
-T4	21 July	-	7.2	2.8	1.5	16 (14-18)	17 (3-42)	-	-	32	-	68	~	-	-	-
-T5	21 July	16 (1715)	3.3	2.2	1.5	34 (32-35)	10 (6-25)	-	-	32	-	68	-	-	-	-
H2-T1	19 July	23 (1520)	2.5	1.9	1.5	17 (14-20)	59 (41-68)	0.02	-	84	-	16	-	-	-	-
-T2	19 July	21 (1435)	2.1	2.1	0.5	38 (33-46)	13 (0-24)	-	-	48	-	52	-	-	-	-
-73	19 July	22 (1415)	1.1	1.1	2.25	42 (36-48)	23 (13-32)	-	-	64		36	-	~	-	-
-T4	19 July	21 (1350)	2.2	2.2	1.0	46 (43-49)	17 (0-48)	-	30	-	-	-	70	-	-	-
-15	19 July	21 (1325)	1.9	1.7	2.5	17 (15-19)	57 (45-63)	-	50	36	-	14	-	-	-	-
H3-T1	19 July	17 (1115)	1.25	1.25	2.5	43 (35-55)	16 (9-26)	-	36	64	-	-	-	-	-	-
-T2	19 July	(1135)	0.7	0.7	1.5	21 (18-25)	11 (5-21)	-	-	100	-	-	-	-	-	-
-73	19 July	(1145)	2.8	1.9	-	20 (19-22)	Nil	-	-	-	-	100	-	-	-	-
-14	19 July	(1210)	2.5	1.5	0.5	(15-26)	4 (3-5)	-	-	-	100		-	-	-	~
-1.2	ra July	(1230)	1.6	0.9	v.5	13 (6-27)	13 (4-19)	-	-	22	^	78	-	-	-	,

			Bank Fe	eatures (RUI	S/LUB)						Sub	strate	Distri	ibution	(%)				Aquati	ic Veg.
Station	Cond. (%)	Stab. (No.)	Under. (cm)	Slope (Deg.)	Cover (No.)	Depth (cm)	Over. (em)	Send	Silt	FG	MG	CG	VCG	SC	ĿС	SB	LB (BR)	EMB. (No.)	Macro. (No.)	Algae (No.)
H1-T1	90/80	1/1	0/0	145/150	1/1	0/0	15/0	-	-		_	16	-	32	36	16	_	4	1	1
-T2	90/95	2/1	0/0	145/145	1/1	0/0	0/0	78	-	-	22	-	-	-	~	-	-	5	1	1
-T3	20/100	3/1	0/0	105/135	0/0	0/5	0/0	36	-	-	21	-	-	-	-	~	(43)B	2	i	1
-T4	100/30	1/2	0/0	135/100	1/2	0/0	0/0	28	-	-		-	-	18a	368	-	(18)	3	1	1
-T5	30/10	3/4	0/17	95/(45)b	4/4	0/0	0/55	54	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		(46)	-	ī	1
H2-T1	25/25	3/3	0/0	130/140	1/1	8/0	0/0	21	-	53	-	~	-	-		26	-	5	1	1
-T2	0/5	4/4	0/20	157/90 (30) ^b	2/4	0/40	0/0	36	-	64	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	1	1	1
-T3	0/0	4/4	0/0	150/90	2/2	48/35	30/25	-	-	100	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	5	1	1
-T4	0/0	4/4	19/0	155/130	2/2	39/0	40/55	57	-	-	-	~	-	43	-	-	-	1-4	1	1
~T5	0/0	4/4	0/0	140/110	2/2	0/0	25/20	-	-	-	-	100	-	-	-		-	4	2	1
H3-T1	10/0	4/4	22/24	130/90 (25)/(22)b	2/4	3/0	13/95	80	-	-	-	-	-	-	20	-	-	1	1	1
-T2	10/10	3/3	0/0	90/100	2/2	7/11	30/0	100	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	1	1	1
-T3	95/20	1/3	11/0	170/125 (25)b	1/2	5/0	15/0	100	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	N/Ad	i	i
-T4	65/45	1/2	0/0	160/140	1/1	0/0	0/0	100	-	-	-	-	_	-	-	-	-	N/A	1	1
-T5	20/75	3/1	26/0	145/150	2/1	24/0	0/0	56	-	44	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	1	1	i

⁸Bitumen dominated. ^bAngle of undercut in parantheses. ^cFlat shale. ^dN/A - not applicable. Note: Description of terms in Table 2.2.

characteristics were as follows: wetted width was 1.8 m, mean depth was 32 cm, and mean velocity was 34 cm \cdot s⁻¹. At the upper station (H3), the channel measurements were as follows: wetted width was 1.3 m, mean depth was 24 cm, and mean velocity was $9 \text{ cm} \cdot \text{s}^{-1}$. Habitat was moderately diverse both above and below the W.I.D. confluence, although Riffle and Run cover types were more prevalent in the downstream section due to a localized higher gradient. Cover types below the W.I.D. (H2) were distributed as follows: 16% Riffle, 46% Run, 38% Pool, and 0% Flat. The section above the W.I.D. (H3) exhibited the following cover type distribution pattern: 7% Riffle, 37% Run, 36% Pool, and 20% Flat. Pool habitat at both stations generally was of low quality. Slightly higher pool quality was recorded at H2 (i.e., minor input of Class 2 Pool). This was largely due to increased depth resulting from flow input from the Substrate in the section below the W.I.D. W.I.D. confluence was dominated by coarse material. The major groups were fine gravel (0.4 to 0.8 cm), small cobble (6.4 to 12.8), and small boulder (25.6 to 51.2 cm). Sand substrates also were common. Above the W.I.D. confluence, the substrate was dominated by sand although some fine gravel and large cobble were recorded. At the lower station (H2), streambanks displayed little previous erosion, and stability was high. At the upper station (H3), streambank erosion ranged from low to high at the various transects; stability against further erosion was rated as low to moderate.

The uppermost reach (R3), which is approximately 2 km in length, was not investigated in this study. On the basis of its low gradient $(1.5 \text{ m}\cdot\text{km}^{-1})$, however, it is assumed that it would exhibit low diversity habitat comprised almost entirely of Flat cover type and silt/sand substrate.

4.1.6 LOWER BEAVER CREEK

Habitat conditions in Lower Beaver Creek during 1977, one year after completion of the diversion, were described by Tsui et al. (1977). Their sampling station was located downstream of the North Starter Dike. Habitat consisted of riffles (80% gravel, 20% cobble) and silted pools during low flow periods; at high water levels, the substrate consisted entirely of shifting sand. Average channel width and depth was 8 m and 18 cm, respectively. Banks were described as being low and stable with overhanging brush. Construction of the catchment basin just downstream of the North Starter Dike has since eliminated the shifting sand.

During the present study, a habitat station (H1) was established on Lower Beaver Creek at a site immediately upstream of Highway 63 (Figure 2.2). The station was 3.2 km upstream from the Athabasca River and approximately 800 m upstream from the entry of Bridge Creek.

Only one reach (R1) was identified on the basis of gradient, although it is certain that the quality of habitat below the entry of Bridge Creek would be considerably higher due to the presence of greater flows (Figure 4.5). Reach 1 is characterized by a moderate gradient ($4.7 \text{ m} \cdot \text{km}^{-1}$). Habitat conditions within the reach are characterized by data from H1



فعمده



Figure 4.5 Longitudinal profile and habitat zonation, Lower Beaver Creek.

(Table 4.3). Major channel characteristics on the 22 July survey date were as follows: wetted width was 3.5 m, mean depth was 20 cm, and mean velocity was $2.8 \text{ cm} \cdot \text{s}^{-1}$. Habitat diversity was low as indicated by the overall cover type distribution: 0% Riffle, 3% Run, 82% Flat, and 15% Pool. All pools were low quality (i.e., Class 1). Habitat diversity generally is much higher in moderate gradient reaches. In this case, the high degree of uniformity is due to the extremely low discharge which results in masking of cover types. Overall, silt was the most prevalent substrate material (i.e., 64% distribution dominance). The coarse material ranged in size from very coarse gravel (3.2 to 6.4 cm) to large cobble (12.8 to 25.6 cm). Sedimentation of coarse substrates was moderate (i.e., 25-50% coverage of interstitial space). Macrophyte density generally was low (i.e., 5-25% channel coverage). In contrast, algal density was high (i.e., greater than 75% coverage of surface area). Banks generally exhibited little erosion and were fairly stable with respect to further erosion tendencies.

4.2 WATER QUALITY

4.2.1 PHYSICAL PARAMETERS

Within the West Interception Ditch/Lower Beaver Creek drainage system, water temperatures during the three periods sampled ranged from $3.0 \text{ to } 24.0^{\circ}\text{C}$ with both values recorded at station WID-W1 (Table 4.4). In 1977, July, and September temperatures in the West Interception Ditch (W.I.D.) were 5.0°C cooler and approximately 9.0°C warmer, respectively,

		Channel Features at Transect								Cover Type Distribution (%)								
		Water Temp(ºC)	Rooted	Wetted	Local Gradient	Mean Depth	Mean Velocity	Discharge					Po	ol Ty	ре			
Station	Date	(Time)(h)	Width (m)	Width (m)	(%)	(cm)	(cm•s ⁻¹)	(m ^{3.} s ⁻¹)	Riffle	Run	Flat	1	2	3	4	5		
H1-T1	22 July	14.5 (1455)	2.9	2.3	1.0	10 (8-14)	4 (2-6)	0.02 ⁸	_	-	100	-				-		
-T2	22 July	-	3.4	3.2	1.0	21 (15-26)	1.5 (1-2)	-	-	-	100	-	-		~	-		
-173	22 July	-	-	4.0	1.0	18 (15-24)	5	-	-	17	8	75	-	-	-	-		
-7'4	22 July	-	6.0	2.8	0.5	12 (5-19)	2.3 (0-5)	-	-		100	-	~	-	-	-		
-T5	22 July	-	5.4	5.4	0.25	39 (29-46)	1	-	-	-	100	-	-		-	-		

Table 4.3 Summary of physical habitat characteristics at sampling stations on Lower Beaver Creek, July 1984.

Bank Features (RUB/LUB)						Substrate Distribution (%)									Aquatic Veg.					
Station	Cond. (%)	Stab. (No.)	Under. (em)	Slope (Deg.)	Cover (No.)	Depth (cm)	Over. (em)	Sand	Silt	FG	MG	CG	VCG	SC	LC	SB	LB (BR)	EM B. (No.)	Macro. (No.)	Algae (No.)
 H1-T1	100/0	1/4	0/0	155/165	1/4	0/0	0/0	_	_	_	-	-	33	67	_	_		3	2	5
-'T2	0/0	4/4	0/0	165/160	4/4	0/0	0/0	-	80	-	-		_	-	20	-	-	2	2	5
-T3	0/30	$\frac{1}{2}$	0/0	160/150	4/1	0/0	0/0	-	74	-		-	13	-	13			3	2	5
-T4	15/0	3/4	0/0	120/160	3/4	0/0	0/0	-	82	-	-	-		18	-	-	-	3	1	5
-T5	0/15	4/3	0/47	165/90 (45)b	4/3	0/13.5	0/0	-	83	-	-	-	8	9		-	-	3	3	5

Real Roy Royan Royan

1

^aRecorded during water quality sampling on 29 July.

^bAngle of undercut in parentheses. Note: Description of terms in Table 2.2.

L

1

Table 4.4. Summary of water quality data for the West Interception Ditch/Lower Beaver Creek System obtained in 1984.

Site/Date	w	5-W		W 4-W			W3-W			w1D-W	2		WID-W1	
Parameter	17 June	25 July	17 June	25 July	25 Sept.	17 June	25 July	25 Sept.	17 June 1	25 July	25 Sept.	17 June	25 July	26 Sept.
Temperature ^o C	17.0	21.0	17.0	17.0	4.5	18.0	20.0	5.5	19.0	22.0	6.0	21.0	24.0	3.0
p ^H	7.6	6.8	7.2	6.5	7.7	6.8	6.8	8.2	6.8	6.9	8.5	6.9	8.0	8.5
Specific Conductance µS·cm ⁻¹	250	300	360	340	360	280	300	315	325	300	440	325	325	450
Dissolved Oxygen	3.0	1.0	5.7	3.2	7.5	3.0	4.5	4.2	4.4	6.2	9.2	9.0	7.8	11.0
Oxygen % Saturation	30	10	58	33	57	31	49	33	47	70	73	100	92	81
Turbidity N.T.U.	2.5	4.0	1.1	1.0	1.0	5.4	26.0	5.2		1.4	4.3	3.8	1.9	2.2
Calcium	20.70	29.40	31.0	36.00	39.30	21.90	25.60	32.40	23.40	30.40	49.00	27.60	28.50	47.80
Magnesium	7.20	9.40	10.80	11.80	14.10	8.50	9.50	13.70	9.20	10.80	17.90	9.90	12.00	16.80
Sodium	18.50	21.20	22.60	24.00	25.50	21.20	25.50	25.00	23.60	28.70	48.00	22.70	32.30	48.50
Potassium	2.5	1.03	1.75	0.75	1.38	2.37	2.05	3.15	2.48	1.66	3.45	2.10	2.04	3.10
Chloride	3.10	2.20	3.40	2.60	4.00	2.10	1.70	2.00	2.10	3.70	16.40	3.30	5.50	13.60
Sulphate	52.0	21.8	124.0	118.0	108.0	34.8	6.2	4.9	46.0	56.5	50.5	75.0	45.5	77.0
PP Alkalinity, as CaCO ₃	L0.1	L0.1	L0.1	L0.1	L0.1	L0.1	L0.1	4.0	L0.1	L0.1	4.0	L0.1	L0.1	6.0
Alkalinity, T. as CaCO ₃	58.3	135.0	34.0	72.1	88.0	100.0	155.0	192.0	95.0	129.0	230.0	76.0	149.0	180.0
Bicarbonate	71.0	165.0	41.5	88.0	107.5	122.0	189.0	224.5	116.0	157.5	271.0	93.0	182.0	205.0
Carbonate	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	5.0	0	0	5.0	0	0	7.0
Hardness, T. as CaCO ₃	81.5	112.0	122.0	138.5	156.0	90.0	103.0	137.5	96.5	120.5	196.0	110.0	121.0	189.0
Silica (Reactive)	2.20	5.40	3.64	2.40	3.92	1.55	2.71	4.14	2.30	1.45	3.73	3.76	1.61	0.17
Total Filterable Residue												200	225	324
Total Non-Filterable Residue												3.2	0.8	1.2
Chemical Oxygen Demand												96	98	90
Oil & Grease												0.3	0.3	0.2
Nitrogen, Las N	1.43	2.10	1.53	1.62	1.27	3.31	2.21	1.59	1.06	1.41	1.05	1.23	1.28	1.05
Nitrate + Nitrate Nitrogen as N	0.011	0.006	0.008	0.019	0.005	0.011	0.008	0.005	0.003	0.008	0.005	0.008	0.004	0.005
Kjeldahl Nitrogen, T. as N	1.42	2.10	1.52	1.60	1.26	3.30	2.20	1.58	1.06	1.40	1.04	1.22	1.28	1.04
Ammonia Nitrogen, 1. as N	0.02	0.13	0.02	0.11	0.01	0.05	0.09	0.02	0.05	0.07	0.02	0.02	0.03	0.02
Phosphorus, 1. as P	0.077	0.385	0.041	0.085	0.032	0.160	0.260	0.200	0.077	0.037	0.032	0.027	0.030	0.017
Tatal Orthosphorus as P	50.6	40.0		10.0	~ ~ ~							0.024	0.025	L0.003
Total Organic Carbon	50.5	40.0	58.0	49.0	39.5	36.5	35.0	37.5	41.0	40.0	48.0	40.0	38.0	36.3
Bhanal	11.0	30.0	5.0	13.0	17.5	21.0	34.0	40.0	20.0	27.0	44.0	15.0	30.0	44.0
Areenia T												0.010	0.007	0.011
Selenium. T												0.0005	0.0002	0.0004
Boron T.												L0.0002	L0.0002	L0.0002
Cadmium, T.												0.21	0.17	0.18
Copper. T.												L0.001	L0.001	1.0.001
Iron. T.												0.001	10.001	L0.001
Chromium, T.												0.57	0.20	0.08
Manganese, T.												0.003	0.001	L0.001
Zine, T.												0.03	0.03	0.01
Lead, T.												0.002	10.001	10.001
Vanadium, T.												10.000	10.002	10.002
Nickel, T.												0.001	0.001	10.001
Mercurv, T.												10.001	10.001	10.001
Cyanide, T.												0.006	0.0001	0.007
Tannin & Lignin												3 5	21	0.001
Ion Balance	1.07	0.99	1.03	0.96	1.04	1.00	0.98	0.94	1.03	0.96	0.97	1.02	0.95	4,5
										0.00		1.02	0.00	1.02

Continued ..

Table 4.4. Continued.

Site/Date	BRC~W2				BRC-W1			LBC-W2		LBC-W1				
Parameter	17 June	25 July	25 Sept.	18 June	29 July	21 Sept.	19 June	29 July	21 Sept.	19 June	29 July	22 Sept.		
Temperature ⁰ C	18.0	19.0	5.0	19.0	14.5	6.0	11.0	14.0	7.5	16.0	16.0	6.0		
pH ,	7.8	7.8	8.2	6.5	7.4	7.6	7.4	8.0	8.0	7.7	7.3	7.7		
Specific Conductance µS·cm ⁻¹	160	190	200	365	515	625	730	650	640	300	625	625		
Dissolved Oxygen	7.8	8.0	5.8	9.0	8.2	10.7	8.3	8.8	10.0	10.0	9.2	9.0		
Oxygen % Saturation	81	90	46	96	81	85	74	84	82	100	92	72		
Turbidity N.T.U.	ND	5.2	10.0	21.0	18.0	10.0	3.1	3.4	3.6	13.0	18.0	18.0		
Calcium	8.70	20.50	22.00	31.30	56.00	66.00	61.00	64.00	64.00	32.20	60.00	74.00		
Magnesium	3.20	5.00	7.90	10.50	17.10	22.20	23.40	21.50	22.40	10.90	18.50	23,30		
Sodium	20.40	20.50	24.80	24.50	40.00	53.50	61.50	53.50	49.00	27.30	49.50	60.00		
Potassium	0.44	0.44	1.03	2.10	2.19	2.93	1.74	1.67	1.48	2.04	2.28	2.47		
Chloride	10.20	11.50	13.00	6.60	17.00	36.60	33.10	33.70	29.70	8.70	28.00	47.50		
Sulphate	16.3	11.7	9.1	86.0	102.0	125.0	51.5	35.5	37.9	75.0	85.0	93.0		
PP, Alkalinity as CaCO ₃	L0.1	L0.1	1.0.1	L0.1	L0.1	L0.1	L0.1	22.4	1.0.1	L0.1	1.0.1	L0.1		
Alkalinity, T. as CaCO ₃	43.0	80.3	106.0	85.0	196.0	199.0	293.0	259.0	287.0	102.0	230.0	250.0		
Bicarbonate	52.5	98.0	129.0	104.0	239.0	243.0	357.0	261.0	350.0	124.5	280.5	305.0		
Carbonate	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	027.0	0	0	0	0		
Hardness, T. as CaCO ₂	35.0	72.0	87.5	121.5	210.0	256.0	249.0	248.5	252.0	125.5	226.0	281.0		
Silica (Reactive)	2.11	5.10	8.50	4.00	5.60	6.20	6.60	7.60	7.30	3.92	6.65	7.24		
Total Filterable Residue				225	351	440				230	400	465		
Total Non-Filterable Residue				40.0	17.0	10.4				24.8	19.0	12.8		
Chemical Oxygen Demand				126	89	74				107	79	65		
Oil & Grease				1.0	1.2	1.0.1				0.8	0.7	1.2		
Nitrogen, T. as N	1.67	2.12	1.67	1.20	1.40	0.83	1.0.30	0.69	0.33	1.20	1.22	0.68		
Nitrate + Nitrite Nitrogen as N	0.006	0.016	0.007	0.010	0.043	0.010	L0.003	0.011	0.013	0.037	0.044	0.021		
Kjeldahl Nitrogen, T. as N	1.66	2.10	1.66	1.20	1.36	0.82	0.30	0.68	0.32	1.16	1.18	0.66		
Ammonia Nitrogen, T. as N	0.08	0.15	0.04	0.07	0.12	0.03	0.03	0.06	L0.01	0.05	0.20	0.04		
Phosphorus, T. as P	0.050	0.125	0.062	0.057	0.058	0.041	0.021	0.022	0.022	0.038	0.057	0.046		
Ortho-Phosphorus as P				0.035	0.040	0.023				0.030	0.040	0.018		
Total Organic Carbon	69.0	71.0	65.0	39.0	36.0	25.5	13.5	12.3	10.5	35.5	30.5	20.8		
Total Inorganic Carbon	6.0	15.0	19.5	17.0	36.0	45.0	68.0	59.0	66.0	20.0	46.0	57.0		
Phenol				0.010	0.006	0.010				0.014	0.009	0.007		
Arsenic, T.				0.0016	0.0013	0.0009				0.0010	0.0013	0.0009		
Selenium, T.				L0.0002	L0.0002	0.0003				L0.0003	2 L0.0002	0.0002		
Boron, T.				0.22	0.20	0.22				0.23	0.18	0.17		
Cadmium, T.				L0.001	L0.001	L0.001				L0.001	L0.001	L0.001		
Copper, T.				0.001	0.002	0.001				L0.001	0.002	L0.001		
Iron, T.				1.90	7.52	9.05				0.13	6.27	5.30		
Chromium, T.				L0.001	0.004	0.001				L0.001	0.003	0.001		
Manganese, T.				0.09	0.23	0.28				L0.01	0.28	0.33		
Zine, T.				0.004	0.002	0.004				0.002	0.002	0.004		
Lead, T.				L0.002	L0.002	L0.002				L0.002	L0.002	L0.002		
Vanadium, T.				L0.001	0.001	0.001				0.002	L0.001	0.001		
Nickel, T.				0.004	0.004	0.002				0.004	0.004	L0.001		
Mercury, T.				L0.0001	L0.0001	L0.0001				L0.000	L L0.0001	L0.0001		
Cyanide, T.				0.005	0.006	0.006				0.003	0.009	0.005		
Tannin & Lignin				3.7	3.5	2.1				3.6	2.7	ND		
Ion Balance	1.07	1.07	1.07	0.96	0.93	0.99	0.98	0.97	0.98	0.97	0.94	0.97		

-

100

Notes:

All values are reported in mg·L⁻¹ unless otherwise stated. L - Less Than; T. - Total; N - Nitrogen; P - Phosphorus; ND - no data.

than during the comparable sampling periods in the present study (Tsui et al. 1977). The water in the drainage system was brown in colour.

The pH within this system ranged from slightly acidic (pH 6.5) to alkaline (pH 8.5). The low pH values likely were the result of drainage from muskeg areas. Acidic conditions were not reported in the W.I.D. or Lower Beaver Creek during May to September 1977 (Tsui et al. 1977).

The non-filterable residue levels in the drainage system ranged from $0.8 \text{ mg} \cdot \text{L}^{-1}$ at station WID-W1 to $40.0 \text{ mg} \cdot \text{L}^{-1}$ at station BRC-W1. Notably lower levels were recorded at stations WID-W1 and LBC-W1. The concentrations showed a direct relationship to stream discharge. Similar conditions were reported in Tsui et al. (1977).

Dissolved oxygen concentrations at the stations associated with the tributaries were noticeably lower than those recorded at the remaining stations in the drainage. While the concentrations generally ranged from 4.4 to 11.0 mg·L⁻¹, values at W5-W, W4-W and W3-W ranged from 1.0 to 7.5 mg·L⁻¹, and were frequently less than 5.0 mg·L⁻¹ minimum required by sport fish. The low levels probably were the result of drainage from stagnant ponds associated with beaver dams. Dissolved oxygen measurements at station W3-W were conducted within the beaver pond due to the proximity of the beaver dam to the W.I.D. (Plate 5). Dissolved oxygen levels at stations WID-W1 and LBC-W2 were very similar to those in July and September reported in Tsui et al. (1977).

4.2.2 MAJOR IONS

Although the water in the drainage system generally was of the calcium bicarbonate type, the ionic dominance varied considerably between stations and between sampling periods (Figure 4.6). The influence of sodium, commonly associated with groundwater, was notable at all stations. Sulphate concentrations, however, were erratic; sulphate frequently varied from being the dominant to the least abundant anion. The cause for such behaviour was not apparent. It appeared, however, the major source of the sulphate ion originates in the W.I.D. and its associated tributaries. This likely accounts for the higher sulphate concentrations in Bridge Creek below the W.I.D. confluence than was recorded in Bridge Creek (BRC-W2) above the confluence. At stations where the sulphate concentrations were high, there was a corresponding decrease in the buffering capacity of the water, probably because of acidification as suggested by the low total alkalinity values and in some cases low pH. It should be recognized, however, that muskeg waters commonly are low in total alkalinity and may have an acidic pH.

4.2.3 NUTRIENTS

4.2.3.1 Nitrogen

The total nitrogen concentrations in the drainage system ranged from less than 0.30 mg $N \cdot L^{-1}$ to 3.31 mg $N \cdot L^{-1}$. Notable trends among sampling stations were not apparent. The highest concentrations



1

ŧ

I

F

ľ

ł

E

I

1

ł

ł

I

F

ł

1

Ĩ

Ĩ

I

Interception Ditch system in June, July and September, 1984.

generally occurred in July and, for reasons stated in Section 3.2.3.1, important seasonal differences were not exhibited. The total nitrogen levels generally exceeded the ASWQO of 1.0 mg $N \cdot L^{-1}$. Concentrations in July and September reported in Tsui et al. (1977) generally were lower and within the ASWQO. Nitrate + nitrite concentrations were less in the drainage system with values ranging from less than 0.003 to 0.044 mg $N \cdot L^{-1}$.

Ammonia concentrations, which ranged from less than 0.01 to 0.20 mg $N \cdot L^{-1}$, generally were low except for the 0.20 mg $N \cdot L^{-1}$ value recorded at station LBC-W1.

4.2.3.2 Phosphorus

The concentrations of total phosphorus in the drainage system ranged from 0.017 mg $P \cdot L^{-1}$ at WID-W1 to 0.385 mg $P \cdot L^{-1}$ at W5-W. The concentrations varied considerably and showed no trend among the stations. The levels frequently exceeded the ASWQO of 0.05 mg $P \cdot L^{-1}$. Notably higher concentrations were recorded by Tsui et al. (1977) in the W.I.D., and in Lower Beaver Creek near station LBC-W2. Orthophosphorus concentrations, ranging from less than 0.003 to 0.040 mg $P \cdot L^{-1}$ were similar among stations WID-W1, BRC-W1, and LBC-W1. At each station the highest values occurred in July which was identical to the behaviour of total phosphorus at those stations.

4.2.3.3 Reactive Silica

Reactive silica concentrations ranged from 0.17 to $8.50 \text{ mg} \cdot \text{L}^{-1}$. Concentrations generally were higher in the Bridge Creek and Lower Beaver Creek stations than in the other stations within this system. The concentrations were lowest in June and highest in September except at WID-W1 where the reverse was shown. Concentrations of this nutrient are normally higher in the fall period due to reduced vegetation demands and increased groundwater influence.

4.2.3.4 Total Organic Carbon

Total organic carbon concentrations, ranging from $10.5 \text{ mg} \cdot \text{L}^{-1}$ (LBC-W2) to 71.0 mg $\cdot \text{L}^{-1}$ (BRC-W2), showed no trends among the stations except that during each sampling period the highest values occurred at BRC-W2 and the lowest at LBC-W2.

4.2.4 TRACE METALS AND OTHER SUBSTANCES

The concentrations of trace metals and elements in the drainage system generally were below their detection limits except for iron and manganese, which exceeded the ASWQO (Table 4.4). Total iron levels (ranging from 0.08 to $9.05 \text{ mg} \cdot \text{L}^{-1}$) frequently exceeded the ASWQO of 0.30 mg·L⁻¹ with the highest values occurring at BRC-W1. The values

increased from June to September at BRC-W1 and LBC-W1, while the reverse was shown at WID-W1. Speculatively, groundwater was the source of iron, particularly during the September survey; a dense layer of a rusty precipitate, probably ferric hydroxide, was observed on the substrate at stations BRC-W1 and LBC-W1. Hem (1970) indicated that groundwater commonly contains iron with concentrations of 1.0 to 10 mg·L $^{-1}$. The water yields a ferric hydroxide precipitate when it discharges to the surface.

Total manganese concentrations ranged from less than 0.01 to 0.33 $\text{mg}\cdot\text{L}^{-1}$ and frequently exceeded the ASWQO of 0.05 $\text{mg}\cdot\text{L}^{-1}$ at BRC-W1 and LBC-W1. A groundwater source is suspected since the behaviour of manganese is closely related to iron.

Phenol concentrations recorded at WID-W1, BRC-W1, and LBC-W1 all exceeded the ASWQO of $0.005 \text{ mg} \cdot \text{L}^{-1}$. The source of phenol was likely natural. Oil and grease present in the drainage probably originated from natural sources.

4.3 ZOOBENTHOS

4.3.1 WEST INTERCEPTION DITCH

Three benthic stations were evaluated on the W.I.D. (Figure 2.7). Station WID-B1 was situated 12.2 km downstream from the source. Substrate at this station consisted of coarse cobble and boulder, with little

sand or silt present. The macrophyte Potamogeton pectinatus occurred sparsely along margins and amongst the cobbles. During the spring sampling period, the channel was shallow (less than 25 cm deep) and current was moderate $(30-50 \text{ cm} \cdot \text{s}^{-1})$. Rheophilic, lithophilic taxa (i.e., Simuliidae^a, baetid and heptageniid mayflies, net-spinning caddisflies) occurred at this station but were more abundant on submerged vegetation than on rocky substrates; consequently, they were underrepresented in quantitative samples (Appendix D, Table D8). In samples from the rocky substrate, the community dominated by Oligochaeta and was Chironomidae (Figure 4.7), the latter increasing in importance through the year. Very high densities, biomass and richness were recorded in fall; however, because Chironomidae were so prevalent, diversity fell to 25 % of its summer value (Table 4.5).

Station W3-B (Figure 2.7) was almost lentic in character due to a beaver dam at the mouth. In spring, water depth was 1.5 m, and the substrate consisted of fine gravel overlain by a silt/sand/organic mixture. Dense beds of **Carex** bordered the creek, and flow was minimal. This station corresponded to Station 7 of Tsui et al. (1977). The benthos of this station was dominated by Oligochaeta and Chironomidae (Figure 4.7), although a more diverse fauna was collected in qualitative samples from the **Carex** beds (Appendix D, Table D9).

^aDr. P.H. Adler (**ex** University of Alberta) kindly identified an auxilliary sample collected in June. This contained five **Simulium verecundum** complex (cytotype ACD) and one **S. aureum** (cytotype B).

Ŧ

WEST INTERCEPTION DITCH



Figure 4.7 Relative abundance of major taxonomic groups of benthic invertebrates in the West Interception Ditch, and Creek W3, 1984.

Station		Spring	Summer	Fall
WID-B1	Density	31.9	92.9	591.2
	Biomass	4.3	20.9	80.3
	Diversity	2.309	1.664	1.09
	Richness	19	11	14
WID-B2	Density	104.2	218.3	2430.5
	Biomass	14.1	22.0	178.0
	Diversity	1.888	1.621	0.38
	Richness	18	19	29
W3-B	Density ^a	24.7	301.3	364.3
	Biomass	5.4	16.8	11.2
	Diversity	1.885	1.546	1.854
	Richness	14	12	18
BRC-B	Density	15.4	31.3	8.3
	Biomass	1.6	2.6	0.7
	Diversity	2.782	2.417	1.070
	Richness	13	10	7
LBC-B1	Density	35.3	147.7	231.6
	Biomass	5.5	23.3	17.6
	Diversity	1.123	1.585	2.043
	Richness	10	15	18
LBC-B2	Density	218.7	984.6	353.5
	Biomass	42.3	163.0	38.2
	Diversity	2.150	4.151	1.635
	Richness	19	31	23

Table 4.5 Mean density (no. per 0.1 m^2), mean biomass (mg per 0.1 m^2), diversity, and taxonomic richness of zoobenthos at stations associated with the West Interception Ditch/Lower Beaver Creek System, 1984.

^aEkman grab samples (area: 0.023 m^2) were taken at station W3-B. Densities and biomass have been converted to 0.1 m^2 area.

-

At station WID-B2, which corresponded with Station 5 of Tsui et al. (1977), the stream channel was densely vegetated with aquatic macrophytes (**Typha**, **Potamogeton**, **Elodea**, **Megalodonta**); streamflows were slow but detectable in all three sample periods. Substrate consisted of a dense root mat over clay/silt. Water depth exceeded 60 cm in the spring.

Oligochaeta and Chironomidae were dominant in the quantitative samples during each sampling period (Figure 4.7); a moderately rich fauna, comparable to W3-B, was collected at this station (Appendix D, Table D10). Biomass and density both increased from June to September (Table 4.5), but diversity declined. Seasonal progression was marked by an increase in proportion of Chironomidae; Oligochaeta also increased in abundance, but to a lesser extent.

Tsui et al. (1977) surveyed the W.I.D. system one year after completion. Their level of taxonomic resolution and method of biomass determination differed from those of the present study. To permit a more direct evaluation of changes in community structure between 1977 and the present, the data of Tsui et al. (1977) were reanalysed to express measurements in units similar to the present study (Table 4.6).

The most important change between study years was noted for dominant species. At WID-B1, Simuliidae made up 40-45% of the fauna in 1977, whereas in 1984, its abundance had declined to 10-15%. **Baetis** similarly declined in abundance, whereas Oligochaeta and Chironomidae

Table 4.6

Mean density (no. per 0.1 m^2), mean biomass^a (mg per 0.1 m^2), diversity^b, and taxonomic richness^c of zoobenthos at West Interception Ditch and tributary stations, 1977 as estimated from data of Tsui et al. (1977).

Station		Spring	Summer	Fall
W.I.D. 13.7 km	Density	159.9	108.4	230.5
N. of Beaver Creek	Biomass	3.3	1.5	4.6
Reservoir Rd.	Diversity	2.526	2.159	2.035
(Station 2)	Richness	15	17	8
Creek W-3	Density	119.2	NDd	ND
Upstream of	Biomass	1.8	ND	ND
Confluence with	Diversity	1.619	ND	ND
W.I.D. (Stn. 7)	Richness	13	ND	ND
W.I.D. 4.0 km	Density	798.3	780.1	205.0
N. of Beaver Creek	Biomass	8.2	5.4	3.9
Reservoir	Diversity	0.296	0.548	2.032
(Station 5)	Richness	6	7	11
Lower Beaver Creek	Density	165.1	46.7	66.7
	Biomass	< 0.1	25.0	100.0
	Diversity	0.360	0.226	0.171
	Richness	4	2	2

^aBiomass estimates of Tsui et al. (1978) were volumetric (cm³·m⁻²). They were converted to mg AFDW by assuming a specific gravity of 1.05, and an AFDW:wet weight ratio of 0.1428 (Reger et al. 1977).

^bRecalculated from Tsui et al. (1977) using a family level of taxonomic resolution. ^cGenera of Chironomidae pooled as one taxonomic unit. ^dData not available.

increased. This may reflect an increase in the accumulation of organic material exported from upstream areas in the W.I.D., where macrophytes dominate. Simuliidae feed upon suspended organic material, which may now largely be retained by growing macrophytes during spring and Oligochaeta and Chironomidae are typically detrital deposit summer. feeders that overwinter as immatures. The decomposition of submergent macrophytes in the fall likely results in the downstream transport of organic materials. These materials may accumulate in the porous cobble interstices during low summer and fall flows. Benthic densities were markedly higher in summer and fall of 1984 than in 1977, reflecting the increased productivity at WID-B1. Biomass estimates were more than tenfold greater in these seasons in 1984; however, this may indicate incompatibility of the two biomass determination methods, since densities in 1984 did not increase to this extent and the modal size of animals was relatively small (Appendix D, Table D32).

Composition of the benthic community at W3-B also showed significant change. In 1977, the station was characterized by slow flows and organic substrate (Tsui et al. 1977), similar to conditions recorded in 1984. However, in 1977 macrophytes were abundant and presumably provided attachment sites for the Simuliidae, which constituted over 79 percent of the benthos in spring, 1977. A beaver dam, situated at the mouth of Creek W3, had increased water depth at station W3-B, apparently past the level of tolerance for submergent and floating-leaf plants. Although densities were much lower in spring 1984 in comparison with 1977 estimates, diversity was slightly greater, and richness was equivalent if shoreline sweep taxa were included in the former samples. WID-B2 also exhibited reduced densities compared to 1977 samples. In 1977, the fauna consisted almost entirely of Chironomidae in spring and summer, with **Caenis** sp. (Ephemeroptera) becoming dominant in fall. In 1984, Oligochaeta and Chironomidae were codominant in spring and summer; **Caenis** was absent at this station. Almost twice the number of taxa were recorded in 1984, and because abundance was more equitably distributed among species, diversity increased substantially in spring and summer from levels noted in 1977.

4.3.2 LOWER BEAVER CREEK SYSTEM

Three stations were sampled within the Lower Beaver Creek drainage area (Figure 2.7). Station BRC-B was situated on Bridge Creek, approximately 200 m upstream of Hwy 63. At this location, the creek flows through a steep narrow valley, densely shaded by conifers. During the spring of 1984, stream depth was shallow (10-30 cm) and flows moderate ($30-50 \text{ cm}\cdot\text{s}^{-1}$). Substrate consisted of cobbles embedded in sand; bitumen inclusions were common.

Few animals were collected in any season at BRC-B (Table 4.5). In spring and summer, the fauna were equitably distributed among Oligochaeta, Simuliidae, Chironomidae, and baetid mayflies (Figure 4.8) resulting in relatively high diversity estimates. Oligochaeta dominated in fall. Productivity in Bridge Creek is probably limited by nutrient input. The high degree of channel shading reduced light penetration to the stream bed, limiting autochthonous production. Conifer needles, having a low nutrient value, provide the primary riparian input.



LOWER BEAVER CREEK DRAINAGE

Figure 4.8 Relative abundance of major taxonomic groups of benthic invertebrates in the Lower Beaver Creek drainage area, 1984.

I

÷

Station LBC-B2 on Lower Beaver Creek (200 m upstream of Hwy 63) was located in a flat, open valley (Figure 2.7). Streambanks were densely vegetated by willow and alder. During the spring, the creek at this station was 1.5 m wide and shallow (7 cm), with moderate flow $(20 \text{ cm} \cdot \text{s}^{-1})$. Substrate consisted of medium sized gravel, covered with dense periphytic growth. Moss occurred on dry areas of the stream bed.

This station showed the highest density estimates of the three stations in the Lower Beaver Creek drainage. Numerous taxa were collected, especially in summer and fall (Table 4.5), and summer diversity was greater than at any other station in the Syncrude Development Area. Oligochaeta and Chironomidae were more abundant than any other taxa.

Tsui et al. (1977) sampled this creek at a point several kilometres upstream from the present station. They recorded higher spring densities but lower biomass (Table 4.6). In summer and fall, the reverse was true; they found only two and four taxa, respectively. Diversity was correspondingly low; Oligochaeta and Chironomidae dominated this sample. The low diversity was attributed to the homogeneous nature of the mud/sand substrate at the 1977 station. The high abundance and diversity recorded at the 1984 station likely can be attributed to the presence of a clean gravel substrate which provides greater habitat heterogeneity, and the abundant energy source provided by both autochthonous production and riparian inputs. Lower Beaver Creek was sampled 80 m downstream of its confluence with Bridge Creek (station LBC-B1). The two creeks form an extensive sandy delta, densely overgrown with willows. At this station, the creek flows between low sandy banks over a substrate of cobble embedded in sand. Some bitumen was present. In the spring, the creek was approximately 4 m wide, with depths of 20-30 cm and flows of 70- $80 \text{ cm} \cdot \text{s}^{-1}$.

Values of density, biomass and taxonomic richness recorded at LBC-B1 were intermediate between those at LBC-B2 and BRC-B (Table 4.5). All biotic measures increased from spring to fall except biomass, which was maximal in summer. Oligochaetes were prevalent in spring, but were replaced by **Baetis** (Ephemeroptera) in summer and by Chironomidae in fall.

Although this station is exposed and likely receives abundant riparian input of organic matter from upstream, diversity and abundance of fauna were less than at the upstream Lower Beaver Creek station (LBC-B2). It is possible that continual input of sand and silt from the delta region, and from eroding upstream banks, inhibits periphytic growth and reduces the interstitial volume within the cobble substrate.

Detailed tables of taxonomic compositon, abundance and biomass for stations LBC-B1, LBC-B2 and BRC-B, are presented in Appendix D, Tables D11 to 13 and Table D32. 4.4 FISH

Five species of fish were recorded in the West Interception Ditch/Lower Beaver Creek System in 1984: longnose sucker, white sucker, fathead minnow, lake chub and brook stickleback (Table 4.7). Brook stickleback and lake chub were the only species present in the upper part of the drainage system (i.e., W.I.D., Upper Beaver Creek). Brook stickleback was the most abundant species, contributing 73.9% to the combined catch from all sample stations.

4.4.1 WEST INTERCEPTION DITCH

The West Interception Ditch (W.I.D.) exhibited a very low utilization by fish in 1984. Of the three species recorded, only brook stickleback was present at all sampling stations (Table 4.7). This species was the most abundant in the catch, contributing 55.6% (n=10) to the total catch from all stations combined. Fathead minnow (38.8% of the catch) was present only at EF1, the lowermost W.I.D. sampling station (Figure 2.2). One lake chub was recorded in the W.I.D.; this individual was captured at the uppermost sample station (EF3).

The low numbers of fish utilizing the W.I.D. likely is a reflection of the inability of this system to overwinter fish (i.e., flow limitations). In most areas, the W.I.D. likely freezes to the bottom. In areas not freezing to the bottom anoxic conditions likely would result due to the abundance of decaying submergent and emergent aquatic vegetation. The absence of

	Fish Species											
Station	Longnose sucker	White sucker	Fathead minnow	Lake chub	Brook stickleback							
WID-EF1	0	0	58.3	0	41.7							
WID-EF2 WID-EF3	0 0	0 0	0 0	$0 \\ 25.0$	$\begin{array}{c} 100.0\\75.0\end{array}$							
Combined (n) ^a	0 (0)	0 (0)	38.8 (7)	5.6 (1)	55.6 (10)							
BRC-EF1 BRC-EF2	40.0 0	30.0 0	0 0	10.0 0	20.0 0							
BRC-EF3 BRC-EF4	0 0	0 0	$\begin{array}{c} 4.8\\73.3\end{array}$	16.7 0	$\begin{array}{c} 78.5 \\ 26.7 \end{array}$							
Combined (n)	2.6 (4)	2.0 (3)	49.7 (76)	5.2 (8)	40.5 (62)							
LBC-EF1 LBC-EF2	0 0	1.3 0	0 0	6.3 0	92.4 100.0							
Combined (n)	0 (0)	0.4 (1)	0 (0)	2.2 (5)	97.4 (225)							
All Sites	1.0	1.0	20.6	3.5	73.9							
(n)	(4)	(4)	(83)	(14)	(297)							

Table 4.7. Percentage composition of fish species recorded at electrofishing stations on the West Interception Ditch (WID), Bridge Creek (BRC), and Lower Beaver Creek (LBC), 1984.

^aNumber of fish captured and observed.

fish from all sampled stations in the spring survey supports this assumption (Appendix E, Table E4). Fish captured in the W.I.D. during the summer and fall surveys may have moved into the W.I.D. from downstream habitats (i.e., Bridge Creek) or from tributaries (i.e., Creeks W2, W3, W4 and W5). In addition, fish may have been flushed into the W.I.D. from Creek B1. Erosional scars on the dam separating the two drainages (Figure 2.2) indicated that during freshet periods, water from Creek B1 flowed over the dam into the W.I.D.

Similarities exist between the results of 1977 (Tsui et al. 1977) and 1984 studies. In both cases, brook stickleback and fathead minnow were the dominant species recorded. In both study years, these species were absent in the catch in the spring, yet were present (in low numbers) in the fall sampling periods. Tsui et al. (1977) also concluded that these species had invaded the W.I.D. from Bridge Creek or from the W.I.D. tributaries. It is evident that habitat conditions in the W.I.D. are unsuitable for the establishment of resident fish populations.

4.4.2 W.I.D. TRIBUTARIES

Of the four main W.I.D. tributaries, only Creek W2 was sampled in the present study. A backpack electrofishing survey was conducted in this system on 30 May 1984 (Appendix E, Table E4). Brook stickleback and fathead minnow were the only species recorded. All fish were captured in a large beaver pond situated approximately 150 m upstream from the creek mouth. A small concentration of fathead minnow spawners (i.e., seven ripe males and one ripe female) were captured in a shallow (50-75 cm), nearshore area, an area with an abundance of submerged woody vegetation for cover. One brook stickleback adult also was recorded in the beaver pond.

Brook stickleback and fathead minnow likely were more abundant in Creek W2 than indicated by the limited sampling results. The presence of numerous large, stable beaver dams (that may restrict fish movement) and numerous deep beaver ponds suitable for overwintering suggests that fathead minnow and brook stickleback are year-round residents in Creek W2.

The other W.I.D. tributaries (i.e., Creeks W3, W4, and W5) exhibited similar habitat characteristics to those present in Creek W2. Tsui et al. (1977) recorded brook stickleback and fathead minnow in Creek W5 and Creek W3. These species likely were common cohabitants of all the W.I.D. tributaries.

4.4.3 BRIDGE CREEK

A total of five fish species was recorded in Bridge Creek. Of these, fathead minnow (49.7%) and brook stickleback (40.5%) made the largest contribution to the electrofishing catch (Table 4.7). Lake chub, white sucker and longnose sucker (in decreasing order of abundance) also were recorded. The highest species diversity (i.e., four species) was present at EF1, the farthest downstream station. Fish were not collected at EF2. This section, located immediately above the Highway 63 road crossing, exhibited predominantly shallow depths and a low occurrence of instream cover, factors that may account for the apparent lack of fish use. In addition, a 33 cm high cascade at the culvert outlet (Highway 63 road crossing) formed a barrier to upstream fish passage at all flow stages observed.

Fathead minnow were recorded only in EF3 and EF4, the two upstream electrofishing stations (Table 4.7). This species was most abundant in spring at EF4 when a CUE of 8.1 fish·min⁻¹ was recorded (Appendix E, Table E4). Fathead minnow adults and juveniles were present in EF4 during all sampled periods; these individuals may be resident in the upper portion of Bridge Creek. Distribution of this species was restricted to deeper pool areas with abundant instream and bankside cover.

Brook stickleback were collected at the two upstream sample stations during all sampled periods (Table 4.7). This species exhibited the highest CUE (3.1 fish·min⁻¹) in EF4 during the summer survey (Appendix E, Table E4). In the fall, this species was most abundant (CUE of 2.8 fish·min⁻¹) in section EF3. This section is located immediately downstream from EF2, below the confluence of Bridge Creek and the W.I.D. This apparent shift in abundance between adjoining sections may be related to seasonal feeding and overwintering movements. Adult and juvenile brook stickleback were present in the upper sample reaches of Bridge Creek during all periods. Brook stickleback were present in low numbers (n = 2) at EF1 (below Highway 63) during the spring sample period but were absent during summer and fall.

Lake chub were present in low numbers and exhibited a sporadic distribution both spatially and seasonally within Bridge Creek (Table 4.7). This species was recorded during spring sampling in EF1 and during the summer surveys at EF3 (Appendix E, Table E4). The presence of adult and juveniles in the catch suggests that there may be a resident population within the system.

Longnose and white suckers (juveniles) were the other species present in Bridge Creek; both these species were recorded at EF1 during the summer survey (Appendix E, Table E4). These individuals likely moved upstream from the Athabasca River. The outfall barrier at the culvert outlet likely limits the extent of upstream penetration into the system.

4.4.4 LOWER BEAVER CREEK

Brook stickleback was the most abundant species recorded during electrofishing surveys on Lower Beaver Creek, contributing 92.4% and 100.0% to the total catches from stations EF1 and EF2, respectively (Table 4.7). Adult lake chub and juvenile white suckers were present only during the July survey in EF1. These individuals were captured in a large pool immediately downstream of the Highway 63 culvert outlet. Brook stickleback were abundant in Lower Beaver Creek and exhibited a relatively stable seasonal abundance within sample stations. CUE ranged from 2.4 to 2.8 fish·min⁻¹ at EF1 and from 4.8 to 6.3 fish·min⁻¹ at EF2 for all sampled periods (Appendix E, Table E4). The higher CUE's recorded in EF2 may reflect the greater abundance of cover (in the form of submergent aquatic vegetation) in this section. The presence of all life history stages (i.e., adult, juvenile, young-of-the-year) of brook stickleback indicates this species is resident within the sample area. Beaver ponds situated at the lower end of EF1 provide suitable overwintering habitat in the area.

In May of 1977, longnose sucker were observed spawning in Lower Beaver Creek below the North Starter Dike (Tsui et al. 1977). Additional sampling in this area in September 1977 recorded numerous longnose and white sucker young-of-the-year (y-o-y). These individuals likely were members of established sucker spawning runs in Beaver Creek (R.R.C.S. 1973). Although sampling was not conducted in this immediate area in 1984, the absence of sucker y-o-y at collection stations situated approximately 4 km downstream from the 1977 sample station suggests that longnose suckers and white suckers did not spawn in the area in 1984. This may have been due to one or all of the following: low quality substrate; restricted flows during migration and spawning period; possibility of movement blockage at the Highway 63 culvert; or sucker spawning populations in the original Beaver Creek have been eliminated.

SECTION 5.0

BEAVER CREEK DIVERSION SYSTEM

The Beaver Creek Diversion System consists of a series of reservoirs and diversion canals designed to divert streamflow from the southern boundary of the Syncrude Canada Ltd. mine site (Figure 2.3). The system originates at Beaver Creek Reservoir, which was formed by the impoundment of Upper Beaver Creek. The reservoir receives input from three major sources (i.e., Upper Beaver Creek, Creek B2, and Creek B1). Upper Beaver Creek drains an area to the south and enters at the south end of the reservoir. Creek B2 enters at the southwestern portion of the reservoir. Creek B1 drains an area to the west and empties into the northwest portion of the reservoir. The lower reach of Creek B1, which is channelized, drains a small impoundment created by the West Perimeter Road and the dam separating Creek B1 and the W.I.D drainage basins.

Water from Beaver Creek Reservoir is diverted through a diversion canal into Ruth Lake and then via another diversion canal into Poplar Creek Reservoir. A spillway at the southern end of Poplar Creek Reservoir directs water into Poplar Creek which in turn flows into the Athabasca River. To accommodate the additional inflow from Poplar Creek Reservoir, a section of Poplar Creek downstream of the spillway confluence has been channelized and the banks armoured with rip-rap and gabion structures. Eleven drop structures are located within the channelized section to reduce water velocities and thereby minimize bed and bank scour.
5.1 UPPER BEAVER CREEK

5.1.1 AQUATIC HABITAT

5.1.1.1 Description of Drainage Area

Upper Beaver Creek drains an area of 165 km^2 which is predominantly highland terrain. The stream extends a distance of approximately 32 km southward from its point of entry into Beaver Creek Reservoir. The major tributary to Upper Beaver Creek is Cache Creek which enters at km 5.5.

5.1.1.2 Streamflows During Study Period

A Water Survey of Canada gauging station (Station No. 07DA018) is located on Upper Beaver Creek approximately 2.5 km upstream of Beaver Creek Reservoir (Figure 2.3). The hydrograph for the period 1 May to 21 September is illustrated in Figure 5.1. The peak discharge (13.8 m³·s⁻¹) during the recording period occurred on 2 June; prior to this event, flows were in the order of 0.3 m³·s⁻¹ to 0.9 m³·s⁻¹. Apart from a minor peak (1.0 m³·s⁻¹) in early July, the flow was relatively stable over the summer and early fall (i.e., ranging from 0.1 m³·s⁻¹ to 0.5 m³·s⁻¹).



Figure 5.1 Beaver Creek hydrograph, 1 May to 21 September 1984 (based on preliminary Water Survey of Canada data for Station No. 07DA018).

I

L

I

1

L

5.1.1.3 Mainstem Upper Beaver Creek

Fishery surveys have been conducted on Upper Beaver Creek on several occasions (Noton and Chymko 1978; O'Neil 1979, 1982). Detailed and systematic habitat sampling was not carried out during these prior surveys. Previous investigators described Upper Beaver Creek as a low gradient, meandering, brown-water stream characterized by low current velocity, sand-silt substrate, and predominantly Flat type habitat.

The longitudinal profile (Figure 5.2) indicates the presence of three discrete habitat reaches: a low gradient reach (R1), a moderate gradient reach (R2), and a high gradient reach (R3). During the present study, only Reach 1 received an on-site investigation (H1, Table 5.1). Station H1 was located approximately 4.0 km upstream from the reservoir. The major channel characteristics at the transect were as follows: wetted width was 8.4 m, mean depth was 75 cm, and mean velocity was 3 cm·s⁻¹. The habitat was dominated (100%) by Flat cover type. Substrate consisted entirely of sand-silt material. Streambanks exhibited a high degree of erosion (i.e., 60-80% of intersected bank disturbed). The presence of macrophytes and attached algae was negligible. Overall, the habitat in Reach 1 was extremely homogeneous, with low fishery suitability. Conditions in the upper sections, and in particular Reach 2 (with a moderate gradient), may be more suitable for fish.

162



L

1

1

Figure 5.2 Longitudinal profile and habitat zonation, Upper Beaver Creek.

l

L

L.

L

L.

L

L

l

ł

L

Table 5.1	Summary of	physical habita	t characteristics a	at sampling stations (on Upper Beave	r Creek,	September	1984 and Cree	k B1, July 19	984.
-----------	------------	-----------------	---------------------	------------------------	----------------	----------	-----------	---------------	---------------	------

				Ch	annel Featur	es at Transe	et			Cov	er Type	Distri	butio	n (%)		
Station	Date	Water Temp(ºC)	Rooted	Wetted	Local Gradient	Mean Depth	Mean Velocity	Discharge					Po	ol Ty	pe	
		(Time)(h)	Width (m)	Width (m)	(%)	(cm)	(em-s ⁻¹)	(m ³ -s ⁻¹)	Riffle	Run	Flat	1	2	3	4	5
Upper Bea	ver Creek													· · ·		
н	26 Sept.	5 (1707)	8.4	8.4	0.25	75 (60-90)	3 (1-4)	0.18ª	-	-	100	~	-	-	-	-
Creek B1																
H1-T1	20 July	20 (1215)	4.6	3.0	1.0	29 (22-33)	24 (8-36)	0.06b	-	100		-	-	-	-	-
-T2	20 July	20 (1240)	3.5	2.8	1.0	24 (22-27)	26 (2-55)	-	-	58	-	42	-	-	-	
-T3	20 July	20 (1305)	4.3	2.8	1.0	28 (23-32)	20 (8-38)	-	-	55	-	45	-	-	~	-
H2-T1	20 July	21 (1425)	4.6	4.2	3.5	16 (15-17)	63 (32-85)	-	64	18	-	18	-	-	~	-
-T2	20 July	21 (1445)	4.3	4.2	3.0	15 (14-17)	40 (25-48)	-	55	45	-	-	-	-	-	-
-T3	20 July	21 (1510)	4.5	3.5	3.0	14 (12-18)	46 (27-68)	-	9	73	-	18	-	-	-	-

			Bank Fe	atures (RUI	3/LUB)			Substrate Distribution (%)							Aquatic Veg.					
Station	Cond. (%)	Stab. (No.)	Under. (em)	Slope (Deg.)	Cover (No.)	Depth (em)	Over. (em)	Sand	Silt	FG	MG	CG	VCG	SC	ĿĊ	SB	LB (BR)	EMB. (No.)	Macro. (No.)	Algae (No.)
Upper Bea	aver Creek																			
н	60/80	4/3	0/0	125/120	3/2	5/41	140/55	- 1	00 -	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	~	N/A ^c	1	۱
Creek B1																				
H1-T1	0/25	4/4	0/0	177/160	2/2	0/0	0/35	-	50	33	-	-	-	-	17	_	_	5	4	2
-T2	10/5	4/4	0/0	145/165	2/2	0/0	0/0	-	-	100	~	-	-	-	-	-	-	4	2	2
-T3	5/40	4/3	0/0	152/130	2/2	0/18	0/0			-	55	45	-	-	-	-	-	4	2	2
H2-T1	10/25	4/4	0/0	166/126	2/2	0/0	0/0	-			~	-	-	28	72	-	-	5	1	1
-T2	2/2	4/4	0/0	150/140	2/2	0/0	0/0	~	~	-	~	-	-	-	100	-	-	4-5	1	1
-T3	0/0	4/4	0/0	152/155	2/2	0/0	0/0	-	-	-	-	100	-	~	-	-	-	4	1	1

^aWSC Station No. 07DA018 (preliminary data for 21 September). ^bRecorded during water quality sampling on 25 July. ^cN/A - not applicable. Note: Description of terms in Table 2.2.

5.1.1.4 Tributaries

Cache Creek

Cache Creek is a second-order stream which enters Beaver Creek approximately 5.5 km upstream of the reservoir (Figure 2.3). It drains an extensive area of predominantly muskeg terrain. Cache Creek did not receive any on-site investigation during this or previous studies. A review of the longitudinal profile (Figure 5.3), however, suggests the presence of three discrete habitat reaches (R1-moderate, R2-steep, R3-high). The initial reach (R1) features a high frequency of beaver dams $(4.0 \cdot \text{km}^{-1})$ and beaver ponded area; therefore, it can be assumed that the habitat is uniform and dominated by the Flat cover type.

Creek B2

Creek B2 is a second-order stream, draining predominantly highland terrain (63.6 km²). This stream was not investigated during the study. Three relatively discrete habitat reaches were identified on the basis of gradient differences (Figure 5.3). A previous site inspection of the lower reach conducted by R.L. & L. Environmental Services Ltd. personnel indicated that the creek is a small, brown-water stream dominated by Flat habitat and sand-silt substrate; beaver activity was extensive. Calculated frequency of major beaver ponds was 4.9 km⁻¹, and pondage was 4.9 ha in Reach 1 (Figure 5.3).



Figure 5.3 Longitudinal profile and habitat zonation, Cache Creek and Creek B2.

5.1.2 WATER QUALITY

5.1.2.1 Physical Parameters

In Upper Beaver Creek, the water temperature at stations UBC-W ranged from 7.0 to 23.0°C, with the highest value occurring in July (Table 5.2). The pH was neutral (ranging from 7.1 to 8.4), and was similar to that reported in 1977 by Noton and Chymko (1978). The total non-filterable residue values were low, with the highest value of 14.4 mg·L⁻¹ recorded in June. The dissolved oxygen levels ranged from 8.2 to 10.2 mg·L⁻¹ which were above the minimum ASWQO of 5.0 mg·L⁻¹. The oxygen saturation levels ranged from 82 to 117%; they were similar to those reported in Noton and Chymko (1978) except these authors did not encounter a supersaturated condition in Upper Beaver Creek.

5.1.2.2 Major Ions

The ionic dominance generally was from $HCO_3^- > Ca^{++} > Na^+ > Mg^{++} > SO_4^- > C1^- > K^+$ (Figure 5.4). The waters varied seasonally from calcium bicarbonate to a sodium bicarbonate type because calcium and sodium were of near equal dominance. The levels of total filterable residue (150 to 250 mg·L⁻¹) increased from June to September. Compared to other ions, sulphate concentrations exhibited the largest fluctuations among sampling stations and among sampling periods, with notable decreases in July and September.

Table 5.2. Summary of water quality data for the Beaver Creek Diversion System obtained in 1984.

Site/Date		UBC-W			B1-W2			B1-W1	
Parameter	15 June	30 July	22 Sept.	17 June	25 July	25 Sept.	17 June	25 July	25 Sept.
Temperature ^o C	18.0	23.0	7.0	17.0	18.0	5.0	19.0	20.0	7.0
рН	7.1	8.4	8.2	6,9	6.9	8.4	8.1	7.5	8.5
Specific Conductance uS cm ⁻¹	225	350	325	250	250	280	250	320	320
Dissolved Oxygen	8.2	10.2	10.0	6.5	8.0	8.6	7.3	7.0	8.8
Oxygen % Saturation	85	117	82	65	82	67	78	77	72
Turbidity N.T.U.	1.5	6.0	9.3	1.4	1.2	1.6	1.8	1.5	4.3
Caleium	20.70	34.00	33.10	18.70	29.30	28.70	19.00	24.20	30.20
Magnesium	7.20	9.70	12.00	7.40	9.50	12.00	7.00	9.10	12.10
Sodium	23.30	40.00	49.50	24.50	27.50	29.60	24.80	27.00	29.30
Potassium	1.51	1.26	1.42	1.48	1.07	1.38	1.55	1.12	1.53
Chloride	1.80	1.70	2.00	1.50	1.10	1.20	1.60	0.90	1.20
Sulphate	23.5	16.0	15.6	15.5	5.6	5.5	23.4	13.0	8.8
PP Alkalinity as CaCO2	L0.1	L0.1	L0.1	L0.1	L0.1	6.0	1.0.1	10.0	2.0
Alkalinity, T. as CaCO ₂	103.0	183.0	213.0	110.0	165.0	186.0	104.0	146.0	169.0
Bicarbonate	126.0	223.0	260.0	134.0	201.0	212.0	197.0	178.0	201.0
Carbonate	0	0	0	0	1 01	7 0	121.0	0	201.0
Hardness, T. as CaCOn	81.5	125.0	132.0	77.0	112.5	191.0	76 5	69 D	125.0
Silica (Reactive)	4 70	5 70	6 84	1 5 4	2 70	3 10	1 40	1 29	4 64
Total Filterable Residue	150	214	250	1.04	2.10	0.10	155	175	180
Total Non-Filterable Residue	14.4	80	4.0				0.8	4.0	4.4
Chemical Oxygen Demand	72	69	65				135	59	75
Oil & Grease	17	10	1.0 1				0.4	66	15
Nitrogen, T. as N	0.97	1.01	0.69	0.91	1 17	0.82	0.79	1.17	1 10
Nitrate + Nitrite Nitrogen as N	0.015	0.017	0.007	0.011	0.007	0.004	0.014	0.007	1.0 003
Kieldahl Nitrogen, T. as N	0.96	1.00	0.68	0.90	1.16	0.82	0.78	1.16	1.10
Ammonia Nitrogen, T. as N	0.02	0.01	1.0.01	0.01	014	1.0.01	LO 01	0.05	0.02
Phosphorus, T. as P	0.100	0 1 47	0 119	0.066	0 1 30	0 040	0.049	0.047	0.053
Ortho-Phosphorus as P	0.060	0.079	0.089	01000	31100	01010	0.027	0.034	0.030
Total Organic Carbon	27.2	26.5	22.4	33.0	33.5	26.3	30.0	30.5	29.2
Total Inorganic Carbon	21.0	38.0	48.0	23.0	35.0	37.5	21.0	31.0	37.0
Phenol	0.006	0.010	0.009	5010	0010	0.10	0 012	0 004	0.007
Arsenic. T.	0.0002	0.0013	0.0015				0.0006	0.0002	0.0005
Selenium, T.	L0.9002	L0.0002	0.0002				L0.0002	0.0004	0.0002
Boron, T.	0.28	0.33	0.34				0.20	0.16	0.12
Cadmium, T.	0.001	0.001	1.0.001				1.0.001	10 001	L0 001
Copper. T.	L0.001	10.001	1.0.001				L0.001	L0 001	1.0.001
Iron. T.	1.46	2.43	2.13				0.57	0 41	0.57
Chromium, T.	0.001	0.001	L0.001				0.001	10.001	0.001
Manganese, T.	0.070	0 1 3 0	0.040				0.060	0.070	0.100
Zine, T.	0.002	0.011	0.001				0.000	0.010	0.003
Lead, T.	1.0 002	1.0 0.02	1.0.002				10.002	10.001	10.002
Vanadium. T.	0.001	L0.001	L0.001				10.001	10.001	0.001
Nickel, T.	0.002	L0.001	L0.001				0.001	10.001	10.001
Mercury, T.	L0.0001	0.0002	1.0.0001				1.0.0001	1.0 0001	1.0.0001
Cvanide. T.	0.005	0.005	0.007				0.0001	0.006	0.007
Tannin & Lignin	2.000	29	2 1				0.000	0.000	1.0
Ion Belence	1.03	1 06	1.04	1.02	1.01	0.01	4.0	2.0	1.9
Non Schaller	1.05	1.00	1.04	1.09	1.01	0.91	1.01	0.90	1.04

Notes: All values are reported as $mg \cdot L^{-1}$ unless otherwise stated. L - Less Than; T. - Total; N - Nitrogen; P - Phosphorus.

Continued ...

Table 5.2. Continued.

Site/Date			BC	R-W				RL-W	
Parameter	15	June	24	July	23	Sept.	16 June	27 July	24 Sept.
	comp.	5 m	comp.	5 m	comp.	5 m		comp.	
Temperature °C	+	13.0	+	20.0	+	8.0	21.0s;19.0b	25.0s;22.0b	6.0s;6.0b
pH	+	7.2	+	7.5	+	7.3	7.9s;7.8b	9.0s;8.6b	9.0s;9.0b
Specific Conductance uSecm ⁻¹	+	360	+	350	+	380	400s:420b	355s:355b	340s;370b
Dissolved Oxygen	+	3.0	+	7.2	+	8.8	8.3s;3.4b	9.0s:7.5b	10.6s;10.0b
Oxygen % Saturation	+	27	+	77	+	73	93s:36b	106s:85b	84s;79b
Turbidity N.T.U.	5.1	4.8	5.5	4.8	5.1	5.1	4.1	2.5	1.0
Calcium	21.40	21.00	28.10	25.00	29.60	30.10	22.80	21.50	25.60
Magnesium	7.40	7.60	11.00	9.00	11.00	11.00	8.50	8.50	10.20
Sodium	43.00	51.00	34.70	41.00	47.00	47.50	47.00	41.00	45.00
Potassium	2.12	2.15	1.53	1.60	1.72	1.72	2.25	1.55	1.74
Chloride	21.80	28.50	12.60	13.50	16.70	16.60	24.90	15,00	15.80
Sulphate	29.5	30.5	22.0	21.5	17.1	17.0	26.8	21.8	14.1
PP Alkalinity as CaCOo	L0.1	1.0.1	L0.1	1.0.1	1.0.1	1.0.1	T.0.1	9.0	4.0
Alkalinity, T. as CaCO2	118.0	125.0	138.0	142.0	174.0	173.0	214.0	214.0	154.0
Bicarbonate	144 0	152.5	168.0	173.0	212.0	211.0	163.5	156.0	178.0
Carbonate	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	11.0	5.0
Hardness, T. as CaCOa	84.0	84 n	107.0	97 5	119.0	120.5	92.0	95.0	106.0
Silica (Reactive)	4.55	4.42	1.48	1.90	3.06	3.20	4.70	1.05	1.32
Total Filterable Residue	23.0		200	1.00	240	0.00	225	210	212
Total Non-Filterable Residue	3 2		6.4		4 8		1.6	2.8	9.2
Chemical Ovygan Demand	68		83		74		63	63	64
Oil & Grease	0.4		1.9		14		0.3	0.4	17
Nitrogen T as N	1.05	0.81	1 11	1 18	1 04	0.96	0.97	1.16	0.96
Nitrate + Nitrite Nitrogen as N	0.007	0.011	0.012	0.016	0.037	0.040	0,009	1.0.003	0.003
Kieldebl Nitrogen T es N	1.04	0.011	1 10	1 16	1 00	0.040	0.005	1 16	0.000
Ammonia Nitrogen, T. as N	0.04	0.01	0.06	0.15	1.00	10.01	0.02	0.10	10.01
Phosphorus T as P	0.051	0.01	0.00	0.115	0.062	0.057	0.054	0.10	0.027
Ortho Bhoghorus of P	0.031	0.035	0.032	0.115	0.002	0.001	0.034	0.000	0.027
Tetal Organia Canban	0.022	94.9	20.2	00 0	0.017	06 7	0.022	0.020	0.000
Total Urganic Carbon	23.3	24.2	29.2	20.0	23.5	20.1	20.0	20.0	27.0
Deanal morganic Carbon	20.0	21.0	23.0	30.0	0 000	38.0	29.0	0.014	26.0
Anannia T	0.000		0.000		0.009		0.010	0.014	0.000
Arsenic, I.	0.0000		10.0000		0.0007		10,0003	10.0002	0.0000
Beren T	0.07		0.94		0.0005		0.0002	0.10	0.0004
Boron, 1.	0.27		0.24		0.25		0.26	0.19	0.19
Caoman, 1.	10.001		10.001		L0.001		10.001	10.001	10.001
Copper, 1.	L0.001		L0.001		L0.001		10.001	10.001	10.001
Iron, I.	0.93		0.93		0.49		0.34	0.35	0.11
Chromium, T.	0.001		0.002		0.001		0.001	0.002	L0.001
Manganese, T.	0.120		0.120		0.090		0.010	0.050	0.030
Zine, T.	LU.001		LU.002		L0.010		0.003	0.003	0.003
Lead, T.	L0.002		L0.002		L0.002		L0.002	L0 002	1.0.002
Vanadium, T.	L0.001		L0.001		L0.001		L0.001	L0.001	0.001
Nickel, T.	0.001		0.001		L0.001		0.001	0.001	L0.001
Mercury, T.	L0.0001		L0.0001		L0.0001		L0.0001	L0.0001	ro 0001
Cyanide, T.	0.005		0.005		0.010		0.003	0.004	0.006
Tannin & Lignin	1.9		2.2		2.0		1.7	1.9	1.4
Ion Balance	1.00	1.0	1.03	1.03	1.04	1.05	1.00	0.98	1.03
		1.0	1.00						

Continued ...

Notes: All values are reported as mg·L⁻¹ unless otherwise stated. L - Less Than; T. - Total; N - Nitrogen; P - Phosphorus; s - Surface; b - Bottom; comp. - Composite; + - Parameters shown in Table 5.6.

Table 5.2. Continued.

Site/Date					PCR-W				
Pasa motor	16	June		26	July			24 Sept.	
Parameter	comp.	15 m	comp.	2 m	11 m	15 m	comp.	5 m	15 m
Temperature ^o C	+	4.5	+	21.0	10.0	9.0	+	9.0	6.0
pH	+	7.6	+	7.6	7.7	ND	+	7.8	7.5
Specific Conductance µS·cm ⁻¹	+	780	+	430	650	650	+	460	750
Dissolved Oxygen	+	0.0	+	7.4	0.4	0.2	+	7.7	1.8
Oxygen % Saturation	+	0	+	83	3	1	+	66	14
Turbidity N.T.U.	2.9	4.9	3.8	7.0	6.5	7.2	9.0	6.5	10.5
Calcium	30.20	34.00	29.10	24.50	37.00	37.50	34.40	30.50	40.30
Magnesium	13.40	15.00	11.90	10.50	15.50	14.60	12.70	10.80	16.00
Sodium	85.00	98.00	82.00	50.00	100.00	82.50	74.50	61.00	98.50
Potassium	2.80	2.98	2.64	2.10	3.06	3.02	2.50	2.18	3.07
Chloride	60.00	75.00	57.50	26.10	88.00	74.50	43.00	33.50	75.00
Sulphate	19.7	14.7	15.4	20.5	12.0	10.3	11.7	15.0	5.3
PP Alkalinity as CaCO ₃	L0.1	L0.1	L0.1	L0.1	L0.1	L0.1	3.0	6.0	L0.1
Alkalinity, T. as CaCO ₃	214.0	258.0	214.0	159.0	254.0	264.0	220.0	190.0	270.0
Bicarbonate	261.0	315.0	261.0	194.0	310.0	322.0	261.0	217.0	329.0
Carbonate	0	0	0	0	0	0	4.0	7.0	0
Hardness, T. as CaCO ₃	131.0	147.0	122.0	104.5	156.0	154.0	138.0	121.0	187.0
Silica (Reactive)	5.09	6.30	4.16	1.50	6.34	6.50	5.35	4.00	7.80
Total Filterable Residue	360		340		240	410	316	276	403
Total Non-Filterable Residue	8.0		16.0	1.6	14.8		12.4	4.8	24.8
Chemical Oxygen Demand	63		59				64	64	64
Oil & Grease	0.2		0.4				1.8	3.6	0.3
Nitrogen, T. as N	1.05	1.21	1.30	1.12	1.03	1.37	1.59	1.24	2.45
Nitrate + Nitrite Nitrogen as N	0.007	0.011	0.004	0.020	0.008	0.010	0.046	0.062	0.004
Kjeldahl Nitrogen, T. as N.	1.04	1.20	1.30	1.10	1.02	1.36	1.54	1.18	2.44
Ammonia Nitrogen, T. as N	0.14	0.32	0.29	0.02	0.02	0.49	0.50	0.10	1.07
Phosphorus, T. as P.	0.240	0.190	0.230	0.027	0.295	0.285	0.360	0.041	0.550
Ortho-Phosphorus as P	0.049		0.058				0.088	0.005	0.071
Total Organic Carbon	20.2	23.0	24.2	24.0	21.3	23.5	25.0	24.7	24.0
Total Inorganic Carbon	48.0	60.0	49.0	32.0	56.0	61.0	48.0	37.0	60.0
Phenol	0.008		0.016	0.017	0.013		0.006	0.007	0.006
Arsenie	0.0009		0.0006	0.0004	0.0004		0.0011	0.0005	0.0010
Selenium, T.	L0.0002		L0.0002	L0.0002	L0.0002		0.0003	0.0003	0.0003
Boron, T.	L0.29		0.27	0.23	0.30		0.22	0.22	0.27
Cadmium, T.	L0.001		L0.001	L0.001	L0.001		L0.001	L0.001	L0.001
Copper, T.	L0.001		L0.001	0.003	L0.001		L0.001	L0.001	L0.001
Iron, T.	2.30		2.95	0.25	4.50		L0.01	0.39	0.44
Chromium, T.	0.001		0.003	0.002	L0.001		L0 001	L0.001	L0.001
Manganese, T.	0.096		1.040	0.030	1.660		1.100	0.280	0.210
Zine, T.	L0.001		L0.001	0.008	0.006		0.003	0.006	0.001
Lead, T.	L0.002		L0.002	L0.002	L0.002		L0.002	L0.002	L0.002
Vanadium, T.	L0.001		L0.001	L0.001	0.004		0.001	0.001	0.002
Nickel, T.	L0.001		L0.001	0.002	0.002		L0.001	L0.001	1.0.001
Mercury, T.	0.0002		L0.0001	0.0016	0.0010		L0.0001	0.0001	L0.0001
Cyanide, T.	0.003		0.005	0.042	0.005		0.006	0.008	2.200
Tannin & Lignin	1.0		1.3				1.5	1.5	1.7
Ion Delance	1.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.05				

Notes: All values are reported as mg·L⁻¹ unless otherwise stated; ND - No data; + - Parameters shown in Table 5.17. L - Less Than; T. - Total; N - Nitrogen; P - Phosphorus; s - Surface; b - Bottom; comp. - Composite. Continued ...

Table 5.2. Continued.

Site/Date		PC-W3			PC-W2			PC-W1		
Parameter	18 June	26 July	23 Sept.	18 June	26 July	23 Sept.	18 June	28 July	26 Sept.	
Temperature ⁰ C	14.0	19.0	5.0	20.0	22.0	7.0	21.0	24.0	5.0	
pH .	7.74	7.5	8.1	7.9	8.0	7.7	7.8	8.6	8.5	
Specific Conductance µSem ⁻¹	275	425	560	425	400	480	475	460	410	
Dissolved Oxygen	10.4	9.1	11.4	9.0	8.2	11.0	8.9	8.4	9.2	
Oxygen % Saturation	100	97	89	97	93	90	97	98	72	
Turbidity N.T.U.	15.0	5.6	3.0	6.0	6.5	5.5	8.0	10.1	4.2	
Calcium	20.00	31.00	37.20	23.50	27.30	32.60	25.70	27.10	33.10	
Magnesium	9.30	11.50	16.60	10.60	9.40	13.10	10.60	10.00	13.00	
Sodium	28.20	61.00	75.00	58.00	53.50	64.50	58.00	55.00	66.00	
Potassium	1.05	0.87	1.30	2.21	2.05	1.90	2.15	2.08	1.98	
Chloride	14.20	59.00	72.50	30.50	33.50	43.20	33.90	29.50	42.20	
Sulphate	17.4	11.1	10.0	22.6	19.0	13.6	24.7	19.6	14.1	
PP. Alkalinity as CaCO ₃	L0.1	L0.1	L0.1	L0.1	7.3	L0.1	L0.1	L0.1	L0.1	
Alkalinity, T. as CaCO3	107.0	155.0	187.0	147.0	160.0	184.0	149.0	159.0	206.0	
Bicarbonate	130.5	189.0	228.0	179.0	177.0	224.5	182.0	194.0	251.0	
Carbonate	0	0	0	0	9.0	0	0	0	0	
Hardness, T. as CaCO3	88.0	125.0	161.0	102.5	107.0	135.5	108.0	109.0	136.0	
Silica (Reactive)	3.90	5.26	8.40	4.10	1.30	5.00	4.15	1.92	4.40	
Total Filterable Residue							260	260	296	
Total Non-Filterable Residue							22.4	28.0	2.8	
Chemical Oxygen Demand							87	69	70	
Oil & Grease							1.0	1.2	1.7	
Nitrogen, T. as N	0.92	1.11	0.83	L0.92	1.15	0.94	0.88	1.29	1.06	
Nitrate + Nitrite Nitrogen as N	0.003	0.013	0.010	L0.003	0.012	0.078	0.015	0.027	0.122	
Kjeldahl Nitrogen, T. as N	0.92	1.10	0.82	0.92	1.14	0.86	0.86	1.26	0.94	
Ammonia Nitrogen, T. as N	0.07	0.05	L0.01	0.05	0.02	0.01	0.04	0.32	0.02	
Phosphorus, T. as P	0.046	0.035	0.021	0.051	0.060	0.037	0.040	0.052	0.033	
Ortho-Phosphorus as P							0.038	0.026	0.005	
Total Organic Carbon	34.8	36.7	29.5	25.8	27.0	25.8	25.1	26.0	25.7	
Total Inorganic Carbon	22.0	31.0	42.0	33.0	34.0	40.0	32.0	39.0	39.5	
Phenoi							0.006	0.026	0.006	
Arsenic, T.							0.0004	0.0005	0.0008	
Selenium, T.							L0.0002	10.0002	0.0004	
Boron, T.							0.27	0.19	0.19	
Cadmium, T.							L0.001	L0.001	L0.001	
Copper, T.							L0.001	L0.001	L0.001	
Iron, T.							0.69	0.78	0.62	
Chromium, T.							L0.001	0.004	0.002	
Manganese, T.							0.080	0.080	0.040	
Zine, T.							0.002	0.002	10.002	
Lead, T.							L0.002	L0.002	L0.002	
Vanadium, T.							0.003	L0.001	L0.001	
Nickel, T.							L0.001	L0.001	L0.001	
Mercury, T.							L0.0001	LU.0001	L0.0001	
Cyanide, T.							0.003	0.005	0.010	
Tannin & Lignin							1.9	1.8	1.7	
lon Balance	1.04	1.03	1.09	1.08	1.00	1.07	1.06	1.05	1.01	

Notes: All values are reported as mg^{-1} unless otherwise stated. L - Less Than; T. - Total; N - Nitrogen; P - Phosphorus.



f

Ē

I

ſ

Ĩ

f

I

ŧ

ſ

Ĩ

f

Ĩ

1

Ĭ



5.1.2.3 Nutrients

The total nitrogen concentrations ranged from 0.97 to 1.01 mg N·L⁻¹. The values which were near the ASWQO of 1.0 mg N·L⁻¹ were highest in July. A considerably lower value (0.23 mg N·L⁻¹) was reported in Upper Beaver Creek in June and July 1977 (Noton and Chymko 1978). The nitrate + nitrite values (ranging from 0.015 to 0.017 mg N·L⁻¹) were highest in July, and showed a seasonal relationship identical to that of total nitrogen. Ammonia levels were low, ranging from less than 0.01 to 0.02 mg N·L⁻¹.

Total phosphorus concentrations ranged from 0.100 to 0.147 mg $P \cdot L^{-1}$ with the highest level in July, and all exceeded the ASWQO of 0.05 mg $P \cdot L^{-1}$. Concentrations reported in Noton and Chymko (1978) were only slightly lower during the same periods in 1977. Orthophosphorous concentrations (ranging from 0.060 to 0.089 mg $P \cdot L^{-1}$) increased from June to September.

Reactive silica concentrations ranged from 4.70 to 6.84 mg·L⁻¹; the highest levels occurred in September. Similar values in Upper Beaver Creek were reported in Noton and Chymko (1978). Total organic carbon levels ranged from 22.4 to 27.2 mg·L⁻¹ with the highest level occurring in June. Higher concentrations (36.0 to 41.0 mg·L⁻¹) were reported in Upper Beaver Creek by Noton and Chymko (1978).

5.1.2.4 Trace Metals and Other Substances

The concentrations of trace metals and elements were generally below their detection limits, except for iron and manganese levels which exceeded the ASWQO. Total iron values (1.46 to 2.43 mg·L⁻¹) and total manganese (0.040 to 0.130 mg·L⁻¹) exceeded the objectives of 0.30 and 0.05 mg·L⁻¹, respectively. With respect to other parameters, phenol concentrations (ranging from 0.006 to 0.010 mg·L⁻¹) exceeded the ASWQO of 0.005 mg·L⁻¹. Oil and grease (<0.1 to 1.7 mg·L⁻¹) were present in low levels.

5.1.3 ZOOBENTHOS

In the spring of 1984, Upper Beaver Creek (station UBC-B) was approximately 7 m wide, flowing in a deeply incised channel (Figure 2.8). Substrate was a mixture of sand, silt and organic material. Depth was approximately 1.5 m, and water velocities were low but detectable. Qualitative sweep samples included an area of rapid flow over a beaver dam located 35 m downstream of the quantitative sample station; this provided much of the taxonomic richness of the station.

The three replicate benthic samples collected in the spring at this station were exceedingly variable. One Ekman grab sample contained 94 organisms; the others contained two, and zero animals (Appendix D, Table D14). Consequently, the spring estimates of density and biomass must be interpreted with caution. Spring samples contained primarily the mayfly

174

Caenis and Chironomidae. **Caenis** densities remained fairly constant in summer and fall, but Oligochaeta and especially Chironomidae became increasingly abundant and proportionately assumed greater importance (Figure 5.5). Although density progressively increased from June to September, biomass, diversity, and taxonomic richness were greatest in summer (Table 5.3).

Noton and Chymko (1978) sampled the same site in 1977, and also found high variability in density among replicates. Their estimates of abundance were lower in spring and summer (78 and 56 organisms per 0.1 m^2 . respectively) than was found in the present study (Table 5.3). Their sampling protocol consisted of washing samples through a 0.650 mm mesh sieve bucket prior to sorting, whereas a 0.250 mm mesh sieve was used in the present study. Since 40 to 85 percent of the animals collected in the present study were retained in sieves with apertures less than 1.0 mm (Appendix D, Table D33), this discrepancy may largely account for the differences. Noton and Chymko (1978) reported densities in their October samples (1049 per 0.1 m^2) roughly equivalent to the densities in the September samples of the present study. Since the 1984 September samples again contained many small organisms (similar sized organisms would have passed through the larger sieve used in 1977), the data suggest either a reduction in fall densities between 1977 and 1984, or that further hatching and growth of larvae occurred late in the fall. Caenis and Chironomidae are both known to grow in fall and overwinter as immatures; both were abundant in fall samples collected by Noton and Chymko (1978). These authors attributed the increase to greater habitat

UPPER BEAVER CREEK AND CREEK B1



Note: Ekman grab sample at station UBC-B - densities converted to 0.1 m^a

1

Figure 5.5 Relative abundance of major taxonomic groups of benthic invertebrates in Upper Beaver Creek and Creek B1, 1984.

ł

ł

Station		Spring	Summer	Fall
PC-B1	Density Biomass	150.3	460.0	148.2 12.1
	Diversity Richness	1.673 19	2.041 21	2.891 32
PC-B2	Density	168.4	444.0	1087.6
	Biomass Diversity Richness	$\begin{array}{c} 31.3\\ 0.877\\ 14\end{array}$	84.9 1.909 21	$\begin{array}{r} 44.8\\1.198\\31\end{array}$
PC-B3	Density Biomass Diversity Richness	$19.0 \\ 2.4 \\ 2.948 \\ 14$	15.9 5.0 2.465 10	89.9 7.5 1.407 13
PC-B4	Density Biomass Diversity Richness	11.3 4.3 3.176 13	$79.7 \\ 12.7 \\ 3.048 \\ 24$	$613.3 \\ 62.0 \\ 1.485 \\ 23$
UBC-B	Density ^a Biomass Diversity Richness	$139.3 \\ 34.4 \\ 1.602 \\ 13$	582.7 85.0 1.945 18	$1131.7 \\ 53.2 \\ 1.351 \\ 11$
В1-В	Density Biomass Diversity Richness	ND ^b ND ND ND	67.9 8.9 2.254 16	$209.0 \\ 12.2 \\ 1.634 \\ 30$

Table 5.3 Mean density (no. per 0.1 m^2), mean biomass (mg per 0.1 m^2), diversity, and taxonomic richness of zoobenthos at stations associated with the Beaver Creek Diversion System, 1984.

^aEkman grab samples (area: 0.023 m^2) were taken at this station. Densities and biomass have been converted to 0.1 m^2 area.

^bData not available; station not sampled in spring.

stability and organic content that resulted from reduced flow levels in fall.

Noton and Chymko (1978) also reported high absolute or relative abundance of several taxa that were rare or absent in the present study. Elmidae contributed over 30 percent to their summer samples; one individual was found in the present study. They also found **Sialis** (Megaloptera:Sialidae) and **Limnephilus** (Trichoptera:Limnephilidae) to be common in fall, whereas these were not found in 1984. It is possible that the fauna were heterogeneously distributed at this station and the reduced quantitative sampling regime of the present study did not encounter the appropriate microhabitats. Since these taxa were not collected in qualitative sweep samples, however, the taxa may have been absent, suggesting a relatively high rate of species turnover in this system. **Sialis** had not been collected in the Syncrude lease area prior to the study of Noton and Chymko (1978).

5.1.4 FISH

Four species of fish were captured in Upper Beaver Creek in 1984 (Appendix E, Table E5). Three of these (i.e., white sucker, fathead minnow, and lake chub) were present at both the upper (EF) and lower (ES) sample stations (Figure 2.3). Brook stickleback were found only at the upper station; however, sampling of the lower station by boat electroshocking (a sampling method more selective of larger fish) may have underestimated the abundance of this species at the ES station. Lake chub was the most abundant species in May captures from station UBC-ES, with a recorded CUE of 9.9 fish·min⁻¹ (Appendix E, Table E5). Fathead minnows also were a common contributor to the catch (CUE = 3.2 fish·min⁻¹). One white sucker (an adult) also was captured. The greater stream depths (i.e., up to 3.0 m) present at station UBC-ES resulted in a reduced sampling efficiency of the electroshocking unit; therefore, the abundance of those species present was likely underestimated.

Backpack electrofishing (conducted from an inflatable boat) was employed during the September survey at station UBC-EF. Brook stickleback was the most abundant species captured (CUE = 0.9 fish·min⁻¹). White sucker (CUE = 0.5 fish·min⁻¹), fathead minnow (CUE = 0.6 fish·min⁻¹), and lake chub (CUE = 0.6 fish·min⁻¹) exhibited a similar abundance (Appendix E, Table E5).

White suckers captured during the September survey in Upper Beaver Creek were all y-o-y individuals. Previous studies in 1978 and 1981 (O'Neil 1979) also reported the presence of y-o-y white suckers in this area during summer and fall surveys. In addition, adult white suckers in spawning condition were recorded in the lower reaches of Upper Beaver Creek in the spring of 1978. The apparent lack of suitable spawning habitat for this species within the lower reaches of Upper Beaver Creek (Sec. 5.1.1) may indicate that spawning occurs farther upstream. However, successful recruitment may occur also within the sample areas. All life stages of brook stickleback were present in 1984 indicating a resident population within the Upper Beaver Creek system. The lake chub and fathead minnows captured in 1984 were predominantly adults. These fish may have migrated into the system from Beaver Creek Reservoir during the spring and summer; however, resident populations may also occur within the Upper Beaver Creek system.

5.2 CREEK B1

5.2.1 AQUATIC HABITAT

5.2.1.1 Description of Drainage Area

Creek B1, a second-order stream, originates in the Thickwood Hills situated to the southwest of the study area. It then flows in a northeasterly direction for approximately 27 km before discharging into the northwest corner of Beaver Creek Reservoir (Figure 2.3). Creek B1 adjoins the W.I.D. approximately 3.0 km upstream from Beaver Creek Reservoir; an earthen dam separates the two drainages and creates a small impoundment on Creek B1. Water from this impoundment is subsequently diverted to Beaver Creek Reservoir through a channelized waterway.

5.2.1.2 Streamflows During Study Period

Discharge measurements were taken in Creek B1 on three occasions during the present study (Appendix B; Table B3). The discharges recorded were as follows: $0.21 \text{ m}^3 \cdot \text{s}^{-1}$ (June), $0.06 \text{ m}^3 \cdot \text{s}^{-1}$ (July), and $0.02 \text{ m}^3 \cdot \text{s}^{-1}$ (September).

5.2.1.3 Habitat Zonation

Systematic habitat evaluation of Creek B1 had not been conducted prior to this study. On 20 July 1984 a detailed habitat survey was undertaken on the lower 3.0 km of Creek B1 (from impoundment downstream to reservoir). It had been determined earlier in this study that areas within this reach were utilized extensively for spawning by white suckers and lake chub. Two major reaches were identified on the basis of the gradient differences as determined from a 1:20 000 airphoto mosaic (Figure 5.6). Field surveys revealed the presence of five discrete sub-reaches in the lower reach (R1). Detailed measurements were taken at two stations (H1, H2) situated within Sub-reaches 4 and 2, respectively. Synoptic data were obtained in the remaining sub-reaches.

Sub-reach 1 (km 0-0.40)

Sub-reach 1 is approximately 400 m in length and is characterized by a steep local gradient (3.0 to 3.5%). Specific habitat characteristics in this section (Station H2) are described in Table 5.1 and illustrated in Plate 7. Physical channel features were as follows: wetted width was 4.0 m, mean depth was 15 cm, and mean velocity was 50 cm·s⁻¹. As expected due to the steep gradient, the dominant cover types were Riffle (43%) and

181



Figure 5.6 Longitudinal profile and habitat zonation, Creek B1.

I

1

I

1

Run (45%). The remaining habitat consisted of low quality (Class 1) Pool (12%). The substrate consisted largely of granular material ranging in size from coarse gravel (1.6 to 3.2 cm) to large cobble (12.8 to 25.6 cm). Sediment deposition on coarse substrates was low (i.e., less than 25% coverage of interstitial area). Growth of macrophytes and attached algae was negligible. Previous erosion of the banks was very limited; resistance to further erosion was high due to the predominantly cobble-boulder texture of the banks and the extensive vegetation cover (grasses, forbs).

Sub-reach 2 (km 0.4-1.04)

Sub-reach 2 is approximately 640 m in length and features a low gradient (0.5%). The section was characterized by a low diversity of cover types (i.e., mainly Run). The substrate contained more fines in comparison to the downstream reach. Growth of **Typha latifolia** was extensive in the channel in response to the lower gradient.

Sub-reach 3 (km 1.04-1.73)

Sub-reach 3 has a length of approximately 690 m. The local gradient in this section is moderate (0.8%). The dominant cover type was Run, but Flat also was represented. The substrate consisted of coarse material ranging from cobble (6.4 to 25.6 cm) to large boulder (25.6 to 51.2 cm).

Sub-reach 4 (km 1.73-2.73)

Sub-reach 4, a high gradient section (1.0%), is approximately 1.0 km in length. Data collected at station H1 provide a description of the reach (Table 5.1). Physical channel characteristics were as follows: wetted width was 1.9 m, mean depth was 27 cm, and mean velocity was 23 cm \cdot s⁻¹. The dominant cover types were Run (71%) and Pool (29%). All pools were of low quality (i.e., severe depth limitation). The substrate was dominated by coarse material ranging from medium gravel (0.8 to 1.6 cm) to large cobble (12.8 to 25.6 cm). Silt accumulation was evident in Pool areas. Overall, sediment deposition was low in Run areas. Previous erosion of stream banks generally was low; resistance to further erosion was rated as high. Growth of macrophytes or attached algae on the substrate was negligible.

Sub-reach 5 (km 2.73-3.05)

Sub-reach 5 is a short (approximately 305 m) section of stream situated between the upper road crossing (culverts) and the impoundment. The section was characterized by low local gradient (less than 0.1%), 100% Flat cover type, and silt substrate.

5.2.2 WATER QUALITY

5.2.2.1 Physical Parameters

In Creek B1, the water temperature at stations B1-W2 and B1-W1 ranged from 5.0 to 20.0° C, with the highest value occurring at B1-W1 in

184

July (Table 5.2). The pH ranged from near neutral (6.9) to alkaline (8.5); highest values occurred in September. At B1-W1, the total non-filterable residue levels were low, with the highest value of 4.4 mg·L⁻¹ recorded in September. At B1-W2 and B1-W1, dissolved oxygen levels ranged from 6.5 to 8.8 mg·L⁻¹ which met the ASWQO of 5.0 mg·L⁻¹. The oxygen saturation levels ranged from 65 to 82%, and showed no seasonal trends.

5.1.2.2 Major Ions

The ionic character of the waters at B1-W2 and B1-W1 were similar (Figure 5.4). The ionic dominance generally was from HCO_3^- > Ca^{++} > Na⁺ > Mg^{++} > SO_4^= > C1^- > K^+. The waters varied from calcium bicarbonate to a sodium bicarbonate type because calcium and sodium were of near equal dominance. At B1-W1, levels of total filterable residue (155 to 189 mg·L⁻¹) increased from June to September. At B1-W2 and B1-W1 the increased salinity in July and September also was indicated by the specific conductance values. Compared to other ions, sulphate concentrations exhibited the largest fluctuations among sampling stations and among sampling periods, with notable decreases in July and September.

5.2.2.3 Nutrients

The total nitrogen concentrations at the two stations were very similar, ranging from 0.79 to 1.17 mg $N \cdot L^{-1}$, and were highest in July.

The nitrate + nitrite values (<0.003 to 0.014 mg $N \cdot L^{-1}$) showed higher levels in June, identical to that of total nitrogen. Ammonia levels were low ranging from <0.01 to 0.14 mg $N \cdot L^{-1}$.

At the two stations, total phosphorus concentrations were similar ranging from 0.040 to 0.130 mg $P \cdot L^{-1}$ and showed no trends. Orthophosphorous concentrations at B1-W1 (0.013 to 0.034 mg $P \cdot L^{-1}$) were highest in July.

Reactive silica concentrations ranged from 1.29 to 4.64 $\text{mg} \cdot \text{L}^{-1}$ and at both stations the highest levels occurred in September. Total organic carbon levels (ranging from 26.3 to 33.5 $\text{mg} \cdot \text{L}^{-1}$) were similar at both stations.

5.2.2.4 Trace Metals and Other Substances

At B1-W1, the concentrations of trace metals and elements were generally below their detection limits, except for iron and manganese levels which exceeded the ASWQO. Total iron values (0.41 to $0.57 \text{ mg} \cdot \text{L}^{-1}$) and total manganese (0.060 to 0.100 mg $\cdot \text{L}^{-1}$) exceeded the objectives of 0.30 and 0.05 mg $\cdot \text{L}^{-1}$, respectively. With respect to other parameters, phenol concentrations (ranging from 0.004 to 0.012 mg $\cdot \text{L}^{-1}$) exceeded the ASWQO of 0.005 mg $\cdot \text{L}^{-1}$. Oil and grease (<0.4 to 6.6 mg $\cdot \text{L}^{-1}$) were present in low levels.

5.2.3 ZOOBENTHOS

Creek B1 was quantitatively sampled only in summer and fall. At B1-B, the creek was shallow and approximately 2 m wide, with moderate flow over coarse cobbles and small boulders (Figure 2.8). Inspection in spring indicated that Simuliidae and **Baetis** (mayflies) were abundant. These taxa also were abundant in summer, together with Chironomidae (Figure 5.5). Density, biomass and taxonomic richness increased in fall (Table 5.3). Decreased diversity in fall was attributed to increased relative abundance of Chironomidae.

Detailed tables of taxonomic composition, abundance and biomass are presented in Appendix D, Tables D15 and D33.

5.2.4 FISH

Fisheries sampling was conducted at two stations on Creek B1 in 1984 (Figure 2.3). The lowermost station (EF1) was situated immediately downstream of the temporary road crossing at km 0.4. The uppermost station (EF2) was located approximately 1.9 km upstream from the reservoir. Station EF1 was sampled during the spring and fall periods; station EF2 was sampled during the summer and fall periods.

Four species of fish were recorded in Creek B1 during 1984 (Table 5.4; Appendix E, Table E5). Lake chub were numerically dominant in catches from both sample stations, with a combined contribution of 49.5%

to the total catch (Table 5.4). White sucker, fathead minnow and brook stickleback (in decreasing order of abundance) made up the remainder of the catch.

	Fish	Fish Species							
Station	Captured and Observed	White sucker	Fathead minnow	Lake chub	Brook stickleback				
B1-EF1	299	30.4	8.7	55.9	5.0				
B1-EF2	451	16.8	18.6	45.1	19.5				
Combined	750	22.3	14.6	49.5	13.6				

Table 5.4.	Percentage composition of fish species recorded at
	backpack electrofishing stations on Creek B1, 1984.

In the fall survey (when both stations were sampled), highest capture rates (for all species) occurred at station EF2 (Appendix E, Table E5). The greater use of this area may be a response to the abundance of suitable feeding and rearing habitat for forage species and white sucker y-o-y. Station EF2 was situated in a moderate gradient reach which was characterized by a high habitat diversity and an abundance of instream and streambank cover (Sec. 5.2.1). In contrast, station EF1 was located in a high gradient reach and instream cover was restricted (Sec. 5.2.1).

The high capture rate (CUE = 256.7 fish-min⁻¹) recorded for white suckers in EF1 on 31 May 1984 was a result of the presence of a large concentration of spawners (Appendix E, Table E5). These individuals were from a resident population in Beaver Creek Reservoir (and possibly Ruth Lake and Poplar Creek Reservoir). Both ripe and spent adults were captured indicating spawning was in progress at the time of sampling. Water temperature on the sampling date was $12.5^{\circ}C$ (at 2030 hours). A visual survey of the system on 31 May estimated the presence of 300 to 500 spawners. Most of these were concentrated in a 140 m channel section located immediately downstream from the temporary road crossing (Plate 7). This area contained an abundance of suitable spawning substrate (Section 5.2.1). Lesser numbers of spawners were observed in the 300 m of stream channel situated immediately upstream from the road crossing. Suitable spawning habitat in this area was limited, and exhibited a more localized distribution. The abundance of white suckers (mainly y-o-y) in catches from both sample stations in the fall provided evidence of successful recruitment in 1984. These fish likely overwinter in Beaver Creek Reservoir.

The channelized section of Creek B1 also was utilized for spawning by lake chub. A capture rate of 110.0 fish·min⁻¹ was recorded for lake chub in EF1 on 31 May (Appendix E, Table E5). All individuals captured were adults in spawning condition. The presence of lake chub eggs in substrate kick samples confirmed the occurrence of spawning in the area. Both lake chub and white sucker eggs were collected in the same kick sample indicating that these species utilized the same spawning areas and habitat types. Lake chub y-o-y were abundant in Creek B1 in the fall, confirming successful spawning. Direct evidence of spawning use (i.e., the presence of eggs or spawning individuals) by brook stickleback and fathead minnow in Creek B1 was not obtained in the present study. The occurrence of y-o-y of these species in September catches, however, indicates some recruitment occurred in the system. These fish may have spawned within the channelized section or drifted downstream from spawning areas in Creek B1 situated upstream from the channelized sections. The shallow water depths in the channelized section of Creek B1 likely presents marginal conditions for overwintering (Sec. 5.2.1). Suitable overwintering areas were available both upstream (i.e., the impoundment) and downstream (i.e., Beaver Creek Reservoir) of the channelized reach.

5.3 BEAVER CREEK RESERVOIR

5.3.1 AQUATIC HABITAT

5.3.1.1 Description of Drainage Area

Beaver Creek Reservoir, located immediately south of the mine site, was formed by the impoundment of Upper Beaver Creek (Figure 2.3). Reservoir filling commenced in the fall of 1975 and the reservoir reached the level of the outlet channel by the spring of 1976 (Syncrude Canada Ltd. 1984).

Four major sources provide inflow to the reservoir, these being Upper Beaver Creek (Plate 8), Creek B2 (previously Creek No. 5), Creek B1 (previously Creek No. 4), and the South Mine Sump (located behind the northern face of the dam). An outlet diversion channel drains from the northeastern sector of the reservoir into Ruth Lake.

5.3.1.2 Physical Characteristics

The physical characteristics of Beaver Creek Reservoir have been described by Noton and Chymko (1978), and Carmack and Killworth (1979). The reservoir is a moderately shallow waterbody featuring gently sloping and low-lying shorelines; the shoreline is irregular (Figure 5.7). Specific morphometric data are as follows:

Morphometry of Beaver Creek Reservoir

Surface Elevation	309.7 m
Length	3.4 km
Area	220 ha c a
Volume	4.9 X 10 [°] m ³
Mean Depth	2.2 m
Maximum Depth	approx. 10 m
Flushing time	approx. 2 months

source: adapted from Carmack and Killworth (1979); Noton and Chymko 1978).

The substrate composition in the reservoir is extremely diverse because the flooded area included stream beds and bank (i.e., Beaver Creek), sand and gravel knolls, muskeg, and forest floor. In shoreline areas, the substrate is predominantly muskeg, sand, or gravel based. Sand and gravel materials are restricted to the area near the dam face. Sand



substrates are found along the western shoreline which exhibit slightly higher banks. Mud and organic substrates occur along the southern end of the reservoir. Substrate in the majority of the main basin consists of organic debris.

5.3.1.3 Macrophytes

The distribution of macrophyte species in Beaver Creek Reservoir during July 1984 is shown on Figure 5.8. The relative abundance of the various forms is given in Table 5.5. Submersed vegetation was widely distributed in the reservoir to a depth of 2.0 to 2.2 m. The smallest beds occurred along the dam face and in the southwest sector between sites 9 and 10. Floating-leafed species were not abundant. The most common species association was Myriophyllum-Potamogeton zosteriformis which covered fairly large areas. A number of changes have occurred since the 1977 survey. Potamogeton pusillus (berchtoldii) is no longer as abundant as in 1977, but is widely distributed; P. zosteriformis has become very common. Typha is now the dominant shoreline species. Utricularia was not observed in 1984. While the abundance of some species has decreased or the species has disappeared since 1977, others have increased in abundance and a few new species were found. Detailed descriptions of the macrophyte assemblages at specific sites are provided in Appendix F, Table F1.



Species	Distribution Pattern
	Submersed
Callitriche spp.	Rare
Ceratophyllum demersum	Abundant
Drepanocladus spp.	Present
Lemna minor	Presenta
Lemna trisulca	Present
Myriophyllum exalbescens	Abundant
Nuphar variegatum	Present
Potamogeton pectinatus	Abundant
Potamogeton pusillus	Common
Potamogeton richardsonii	Common
Potamogeton zosteriformis	Abundant
	Floating-Leafed
Polygonum amphibium	Present
Potamogeton natans	Rare
Sparganium spp.	Present
	Emergents
Carex spp.	Common
Equisetum spp.	Present
Hippuris vulgaris	Presentb
Ranunculus SDD.	Present
Sagittaria sob.	Present ^b
Scirpus SDD.	Abundant
Typha latifolia	Abundant

Table 5.5Distribution pattern and relative abundance of macrophytes found in
Beaver Creek Reservoir, July 1984.

^aSmall amounts of **Typha** beds ^bFound in NW corner of reservoir
5.3.2 WATER QUALITY

5.3.2.1 Physical Parameters

The minimum and maximum temperatures in Beaver Creek Reservoir at station BCR-W were 7.5 and 22.0° C, respectively, with the highest value recorded in July (Table 5.6 and Figure 5.9). Thermal stratification was not well developed. A marked temperature difference of 2.0° C was observed between depths of 2 and 3 m in June. The stratification was weaker in July and in September the reservoir was isothermal. The temperature condition is similar to that observed in 1977 (Noton and Chymko 1978). A similar description of the temperature stratification was reported in Carmack and Killworth (1979).

The pH ranged from 7.2 to 7.7 and showed an inverse relationship with increased depth in July and September. In 1977, a similar relationship was reported by Noton and Chymko (1978). Furthermore, they recorded pH values of 8.3 to 8.5 on 28 July 1977 which were associated with a blue-green algal bloom.

Dissolved oxygen levels in the reservoir ranged from 2.2 to $9.8 \text{ mg} \cdot \text{L}^{-1}$, with the lowest values reported at the bottom in June and the highest near the surface in July. In June and July, the oxygen saturation showed stratification similar to that recorded for temperature (Figure 5.9). In June, oxygen saturation levels of 82 to 90% were reported in the epilimnion (0 to 2 m) while during the same period in the hypolimnion (2 to

Parameter	Tem	perature ((°C)	Dissolved Oxygen						Specific Co	onductance	pH			
Depth (m)	June	July	Sept.	Jun mg∙L ^{−1}	e % Sat.	Ju mg•L-1	ly % Sat.	Sept. mg·L ⁻¹ 9	6 Sat.	June	July	Sept.	June	July	Sept.
0	21.0	22.0	7.5	8.2	90	9.6	107	9.0	74	325	320	380	7.3	7.7	7.7
1	19.5	22.0	7.5	8.0	76	9.8	110	9.4	77	320	345	380	7.4	7.7	7.5
2	19.0	21.0	8.0	7.6	82	9.8	107	9.0	75	330	350	380	7.5	7.7	7.4
3	17.0	20.5	8.0	4.3	44	8.5	94	8.9	74	330	350	380	7.3	7.6	7.4
4	15.0	20.0	8.0	3.8	37	8.3	90	8.8	73	330	350	380	7.6	7.5	7.3
5	13.0	20.0	8.0	3.0	27	7.2	77	8.8	73	360	350	380	7.2	7.5	7.3
6	11.5		8.0	2.2	20			8.8	73	340	350	380	7.5	7.5	7.3

L

1.

L

I

1

I

Table 5.6 Summary of temperature, dissolved oxygen, specific conductance and pH levels in Beaver Creek Reservoir (Station BCR-W) during June, July and September, 1984.

1. L. L. L. L. L. L. L.

L

Ĩ



Figure 5.9 Depth profiles of temperature, dissoved oxygen, and specific conductance in Beaver Creek Reservoir during June, July, and September, 1984.

6 m) the values decreased to 20%. During this period the dissolved oxygen levels were below the ASWQO of 5.0 mg·L⁻¹. In July the stratification weakened; oxygen saturation ranged from 77 to 110%. The supersaturated levels near the surface were indicative of a high rate of primary productivity. Supersaturated conditions in July also were described by Noton and Chymko (1978). In September the reservoir was isothermal with an oxygen saturation level of approximately 75% throughout the water column. The chemical oxygen demand levels in the reservoir were similar during each sampling period.

The total non-filterable residue levels were similar during the sampling periods with values of 3.2 to 6.4 mg·L⁻¹. These values are similar to those associated with the creeks described in Sections 5.1.2.1 and 5.2.2.1. The Secchi disc visibilities in June and September were 1.0 and 0.90 m, respectively.

5.3.2.2 Major Ions

The Beaver Creek Reservoir water was of the sodium bicarbonate type with a dominance of $HCO_3^- > Na^+ > Ca^{++} > Mg^{++} > SO_4^- > CI^+ > K^+$ based on the composite samples (Table 5.2, Figure 5.4). The ionic character of the water differs from that of the creeks because of higher concentrations of sodium and, particularly, chloride in the reservoir. The data indicate slightly higher concentrations of sodium and chloride were present in the bottom (5 m) samples as compared to the composite samples. The specific conductance profiles shown in Figure 5.9 further indicated the presence of increased salinity near the bottom of the reservoir. In June the specific conductance showed a minor increase to $360 \ \mu \text{S} \cdot \text{cm}^{-1}$ at 5 m which suggests that perhaps the saline mine water had contributed to the difference. In July, the specific conductance gradient showed a similar pattern to that of oxygen saturation. In September, a period of mixing, the ionic composition of the water was homogeneous. In general, salinity increased from June to September, similar to the condition exhibited by the creeks. The ionic character of the reservoir in July was similar to that reported for the same period in 1977 (Noton and Chymko 1978). These researchers, however, did not encounter any notable ionic differences between the surface and bottom waters in June.

5.3.2.3 Nutrients

The total nitrogen concentrations measured in the reservoir throughout the study were similar, ranging from 0.81 to 1.18 mg N·L⁻¹. Trends between the composite samples and the 5 m samples, and between sampling periods, were not distinct. Total nitrogen values from the composite samples slightly exceeded the ASWQO of 1.0 mg N·L⁻¹. In June, July, and September 1977, total nitrogen concentrations (approximately 0.40 mg N·L⁻¹; Noton and Chymko 1978) were considerably lower than in the present study. The nitrate + nitrite concentrations ranged from 0.007 to 0.040 mg N·L⁻¹ with the highest values occurring at 5 m depth. In addition, the values increased from June to September, probably the result of lower demand by the primary 201

producers. In 1977 the surface values in June, July, and September were 0.248, less than 0.030, and 0.023 mg $N \cdot L^{-1}$, respectively, while at the bottom the levels were 0.340 mg $N \cdot L^{-1}$ in June, and 0.035 mg $N \cdot L^{-1}$ in July (Noton and Chymko 1978).

The total phosphorus concentrations ranged from 0.051 to 0.115 mg $P \cdot L^{-1}$, with July samples exhibiting the highest values. Only a slight difference in concentrations existed between the composite samples and those from the 5 m depth, with no distinct trend noted. Total phosphorus concentrations consistently exceeded the ASWQO of 0.05 mg $P \cdot L^{-1}$. The values farther exceeded the Environment Canada guideline of 0.025 $mg P \cdot L^{-1}$ which was established more specifically for lakes and reservoirs (McNeely et al. 1979). Ortho-phosphorus concentrations (range: 0.017 to 0.032 mg $P \cdot L^{-1}$) paralleled the total phosphorus values with the highest value recorded in July. In June 1977, Noton and Chymko (1978) found total phosphorus values of 0.016 and 0.202 mg $P \cdot L^{-1}$ at the surface and bottom, respectively. In July 1977, the top and bottom values were 0.100 and 0.030 mg $P \cdot L^{-1}$, respectively. In 1977, at the surface, ortho-phosphorus concentrations of 0.077, 0.031, and less than 0.016 mg $P \cdot L^{-1}$ were recorded in June, July, and September, respectively, while at the bottom, concentrations of 0.149 and 0.026 mg $P \cdot L^{-1}$ were found in June and July, respectively.

Reactive silica concentrations ranged from 1.48 to 4.55 mg·L⁻¹; they were highest in June and showed little difference between the composite sample and the 5 m sample. Noton and Chymko (1978) reported a similar relationship between the surface and bottom samples and slightly higher concentrations in July as compared to June and September 1977. Total organic carbon levels ranged from 23.5 to 29.2 mg·L⁻¹ and showed very little difference between sampling periods or between the composite and the 5 m samples. The values were similar to those found in the inflowing creeks.

5.3.2.4 Trace Metals and Other Substances

The concentrations of trace metals and elements in Beaver Creek Reservoir were generally below the detection limits. Total iron (0.49 to $0.93 \text{ mg} \cdot \text{L}^{-1}$) and total manganese (0.090 to $0.120 \text{ mg} \cdot \text{L}^{-1}$) concentrations exceeded the ASWQO of 0.30 and 0.050 mg $\cdot \text{L}^{-1}$, respectively. The highest values for both parameters were recorded in June and July. Iron values exceeding ASWQO of 0.30 mg $\cdot \text{L}^{-1}$ also were reported at the surface and bottom by Noton and Chymko (1978). Phenol concentrations (0.006 to 0.008 mg $\cdot \text{L}^{-1}$) slightly exceeded the ASWQO of 0.005 mg $\cdot \text{L}^{-1}$. Oil and grease levels were low ranging from 0.4 to 1.9 mg $\cdot \text{L}^{-1}$. In comparison, July 1977 phenol concentrations were lower (0.001 mg $\cdot \text{L}^{-1}$) at the surface and bottom, and oil and grease levels were considerably higher with the maximum values of 12.0 mg $\cdot \text{L}^{-1}$ at the surface (Noton and Chymko 1978).

5.3.3 PHYTOPLANKTON

Phytoplankton cell count and cell volume data for Beaver Creek Reservoir are presented in Appendix G, Table G1. During the three seasons sampled in 1984, numerical abundance of phytoplankton was highest during the summer (Figure 5.10); however, the standing crop expressed as bio-volume (i.e., on a cell volume basis) was lowest during the summer, reflecting the large number but small size of the phytoplankton present at that time. Bio-volume of phytoplankton was similar during late spring and fall (Figure 5.10).

In mid June, Beaver Creek Reservoir phytoplankton was dominated by Cryptophyta which contributed approximately 46% to the total cell volume in the sample (Figure 5.10). The dominant species in this group was **Cryptomonas erosa**, which alone accounted for 33% of the total. The second most abundant taxonomic division in June was Euglenophyta, comprised primarily of **Phacus pyrum** and **Trachelomonas planctonica**. This division contributed about 27% of the total cell volume in the sample. On a numerical basis, the Chlorophyta (34% of total cell numbers) and Cryptophyta (22%) were the predominant divisions.

In the summer sample, the phytoplankton was dominated by Cyanophyta (primarily Aphanizomenon flos-aquae and Anabaena sp.) followed closely by Bacillariophyta (primarily Melosira granulata). These divisions contributed approximately 40% and 37% to the total bio-volume of the sample, respectively. Although Cryptophyta was the dominant division in the spring sample, this group, along with the Crysophyta and Pyrrophyta, was not present in the routine counts of the summer samples. On a numerical basis (i.e., $cell \cdot mL^{-1}$), Cyanophyta contributed about 67% of the total cell numbers. Chlorophyta, composed primarily of **Oocystis** sp.,



Figure 5.10 Abundance and percent composition of phytoplankton in Beaver Creek Reservoir, 1984.

Sphaerocystis schroeteri, and Scenedesmus bijuga, was second in abundance, contributing about 28% of the total cell numbers.

In the fall, the phytoplankton was dominated by Bacillariophyta (35% of the bio-volume) followed closely by Cryptophyta (27%) and Euglenophyta (26%). The Bacillariophyta was comprised of primarily **Synedra ulna, Melosira granulata**, and an unidentified centric. On a numerical basis, cyanophytes were most abundant (36% of total numbers) followed closely by chlorophytes (27%) and cryptophytes (27%).

Seasonal variation for the major phytoplankton species in Beaver Creek Reservoir is presented in Figure 5.11. Cryptomonas erosa was the dominant species by volume during the June sample period, but was absent from the counts in the summer sample. This species increased in abundance again in the fall. Trachelomonas planctonica was second in abundance in the late spring sample. This species also declined in abundance in summer, then increased to become the dominant species in the fall. Melosira granulata, a large diatom, contributed a major portion of the total bio-volume in each of the three samples, and was the dominant species in the July sample. Synedra ulna, another diatom, was absent from the spring and summer samples, but was the second most abundant species in the fall.

Previous phytoplankton data collected in 1977 (Noton and Chymko 1978) indicated that Cyanophyta was numerically dominant in late June and July but contributed only minor amounts to the totals in early June,



Figure 5.11 Seasonal variation (by volume) of dominant phytoplankton in Beaver Creek Reservoir, 1984.

and was absent from the samples by late September. It appears that the Cyanophyta followed a similar pattern in the spring and summer of 1984 (i.e., moderate numbers in mid-June, then becoming numerically dominant by late July); however, Cyanophyta continued to remain numerically dominant in late September.

Based on a comparison with the data collected by Noton and Chymko (1978), phytoplankton densities and taxonomic composition were not substantially different between the two studies although a more dense bloom of Cyanophyta was present in late July in 1977. The similarities in species composition and abundance between the present study and the 1977 study supports the conclusion of previous investigators (Jantzie et al. 1980) that mine depressurization water was not toxic to the algae in the reservoir.

5.3.4 ZOOPLANKTON

The species composition, numerical abundance, and calculated biomass (excepting nauplii) of crustacean plankton collected at the regular sampling station BCR-Z in Beaver Creek Reservoir are summarized in Table 5.7. Aliquot counts and calculated totals for each sample are included in Appendix C, Table C1. The species composition and numerical abundance of rotifers in the zooplankton samples are summarized in Table 5.8. The total numbers of species identified on all

Species ^a	15 June	24 July	23 Sept.
COPEPODA CALANOIDA		<u></u> ,,,,,,	
Diaptomus oregonensis LILLJEBORG 1889 A+C	1 007	4 927	6 887
diaptomid nauplii	(34.6) 9 859	(276.2) 13 311	(609.0) 509
CYCLOPOIDA			
Acanthocyclops vernalis FISCHER 1853 A+ adv.C	486	436	679
Disavalors themasi (EORDES) 1989 At adv. C	(15.9)	(10.9)	(14.5)
Diacyclops (nomasi (FORDES) 1862 A+ adv.C	U	(11.7)	(22.8)
Mesocyclops edax (FORBES) 1891	69	218	297
avalopoid appendids immeture. C	(1.7)	(5.1)	(7.4)
cyclopola copepoulas, ininature C	(15.3)	(50.1)	8 6 5 6 (76,6)
cyclopoid nauplii	9 165	8 292	22 912
CLADOCERA			
Bosmina longirostris (O.F. MÜLLER) 1785	1 864	17 675	4 497
	(23.7)	(175.2)	(47.7)
Ceriodapinia lacustris BIRGE 1893	0	109	0
Macrothrix hirsuticornis NORMAN & BRADY 1867	35	(2.1)	0
	(0.6)		-
Daphnia parvula FORDYCE 1901	312	5 019	212
Diaphanosoma leuchtenbergianum FISCHER 1850	(4.7)		(4.5)
Diaphanosoma reachtenbergranum Tischillit 1850	(1.2)	(391.6)	(6.8)
Alona guttata SARS 1862	11	55	13
Chudomus goboonique (O.E. MÜLLED) 1795	(0.0)	(0.2)	(0.0)
Chydol us sphaericus (C.F. MOLLER) 1(85	(0.1)	(0.6)	(0.9)
Total ^b	6 436	49 785	22 331
	(97.8)	(961.2)	(790.2)

Table 5.7 Species composition, numerical abundance, and calculated biomass of crustacean plankton from Beaver Creek Reservoir (Station BCR-Z), 1984. Unbracketed values are number·m⁻³. Bracketed values are biomass expressed as mg wet weight·m⁻³.

^a A=adult; C=copepodid, usually I to III; adv.C=advanced copepodids, usually IV & V. ^b excluding nauplii and non-crustaceans.

Species	15 J (No.•	∫une m ⁻³)	24 . (No	July m ⁻³)	23 S€ (No.•1	ept. n−3)
Keratella cochlearis (GOSSE 1851)	10	692	2	291	171	880
Keratella earlinae AHLSTROM 1943	74	498	41	241	23	760
Keratella quadrata (O.F. MÜLLER 1786)	21	384		0		806
Keratella hiemalis CARLIN 1943		972		0		0
Notholca acuminata (EHRENBERG 1832)		278		0		0
Euchlanis dilatata EHRENBERG 1832		0	3	055		0
Brachionus calycifloris PALLAS 1766	13	226		0		0
Brachionus quadridentatus (HERMANNS 1783)		17		218		170
Asplanchna priodonta GOSSE 1850		69		0		339
Synchaeta pectinata (?) EHRENBERG 1832		0		0	28	512
Synchaeta oblonga (?) EHRENBERG 1831		0		0	11	074
Synchaeta sp.		694		0		0
Gastropus (?) sp.		625		0		0
Filinia longiseta (EHRENBERG 1834)	1	597		436	1	570
Polyarthra dolichoptera IDELSON 1925	76	789		0		0
Polyarthra vulgaris CARLIN 1943		0		436		0
Rotaria neptunia EHRENBERG 1832		17		0		0
unidentified rotifers		0		0	3	946
Total	21	00 85	3 47	677	242	057

Table 5.8 Species composition and numerical abundance of rotifers in the zooplankton of Beaver Creek Reservoir (Station BCR-Z), 1984.

three sampling dates are:

Rotifera	-	17
Cladocera	-	7
Cyclopoida	-	3
Calanoida	-	1
Chaoboridae	-	0

There were fewer commonly occurring crustacean species and more rotiferan species in Beaver Creek Reservoir in 1984 than in 1977 (Noton and Chymko 1978).

5.3.4.1 Rotifera

The species composition of rotifers in Beaver Creek Reservoir was dominated by Keratella spp. on all three sampling dates, but was followed closely by Polyarthra dolichoptera in June and by Synchaeta spp. in September. Keratella was dominated by K. earlinae in the June and July samples. This species, considered to be a variant of K. cochlearis by Koste (1978) but not so by others (e.g., Baker 1979), is difficult to distinguish from the latter unless loricas are carefully cleaned and examined individually. Here an allotment to each species was made primarly on overall size and caudal spine length. In general, K. earlinae became less abundant and K. cochlearis more abundant towards fall. A small number of K. hiemalis occurred in the June sample. This species resembles a small K. quadrata and could have been overlooked in the presence of large numbers of K. quadrata in previous years.

Although much smaller in September, the rotiferan numbers in 1984 cannot be considered vastly different from those in 1977 (Figure 5.12).



Figure 5.12 Abundance of Rotifera in Beaver Creek Reservoir in 1984 (present study) and in 1977 (Station BCR-1; Noton and Chymko 1978).

Rotifer numbers are known to vary dramatically from month to month (Pennak 1949), a variation that may be due in part to sampling problems. Rotifer species composition also may vary radically from year to year. In Beaver Creek Reservoir, however, the differences in species composition and total numbers between 1977 and 1984 cannot be considered biologically significant and do not warrant further discussion.

5.3.4.2 Cyclopoida

During the spring sample period, the cyclopoids were dominated by Acanthocyclops vernalis; a shift to a dominance by Diacyclops thomasi was noted during summer and fall. The increased abundance of D. thomasi in summer and fall and in general, compared to 1977, is a sequence noted in other Alberta lakes and may be indicative of an eventual dominance by D. thomasi (Anderson 1970a, 1972). D. thomasi, although usually smaller than either Acanthocyclops vernalis or Mesocyclops edax, is the more voracious predator and is capable of altering the species composition of the zooplankton quite markedly (Anderson 1970b).

Diacyclops navus, more commonly considered a temporary pond or small lake species, was not found in the 1984 samples. This species was found in Beaver Creek Reservoir occasionally in 1977 (Noton and Chymko 1978). Similarly, **Macrocyclops albidus**, which occurred only rarely in 1977, was not found in 1984 samples. The absence of the latter may be part of the general trend towards smaller species noted for all three waterbodies in the present zooplankton study.

5.3.4.3 Calanoida

Only one species of calanoid copepod, Diaptomus oregonensis, was collected from Beaver Creek Reservoir in 1984. Abundance was greatest during the fall sampling period and lowest during the spring period.

There has been a dramatic change in the calanoids present in Beaver Creek Reservoir since 1977 (Figure 5.13). In 1977, **Diaptomus leptopus** was the only calanoid present in the waterbody (Noton and Chymko 1978), whereas in 1984 **Diaptomus oregonensis** was the only calanoid present. Counts were somewhat higher in 1984 and, in spite of its much smaller body size, **D. oregonensis** produced more than twice the standing crop biomass in 1984 as did **Diaptomus leptopus** in 1977. Many fish species are known to selectively eliminate larger zooplankters (Brooks and Dodson 1965; Hrbacek & Novotna-Dvorakova 1965; Anderson 1980), and the increased presence of fathead minnows in Beaver Creek Reservoir may be responsible for some shift from larger to smaller species.

5.3.4.4 Cladocera

The cladoceran component of the zooplankton in Beaver Creek Reservoir was numerically dominated by **Bosmina longirostris** during all three sampling periods (Table 5.7). **Diaphanosoma leuchtenbergianum** was very abundant in the July sample. **Daphnia parvula** was the codominant species in the spring and fall samples.



I

I

ž

1

ŧ

I

E

Figure 5.13 Total number and biomass of crustacean zooplankton in Beaver Creek Reservoir in 1984 (present study) and 1977 (Station BCR-1; Noton and Chymko 1978).

As noted for the calanoids above, there also has been a marked change since 1977 to smaller cladoceran species in Beaver Creek Reservoir. Although Bosmina longirostris numbers in 1984 were virtually the same as in 1977 (Noton and Chymko 1978), the slightly larger Ceriodaphnia spp. were present only in very low numbers in 1984. Larger species of Daphnia (D. pulicaria, D. rosea, D. magna) present in 1977 did not occur at all in 1984, being replaced by the much smaller D. parvula. Numbers of the latter in 1984 were much smaller than total Daphnia numbers in 1977. Diaphanosoma leuchtenbergianum numbers were much higher in July 1984 than in 1977. possibly the result of reduced competition from Daphnia.

5.3.4.5 Total Numbers and Biomass of Crustacean Plankton

Although the zooplankton in Beaver Creek Reservoir was sampled on fewer occasions in 1984 than in 1977, there has been an apparent shift from larger to smaller species (Table 5.7; Noton and Chymko 1978). These changes seem to have produced lower total numbers and a smaller biomass in late spring, and higher numbers and an increased biomass in summer and early fall (Figure 5.8). As noted above, an increase in the standing stock of very small zooplankters can be the result of increased predation by plankton-feeding fishes. This is the most likely explanation for the shift noted in this waterbody; however, Beaver Creek Reservoir was only one year old in 1977, and crustacean species composition in such reservoirs is known to take several years to stabilize. Consequently, factors other than plankton-feeding fish may have played important parts in producing changes in the zooplankton community.

5.3.5 ZOOBENTHOS

Beaver Creek Reservoir samples were dominated by Oligochaeta and Chironomidae (Figure 5.14). Variation in diversity (H') may be attributable more to differences in the proportions of these two taxa among stations, than to the presence or absence of other taxa. Diversity in spring at station BCR-B1 (1 m depth) was the second lowest of all measurements (Table 5.9) even though more taxa were collected in Ekman grab samples at this station than at any other. Oligochaeta contributed more than 80 % of the organisms collected on this occasion (Appendix D, Table D16). Maximal diversity occurred at stations when and where Chironomidae became codominant with Oligochaeta.

Taxonomic richness was greater at the 1 m depth than at either 3 m or 5 m depths (Table 5.9). This likely reflects the greater heterogeneity afforded by macrophytes at the shallowest depth.

Benthic density at all stations was maximal in fall samples (Table 5.9); this generally was the case for estimated biomass as well. Benthic density was consistently greater at the 1 m depth than the 3 m depth along both transects. Densities at the 5 m depth (station B3) were equivalent to 3 m samples (station B2 and B5), except during fall, at which time surprisingly high densities were recorded at the former station.

No consistent differences in density, biomass, diversity or taxonomic richness were apparent between transects 1 and 2. Detailed

BEAVER CREEK RESERVOIR



Figure 5.14 Relative abundance of major taxonomic groups of benthic invertebrates in Beaver Creek Reservoir, 1984.

	I	I	I	Ę	E		ſ	ľ	I	E.	I	F	ľ	ſ	I	l	l	ļ	1
--	---	---	---	---	---	--	---	---	---	----	---	---	---	---	---	---	---	---	---

Table 5.9	Mean o	density	(no.	per	sample),	mean	biomass	(mg	per	0.1	m²),	diversity,	and	taxonomic	richness	of
	zoobent	thos in I	Beave	r Cr	eek Reser	voir, 1	984.									

_			Transect 1 ⁸	Transect 2 ^b				
Depth (m)		Spring	Summer	Fall	Summer	Fall		
1	Density Biomass Diversity Richness	163.2 64.9 1.051 12	$115.3 \\ 31.7 \\ 1.311 \\ 17^{\circ}$	217.9 198.5 1.773 19 ^c	89.0 26.5 1.789 11°	566.7 257.3 1.869 13°		
3	Density Biomass Diversity Richness	37.9 71.8 2.062 8	$\begin{array}{c} 45.1\\ 34.6\\ 1.768\\ 6\end{array}$	$168.1 \\ 266.5 \\ 1.983 \\ 8$	$74.3 \\ 147.5 \\ 1.564 \\ 8$	96.1 93.0 1.619 7		
5	Density Biomass Diversity Richness	66.6 40.8 1.512 7	$67.3 \\ 46.0 \\ 0.913 \\ 4$	235.3 108.7 1.577 8				

^aIncludes stations BCR-B1, BCR-B2 and BCR-B3

^bIncludes stations BCR-B4 and BCR-B5; stations added at the request of Syncrude Canada Ltd.

 $^{\rm c}$ Includes taxa collected in shoreline sweeps.

tables of taxonomic composition, size distribution, and biomass are presented in Appendix D, Table D16 to D20, and Table D34.

Beaver Creek Reservoir was studied in detail in 1977 by Noton and Chymko (1978). The present station BCR-B3 was similar in location to their station BC-1. Although sample variability was too great to permit comment on changes in abundance, some change in species composition apparently occurred during the interval between the two studies. In 1977, the large chironomid, Chironomus, contributed 50 to 70 % to samples during spring, summer, and fall. Oligochaeta made up a substantial proportion of the benthos only in fall. A third common organism was **Chaoborus**, a dipteran that is common in oxygen-poor and/or insectivorous fish-free waters. In the present study, Oligochaeta dominated at this station in all seasons, whereas Chironomidae (largely Chironomus) made up only 5 to 15 % of samples. **Chaoborus** was an insignificant constituent.

The transition from a Chironomus/Chaoborus dominated community to Oligochaeta/Chironomus may indicate improved hypolimnetic oxygen conditions and/or increased predation pressure resulting in reduced **Chaoborus** populations. An alternative hypothesis (a more likely but not necessarily exclusive hypothesis) is that the organic content of the substrate has increased and produced shift in the a **Chironomus:**Oligochaeta ratio. This has frequently been observed in lakes in transition from oligotrophy to eutrophy (Wetzel 1975).

5.3.6 FISH

5.3.6.1 Species Composition and Relative Abundance

Fisheries sampling on Beaver Creek Reservoir was conducted during June (boat electroshocking and seining) and July (gill netting and seining) (Table 2.1). Boat electroshocking was conducted on the reservoir (BCR-ES1) and within the diversion canal (BCR-ES2). Seining was conducted in June and July at stations established during previous studies. Seining results obtained during the June period were not included in CUE or percentage composition calculations; the high reservoir water levels at this time resulted in extensive shoreline flooding that markedly reduced the capture efficiency of this method.

Four species of fish were present in Beaver Creek Reservoir in 1984 (Table 5.10; Appendix E, Tables E5 to E7). In the combined catch by all methods, fathead minnow was the most abundant species, contributing 37.1%. White suckers and brook stickleback exhibited relatively equal representation. In seine captures (a more accurate indicator of forage species abundance), the order of relative abundance was fathead minnow (44.0%) brook stickleback (37.7%), and white sucker y-o-y (18.3%). Lake chub were absent from seine catches. White sucker adults and juveniles were the major contributors to the gill net and boat electroshocking catches (Table 5.10).

		A11			
Species (n) ^a	Seine (977)	Gillnet (44)	Boat Electroshocker (139)	Methods Combined (1160)	
White sucker	18.3	100.0	98.6 ^b	31.0	
Fathead minnow	44.0	0	0.7	37.1	
Lake chub	0	0	0.7	< 0.1	
Brook stickleback	37.7	0	0	31.7	

Table 5.10. Percentage composition of fish species recorded from Beaver Creek Reservoir, 1984.

^aNumber of fish captured (captured and observed for electroshocking)

^bIncludes 108 white suckers recorded from the diversion canal between Beaver Creek Reservoir and Ruth Lake.

A comparison of seine catches from station S3 in 1978, 1981, and 1984 suggests that shifts in species composition and abundance have taken place since reservoir formation in 1976. For example, white suckers (juveniles and y-o-y) apparently have undergone a substantial increase, both in their contribution to seine catches and their capture rates, since 1978 (Appendix E, Table E8). It is evident that successful recruitment to the white sucker population has occurred in recent years. The presence of suitable spawning habitat in Creek B1 (and the extensive use of these areas) may have led to this increased recruitment. Gill net capture data (selective for adults and larger juveniles) for the three study years indicate a reduction in numbers of adult white suckers from 1978 to 1981, followed by a stabilization of the population between 1981 and 1984 (G2; Appendix E, Table E9). Boat electroshocking at ES1 and ES2 captured mainly adult and juvenile white suckers. Capture rates for this sampling method were 3.0 and 4.1 fish·min⁻¹ at ES1 and ES2, respectively. The 1984 capture data and the observation of approximately 300 to 500 adults spawning in Creek B1 show a substantial population of white suckers still exists in Beaver Creek Reservoir.

Fathead minnows and brook stickleback have dominated the catch in seines in all sampled years (Appendix E, Table E8). A comparison of 1984, 1981, and 1978 capture rates, however, suggests the numerical abundance of both these species has declined appreciably.

Lake chub have declined in abundance in the reservoir since 1978; in 1984 they were absent from seine captures (Appendix E8, Table E8). This species is better adapted to fluvial habitats such as Lower Beaver Creek and Creek B1 where it was abundant. The presence of adult lake chub in the gill net catch in fall 1978 (Appendix E, Table E9) suggests that older age-classes overwinter in Beaver Creek Reservoir, and then move into tributaries (e.g., Upper Beaver Creek, Creek B1) in spring for spawning and feeding.

Longnose suckers were present in low numbers in the 1978 gill net catch in Beaver Creek Reservoir (Appendix E, Table E9). Since longnose suckers have not been caught in subsequent studies, it is evident that this species is no longer present in the reservoir.

5.3.6.2 Age Structure of White Sucker Population

The length-frequency distribution of white suckers captured in Beaver Creek Reservoir is presented in Appendix E, Table E10. The fish were captured by a range of capture gear (gillnet, boat electroshocker, seine) in order to minimize the influence of gear selectivity.

Length frequency analysis indicates that the population sampled was made up of six year-classes ranging from 1984 (y-o-y) to 1979 (age five). Individuals from the age five group made a small contribution to the total sample. The age structure of the population in 1984 was similar to that in the reservoir in 1978 (O'Neil 1979) and 1981 (O'Neil 1982). The 1984 and earlier data indicate the presence of a fast-growing, short-lived population in Beaver Creek Reservoir. Data collected on the spawning run in Creek B1 in 1984 indicate that the majority of white suckers mature and commence spawning at age three. A similar conclusion was reached in 1978 based on a sample of white suckers directly from the reservoir. The majority of the sampled spawners was comprised of age three and age four individuals; age five fish were present but in low numbers. It is apparent that annual mortality increases sharply past age four and that few adults survive past age five. Substantial numbers of dead adults (primarily large individuals) were observed in the lower reaches of Creek B1 following the spawning run. This suggests that spawning mortality may be a factor in determining the lifespan of white suckers in the reservoir. Spawning mortality of white suckers has been documented in the MacKay River by Machniak et al. (1980), and in British Columbia by Geen et al. (1966).

5.4 RUTH LAKE

5.4.1 AQUATIC HABITAT

5.4.1.1 Description of Drainage Area

Ruth Lake is an elongated waterbody located approximately 1.5 km east of Beaver Creek Reservoir (Figure 2.3). Formerly a closed drainage, it now receives inflow from Beaver Creek Reservoir via a diversion channel entering at the northern end of the lake. A continuation of the channel exits from the southern end of the lake and drains into Poplar Creek Reservoir.

5.4.1.2 Physical Characteristics

The physical characteristics of Ruth Lake have been described by Noton and Chymko (1978) and Carmack and Killworth (1979). Ruth Lake is a shallow (maximum depth 3 m) waterbody approximately 3.8 km in length (Figure 5.15). A summary of the major morphometric features is presented below:

Surface Elevation	309.7 m
Length	3.8 km
Area	150 ha
Volume	$1.8 \times 10^{6} \text{ m}^{3}$
Mean Depth	1.2 m
Maximum Depth	approx. 3.0 m
———————————————————————————————————————	

Morphometry of Ruth Lake (based on 1978 data)

source: adapted from Carmack and Killworth (1979).



The substrate in Ruth Lake consists primarily of soft mud and organic material. Shorelines slope gently towards the forested perimeter of the lake. Cobble patches along the shoreline occur infrequently.

5.4.1.3 Macrophytes

The distribution of macrophyte species in Ruth Lake during July 1984 is shown in Figure 5.16. The relative abundance of the various forms is presented in Table 5.11.

Since the 1977 survey, the structure of the submersed vegetation community in Ruth Lake appears to have been further simplified. Chara, which apparently was common in 1974, is now present in small quantities and only in a few locations. Myriophyllum and Ceratophyllum dominate the majority of the area between the shoreline and the 2 m contour, forming extremely dense beds which reach the surface. Colonies of the blue-green algae, Aphanizomenon, which occurred in Beaver Creek Reservoir and in the upper end of Ruth Lake, were largely filtered out by the plants. Only a few colonies remained to enter the channel to Poplar Creek Reservoir. The areas occupied by Nuphar may have decreased since 1977 but the Scirpus islands seem to be stable. Colonization beyond the 2 m contour is not extensive probably due to low incident light levels. A detailed description of macrophyte assemblages at specific sampling sites is provided in Appendix F, Table F2.



Species	Distribution Pattern
	Submersed
Ceratophyllum demersum	Abundant
Chara spp.	Present
Lemna trisulca	Present
Potamogeton pectinatus	Common
Potamogeton praelongus	Present
Potamogeton richardsonii	Present
Potamogeton zosteriformis	Common
Ranunculus spp.	Present
	Floating-Leafed
Lemna minor	Present
Nuphar variegatum	Common
	Emergent
Carex spp.	Common
Eleocharis spp.	Common
Typha latifolia	Abundant
Scirpus spp.	Abundant

Table 5.11Distribution pattern and relative abundance of macrophytes found in
Ruth Lake, July 1984.

5.4.2 WATER QUALITY

5.4.2.1 Physical Parameters

During this study, water temperatures in Ruth Lake at station RL-W ranged from 6.0 in September to 25.0° C in July (Table 5.2). Except in September, slight decreases in temperatures from the surface to the bottom were recorded. In June, July, and September 1977 the mean temperatures (water column) were 19.6, 19.9, and 12.0° C, respectively (Noton and Chymko 1978).

The pH ranged from 7.8 to 9.0. The maximum values which were recorded in July and September were notably higher than those recorded in the creeks or Beaver Creek Reservoir. The high values probably were the result of extensive primary production. A pH value of 9.3 during a bloom of blue-green algae was reported by Noton and Chymko (1978). Total non-filterable residue levels, with the highest level of 9.2 mg·L⁻¹, were similar to those in Beaver Creek Reservoir. The Secchi disc visibilities in Ruth Lake in June, July, and September were 0.98, 2.0, and 1.5 m, respectively. In June the water was yellowish in colour.

Dissolved oxygen concentrations ranged from 3.4 to 10.6 mg·L⁻¹ and showed increased levels from June to September at the surface and bottom depth. The dissolved oxygen concentration of 3.4 mg·L⁻¹ was less than the ASWQO of 5.0 mg·L⁻¹. Low dissolved oxygen levels are common in shallow productive lakes in Alberta. The oxygen saturation ranged from 36% in June at the bottom to 106% in July at the surface. In July 1977, supersaturated levels were recorded in July with values as high as 136% at 1 m depth (Noton and Chymko 1978). These researchers did not encounter saturation levels lower than 57% during the June to September period. Chemical oxygen demand levels (63 to 64 mg·L⁻¹) in Ruth Lake were consistent during the sampling periods, and were slightly lower than those in Beaver Creek Reservoir.

5.4.2.2 Major Ions

The water type and ionic character is very similar to that described for Beaver Creek Reservoir (Table 5.2 and Figure 5.4). This is further exemplified by the similar total filterable residue levels in both water bodies. Slightly higher total filterable residue levels (248 to 356 mg·L⁻¹) were reported for the same period in 1977 (Noton and Chymko 1978).

5.4.2.2 Nutrients

The concentrations ranged total nitrogen from 0.96 to 1.16 mg N·L⁻¹ and slightly exceeded the ASWQO of 1.0 mg N·L⁻¹. The levels were very similar to the composite sample results from Beaver Creek Reservoir with both waterbodies exhibiting the highest values in Nitrate + nitrite concentrations ranged from less than July. 0.003 mg N·L⁻¹ (July) to 0.009 mg N·L⁻¹ (June). The July and September values were lower than those recorded in Beaver Creek Reservoir. In June, July, and September 1977, notably higher levels of 0.084, 0.047, and 0.044 mg N·L⁻¹, respectively, were reported by Noton and Chymko (1978).

Concentrations of total phosphorus ranged from 0.027 to 0.054 mg P·L⁻¹ with the highest value recorded in June. These values were within the ASWQO of 0.05 mg P·L⁻¹ but exceeded the 0.025 mg P·L⁻¹ guideline established by Environment Canada. Generally, the concentrations in Ruth Lake were lower than those in the Beaver Creek Reservoir. In June, July, and September 1977, the values in Ruth Lake were notably higher than in the present study, with 0.112, 0.100, and 0.051 mg P·L⁻¹, respectively, reported by Noton and Chymko (1978). Ortho-phosphorus concentrations ranged from 0.006 mg P·L⁻¹ (September) to 0.028 mg P·L⁻¹ (July), and paralleled those recorded in the Beaver Creek Reservoir. In 1977, the ortho-phosphorus levels were lower than in the present study with values of 0.016, 0.022, and less than 0.016 mg P·L⁻¹ in June, July, and September, respectively (Noton and Chymko 1978).

Reactive silica concentrations ranging from 1.05 to 4.70 mg·L⁻¹ showed the same seasonal relationship as in Beaver Creek Reservoir; the highest values were recorded in June and the lowest levels in July. Similar conditions prevailed in 1977 except that the highest value during that period was recorded in September (Noton and Chymko 1978). Total organic carbon concentrations ranging from 28.5 to $30.0 \text{ mg} \cdot \text{L}^{-1}$ were similar to those in Beaver Creek Reservoir.

5.4.2.4 Trace Metals and Other Substances

The concentrations of trace metals and elements were very similar to those described for Beaver Creek Reservoir. Iron and manganese
concentrations ranged from 0.11 to $0.35 \text{ mg} \cdot \text{L}^{-1}$, and 0.010 to 0.050 mg·L⁻¹, respectively, and are lower than those in Beaver Creek Reservoir. Iron concentrations in June and July slightly exceeded the ASWQO of 0.30 mg·L⁻¹. Metal concentrations were similar in Ruth Lake and Beaver Creek Reservoir in 1977 (Noton and Chymko 1978). In the present study, phenol concentrations, which were similar to those recorded in the reservoir, exceeded the ASWQO of 0.005 mg·L⁻¹. Oil and grease levels which also were similar to the values in Beaver Creek Reservoir, were considerably lower than those reported in 1977 by Noton and Chymko (1978), when concentrations as high as 156.2 mg·L⁻¹ were reported in July.

5.4.3 PHYTOPLANKTON

Phytoplankton cell count and cell volume data for Ruth Lake are presented in Appendix G, Table G2. During the three seasons sampled in 1984, numerical abundance of phytoplankton was highest during the summer, and lowest during the fall (Figure 5.17). Standing crop of phytoplankton expressed as bio-volume was highest in the late spring and decreased progressively through the summer and fall.

In mid-June, the phytoplankton in Ruth Lake was dominated by Euglenophyta which contributed approximately 28% of the total cell volume in the sample (Figure 5.17). The major contributors in this group included two **Trachelomonas** spp., and **Euglena acus**. Chlorophyta, dominated by **Sphaerocystis schroeteri**, was the second most abundant



Figure 5.17 Abundance and percent composition of phytoplankton in Ruth Lake, 1984.

division, contributing about 23% of the total bio-volume. Chrysophyta, represented solely by **Dinobryon divergens**, contributed 19% to the total.

In the summer sample, the phytoplankton was dominated by Cyanophyta (primarily **Aphanizomenon flos-aquae** and **Anabaena** sp.) followed closely by Pyrrophyta (primarily **Ceratium hirundinella**) (Figure 5.17). These two divisions contributed approximately 29% and 27% of the total cell volume, respectively. **Ceratium hirundinella** previously has been observed to do well during blue-green algal blooms (Trew et al. 1978). On a numerical basis, Cyanophyta was by far the most abundant division, contributing about 93% of total cell numbers in the sample.

In the fall, the phytoplankton standing crop was dominated by Cryptophyta (primarily **Rhodomonas minuta** and two **Cryptomonas** spp.), which contributed about 50% of the total cell volume (Figure 5.17). The second highest contribution on a bio-volume basis was by Euglenophyta (primarily **Trachelomonas** sp.) which accounted for about 35% of the total cell volume. On a numerical basis, the phytoplankton was comprised primarily of Cryptophyta (57% of total cell numbers), Chlorophyta (20%) and Cyanophyta (15%).

Seasonal variation in bio-volume for the major species of phytoplankton in Ruth Lake is presented in Figure 5.18. The three species which exhibited the greatest bio-volume in the June sample (i.e., Dinobryon divergens, Trachelomonas planctonica, and Sphaerocystis

234



Figure 5.18 Seasonal variation (by volume) of dominant phytoplankton in Ruth Lake, 1984.

schroeteri) were not represented in the counts from the summer and fall samples. Similarily, three of the species that were abundant in the summer (namely Ceratium hirundinella, Aphanizomenon flos-aquae, and Chlamydomonas sp.) were absent from, or did not contribute appreciably to, the total cell volume in the spring and fall samples.

The phytoplankton populations in Ruth Lake have been studied previously in 1974 (Syncrude Canada Ltd. 1975) and in 1977 (Noton and Chymko 1978). Data collected during these studies showed that the phytoplankton standing crops on a numerical basis had increased substantially during the period 1974 to 1977 (Noton and Chymko 1978); this increase was attributed to the high level of macronutrients (N, P, S) in the water after diversion of Beaver Creek. Although based only on three seasonal samples, the present study indicates that phytoplankton cell numbers were lower in 1984 than in 1977. Although some of the variation may be explained by differences in sampling methodology (vertically integrated sample in 1984 vs. grab sample in 1977), the shallow depth of the lake at the sampling station (i.e., about 2 m) would reduce any differences related to sampling methodology. It is possible that the apparent reduction in algal production between 1977 and 1984 may be related to lower macronutrient levels in the lake. Although available phosphorus levels (i.e., ortho-phosphorous) were comparable between the two years, nitrate + nitrite nitrogen levels were an order of magnitude less in summer and fall of 1984 than in comparable periods in 1977 (i.e., about 0.003 mg N·L⁻¹ in 1984 vs. 0.044 to 0.047 mg N·L⁻¹ in 1977). Also,

the reactive silica in the summer and fall was four to seven times lower in 1984 when compared to 1977.

5.4.4 ZOOPLANKTON

The species composition, numerical abundance, and calculated biomass (excepting nauplii) of crustacean plankton collected at the regular sampling station RL-Z in Ruth Lake are summarized in Table 5.12. Aliquot counts and calculated totals for each sample are included in Appendix C, Table C2. The species composition and numerical abundance of rotifers in the zooplankton samples are summarized in Table 5.13. The total numbers of species identified on all three sampling dates are:

Rotifera	-	15
Cladocera	-	6
Cyclopoida	-	4
Calanoida	-	1
Chaoboridae		0

There were fewer commonly occurring crustacean species and more rotiferan species in Ruth Lake in 1984 than in 1977 (Noton and Chymko 1978), and most of the crustacean species that would be considered "common" according to the criteria set out by these authors (Ibid.p.56) were much less abundant in 1984.

5.4.4.1 Rotifera

The rotifers in Ruth Lake were dominated by Keratella spp. on all sampling dates, followed closely by **Polyarthra** spp. in the June sampling.

Species^a 16 June 24 July 24 Sept. COPEPODA CALANOIDA Diaptomus oregonensis LILLJEBORG 1889 A+C 6 961 135 342 (120.1)(1.9)(32.2)diaptomid nauplii 21 384 4 288 1 313 **CYCLOPOIDA** Acanthocyclops vernalis FISCHER 1853 A+ adv.C 0 0 215 (3.9)Diacyclops thomasi (FORBES) 1882 A+ adv.C 40 0 40 (2.4)(1.4)Mesocyclops edax (FORBES) 1891 0 25540 (7.6)(1.3)Microcyclops varicans rubellus LILLJEBORG 1901 A 0 1670 (1.3)cyclopoid copepodids, immature C 7 637 3 063 382 (41.7)(13.3)(2.0)cyclopoid nauplii 26 476 11 329 8 950 CLADOCERA Bosmina longirostris (O.F. MÜLLER) 1785 4 240 135 88 (8.6)(0.7)(1.0)Ceriodaphnia lacustris BIRGE 1893 0 16 0 (0.1)Daphnia parvula FORDYCE 1901 294 8 8 (5.5)(0.1)(0.3)Diaphanosoma leuchtenbergianum FISCHER 1850 167 406 0 (6.7)(7.5)Acroperus harpae BAIRD 1843 88 0 0 (1.0)Chydorus sphaericus (O.F. MÜLLER) 1785 636 24 0 (0.2)(4.4)CERATOPOGONIDAE (larvae) 40 0 0 OTHER TAXA (Ostracodes, immature) 127 8 0 Total^b 20 700 3 787 900 (203.2)(23.8)(38.2)

Table 5.12 Species composition, numerical abundance, and calculated biomass of crustacean plankton from Ruth Lake (Station RL-Z), 1984. Unbracketed values are number·m⁻³. Bracketed values are biomass expressed as mg wet weight·m⁻³.

a A=adult; C=copepodid, usually I to III; adv.C=advanced copepodids, usually IV & V.
 b excluding nauplii and non-crustaceans.

W

Species	16 J (No	lune m ⁻³)	24 . (No.•	July m ⁻³)	24 Se (No.•1	m^{-3})
Keratella cochlearis (GOSSE 1851)	23	166	22	148	18	457
Keratella earlinae AHLSTROM 1943	160	382	9	419	1	273
Keratella quadrata (O.F. MÜLLER 1786)	21	384	1	400		191
Notholca acuminata (EHRENBERG 1832)		0		127		127
Trichotria pocillum (O.F. MÜLLER 1776)	1	782		0		0
Euchlanis dilatata EHRENBERG 1832	1	782		127		0
Brachionus quadridentatus (HERMANNS 1783)		0		127		40
Synchaeta pectinata (?) EHRENBERG 1832		0		0		509
Synchaeta oblonga (?) EHRENBERG 1831		0	1	018	1	018
Filinia longiseta (EHRENBERG 1834)	1	782		382		382
Polyarthra dolichoptera IDELSON 1925	49	897		764	1	273
Polyarthra vulgaris CARLIN 1943	1	782	1	782		509
Conochilus unicornis ROUSSELET 1892		0		382		0
Lecane (monostyla) bulla (GOSSE 1886)		0		509		0
Lecane luna (O.F. MÜLLER 1776)		0		0		40
unidentified rotifers	3	564		0	1	273
Total	20	65 52 1	38	185	25	092

Table 5.13Species composition and numerical abundance of rotifers in the
zooplankton of Ruth Lake (Station RL-Z), 1984.

In July and September, species other than Keratella spp. were low in abundance. As in Beaver Creek Reservoir, K. earlinae was the dominant among Keratella spp. in June, but the dominance shifted to K. cochlearis in September. Polyarthra appeared to be comprised of two species, of which P. dolichoptera was usually more common (see Table 5.13). A positive resolution of speciation within Polyarthra would require detailed study.

Although species diversity among rotifers in Ruth Lake may have increased slightly since 1977, total abundance seems to have declined, especially in July and September (Figure 5.19). Both diversity and abundance can vary from year to year (see discussion in section 5.3.4.1), but there may be another explanation for the change in Ruth Lake. Neither predation by cyclopoids or **Asplanchna priodonta**, nor competition from grazing cladocerans would seem to explain the reduction in rotifer numbers, since crustacean numbers were greatly reduced in 1984 and **Asplanchna** was not seen in the samples at all. Higher than usual precipitation, however, may have resulted in high flushing rates, especially in June, and this may have flushed out many rotifers, their food organisms, or both. The shallow nature of Ruth Lake would increase the likelihood of such flushing action during periods of high precipitation.

5.4.4.2 Cyclopoida

During the spring of 1984, the cyclopoid copepods in Ruth Lake were dominated by **Mesocyclops edax**, followed closely by **Acanthocyclops**



Figure 5.19 Abundance of Rotifera in Ruth Lake in 1984 (present study) and in 1977 (Station RL-2; Noton and Chymko 1978).

vernalis. In July, adult cyclopoids were not observed in the samples, and in September, only M. edax and Diacyclops thomasi were present in low numbers.

There has been a dramatic reduction in the total numbers of cyclopoid copepods in Ruth Lake in comparison to 1977 (Table 5.12; Noton and Chymko 1978). Cyclopoid nauplii, on the other hand, were more similar in abundance. These facts, coupled with a lack of evidence of predators likely to feed on small zooplankters (e.g., **Chaoborus** spp.), suggest that a lack of sufficient food during the developmental period may be a cause of cyclopoid population decline. The increased presence of fathead minnows is another potential explanation for the decline of larger cyclopoids, an explanation which seems plausible when the reduction in numbers or disappearance of most other crustaean species present in 1977 is taken into account.

5.4.4.3 Calanoida

Diaptomus oregonensis was the most frequently occurring species of crustacean plankton on all three sampling dates in Ruth Lake. Numbers of this species were considerably higher than in 1977 (Noton and Chymko 1978). The other commonly occurring calanoid in 1977, Diaptomus leptopus, was not found in 1984. This shift in species composition and abundance may also reflect increased feeding by fathead minnows. Furthermore, in many small lakes the presence of Diaptomus leptopus has a depressing effect on numbers of smaller existing species of Diaptomus (Anderson and Donald 1980), thereby possibly explaining the lower numbers of **D. oregonensis** in 1977 when **D. leptopus** was present.

5.4.4.4 Cladocera

The cladoceran plankton in Ruth Lake was dominated by Chydorus sphaericus in the spring, Diaphanosoma leuchtenbergianum in the summer, and Bosmina longirostris in the fall. Neither of the large species of Daphnia reported in Ruth Lake in 1977 (Noton and Chymko 1978) was found in 1984, the larger species having been replaced by the much smaller Daphnia parvula. However, even this smaller species was present in appreciable numbers only in June. Diaphanosoma leuchtenbergianum was present in moderate numbers in June and July, but was not nearly so common as in 1977. Chydorus sphaericus was similar in abundance in both 1977 and 1984, but this species is not usually considered a truly planktonic form. Its presence is a reflection of the shallow nature of Ruth Lake.

5.4.4.5 Total Numbers and Biomass of Crustacean Plankton

The general shift from larger to smaller species noted for Beaver Creek Reservoir was a feature also common to Ruth Lake. In spite of this, however, the June biomass and total abundance was higher in 1984 than in 1977 (Figure 5.20). July and September figures for both biomass and numbers, on the other hand, were much lower in 1984. Since only three dates were sampled in 1984 compared to seven in 1977, a more detailed comparison is not valid. Both biomass and numbers fluctuated



Figure 5.20 Total number and biomass of crustacean zooplankton in Ruth Lake in 1984 (present study) and in 1977 (Station RL-2; Noton and Chymko 1978).

greatly from month to month in 1977, but it seems unlikely that the midsummer or early spring peaks were as great in 1984 as in 1977. The main reason for this conclusion rests in the absence or dramatic decline in numbers of the principal species contributing to these peaks in 1977.

The main changes in the Ruth Lake zooplankton from 1975 to 1984 are probably the result of the two main factors: the flushing effect of water diverted through the lake, starting in 1976, and the increased presence of fathead minnows, undoubtedly due in part to the confluence of Ruth Lake with the two reservoirs.

The 1984 data and the 1974-1975 data included in the report of Noton and Chymko (1978) suggest that the large numerical peaks reached in summer 1977 may not be the general trend for Ruth Lake. The 1974, 1975, and 1977 data indicate that a spring peak may be the usual course of events. Such a spring peak would not have been detected by the three sampling dates used in 1984. The biomass data for the three earlier study years indicate that standing crop biomass has been higher than that measured in 1984.

5.4.5 **ZOOBENTHOS**

The benthic fauna of Ruth Lake was the most impoverished of the three lentic waterbodies investigated. Although density, diversity, biomass, and taxonomic richness all increased from spring to fall (Table 5.14), only three and four taxa were collected in spring and summer

	Spring	Summer	Fall	
Density	7.6	17.9	213.2	
Biomass	12.0	11.7	118.6	
Diversity	0.477	1.084	2.125	
Richness	3	13 ^a	20 ^a	

Table 5.14 Mean density (no. per 0.1 m²), mean biomass (mg per 0.1 m²), diversity, and taxonomic richness of zoobenthos in Ruth Lake, 1984.

^aIncludes taxa collected in shoreline sweeps.

Ekman grab samples, respectively, and 18 taxa were collected in fall. Shoreline sweep samples yielded an additional nine and two taxa in summer and fall, respectively (Appendix D, Table D21). In comparison, the fewest taxa collected at other stations was seven (Poplar Creek Reservoir) in spring and 11 (Beaver Creek Reservoir) in summer. In fall, however, an equitable distribution of abundance among taxa produced the highest estimate of diversity of any lentic station, even though fall richness was not greater than that of other stations.

Samples were dominated by moderate sized chironomids in all seasons (Appendix D; Table D35) although planorbid snails became more abundant in fall samples.

The benthos of Ruth Lake previously has been sampled in 1977 (Noton and Chymko 1978) and in 1975 (Syncrude Canada Ltd. 1975). Chironomidae also dominated the samples in both of these studies. The previous studies also have shown that the benthic community was impoverished in spring, as was found in 1984. However, sphaeriid clams appeared to be more abundant during the previous surveys than in the present study.

5.4.6 **FISH**

5.4.6.1 Species Composition and Relative Abundance

Three species of fish were collected in Ruth Lake in 1984 (Table 5.15). In the combined catch (all sample methods), fathead minnow

(69.0%) was most abundant followed by brook stickleback (22.6%) and white sucker (8.4%). In seine collections fathead minnows and brook stickleback remained numerically dominant and exhibited slightly greater percentage compositions due to the reduced contribution of white suckers (mainly y-o-y). White suckers (adults and juveniles) contributed the largest portion to the gill net (100%) and boat electroshocking (50.0%) catches (Table 5.15).

		Capture Method					
Species (n) ^a	Seine (2015)	Gillnet (74)	Boat Electroshocking (224)	Combined Total (2313)			
White sucker	0.4	100.0	50.0	8.4			
Fathead minnow	74.7	0	40.6	69.0			
Brook stickleback	24.9	0	9.4	22.6			

Table 5.15.Percentage composition of fish species recorded from
Ruth Lake, 1984.

^aNumber of fish captured (captured and observed for electroshocking)

Seine CUE's indicate a general decline in the abundance of white sucker y-o-y and early-age juveniles has occurred from 1981 to the present (Appendix E, Table E8). Low numbers of y-o-y were found in both 1981 and 1984 surveys and may indicate that a limited degree of spawning success was achieved in Ruth Lake. Gill net CUE's exhibited a fourfold increase in capture rate over the same period (Appendix E, Table E9). Most of the fish captured, however, were larger juveniles which is probably indicative of a heavy rearing/feeding use of Ruth Lake rather than of other functions such as spawning. Fathead minnow and brook stickleback were abundant in Ruth Lake relative to Poplar Creek and Beaver Creek reservoirs (Appendix E, Table E6). Fathead minnow was the dominant species in Ruth Lake in all years (Appendix E, Table E8). Both fathead minnows and brook stickleback, however, exhibited substantially reduced densities in 1984 relative to 1978, indicating populations of both species decreased in the intervening period. The presence of numerous y-o-y of these species in 1984, indicates reproducing populations are still resident in Ruth Lake.

5.4.6.1 Age Structure of White Sucker Populations

The length frequency distribution of white suckers captured in Ruth Lake is presented in Appendix E, Table E10. Length-frequency analysis indicates that the population sample was comprised of four year-classes (1980 to 1983). Since young-of-the-year (1984 year-class) also were collected during the study, it is apparent that the population supports a total of five year-classes. The majority of the population sample was made up of immature age-classes (age one and age two individuals). The limited presence of older age-groups is unexplained; however, it has been documented in earlier studies (O'Neil 1979, 1982). Ruth Lake may serve primarily as a rearing area for the Beaver Creek Reservoir spawning population.

5.5 **POPLAR CREEK RESERVOIR**

5.5.1 AQUATIC HABITAT

5.5.1.1 Description of Drainage Area

Poplar Creek Reservoir is located south of Ruth Lake and receives inflow from Ruth Lake via a diversion channel entering the northern end of the reservoir (Figure 2.3). The reservoir was formed in 1975 by the construction of a dam across a small stream (i.e., Ruth Creek) flowing through a ravine toward Poplar Creek. A causeway constructed across the reservoir separates it into north and south basins. Water exits the reservoir from the southern end via a diversion canal. It then enters the Poplar Creek spillway, a concrete structure 200 m in length and with a vertical drop of 60 m. A weir at the crest of the spillway permits regulation of water levels in Poplar Creek Reservoir. A stilling basin, which drains into Poplar Creek, is located at the base of the spillway.

5.5.1.2 Physical Characteristics

The physical characteristics of Poplar Creek Reservoir have been described by Noton and Chymko (1978), and Carmack and Killworth (1979). The reservoir is moderately deep (maximum depth 19 m), with an irregular shoreline and a maximum length of 3.3 km (Figure 5.21). A



summary of the major morphometric features is presented below:

Morphometry of Poplar Creek Reservoir (based on 1978 data)

Surface Elevation308.5 mLength3.3 kmArea140 haVolume4.9 X 10⁶ m³Mean Depth3.5 mMaximum Depthapprox. 19 m

source: adapted from Carmack and Killworth (1979).

The north basin features a gently sloping shoreline and relatively shallow, off-shore depths (1 to 8 m). The substrate in this area consists of organic material. Shoreline topography and substrate conditions differ markedly in the south basin of the reservoir (i.e., steeper shoreline, depths ranging from 8 to 12 m, substrates composed of clay, sand, and organic debris). Substrate along the dam face consists of sand, gravel, and clay.

5.5.1.3 Macrophytes

The distribution of macrophyte species in Poplar Creek Reservoir during July 1984 is shown in Figure 5.22. The relative abundance of the various forms is presented in Table 5.16. Submersed vegetation occurred only at depths less than 2 m. This restricts growth of these plants to a narrow band (often less than 10 m wide) along the east and west shores. The bottom within this restricted area is quite firm (clay-sand-gravel) which does not facilitate extensive plant growth. Dense macrophyte beds occurred only at the north end of the reservoir in areas with soft sediment



Species	Distribution Patte
	Submersed
Chara spp.	Present
Myriophyllum exalbescens	Common
Potamogeton pectinatus	Presenta
Potamogeton pusillus	Present
Potamogeton praelongus	Presentb
Potamogeton vaginatus	Presenta
Potamogeton zosteriformis	Present ^c
Utricularia vulgaris	Presentb
	Floating-Leave
Sagittaria latifolia	Common
Sparganium spp.	Common
	Emergent
Carex spp.	Abundant
Hippuris vulgaris	Present
Menyanthes trifoliata	Present ^d
Polygonum amphibium	Present
Scirpus validus	Present
Typha latifolia	Common

Table 5.16.Distribution pattern and relative abundance of macrophytes found in
Poplar Creek Reservoir, July 1984.

^aFound locally in area of discharge canal. ^bFound locally at site 3 ^cFound along face of dam ^dLocally abundant at north end of reservoir

.

substrate. The extent of the Menyanthes bed appeared unchanged since 1977. At the time of the present survey, these plants were growing in less than 0.5 m of water. The shoreline plant community was dominated by **Carex** spp.; isolated colonies of **Typha** and small amounts of **Scirpus** were noted also. The **Potamogeton berchtoldii** (**P. pusillus**) seems to have almost disappeared since it was reported in 1977 (Noton and Chymko 1978).

Detailed descriptions of macrophyte assemblages at specific sampling sites is provided in Appendix F, Table F3.

5.5.2 WATER QUALITY

5.5.2.1 Physical Parameters

In Poplar Creek Reservoir (station PCR-W), temperature and oxygen measurements revealed a typical stratification pattern (Tables 5.2 and 5.17; Figure 5.23). The bottom of the thermocline, which occurred at 7 m in June, declined to 9 m in September. The stratification was similar to that described for July 1977 by Noton and Chymko (1978). The reservoir was isothermal by 23 October 1984 (M. MacKinnon pers. comm.). The water column was isothermal on 15 October in 1977. In June of the present study, the temperatures declined from 23.0° C at the surface to 4.5° C at the bottom. By July, the temperature at the surface cooled by 1.0° C but increased to 9.0° C at the bottom, and in September top and

Parameter	eter Temperature (⁰ C) Dissolved Oxygen Specific Conductance (µS·cm ⁻¹)		(µS•cm ⁻¹)	рН											
Depth (m)	June	July	Sept.	Ju mg·L ⁻¹	ne % Sat.	Jul mg·L ⁻¹	y % Sat.	Sep mg•L ⁻¹	t. % Sat.	June	July	Sept.	June	July	Sept.
0	23 0	22 A	10.0	10.7	199	Q /	105	95	75	500	490	445	79	8 9	78
1	23.0	22.0	10.0	10.7	122	5.4 0.2	103	0.0	75	500	420	445	77	0.2	77
2	20.0	21 0	95	95	102	э.э 7 Л	83	9.5	74	515	420	450	79	76	
3	19.0	20.0	9.5	5.8	63	6.5	70	82	79	545	430	460	78	7.6	7.9
4	15.5	19.0	9.5	5.8	57	4.4	47	8.0	70	630	435	100	7.5	7.8	
5	14.5	18.0	9.0	4.7	45	3.8	39	77	66	670	485	460	7.5	7.8	7.8
6	12.0	15.0	9.0	1.8	16	2.9	28	7.6	65	680	620	460	7.4	7.5	
7	11.0	11.0	9.0	0.5	4	1.1	9	7.5	64	700	680		7.4	7.5	7.8
8	9.0	11.0	9.0	0.0	ō	0.9	7	7.4	63	715	670	460	7.4	7.5	
9	7.5	10.0	9.0	0.0	0	0.8	6	7.3	63	715	680	460	7.3	7.7	7.8
10	6.0	10.0	7.0	0.0	0	0.6	5	2.3	18	770	670		7.4	7.9	
11	6.0	10.0	6.5	0.0	0	0.4	3	2.1	16	750	650	645	7.4	7.7	7.5
12	5.0	9.5	6.0	0.0	0	0.3	2	2.0	15	750	650	720	7.3	7.8	7.5
13	5.0	9.0	6.0	0.0	0	0.3	1	2.0	15	750	650	720	7.4	7.9	7.5
14	4.5	9.0	6.0	0.0	0	0.2	1	1.9	15	780	660		7.4	7.5	
15	4.5	9.0	6.0	0.0	0	0.2	1	1.8	14	780	650	750	7.6		7.5
16			5.5					1.7	13			750			
17			5.5					1.6	12			750			7.7
18			5.0					1.5	11			750			

ŧ

ŧ

f

 Table 5.17 Summary of temperature, dissolved oxygen, specific conductance and pH levels in Poplar Creek Reservoir (Station PCR-W) during June, July and September, 1984.

Ĩ

I

Ĩ

ť

ſ

ŧ

ł

ſ

ł

f

ŧ

Ĩ

I

ŧ

f

1



Figure 5.23 Depth profiles of temperature, dissoved oxygen, and specific conductance in Poplar Creek Reservoir during June, July, and September, 1984.

bottom temperatures cooled to 10.0° C and 5.0° C, respectively. During the June to September period in 1977, the maximum surface temperature (21°C) was not reached until July.

The oxygen saturation levels showed a pattern similar to that of temperature. In June and July the hypolimnion, between 8 and 18 m, was essentially anaerobic. In 1977, anaerobic conditions were present in June, July, and September (Noton and Chymko 1978). In the present study, the anaerobic conditions were further exemplified by the presence of hydrogen sulphide gas which was apparent at 7, 8, and 12 m depths in June, July, and September, respectively.

In Poplar Creek Reservoir pH was alkaline (ranging from 7.3 to 8.3). Changes in pH between the surface and the bottom were very slight. The high value probably resulted from a high rate of primary production.

Total non-filterable residue concentrations ranged from 1.6 to $24.8 \text{ mg} \cdot \text{L}^{-1}$; the highest levels occurred near the bottom of the reservoir. Similar conditions prevailed in 1977 particularly during September (Noton and Chymko 1978). The Secchi disc visibilities were 1.2 m and 0.85 m in July and September, respectively. Water collected from the hypolimnion had a black tinge when observed through the clear plastic Van Dorn water sampler, while the epilimnetic water was yellowish under the same condition.

Results from the composite samples indicated that the concentrations of most ions were higher in Poplar Creek Reservoir than in Ruth Lake (Figure 5.2). Specific conductance profiles revealed an important difference in the ionic character of the waters in the epilimnetic and hypolimnetic zones (Figure 5.23). The specific conductance levels were considerably higher in the hypolimnion than in the epilimnion with the highest value of 770 μ S·cm⁻¹ reached in June. The increase in salinity in the hypolimnion mainly was due to marked increases in the concentrations of bicarbonate, sodium, chloride and calcium ions. In July, ionic dominance in the epilimnion was $HCO_3 > Na^+ > Ca^{++} > Mg^{++} > CI^ > SO_{4}^{=} > K^{+}$. In the hypolimnion, the pattern was characterized by increased chlorides (i.e., became the third most dominant ion). In September, the ionic dominance in the epilimnion and the hypolimnion remained the same as described for July. During the June to September period, water in Poplar Creek Reservoir was of the sodium bicarbonate type.

5.5.2.3 Nutrients

Total nitrogen concentrations above the thermocline (1.12 to $1.24 \text{ mg N}\cdot\text{L}^{-1}$) and below the thermocline (1.03 to $2.45 \text{ mg N}\cdot\text{L}^{-1}$) increased from June to September. Results from composite samples were higher than those recorded in Ruth Lake. In Poplar Creek Reservoir, the total nitrogen levels were higher in the hypolimnion than in the epilimnion, with values as high as 2.45 mg N \cdot L⁻¹ in September. All values

only slightly exceeded the ASWQO of 1.0 mg $N \cdot L^{-1}$. Nitrate + nitrite concentrations above the thermocline (0.020 to 0.062 mg $N \cdot L^{-1}$) and below the thermocline (0.004 to 0.011 mg $N \cdot L^{-1}$) showed a different seasonal variation. In the epilimnion, the values paralleled the total nitrogen pattern while in the hypolimnion the highest values occurred in June and July.

Total phosphorus concentrations in the epilimnion (0.027 to 0.41 mg P·L⁻¹) and hypolimnion (0.190 to 0.550 mg P·L⁻¹) increased from June to September. During this period the concentrations in the hypolimnion were approximately ten times higher than above the thermocline, probably the result of a reducing environment. The values above and below the thermocline exceeded the Environment Canada guideline of 0.025 mg P·L⁻¹. Ortho-phosphorus concentrations (0.049 to 0.088 mg P·L⁻¹) obtained from the composite samples showed increases from June to September. In September, the ortho-phosphorus concentration (0.005 mg P·L⁻¹) at 5 m was notably lower than the level (0.071 mg P·L⁻¹) at 15 m. In 1977, total phosphorus and ortho-phosphorus concentrations in the hypolimnion were higher than in the epilimnion (Noton and Chymko 1978).

Concentrations of reactive silica exhibited a pattern similar to that of total phosphorus. Above the thermocline, the July value of $1.50 \text{ mg} \cdot \text{L}^{-1}$ increased to $4.00 \text{ mg} \cdot \text{L}^{-1}$ in September while below the thermocline the values increased from 6.50 to 7.80 mg $\cdot \text{L}^{-1}$ for the same period. Slightly higher levels of reactive silica in the hypolimnion also were reported in 1977 by Noton and Chymko (1978). Total organic carbon concentrations ranged from 20.2 to 25.0 mg·L⁻¹ and showed no discernible trends.

5.5.2.4 Trace Metals and Other Substances

The concentrations of trace metals and elements generally were below the detection limits even though a reducing environment was present in the hypolimnion. Total iron and total manganese showed the most apparent increases in concentration in the hypolimnion as compared to the epilimnion. In July, total iron concentrations increased from 0.25 $mg \cdot L^{-1}$ at 2 m to 4.50 $mg \cdot L^{-1}$ below the thermocline; the latter value exceeded the ASWQO of $0.30 \text{ mg} \cdot \text{L}^{-1}$. During the same period, manganese levels increased from 0.030 mg·L⁻¹ at 2 m to 1.660 mg·L⁻¹ in the hypolimnion which exceeded the ASWQO of $0.05 \text{ mg} \cdot \text{L}^{-1}$. In June. mercury concentrations at 2 m (0.0016 mg·L⁻¹) and 11 m (0.0010 mg·L⁻¹) exceed the ASWQO of $0.0001 \text{ mg} \cdot \text{L}^{-1}$. Cyanide concentrations exceeded the ASWQO of 0.01 mg·L⁻¹ in July at 2 m (0.042 mg·L⁻¹) and September at 15 m (2.200 mg·L⁻¹). Cyanide, ubiquitous in the aquatic environment, generally is found in trace amounts. The values recorded in Poplar Creek Reservoir, which are considered natural since no anthropogenic input is known, are high and should be checked in future studies. With respect to other parameters, phenol concentrations consistently exceeded the ASWQO of 0.005 mg·L⁻¹ with values as high as 0.017 mg·L⁻¹. Oil and grease levels were low, with the highest value being $3.6 \text{ mg} \cdot \text{L}^{-1}$.

5.5.3 PHYTOPLANKTON

Phytoplankton cell count and cell volume data for Poplar Creek Reservoir are presented in Appendix G, Table G3. During the three seasons sampled in 1984, numerical abundance of phytoplankton was lowest during the late spring sample period, and highest in the summer (Figure 5.24). Bio-volume of phytoplankton was lowest in the spring, but was similar in the summer and fall sampling periods (Figure 5.25).

In mid-June, the phytoplankton of Poplar Creek Reservoir was dominated by Cyanophyta which contributed approximately 32% to the total cell volume in the sample (Figure 5.24). The dominant species in the group was **Aphanizomenon flos-aquae** which alone accounted for 21% of the total. The second most abundant taxa in the spring was Euglenophyta which was comprised mainly of **Trachelomonas planctonica** and **Phacus** sp. This division contributed about 27% of the total cell volume in the sample. On a numerical basis, the Cyanophyta (64% of total cell numbers) and Chlorophyta (28%) were the predominant divisions.

In the summer sample, Cyanophyta and Euglenophyta continued to be the two most predominant divisions, contributing about 45% and 32% of the total cell volume, respectively (Figure 5.24). The dominant species in each of these divisions were the same as in the spring samples. On a numerical basis, the Cyanophyta by far dominated the sample, contributing about 86% of the total cell numbers. The relative abundance

262



Figure 5.24 Abundance and percent composition of phytoplankton in Poplar Creek Reservoir, 1984.





of Chlorophyta decreased to about 10% of the total. The other divisions present each contributed less than 2% to the total.

In the fall, the bio-volume of phytoplankton in Poplar Creek Reservoir was more evenly distributed among the divisions present. Cyanophyta remained the most abundant, contributing 27% of the total cell volume. **Aphanizomenon flos-aquae** continued to dominate this division, but **Pseudanabaena** sp. contributed a greater proportion of the total cell volume than in previous seasons. The Euglenophyta, primarily composed of **Trachelomonas** sp., again was the second most abundant group (23% of total cell volume), but was followed closely by Bacillariophyta (20%), Chrysophyta (15%), and Chlorophyta (14%). On a numerical basis, the fall phytoplankton samples were again composed primarily of Cyanophyta (75% of total numbers) and Chlorophyta (21%) (Figure 5.24).

Seasonal variation in the bio-volume contribution for major phytoplankton species is shown in Figure 5.25. Both Aphanizomenon flos-aquae and Trachelomonas planctonica increased in abundance from spring to summer, then decreased in the fall. Melosira granulata, a large diatom, was not present in the routine counts in the spring sample, but increased in abundance over the summer and fall period. The relative contribution of most of the other major species present decreased from the spring to summer period, then increased again prior to fall; this is a reflection of the dominance in the sample by Aphanizomenon.

Comparisons with phytoplankton data collected in 1977 (Noton and Chymko 1978) indicate that phytoplankton composition followed a somewhat similar pattern during the spring and summer of both years; however, the numbers of Cyanophyta remained high, whereas they decreased considerably in the comparable period (i.e., late September) in 1977. The reason for the difference is not apparent, but may be related to differences in thermal regime or macronutrient levels between the two years.

5.5.4 ZOOPLANKTON

The species composition, numerical abundance, and calculated biomass (excepting nauplii) of crustacean plankton collected at the regular sampling station PCR-Z in Poplar Creek Reservoir are summarized in Table 5.18. Aliquot counts and calculated totals for each sample are included in Appendix C, Table C3. The species composition and numerical abundance of rotifers in the zooplankton samples are summarized in Table 5.19. The total numbers of species identified on all three sampling dates are:

Rotifera	-	17
Cladocera	-	8
Cyclopoida	-	3
Calanoida	-	1
Chaoboridae	-	2

There were fewer commonly occurring crustacean species and more rotiferan species in Poplar Creek Reservoir in 1984 than in 1977 (Noton and Chymko 1978). Of the species occurring in 1984 which would have been considered "common" according to the criteria of these authors, most were less abundant than in 1977. **Daphnia parvula** numbers were

Species ^a	16 June	24 July	24 Sept.
COPEPODA	<u></u>		_ <u></u>
CALANOIDA			
Diaptomus oregonensis LILLJEBORG 1889 A ^{a+} C	$1 \ 391 \\ (38.7)$	$177 \\ (18.7)$	4 259 (363.0)
diaptomid nauplii	1 268	2 673	60
CYCLOPOIDA			
Acanthocyclops vernalis FISCHER 1853 A+ adv.C	532	655	155
Diacyclops thomasi (FORBES) 1882 A+ adv.C	109 (4.0)	873 43.7)	836
Mesocyclops edax (FORBES) 1891	1 050	450 (27.8)	155 (12.8)
cyclopoid copepodids, immature C	3 505 (17.8)	14 730 (159.2)	2 579 (20.2)
cyclopoid nauplii	4 460	2 673	1 779
CLADOCERA			
Bosmina longirostris (O.F. MÜLLER) 1785	2 005	21 577	$\begin{pmatrix} 4 & 358 \\ (42 & 3) \end{pmatrix}$
Ceriodaphnia lacustris BIRGE 1893	0	(100.1) (150.1) (2.0)	(42.3)
Ceriodaphnia quadrangula (O.F. MÜLLER) 1785	0	55 (1.2)	0
Macrothrix hirsuticornis NORMAN & BRADY 1867	(0.0)	0	0
Daphnia parvula FORDYCE 1901	146 (3.1)	10 952 (117.4)	2 296 (49.4)
Diaphanosoma leuchtenbergianum FISCHER 1850	127(2.9)	$1 \ 077 \ (30.7)$	75 (2.3)
Alona guttata SARS 1862	4 (0.0)	0	0
Chydorus sphaericus (O.F. MULLER) 1785	$\begin{array}{c} 14 \\ \textbf{(0.3)} \end{array}$	27 (0.2)	0
DIPTERA CHAOBORIDAE			
Chaoborus flavicans (MEIGEN) 1830	45	27	4
Chaoborus punctipennis (SAY) 1823	55	9	4
Chaoborus instar I (unident.)	0	27	0
Total ^b	8 887	50 723	14 713
	(127.3)	(581.0)	(519.5)

Table 5.18 Species composition, numerical abundance, and calculated biomass of crustacean zooplankton from Poplar Creek Reservoir (Station PCR-Z), 1984. Unbracketed values are number·m⁻³. Bracketed values are biomass expressed as mg wet weight·m⁻³.

a A=adult; C=copepodid, usually I to III; adv.C=advanced copepodids, usually IV & V.

^b excluding nauplii and non-crustaceans.
much higher in 1984, and Mesocyclops edax numbers were slightly higher than at site PCR-1 in 1977, but lower than at site PCR-2 in 1977. Several species of larger crustaceans which occurred commonly in 1977 were not found at all in 1984 samples (Diaptomus leptopus, Daphnia galeata mendotae, Daphnia pulicaria, Daphnia rosea), nor did Diacyclops navus occur in 1984. Although Chaoborus larvae were not listed as present in zooplankton samples in 1977 by Noton and Chymko (1978), the larvae of two species were quite common in the Poplar Creek Reservoir zooplankton samples in 1984.

5.5.4.1 Rotifera

The abundance and composition of the rotiferan forms are summarized in Table 5.19. The rotifers in Poplar Creek Reservoir were dominated by **Keratella** spp. throughout the sample period. The shift from **K. earlinae** as the dominant in June to **K. cochlearis** as the dominant in September was evident in Poplar Creek Reservoir, as it was in nearby Beaver Creek Reservoir and Ruth Lake. In comparison with the previous study (Noton and Chymko 1978), total numbers were higher in June and September compared to 1977, but greatly decreased in July (Figure 5.26). In view of the greatly fluctuating rotifer numbers noted in 1977 by Noton and Chymko (1978), present values are not considered to be biologically significantly different from those in 1977. High numbers of **Chaoborus** larvae in July could have been responsible, in part, for the very low numbers of rotifers present at that time.

Species	15 June (No.•m ⁻³)		24 July (No.•m ⁻³)	23 Se (No1	ept. n ⁻³)
Keratella cochlearis (GOSSE 1851)	22	013	82	124	361
Keratella earlinae AHLSTROM 1943	43	918	1 050	2	006
Keratella quadrata (O.F. MÜLLER 1786)	6	629	109	2	054
Notholca acuminata (EHRENBERG 1832)		0	123		0
Euchlanis dilatata EHRENBERG 1832		41	82		0
Euchlanis mikropous KOCH-ALTHAUS 1962		0	123		0
Trichocerca multicrinis (KELLICOTT 1897)		0	191		0
Brachionus calycifloris PALLAS 1766		887	0		0
Brachionus quadridentatus (HERMANNS 1783)		382	0		334
Asplanchna priodonta GOSSE 1850		737	109	1	528
Synchaeta pectinata (?) EHRENBERG 1832	3	873	0	4	012
Synchaeta oblonga (?) EHRENBERG 1831		0	0	1	003
Gastropus (?) sp.		0	109		0
Filinia longiseta (EHRENBERG 1834)		191	0	6	137
Polyarthra dolichoptera IDELSON 1925		900	123	2	054
Polyarthra vulgaris CARLIN 1943	22	150	0		0
Conochilus unicornis ROUSSELET 1892		0	0	1	337
Total	1	01 844	1 978	144	826

Table 5.19	Species	composition	and	numerical	abundance	of	rotifers	in	the
	zooplani	kton of Poplar	Cre	ek Reservoi	ir (Station P	CR	-Z), 1984	•	



Figure 5.26 Abundance of Rotifera in Poplar Creek Reservoir in 1984 (present study) and 1977 (Station PCR-1; Noton and Chymko 1978).

5.5.4.2 Cyclopoida

During 1984 there was a shift in dominance in the cyclopoid fauna from Acanthocyclops vernalis in June to Diacyclops thomasi in September. Mesocyclops edax showed a pattern similar to A. vernalis. This pattern, in general, was similar to that observed in Poplar Creek Reservoir in 1977 (Noton and Chymko 1978). Cyclopoid adult numbers were considerably smaller in 1984 than those reported for 1977. Lower cyclopoid adult numbers in 1984 could be due, in part, to heavier feeding by fathead minnows or other small plankton feeding fish. Numbers of cyclopoid copepodid stages I - III were higher in 1984 than in 1977. Diacyclops navus occurred in small numbers in Poplar Creek Reservoir in 1977, but was not found in the 1984 samples. It is difficult to distinguish early copepoidids of A. vernalis from D. navus; therefore, it is certainly possible that the latter species still occurs in this waterbody in low numbers.

5.5.4.3 Calanoida

The only calanoid found in the 1984 samples was **Diaptomus** oregonensis. Although samples were collected on only three dates, the population structure suggests two main growth and reproduction periods – one in late spring and one in early fall (Table 5.18). Total numbers of this species were much lower than those reported by Noton and Chymko (1978). **Diaptomus leptopus**, found in low numbers in spring in 1977, did not occur in the 1984 samples. The absence of **D. leptopus** in spring may have permitted a spring pulse of **D. oregonensis**, and the presence of the predaceous **Chaoborus** larvae in 1984 may have been partly responsible for the lower total numbers of **D. oregonensis**.

5.5.4.4 Cladocera

There seems to have been a shift to smaller body size among Poplar Creek Reservoir cladocerans. Of the three most common species collected in 1984, **Daphnia parvula** numbers were much greater than in 1977, **Bosmina longirostris** numbers were about the same, and **Diaphanosoma leuchtenbergianum** numbers were lower. The three larger **Daphnia** spp., (i.e., **D. pulicaria**, **D. rosea**, and **D. galeata mendotae**), which made up a large part of the late spring and early summer zooplankton biomass in 1977, were not found in 1984. Other cladoceran species contributed little to the total crustacean biomass in 1984.

5.5.4.5 Chaoboridae

Two species of **Chaoborus** were identified in the zooplankton sampling from Poplar Creek Reservoir. **C. flavicans**, the larger of the two, and **C. punctipennis** were present in similar numbers on all three samples dates. In July, however, nearly half of all larvae were first instars. **Chaoborus** larvae were not indicated as present in the zooplankton by Noton and Chymko (1978), although **C. flavicans** was reported as abundant in the benthic samples. **Chaoborus** larvae may remain in or near the sediments when the water above is well oxygenated,

but may move up into the water more actively as oxygen levels decrease. The presence of these larvae in the plankton of Poplar Creek Reservoir in 1984 is indicative of low oxygen in the hypolimnetic water and/or the relative absence of plankton feeding fish in the deeper open waters. **Chaoborus** larvae are known to have a large impact on the species composition and abundance of crustacean plankters (e.g., Anderson 1980, 1981; Anderson and Raasveldt 1974). Lake conditions contributing to the increased presence of **Chaoborus** in the limnetic zone may indirectly influence the diversity and abundance of zooplankton.

5.5.4.6 Total Numbers and Biomass of Crustacean Plankton

In the three months for which data comparisons are possible between 1984 and 1977 (i.e., June, July, and September) for Poplar Creek Reservoir, there is little change in either numerical abundance or crustacean biomass (Figure 5.27). The biomass contributions from larger numbers of early cyclopoid copepodids and **Daphnia parvula** in 1984 appear to have compensated for the reduced biomass resulting from declines in several other species.

5.5.5 **ZOOBENTHOS**

Three taxa dominated the benthos of Poplar Creek Reservoir. Oligochaeta and Chironomidae were equally well represented at shallow depths (1 to 3 m) during all three seasons sampled (Figure 5.28). At



Figure 5.27 Total number and biomass of crustacean zooplankton in Poplar Creek Reservoir in 1984 (present study) and 1977 (Station PCR-1; Noton and Chymko 1978).

l

١

I



POPLAR CREEK RESERVOIR

1

1

1

1

PCR-B2

PCR-B3

PCR-B4

PCR-B5

3 m

5 m

10 m

15 m

1

1

1

1

1

· · · · •

1

1

1

1



depths of 5 m or greater, **Chaoborus** appeared in significant proportion, and was the most abundant organism at the deepest station in both spring and fall. Oligochaeta was present in very low densities at depths greater than 5 m.

Diversity was greatest at intermediate depths (3 to 5 m) in spring and summer, partially reflecting the codominance of the three major taxa (Table 5.20). Greatest numbers of taxa were collected from the 1 m sample station. Richness was greatest in fall at this station, but was maximal in spring at deeper stations.

Benthic densities and biomass generally increased from spring to fall, and decreased with increasing depth (Table 5.20). Detailed tables of taxonomic composition, size distribution and biomass are presented in Appendix D; Tables D22 to D26 and D36).

Noton and Chymko (1978) examined the benthos of Poplar Creek Reservoir at monthly intervals in 1977. The transect of the present study corresponds in location to their "special benthos" stations 1 to 5, although specific depths sampled differ slightly. The location of station PCR-B5 (15 m depth) sampled in 1984 was roughly similar to Noton and Chymko's PCR-1 and special benthos station 1. These authors reported very low densities of animals (usually less than 10 individuals per Ekman grab). Density estimates at the 15 m station usually slightly exceeded their values during comparable seasons; this probably reflects retention of small animals due to use of a finer mesh sieve bucket in the present study

Station	Depth		Spring	Summer	Fall
PCR-B1	1	Density Biomass Diversity Richness	47.7 39.8 1.363 7	199.3 84.5 1.521 18 ⁸	$2 \ 722.3 \ 976.8 \ 1.219 \ 26^{a}$
PCR-B2	3	Density Biomass Diversity Richness	27.0 17.3 1.689 7	42.3 30.8 0.819 4	38.6 28.3 0.992 2
PCR-B3	5	Density Biomass Diversity Richness	$8.6 \\ 11.9 \\ 1.752 \\ 5$	$16.4 \\ 91.6 \\ 1.906 \\ 5$	22.6 96.4 0.600 2
PCR-B4	10	Density Biomass Diversity Richness	$11.3 \\ 88.7 \\ 1.163 \\ 4$	$10.9 \\ 105.2 \\ 1.034 \\ 4$	$101.3 \\ 154.3 \\ 0.583 \\ 4$
PCR-B5	15	Density Biomass Diversity Richness	$28.5 \\ 63.7 \\ 1.173 \\ 7$	$10.9 \\ 52.0 \\ 1.795 \\ 6$	$38.9 \\ 64.0 \\ 0.466 \\ 3$

Table 5.20 Mean density (no. per sample), mean biomass (mg per 0.1 m²), diversity, and taxonomic richness of zoobenthos in Poplar Creek Reservoir, 1984.

^aIncludes taxa collected in shoreline sweeps.



Figure 5.27 Total number and biomass of crustacean zooplankton in Poplar Creek Reservoir in 1984 (present study) and 1977 (Station PCR-1; Noton and Chymko 1978).

1

1

I

1

1

.



POPLAR CREEK RESERVOIR



Figure 5.28 Relative abundance of major taxonomic groups of benthic invertebrates in Poplar Creek Reservoir, 1984.

(0.250 mm vs. 0.650 mm). Similar results were obtained comparing 1984 summer samples across depth with those of their August 1977 special benthos transect.

Relative abundance of species has changed since the 1977 survey. Noton and Chymko (1978) found a preponderance of Chironomidae across their summer transect. Oligochaeta occurred in greatest abundance at moderate (6 to 8 m) depths, but never in proportions exceeding 25%. Chaoborus were present in all months except June, but were only abundant in fall. In August, they were found at all but the greatest depths (only four animals were collected from that station), but were most abundant at 8 m depths. In contrast, the present study showed dominance of Oligochaeta in shallow regions, and proportionately more abundant Chaoborus at depths of 5 m or more during the three seasons sampled. A shift towards increasing representation by Oligochaeta suggests increasing organic content of the substrate (see Section 5.3.5), and probably represents maturation of the reservoir. Increased organic material also produces greater use of oxygen during decomposition, and this may be expected to contribute substantially to any hypolimnetic oxygen deficit that may occur during summer stratification. Chaoborus are adapted to minimal substrate oxygen conditions; their increased abundance at shallower depths suggests that the duration of summer anoxia is becoming extended, possibly because of organic enrichment of the reservoir.

Three fish species were present in Poplar Creek Reservoir in 1984 (Appendix E, Tables E6 and E7). Brook stickleback (85.1%) was the most abundant species in the combined catch (all sample methods) followed by white sucker (11.2%) and fathead minnow (3.7%). The catch in seines was comprised almost totally (95.8%) of brook stickleback with fathead minnow being a minor (4.2%) component in the catch. White suckers were absent from the seine catch; however, adult and juvenile white suckers dominated (100%) the catch from gill nets (Table 5.21).

	Capture	Combined		
Species (n) ^a	Seine (190)	Gillnet (24)	Total (214)	
White sucker	0	100.0	11.2	
Fathead minnow	4.2	0	3.7	
Brook stickleback	95.8	0	85.1	

Table 5.21.Percentage composition of fish species recorded from
Poplar Creek Reservoir, 1984.

^aNumber of fish captured

Catch per unit effort (CUE) data derived for seining efforts suggest that densities of fathead minnows and brook stickleback have declined substantially since 1981 (Appendix E, Table E8). Fathead minnow capture rates declined slightly from 1978 to 1981; in 1984 this species was nearly absent from the catch. Brook stickleback exhibited a substantial increase in CUE from 1978 to 1981; however, in 1984, densities of this species had declined to below 1978 levels. The reasons for the reduced populations of these species are unknown. The presence, in 1984, of y-o-y and juveniles of both species suggests successful recruitment to these populations still occurs in Poplar Creek Reservoir, although apparently at reduced levels relative to previous years.

White suckers (adults and juveniles) were present in the 1984 gillnet catch at densities comparable to those recorded in 1981 (Appendix E, Table E9). Capture rates, however, were relatively low (in both years) in comparison to Beaver Creek Reservoir and Ruth Lake. The absence of y-o-y of this species, indicates primarily a feeding use of the reservoir, with this population likely originating from upstream waterbodies (i.e., Beaver Creek Reservoir or Ruth Lake) within the diversion system.

5.5.6.2 Age Structure of White Sucker Population

The length-frequency distribution of white suckers captured in Poplar Creek Reservoir is presented in Appendix E, Table E10. Although low numbers of white suckers were captured in the reservoir, the data indicate that the population sample was comprised of four year-classes: 1983 (age one), 1982 (age two), and 1981 (age three), and 1980 (age four). Most of the fish sampled were in the age one to age three range. A preponderance of the younger age-groups also was noted in earlier studies (O'Neil 1979; 1982). It appears that Poplar Creek Reservoir serves only a rearing function (for the Beaver Creek Reservoir population). Alternatively, the reservoir may not be capable of supporting white suckers (entering from the upper diversion system) beyond a certain size (i.e., due to habitat limitations).

5.6 **POPLAR CREEK**

5.6.1 AQUATIC HABITAT

5.6.1.1 Description of Drainage Area

Poplar Creek was integrated into the Beaver Creek diversion system in 1976 following completion of the Poplar Creek spillway (Figure 2.4). A 1.8 km section of Poplar Creek downstream of the spillway has been channelized to accommodate increased flows from the diversion system. Approximately 200 m of the altered section occurs below Highway 63 (including two drop structures). The channelized section extends 1.6 km upstream to the diversion stilling basin. Nine drop structures are located in this section. Upstream of the stilling basin and below Highway 63 the stream returns to its original channel. The headwaters of Poplar Creek are located in the Thickwood Hills. From this source, the stream flows north then east for 28 km prior to its confluence with the outflow from the Beaver Creek Diversion System. This section upstream of the stilling basin is referred to as Upper Poplar Creek and the section downstream is referred to as Lower Poplar Creek.

5.6.1.2 Streamflows During Study Period

A Water Survey of Canada gauging station is located on Lower Poplar Creek (at the Highway 63 crossing). It is situated approximately 2.3 km upstream from the confluence of Poplar Creek with the Athabasca River (Figure 2.4). The hydrograph for the period 1 May to 27 September 1984 is illustrated in Figure 5.29. The peak discharge in this period was $12.5 \text{ m}^{3} \cdot \text{s}^{-1}$ which occurred on 6 June. Two minor peaks occurred during the summer months (3.09 m³·s⁻¹ on 8 July and 0.94 m³·s⁻¹ on 14 August). From late August to the end of the recording period, stream discharge was low and stable (range: 0.3 to 0.4 m³·s⁻¹).

Field measurement of discharge was undertaken on Poplar Creek at station PC-W3 situated upstream of the stilling basin (Figure 2.4). Discharge at this station was compared to the total flow recorded at the lower gauging station (Appendix B, Table B3). Discharge from Upper Poplar Creek (above the diversion system) contributed 16.5% (18 June), 20.4% (26 July) and 31.8% (23 September) of the total flow in the system on these dates. Actual flow rates in Upper Poplar Creek during the three measurement periods were as follows: $0.69 \text{ m}^3 \cdot \text{s}^{-1}$ (18 June), 0.30 m $^3 \cdot \text{s}^{-1}$ (26 July), and 0.07 m $^3 \cdot \text{s}^{-1}$ (23 September).

5.6.1.3 Habitat Zonation

Prior to alteration resulting from the Beaver Creek Diversion, aquatic habitat in Poplar Creek was evaluated by Griffiths (1973) and



ł

ĩ

I

l

I

Figure 5.29 Poplar Creek hydrograph, 1 May to 16 September 1984 (based on preliminary Water Survey of Canada data for Station No. 07DA007).

Syncrude Canada Ltd. (1975). Griffiths (1973) assigned a preliminary Class 4 rating (Canada Land Inventory system) to Poplar Creek; this indicates the presence of low quality habitat. Syncrude Canada Ltd. (1975) conducted a systematic habitat evaluation of Poplar Creek. Transects were located from the vicinity of Ruth Creek downstream to near the confluence of Poplar Creek with the Athabasca River. On the basis of these data, Poplar Creek was separated into two discrete reaches (Syncrude Canada Ltd. 1975). The lower reach, which was 4.25 km in length, extended upstream from the mouth to a location near the present stilling basin. This reach was characterized by low gradient (3.2 $\text{m}\cdot\text{km}^{-1}$), a predominance of Flat habitat, and sand-silt substrate. Associated fish sampling indicated that this reach was not utilized to a appreciable extent by sportfish species (e.g., Arctic grayling). The upper reach extended upstream from below the stilling basin to beyond Ruth Creek (Figure 2.4). This section, which was 1.42 km in length, was characterized by a higher gradient (5.3 $\text{m}\cdot\text{km}^{-1}$). As such, it contained a greater diversity of cover types (riffles, pools, etc.) and substrates (gravel, cobble, sand/silt).

Noton and Chymko (1978) re-evaluated habitat conditions in Poplar Creek in 1977, one year following channel alteration. The upper reach displayed negligible change since 1974, apart from a rise in water level in the section immediately above the stilling basin (approximately 100 m in length). This was due to the ponding of water behind the initial drop structure (Drop Structure No. 11). Substantial changes were noted in the downstream reach due to channelization and placement of 11 drop structures. The newly created channel was wider, shallower, exhibited higher velocities (localized), and was more diverse with respect to the distribution of cover types and substrate. Two major cover types were described within the channelized section: riffle situated immediately below drop structures, and pool (Flat according to present scheme) in the intervening reach between drop structures. Following the diversion, three reaches were evident: 1) original channel downstream of Highway 63; 2) channelized section; and 3) original channel upstream of the stilling basin. O'Neil (1979, 1982) conducted fishery investigations within these various reaches to define differences in the type and extent of use by fish populations.

In the present study gradient mapping and on-site investigations were conducted in order to delineate and describe habitat reaches. Five discrete habitat reaches were identified (Figure 5.30). Of the five reaches, two (R2, R3) were investigated in detail in the present study. The results obtained at habitat stations located in these reaches (H1 to H3) are described in Table 5.22.

Reach 1 (km 0 to 2.1)

Reach 1 is a low gradient reach $(2.5 \text{ m} \cdot \text{km}^{-1})$ extending from the Poplar Creek-Athabasca River confluence to approximately 200 m below the Highway 63 crossing. Apart from the initial section immediately below Drop Structure No. 1 (which features accelerated bank erosion) the channel does not appear to have been altered from its pre-diversion state. Reach 1 is characterized by predominantly Flat habitat and sand-silt

				Chu	nnel Featur	es at Transe	ct			Cov	er Type	Distri	bution	n (%)		
Station	Date	Water Temp(°C) (Time)(h)	Rooted Width (m)	Wetted Width (m)	Local Gradient (%)	Mean Depth (em)	Mean Velocity (cm-s ⁻¹)	Discharge (m ^{3.} s ⁻¹)	Riffle	Run	Flat	1	Po 2	ol Typ 3	е	5
H1-T1C	6 Sept.	11 (1200)	19.0	10.6	0.5	65 (56-74)	7 (5-12)	11.6 ⁸	-	-	100	-	-	-	-	-
-T2e	6 Sept.	11 (1020)	14.5	10.6	1.5	21 (19-25)	21 (9-30)	-	-	80	-	20	-	-	-	-
-T3c	6 Sept.	11 (1120)	15.0	12.0	5.0	17 (13-25)	25 (18-38)	-	71	-	-	29	-	~	-	-
T4d	6 Sept.	11 (1320)	16.0	9.4	-	35 (26-42)	11 (5-18)	-	-	55	-	45	-	-	-	-
-T5d	6 Sept.	11 (1245)	14.2	9.7	5.0	11 (7-15)	76 (53-99)	-	89	~	-	11	-	-	-	-
H2-T1	23 Sept.	4.5 (1034)	11.6	6.1	0.25	27 (13-32)	4 (1-7)	-	-	-	100	-	-	-	-	-
-T2	23 Sept.	-	18.0	8.0	L0.25	104 (67-150)	$\frac{2}{(1-3)}$	-	-	-	100	(Bea	aver p	ond)	-	•
-T3	23 Sept.	4.5 (1125)	9.0	6.0	L0.25	150+	-	-	-	-	100	(Ber	aver p	ond)	-	-
-T4	23 Sept.	4.5 (1139)	6.8	6.8	0.25	57 (46-64)	3	-	-	-	100	(Bea	aver p	ond)	-	-
-T5	23 Sept.	4.5 (1202)	7.5	6.8	0.25	59 (50-69)	3 (2-4)	-	-	-	100	(Bea	aver p	ond)	-	-
Н3-Т1	22 Sept.	6 (1550)	9.0	7.0	0.5	13 (0-23)	9 (0-17)	0.7	-	58	42	-	**	-	-	
-T2	22 Sept.	6 (1700)	9.2	5.0	1.0	12 (4-23)	17	-	45	29	-	26	~	-	-	-
-T3	22 Sept.	6 (1710)	8.4	5.1	1.0	27 (13-32)	15 (4-25)	-	36	14	-	50	-	-	-	-

Table 5.22 Summary of physical habitat characteristics at sampling stations on Poplar Creek, September 1984.

	Bank Features (RUB/LUB)					Substrate Distribution (%)								Aquatic Veg.						
Station	Cond. (%)	Stab. (No.)	Under. (em)	Slope (Deg.)	Cover (No.)	Depth (cm)	Over. (em)	Sand	Silt	FG	MG	CG	VCG	SC	ľC	SB	LB (BR)	EM B. (No.)	Macro. (No.)	Algae (No.)
H1-T1	0/0	4/4	0/0	150/150	2/2	0/0	0/0	57	16			_	-	-	9	9	9	3	2	1
-T2	0/0	4/4	0/0	145/155	1/1	5/0	0/0	-	-			-		-	28	72	_	2-4	1	1
-T3	0/0	4/4	0/0	150/155	1/1	0/0	0/0	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	33	67	-	5	1	1
-T4	20/20	3/3	0/0	160/140	2/2	0/0	0/0	-	-	~	-		-	-	53	47	-	4	1	5
-T5	0/0	4/4	0/0	150/160	1/1	0/0	0/0	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	+	100	5	1	5
H2-T1	30/40	2/1	0/0	130/150	2/1	0/0	0/0	- 10	- 00	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	_	N/A ^e	1	2
-T2	40/100	2/1	0/0	160/90	2/2	0/0	0/0	- 10	00 -	-		-	-	-		-	N/A	t	1	
-T3	80/20	3/2	0/0	95/145	2/2	134/0	25/0	- 10	DO -	-	-	~	-	-	-	-	-	N/A	1	1
-T4	80/70	3/1	0/0	120/120	2/2	47/33	35/50	- 10	- 00	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	N/A	1	1
-T5	60/80	2/2	0/10	105/105	2/3	3/31	40/25	- 16	JO -	~	-	-	-	~	-	-	-	N/A	1	1
H3-T1	60/60	2/2	0/0	110/130	1/1	0/0	0/30	17	-	-	-	66	17		-	-	-	1	1	1
-T2	30/40	3/2	0/70	125/90 (40) ^b	2/3	0/34	0/35	20	-	-	-	40	20	-	20	-	-	3-4	1	1
-T3	70/10	1/4	0/8	75/90 (55) ^D	2/2	0/24	0/32	61	-	-	-	-	-	39	-	-	-	3	1	1

^aWSC Station No. 07DB001 (preliminary data; 6 September). ^bAngle of undercut in parentheses. ^cTransects below Drop Structure No. 5. ^dTransects below Drop Structure No. 11. ^eN/A - not applicable. Note: Description of terms in Table 2.2.



Figure 5.30 Longitudinal profile and habitat zonation, Poplar Creek.

1

. 1

. 1

1

1

Į

f

I

ł

I

L

L

I

I

1

ł

I

substrate. Vegetative debris accumulations in the channel and dense bank vegetation (willow, alder, overstory species) also are characteristic.

Reach 2 (km 2.1 to 3.9)

Reach 2, 1.8 km in length, includes the channelized section of Poplar Creek (Plate 9). The distribution and diversity of cover types within the section are related to and controlled by the presence of 11 drop structures (Figure 2.4). Three major habitat cover types are associated with each of the drop structures. Riffle cover type occurs within and immediately downstream of drop structures, followed by Run. Noton and Chymko (1978) determined that these cover types in combination contributed 20% of the channel distance between drop structures. Flat cover type encompasses the majority (approximately 80%) of the habitat between drop structures. Data from station H1 provide a description of physical characteristics of the three major cover types (Riffle, Run, Flat). Transects T3 and T5 were situated in Riffle habitat at the top end of drop structures No. 5 and 11, respectively. Transects T2 and T4 were situated in Run habitat below T3 and T5, respectively. Transect T1 was located in Flat cover type below Drop Structure No. 5.

Channel width at the five transects was variable. Rooted width ranged from 14.2 m to 19.0 m. Wetted width varied between 9.4 m and 12.0 m. Lower values were associated with the upper transects (i.e., DS No. 11). Mean depths at transects varied according to cover type: Riffle (11 to 17 cm), Run (21 to 35 cm), and Flat (65 cm). The local

gradient (i.e., determined on-site) in each cover type was as follows: Riffles (5%), Run (1.5%), and Flat (0.5%). Mean current velocities at the two Riffle transects was 25 cm·s⁻¹ and 76 cm·s⁻¹. Lower mean velocities were recorded at Run transects (11 cm·s⁻¹ and 21 cm·s⁻¹). The lowest value was measured at the Flat transect (7 cm·s⁻¹).

Differences in substrate dominance were evident amongst the transects. Substrates at Riffle dominated transects (T3, T5) consisted largely of small (25.6 to 51.2 cm) and large (51.2 cm⁺) boulder although large cobble (12.8 to 25.6 cm) also was well represented. Substrate material in Run dominated transects (T2, T4), although extremely coarse in nature, was noticeably smaller than in Riffle habitat (i.e., due to absence of large boulders). Substrate at the Flat transect was dominated by sand (57%) and silt (16%). Lesser amounts of the larger, coarse textured categories also were present. Sediment coverage of coarse substrate was negligible in Riffle cover types, low to moderate in Run, and high in Flat areas.

Macrophyte densities within the wetted channel were negligible at all transects except T1 (Flat habitat) where low densities were noted. Algal density was negligible at all of the lower transects (at DS No. 5). Algal coverage exceeded 75% at the upper transects (at DS No. 11), possibly due to the proximity to the stilling basin (i.e., input of nutrients from Poplar Creek Reservoir). Stream banks at all stations exhibited little erosion; resistance to further erosion was rated as high (i.e., due to rip-rap and/or vegetation cover).

Reach 3 (km 3.9 to 11.5)

Reach 3 is a high gradient reach $(10.3 \text{ m}\cdot\text{km}^{-1})$ commencing upstream of the stilling basin. Data from Station H3 typifies the habitat conditions in the reach (Table 5.22). Station H2 was situated within a beaver controlled section exhibiting low gradient (0.25% on-site). This section is sufficiently different from high gradient habitat upstream and the channelized reach downstream to be classified as a separate sub-reach within Reach 3. It appears to be a remnant of the original low gradient reach discussed by Syncrude Canada Ltd. (1975). Channel features within the sub-reach were described as follows: wetted width was 6.7 m, mean depth was 80^+ cm, and mean velocity was $3 \text{ cm}\cdot\text{s}^{-1}$. Habitat diversity in the section was low (100% Flat), and the substrate consisted entirely of a sand-silt mixture.

Within Reach 3 proper, major channel features were as follows: wetted width was 5.7 m, mean depth was 17 cm, and mean velocity was $13.7 \text{ cm} \cdot \text{s}^{-1}$. The overall cover type distribution indicates the presence of relatively diverse habitat: 27% Riffle, 34% Run, 14% Flat, and 25%Pool. All pools observed were of low quality (i.e., Class 1) largely due to insufficient depth and cover. The substrate in Reach 3 also displayed considerable variability. Coarse textured material was dominant (67%); sand contributed the remainder (33%). The coarse material was distributed as follows: 35% coarse gravel (1.6-3.2 cm); 12% very coarse gravel (3.2-6.4 cm); 13% small cobble (6.4-12.8 cm); and 7% large cobble (12.8-25.6 cm). Macrophyte and algal densities within the channel were negligible.

5.6.2 WATER QUALITY

5.6.2.1 Physical Parameters

In Poplar Creek at stations PC-W3, PC-W2, and PC-W1, the water temperatures ranged from 5.0° C (September) to 24.0° C in July (Table 5.2) The pH was alkaline with values ranging from 7.5 to a high of 8.6 at station PC-W1 in July. During the same period in 1977 the pH ranged from 8.0 to 8.3 (Noton and Chymko 1978). The dissolved oxygen levels ranged from 8.2 to 11.0 mg·L⁻¹. The oxygen saturation ranged from 72 to 100% in June and showed no distinct trends among the stations. In 1977, oxygen saturation levels were similar, within the 89 to 100% range. At station PC-W1 total non-filterable residue values ranged from 2.8 to 28.0 mg·L⁻¹. The highest value occurred in July, even though during this period the flow in the creek was one-third that in June. Noton and Chymko (1978) reported considerably lower values (ranging from <0.5 to 1.5 mg·L⁻¹) at a station near PC-W1. Poplar Creek water was brown in colour due to dissolved organics.

5.6.2.2 Major Ions

The ionic character of the Poplar Creek water was similar among stations, and particularly so between PC-W2 and PC-W1 (Figure 5.4). Most ions showed increased concentrations from June to September. At PC-W2 and PC-W1 the ionic dominance was distinct with HCO_3^- > Na⁺ > Ca⁺⁺ > CI⁻ > Mg⁺⁺ > SO₄⁼ > K⁺. At PC-W3, however, chloride,

which was fifth in dominance in June, rose sharply to become the second most dominant anion in July and September. Sodium concentrations also showed increases during this period. The increased influence of groundwater is the likely source of both parameters. The ions characteristic of station PC-W2 indicated that the quality of water entering from Poplar Creek Reservoir had no apparent effect on the water quality in the creek, even though there was a three to six times greater flow contribution from the reservoir than from the natural flow in the creek at PC-W3. This suggests that the water leaving the reservoir must be from the epilimnetic zone. The ionic quality of the water at PC-W2 during July and September is very similar to that associated with the respective months in the Poplar Creek Reservoir. It appears that during stratification, saline hypolimnetic water does not discharge into Poplar Creek.

5.6.2.3 Nutrients

Total nitrogen concentrations were very similar among the three stations in Poplar Creek. The values ranged from 0.83 to 1.29 mg $N \cdot L^{-1}$ and slightly exceeded the ASWQO of 1.0 mg $N \cdot L^{-1}$, with the highest concentrations occurring in July in each sampling period. In addition, the concentrations generally increased from PC-W3 to PC-W1 during each sampling period except June. The nitrate + nitrite concentrations (ranging from <0.003 to 0.122 mg $N \cdot L^{-1}$) generally increased from June to September; values also increased downstream from PC-W3 to PC-W1 during each sampling period.

Concentrations of total phosphorus ranged from 0.021 to 0.060 mg $P \cdot L^{-1}$ and slightly exceeded the ASWQO of 0.05 mg $P \cdot L^{-1}$ but were within the Environment Canada guideline of $0.100 \text{ mg P} \cdot \text{L}^{-1}$. At each station the lowest values occurred in September. The maximum concentrations generally were found in July even though there was a marked decrease in stream discharge in this period compared to June. For each sampling period the concentrations were highest at PC-W3. During July and September, the concentrations of total phosphorus in the epilimnetic water of Poplar Creek Reservoir were lower than those reported for PC-W3. Total phosphorus concentrations generally showed a direct relationship with the hydrograph. At PC-W1, ortho-phosphorus $0.005 \text{ mg P} \cdot \text{L}^{-1}$ (September) from concentrations ranged to 0.038 mg $P \cdot L^{-1}$ (June). Noton and Chymko (1978) reported a level of less than 0.016 mg $P \cdot L^{-1}$ in September at a station near PC-W1.

Reactive silica concentrations ranged from 1.30 to 8.40 mg·L⁻¹; highest levels occurred in September at the three stations. Similar concentrations were found in 1977 by Noton and Chymko (1978).

Concentrations of total organic carbon in Poplar Creek ranged from 25.1 to 36.7 $\text{mg}\cdot\text{L}^{-1}$. The levels were similar to those recorded near station PC-W1 for the June to September period in 1977 (Noton and Chymko 1978).

5.6.2.4 Trace Metals and Other Substances

At station PC-W1, the concentrations of trace metals and elements in Poplar Creek were below the detection limits. Total iron (0.62 to 0.78 $\text{mg}\cdot\text{L}^{-1}$) and total manganese (0.040 to 0.080 $\text{mg}\cdot\text{L}^{-1}$) exceeded the respective ASWQO of 0.30 and 0.050 $\text{mg}\cdot\text{L}^{-1}$. With respect to the other parameters, phenol levels (0.006 to 0.026 $\text{mg}\cdot\text{L}^{-1}$) exceeded the ASWQO of 0.005 $\text{mg}\cdot\text{L}^{-1}$. Oil and grease levels were low ranging from 1.0 to 1.7 $\text{mg}\cdot\text{L}^{-1}$. In July 1977, the oil and grease concentration near station PC-W1 was 14.4 $\text{mg}\cdot\text{L}^{-1}$ (Noton and Chymko 1978).

5.6.3 ZOOBENTHOS

Stations sampled in Poplar Creek corresponded to locations that have been examined on a continuing basis since 1974 (Boerger 1983). Detailed description of the stations was provided by Noton and Chymko (1978).

In 1984, as in other years subsequent to creek diversion and opening of the Poplar Creek Reservoir spillway, densities downstream of the spillway (PC-B1 and PC-B2) generally exceeded densities at upstream stations (PC-B3 and PC-B4) (Appendix D, Tables D27 to D30).

Simuliidae¹ were a dominant component of the fauna at all stations in spring (Figure 5.31); however, absolute densities of simuliids were at least fourteenfold greater at downstream stations than upstream of the spillway. Chironomidae, Oligochaeta and, to a lesser extent, **Baetis** (Ephemeroptera) were other important components of the biota at B3 and B4. In spring, station B1 had greatest taxonomic richness, but B3 and B4 had much greater diversity owing to a more equitable distribution of abundance among taxa (Table 5.3).

Density, biomass, and richness increased at all stations from spring to summer. Diversity increased at the two downstream stations, but decreased slightly at upstream stations. Simuliidae remained dominant at B1, but declined in importance at the other three stations.

Hydra and Chironomidae were important summer taxa at B2. Stations B3 and B4 showed increased densities and proportions of **Baetis** and Chironomidae (Figure 5.31).

In fall 1984, marked increases in density were observed at stations B2, B3 and B4, but a decline was observed at B1. Biomass declined at all stations except B4, reflecting the dominance of small chironomids in the creek at this time (Appendix D, Table D27). Simuliidae were present only

¹Dr. P.H. Adler (ex University of Alberta) kindly identified an auxiliary sample collected from PC-B2 (June). This contained seven Simulium vittatum complex (cytotype IS-7), three S. venustum complex (cytotype CC), one S. verecundum complex ACD) and four S. furculatum complex (cytotype unknown).



POPLAR CREEK

LEGEND

ł

Figure 5.31 Relative abundance of major taxonomic groups of benthic invertebrates in Poplar Creek, 1984.

t

ł

l.

1

t

L

I

ł

at station B1. Oligochaeta were important constituents of fall samples at all four stations. A significant portion of the increased density at B4 was attributed to the presence of the stonefly, **Nemoura**. Taxonomic richness increased substantially in fall samples at B1 and B2, but diversity increased only at the former station (Table 5.3). Stations B3 and B4 exhibited little change in richness, but showed a decline in diversity.

Poplar Creek has been sampled quantitatively during at least seven years prior to the present study (Boerger 1983). However, since different samplers and protocols have been used among studies, comparisons can only be made in a general context. Artificial substrate samplers (barbeque baskets containing varying numbers of stones) were used between 1979 and 1982. Such samplers can produce overestimates of abundance and taxonomic richness; the degree of bias varies with fluctuations in current velocity (Ciborowski and Clifford 1984). Earlier sampling was undertaken with Hess or Surber samplers (Noton and Chymko 1978). These authors selected sampling areas consisting of uniformly small gravel substrate. In the present study (and possibly in earlier surveys), collections were made within the dominant microhabitat type of each station; this consisted of moderate-sized boulder areas at stations B1 and B2, and cobble areas at B3 and B4.

These differences in methodology may partially explain the greater variability in year-to-year density estimates for zoobenthos (Boerger 1983). Summer 1984 samples, which can be compared with the largest data base (that of Boerger 1983), produced density estimates that were

similar to estimates for 1980-1982 at stations B1 and B2, 50 % less than 1980-1982 at B3, and slightly greater than that at B4. Summer estimates for 1977 were very high, owing to the appearance of many very young Simuliidae in the samples (Noton and Chymko 1978). Taxonomic richness was at the upper end of the range of yearly estimates for stations B1, B2, and B4 in 1984. This is to be expected since present estimates were augmented by data from sweep samples; however, richness at station B3 was substantially less than minimum estimates for any prior year (14 taxa in 1974 and 1977; Boerger 1983). This, together with the reduced density estimates, may suggest some form of perturbation occurred at this station.

Taxonomic composition in 1984 was remarkably consistent with that Filter-feeding organisms (Simuliidae and Hydra) of earlier studies. dominated at B1 and B2, whereas Baetis and Chironomidae made up the greatest proportion of samples at B3 and B4. Noton and Chymko (1978) attributed the high abundance of Simuliidae to increased organic inputs from Poplar Creek Reservoir; however, the distribution of this taxon is not consistent with their interpretation. Although abundance of filter feeding animals does become very great at lentic outlets, densities typically decline very quickly with increasing distance from the source of organic input (Sheldon and Oswood 1977; Oswood 1979; Ciborowski unpublished data). Densities 1.5 km downstream of an outflow (i.e., the distance of station B1 from the Poplar Creek spillway) would be expected to diminish to less than 15 % of densities 150 m downstream (data from Sheldon Ciborowski and Oswood 1977; personal observation).

Furthermore, MacKay River station M6-B, which was physically similar to downstream stations on Poplar Creek, supported black fly densities equivalent to or greater than those at B1 and B2. However, at station M6-B, there was no equivalent lentic input upstream. The upper MacKay River and Lower Poplar Creek both possess rapid current velocities, coarse and relatively silt-free substrate, and receive ample solar radiation for periphytic development. The latter component can provide a constant input of high quality seston, on which Simuliidae feed. It is noteworthy (and consistent with earlier studies) that Simuliidae persisted longer and at greater densities at station B1 than at B2. Boerger (1983) suggested this may be a result of the effects of epilimnetic discharge on the thermal regime immediately downstream of the spillway. It is equally possible, however, that net seston quality increases with increasing distance downstream of the spillway, owing to greater length of river substrate available for periphytic production. Such a change in quality rather than quantity would not be reflected by measurement of total organic carbon, which appears to remain constant along Poplar Creek (Boerger 1983; present study).

5.6.4 FISH

Five stations were sampled by backpack electrofishing during the 1984 survey (Figure 2.4). All stations (except EF3) were sampled during each period; EF3 was not sampled in the summer survey due to high water levels that presented conditions unsuitable for wading.

Nine fish species were recorded in Poplar Creek during 1984 surveys (Table 5.23); of these, three were sportfish species (Arctic grayling, northern pike, and burbot), two were coarse fish species (longnose and white sucker), and four were forage species (fathead minnow, lake chub, northern redbelly dace, and brook stickleback).

Species diversity in Poplar Creek decreased in an upstream direction (Table 5.23). At the lowermost stations (EF6, EF5 and EF3), six species of fish were recorded. Five species were recorded at EF2 and three species at EF1, the uppermost sample station. White sucker, fathead minnow, and lake chub were captured at all sampling stations; brook stickleback was present at all stations except EF1. The remaining species were recorded only from the channelized reach. These species exhibited a sporadic distribution and likely were more closely associated with the Athabasca River (i.e., enter the lower reaches of Poplar Creek for foraging purposes).

5.6.4.1 Sportfish Species

The three species of sportfish recorded in Poplar Creek in 1984 were Arctic grayling, northern pike, and burbot (Table 5.23). All were recorded in the channelized section of Poplar Creek in 1978; in 1981 only burbot were recorded.

Only three Arctic grayling were captured in 1984. These individuals, all of which were juveniles, were taken in Riffle-Run habitat

		Location										
Species ^a (n) ^b	PC-EF1 (75)	PC-EF2 (372)	PC-EF3 (637)	PC-EF5 (908)	PC-EF6 (634)	Combined (2626)						
AG	0	0	0.5	0	0	0.1						
NP	0	0	0	0	0.2	L0.1C						
LING	0	0	0	L 0.1	0	L0.1						
LNS	0	0	0.2	2.1	8.4	2.8						
WS	28.0	11.8	11.0	63.7 ^d	26.0d	34.5						
FHM	66.7	46.5	54.1	23.5e	15.3e	32.3						
LKC	5.3	1.9	5.2	6.1	39.7	13.4						
NRD	0	0.8	0	0	0	0.1						
BS	0	39.0	29.0	4.6	10.4	16.7						

Table 5.23.Percentage composition of various fish species in backpack electrofishing
collections from Poplar Creek, 1984 (all seasons combined).

^aFor species code explanation, see text Table 3.6.

^bNumber of fish captured and observed.

 e_L = less than.

^dDoes not include numerous (>10 000) fry observed. Identified subsamples consisted of approximately 98% white sucker y-o-y and 2% fathead minnow y-o-y.

^eDoes not include numerous (>5 000) fry observed. Identified subsamples consisted of approximately 98% white sucker y-o-y and 2% fathead minnow y-o-y.
below DS 10 and 11 on 31 May. Arctic grayling were not encountered during the late September sampling period; high flows prevented sampling in late July. In 1978, O'Neil (1979) captured moderate numbers of Arctic grayling during May, July, and October. These individuals were distributed below the upper drop structures (similar to 1984) and farther upstream into the unchannelized section. During the 1981 study in Poplar Creek, this species was absent from the catch (O'Neil 1982). It is evident that the distribution of Arctic grayling in Poplar Creek is extremely variable on a seasonal and year-to-year basis. A preliminary review of flow data during, and in the weeks prior to, the sampling periods in the three study years was undertaken. It is apparent that the sample periods with the highest catches were preceeded by periods of seasonally higher flows. This was particularly evident in 1978. Conversely, low capture rates generally occurred when sample periods were preceded by extended periods of low flow (mid-July 1981). It is apparent that Arctic grayling in Poplar Creek are seasonal migrants from the Athabasca River (i.e., entering primarily for feeding purposes). Their absence during the low flow periods likely is due to reduced habitat suitability (insufficient depth and cover, high water temperatures, etc.) and/or restricted access past drop structures.

Northern pike were infrequent residents of Poplar Creek during 1984. One individual, a spent male, was captured in a large pool below DS1 in the spring. In 1978, adult northern pike in spawning condition were recorded in Poplar Creek during the spring period. Based on the limited amount of suitable spawning habitat and the absence of y-o-y in summer and fall captures in 1978, 1981, and 1984, the presence of a noteworthy spawning run into the channelized section of Poplar Creek and upstream of the diversion is unlikely.

Burbot made a minor contribution to the electrofishing catch in 1984. One individual (a juvenile) was collected below DS6 in the fall. In 1978, a small number of adults and juveniles were present in the summer and fall, respectively, in the channelized section of Poplar Creek. It is apparent that burbot move into the system, likely from the Athabasca River, for feeding and rearing purposes.

5.6.4.2 Coarsefish Species

White sucker and longnose sucker were collected from Poplar Creek in 1984 (Table 5.23). White sucker was the most abundant species, contributing 34.5% to the total catch (Table 5.23). This species was recorded at all stations and during all periods with the exception of station EF1 during the spring period (Appendix E, Table E4). The absence of all species from that station in the spring likely resulted from the low suitability of this area for overwintering, and the presence of large impassible beaver dams located farther downstream in the system (i.e., in EF2). In the spring, juvenile white suckers were recorded immediately downstream from the lowermost beaver dam in EF2, but were absent from the catch above the dam. This dam was breached by freshet conditions in early July. White sucker juveniles and y-o-y were captured upstream of the dam in the summer survey suggesting these individuals had

moved upstream into the area. Capture rates of white suckers ranged from 5.6 fish min^{-1} in the spring to 34.0 fish min^{-1} in the summer and 6.0 $fish \cdot min^{-1}$ in the fall (Appendix E, Table E4). The high capture rates during summer reflect the appearance in the catch of y-o-y white suckers. This capture rate does not include the estimated 15 000 or more observed in low velocity areas along the periphery of the channelized section. Identification of a subsample of these individuals indicated that approximately 98% were white sucker y-o-y, with the remainder identified as fathead minnow y-o-y. The abundance of white sucker y-o-y indicates successful spawning in Poplar Creek during 1984. The spawning run of adults in May, however, was not recorded; all white suckers captured in this period were juveniles. Since water temperatures during the 1984 spring survey were relatively high (12°C), spawning likely had been completed prior to initiation of the study. In 1978, pre-spawning aggregations of white suckers were recorded in lower Poplar Creek during mid-May. These adults were absent from subsequent summer and fall surveys, and were thought to be a migratory spawning population originating from the Athabasca River.

Capture rates for longnose suckers were variable, relating to difference in seasonal distribution and abundance (Appendix E, Table E4). This species was substantially less abundant in Poplar Creek than white sucker (Table 5.23). Longnose suckers were captured in low numbers in the spring, and only from sample stations within the channelized reach. Most of these individuals were juveniles, with a small number of adults present. The low occurrence of y-o-y of this species in summer and fall captures suggests that the spawning use of this system is limited, although rapid emigration of y-o-y after hatching may occur.

During summer and fall the catch of longnose suckers was comprised mainly of juveniles. These juveniles exhibited a preference for Riffle-Run habitat at, and immediately below, drop structures. The greatest density $(4.1 \text{ fish} \cdot \text{min}^{-1})$ was recorded in the fall at ES6. The fact that juvenile longnose suckers were abundant in the fall yet were rarely encountered in summer suggests that these groups are seasonal migrants from the Athabasca River.

5.6.4.3 Forage Species

In 1984, several forage species (i.e., cyprinids and sticklebacks) were captured in Poplar Creek. In order of decreasing abundance, they were as follows: fathead minnow, brook stickleback, lake chub and northern redbelly dace (Table 5.23).

Overall, fathead minnow was the most abundant forage species in Poplar Creek, contributing 34.5% to the total electrofishing catch (Table 5.23). Although fathead minnow was the dominant species at upper stations (EF1-EF3), it exhibited a general decline in percentage composition with increased downstream distance. Capture rates for this species were highest during the spring period in EF3 when 33.4 fish·min⁻¹ were recorded (Appendix E, Table E4). The catch at this time consisted mainly of mature adults although juveniles also were abundant. In the summer, fathead minnow y-o-y were numerous in sections EF5 and EF6. The location or extent of fathead minnow spawning in Poplar Creek is unknown. The abundance of y-o-y in the lower electrofishing stations and absence from stations above the spillway confluence suggests a majority of spawning may occur in Poplar Creek Reservoir.

Brook stickleback were common in Poplar Creek during 1984 surveys (Table 5.23). This species was most abundant in spring surveys at stations EF2 and EF3, when respective CUE's of 15.5 and 17.3 fish·min⁻¹were recorded (Appendix E, Table E4). Brook stickleback were not recorded in captures from EF1 suggesting the distribution of this species is limited to the lower sections of Poplar Creek. In 1984, catches declined substantially during the summer and fall periods, perhaps due to a downstream movement out of the area. In 1978, brook stickleback were absent in the spring catch and increased in abundance over the July to September period. Although the reason for the difference between years is unknown, it likely was due to differences in seasonal discharge patterns. Results of the 1978 study indicated that the brook stickleback population in Poplar Creek originated from Poplar Creek Reservoir.

Lake chub were frequently encountered during electrofishing surveys in Poplar Creek (Table 5.23). During both sample periods, highest capture rates were recorded at the lowermost sampling station (EF6) (Appendix E, Table E4). This species occurred infrequently at sample stations upstream of the spillway confluence. A certain portion of the lake chub in Poplar Creek are evidently seasonal migrants from the Athabasca River. The presence of adult lake chub (in spawning colouration) at lower stations in the spring indicates a probable spawning use of the system. Spawners observed in the beaver pond at the lower end of EF2 may orginate from a small resident population in upper Poplar Creek, or result from the entrapment of those individuals by beaver dams in the area.

Northern redbelly dace made a minor contribution to the electrofishing catch in Poplar Creek (Table 5.23). This species was recorded only in EF2 during the summer and fall surveys. These data suggest the occurrence of a small resident population in Upper Poplar Creek; alternatively, these individuals may have entered from the Athabasca River.

SECTION 6.0

HORSESHOE LAKE

6.1 AQUATIC HABITAT

6

6.1.1 PHYSICAL CHARACTERISTICS

Horseshoe Lake is a small (0.34 km^2) , irregularly shaped waterbody, situated near the Athabasca River on the eastern edge of Lease 17 (Figures 1.1 and 2.5). A channel, constructed prior to the development of Lease 17, drains from the northeastern edge of the lake to the Athabasca River. During periods of high discharge in the Athabasca River, flows are reversed in the channel resulting in temporary inundations that increase the amount of aquatic habitat in the lake. An additional, secondary outlet (a natural drainage) exits from the northeast prior to joining the Athabasca River.

An aerial reconnaisance of Horseshoe Lake conducted during the fall of 1984 indicated outflow in the outlet channel was controlled by three large beaver dams; flows over the beaver dams were not apparent. In the secondary outlet, discharge at this time terminated in a series of stagnant pools approximately 300 m from the confluence with the Athabasca River.

The majority of the surface area of Horseshoe Lake was covered with abundant growths of emergent and floating aquatic vegetation (Plate 10). 6.1.2 MACROPHYTES

The survey of distribution and relative abundance of macrophytes in Horseshoe Lake in 1984 revealed that Horseshoe Lake was shallow and was occupied by submersed and floating plants in all areas (Figure 6.1, Table 6.1). Nuphar was extremely dense to the extent that it impeded the passage of a canoe during surveys. Only a few areas were not covered by Nuphar. The composition of the understory varied according to location; however, no definite pattern was identified. The presence of abundant Elodea longivaginata (male), an uncommon species in the province, was of particular interest. Horseshoe Lake, at present, is the most northerly documented occurrence of the species in the province. It was most abundant in the east and west arms of the lake. Detailed descriptions of the macrophyte assemblages at the sampling sites are provided in Appendix F, Table F4.

6.2 WATER QUALITY

6.2.1 PHYSICAL PARAMETERS

The water temperatures in Horseshoe Lake at station HL-W ranged from 5.0° C (September) to 22.0° C (July) at the surface (Table 6.2). Temperatures decreased by 1.5 to 2.0° C from the surface to the bottom (depth of 1 m) of the lake during June and July; in September the lake was isothermal. The pH ranged from acidic (6.9 at the bottom in July) to alkaline (7.9 at the surface in September). The dissolved oxygen



Species	Distribution Pattern
	Submersed
Ceratophyllum demersum	Common
Chara SDD.	Rare
Drepanocladus spp.	Abundant ^a
Elodea longivaginata	Abundant
Lemna trisulca	Abundant
Myriophyllum demersum	Common
Potamogeton pectinatus	Common
Potamogeton praelongus	Present
Potamogenton pusillus	Present
Potamogeton zosteriformis	Present
Utricularia vulgaris	Common
	Floating-Leafed
Nuphar variegatum	Abundant
Lemna minor	Present
	Emergent
Carex SDD.	Common
Eleocharis SDD.	Common
Hippuris vulgaris	Common
Sagittaria SDD.	Common
Scirpus validus	Common
Sparganium spp.	Common
Typha latifolia	Common

Table 6.1Distribution pattern and relative abundance of macrophytes found in
Horseshoe Lake, July 1984.

^aLocally abundant but not widespread.

Site/Date	HL-W						
Parameter	21 June 0.5 m	27 July 0.5 m	24 Sept. 0.5 m				
Temperature ^O C	18.5s;17.0b	22.0s;20.0b	5.0s;5.0b				
pH ,	7.6s;7.6b	7.2s;6.9b	7.9s;7.9b				
Specific Conductance µS·cm ⁻¹	440s;440b	560s;625b	500s;500t				
Dissolved Oxygen	12.5s;12.7b	8.3s;7.3b	10.8s;9.5				
Oxygen % Saturation	131s;129b	95s;80b	84s;74b				
Turbidity N.T.U.	7.3	3.0	3.0				
Calcium	25.60	25.00	46.50				
Magnesium	12.70	15.60	15.70				
Sodium	53.00	70.00	54.50				
Potassium	0.82	2.35	3.05				
Chloride	41.90	57.00	37.00				
Sulphate	12.0	9.3	9.3				
PP. Alkalinity as CaCO.	L0.1	L0.1	2.0				
Alkalinity, T. as CaCO.	159.0	206.0	234.0				
Bicarbonate	194.0	251.0	280.5				
Carbonate	0	0	2.5				
Hardness, T. as CaCO.	116.0	127.0	181.0				
Silica (Reactive)	0.40	0.90	1.41				
Total Filterable Residue	260	315	311				
Total Non-Filterable Residue	12.0	3.2	22.4				
Chemical Oxygen Demand	68	63	49				
Oil & Grease	1.0	3.3	1.1				
Nitrogen, T. as N	1.05	1.34	0.90				
Nitrate + Nitrite Nitrogen as N	0.006	0.004	0.003				
Kjeldahl Nitrogen, T. as N	1.04	1.34	0.90				
Ammonia Nitrogen. T. as N	0.05	0.04	L0.01				
Phosphorus, T. as P	0.068	0.060	0.050				
Ortho-Phosophorus as P	0.024	0.032	0.009				
Total Organic Carbon	17.3	24.0	20,3				
Total Inorganic Carbon	34.0	47.0	47.0				
Phenol	0.008	0.007	0.005				
Arsenic, T.	0.0005	0.0003	0.0005				
Selenium, T.	L0.0002	L0.0002	0.0006				
Boron, T.	0.08	0.09	0.03				
Cadmium, T.	L0.001	L0.001	L0.001				
Copper, T.	L0.001	L0.001	L0.001				
Iron, T.	0.86	0.68	0.25				
Chromium, T.	L0.001	0.002	L0.001				
Manganese, T.	0.030	0.090	L0.010				
Zinc, T.	0.001	0.002	0.003				
Lead, T.	L0.002	L0.002	L0.002				
Vanadium, T.	L0.001	L0.001	L0.001				
Nickel, T.	L0.001	L0.001	L0.001				
Mercury, T.	L0.0001	L0.0001	L0.0001				
Cyanide, T.	0.003	0.004	0.005				
Tannin & Lignin	1.2	1.6	1.3				
	1 01	0.05	1 01				

Table 6.2. Summa	ry of watei	r quality da	ta for H	lorseshoe	Lake,	1984.
------------------	-------------	--------------	----------	-----------	-------	-------

Notes:

All values are reported as $mg \cdot L^{-1}$ unless otherwise stated. L - Less Than; T. - Total; N - Nitrogen; P - Phorphorus; s - Surface; b - Bottom. ranged from 7.3 $\text{mg} \cdot \text{L}^{-1}$ at the bottom in July to 12.5 at the surface in June. Oxygen was supersaturated (131%) in June then declined in July reaching a low of 74% at the bottom in September. Speculatively, the high level of primary productivity, exemplified by the supersaturated oxygen condition, contributed high oxygen demand during late summer resulting in notably lower oxygen saturation, particularly at the bottom.

The total non-filterable residue ranged from $3.2 \text{ mg} \cdot \text{L}^{-1}$ (July) to $22.4 \text{ mg} \cdot \text{L}^{-1}$ (September). The source of the high values in September cannot be ascertained. Bottom ooze disturbed inadvertently may have been a source. The Secchi disc visibilities recorded during July and September were 1.0 m and 0.7 m, respectively.

6.2.2 MAJOR IONS

The water in Horseshoe Lake was of the sodium bicarbonate type. In June the ionic dominance was $HCO_3^- > Na^+ > Ca^{++} > C1^- > Mg^{++} > SO_4^ > K^+$ (Figure 5.4). In July, the concentrations of most parameters increased except for calcium and sulphate, resulting in chloride becoming the second most dominant anion. Subsequent decreases in sodium, chloride and increases in calcium concentrations resulted in the water becoming a sodium/calcium bicarbonate type in September. The considerable increase in concentrations of potassium from June to September was unique as compared to those described for the other systems; the cause of of such behaviour is unclear. The ionic character of the surface and exceeded the ASWQO of 0.005 $mg \cdot L^{-1}$ in June and July. Oil and grease concentrations ranged from 1.0 to 3.3 $mg \cdot L^{-1}$.

6.3 FISH

Horseshoe Lake was sampled during summer and fall 1984 (Table 2.1). On both occasions sampling was conducted from a canoe using a backpack electrofisher (Figure 2.5). Fish were not captured during either sampling event; however, one juvenile northern pike was observed by study personnel during the aquatic macrophyte survey in July, and two juveniles also were recorded by individuals conducting avifauna studies (J. Smith, LGL Ltd., pers. comm.). It is apparent that Horseshoe Lake is used to a limited extent for summer rearing. The degree of spawning in the lake, however, is unknown. An abundance of suitable spawning habitat for northern pike is available in Horseshoe Lake although it may not be accessible in all years. The accessibility of Horseshoe Lake to fish populations (i.e., northern pike) from the Athabasca River likely is controlled by flow stage in the Athabasca River (i.e., sufficient to cause backflooding into Horseshoe Lake). In years of high spring flows, northern pike could migrate into the system to spawn. Northern pike spawning has been observed in Saline Lake (located across the Athabasca River), a waterbody similar in many respects to Horseshoe Lake (O'Neil, personal observation). The shallow nature of Horseshoe Lake, with abundant growth of macrophytes and the absence of a defined inlet, is expected to produce unsuitable overwinter conditions for fish. Therefore, if spawning does occur in Horseshoe Lake, the adults and offspring would be required to vacate the waterbody prior to freeze-up.

bottom waters was similar as indicated by the specific conductance and total filterable residue concentrations.

6.2.3 NUTRIENTS

Total nitrogen concentrations (ranging from 0.90 to 1.34 mg N·L⁻¹) slightly exceeded the ASWQO of 1.0 mg N·L⁻¹. Nitrite + nitrate concentrations were low ranging from 0.003 mg N·L⁻¹ (September) to 0.006 mg N·L⁻¹ (June). Total phosphorus concentrations ranged from 0.050 mg P·L⁻¹ (September) to 0.068 mg P·L⁻¹ (June). The values slightly exceeded the ASWQO of 0.05 mg P·L⁻¹ and more notably the Environment Canada guideline of 0.025 mg P·L⁻¹. The ortho-phosphorus concentrations ranged from 0.009 to 0.032 mg P·L⁻¹ in September and July, respectively, and showed no relationship with the total phosphorus seasonal fluctuation. Reactive silica levels (0.40 to 1.41 mg·L⁻¹) were low, showing increased concentrations from June to September. Total organic carbon levels ranged from 17.3 to 24.0 mg·L⁻¹ in June and July, respectively.

6.2.4 TRACE METALS AND OTHER SUBSTANCES

The concentrations of most trace metals and elements in Horseshoe Lake were below detection limits and showed no trend among sampling periods. Iron concentrations in June ($0.86 \text{ mg} \cdot \text{L}^{-1}$) and July ($0.68 \text{ mg} \cdot \text{L}^{-1}$), and the manganese concentration ($0.090 \text{ mg} \cdot \text{L}^{-1}$), exceeded their respective ASWQO of 0.30 and 0.050 mg $\cdot \text{L}^{-1}$. With respect to other parameters, phenol levels (ranging from 0.005 to 0.008 mg $\cdot \text{L}^{-1}$) slightly

Table 7.1.	Summary of	water	quality	data f	or the	Athabasca	River,	1984.
10010							,	

Site/Date	AR-W8			AR-W7			AR-W6			AR-W5		
Parameter	26 May	28 July	27 Sept.	26 May	28 July	27 Sept.	26 May	28 July	27 Sept.	26 May	28 July	27 Sept.
Temperature ^o C	12.0	24.0	5.0	12.0	24.0	5.0	12.0	23.5	5.2	12.0	24.0	6.0
2H	7.9	8.6	7.6	7.9	8.7	8.0	7.6	8.7	7.7	7.8	8.6	7.9
Specific Conductance µS·cm ⁻¹	240	200	200	300	350	200	225	200	190	230	200	190
Dissolved Oxygen	9.2	8.9	12.8	9.2	8.9	11.6	9.2	9.0	12.7	9.1	8.7	12.6
Oxygen % Saturation	84	105	99	84	105	90	84	103	98	83	102	100
Turbidity N.T.U.	110	19	180	68	43	140	98	45	200	98	48	160
Calcium	26.90	28.60	30.00	24.90	27.40	30.30	27.80	26.00	30.00	25.30	26.60	31.20
Magnesium	6.85	8.00	8.10	7.71	8.40	8.40	6.70	7.00	8.00	6.75	7.00	8.40
Sodium	7.70	4.10	4.00	19.80	19.00	5.80	7.40	4.00	3.80	7.70	5.20	4.20
Potassium	1.00	0.76	0.77	1.00	1.15	0.80	1.00	0.75	0.80	1.00	0.74	0.75
Chloride	2.30	1.30	1.40	9.50	10.70	2.80	2.00	1.50	1.10	2.90	2.90	1.60
Sulphate	17.2	18.9	21.5	19.1	20.0	21.7	17.6	18.4	20.7	17.1	18.3	22.9
sulphide	L0.01		0.05	L0.01		0.08	10.01		0.05	0.10		0.05
PP. Alkalinity, as CaCO ₃	L0.1	L0.1	LU.1	L0.1	LU.1	LU.1						
Alkalinity, T as CaCO3	90.8	90.7	95.1	108.0	111.0	97.2	96.0	87.8	92.9	93.0	105 0	97.0
Bicardonate	111.0	104.5	100.0	132.0	102.0	118.5	117.0	107.0	113.0	113.5	100.0	110.0
Hardness, 1. as CaCO3	95.5	104.5	108.5	94.0	103.0	110.0	97.0	94.0	108.0	91.0	95.0	112.5
riuoride Silico (Ponctivo)	5.20	9 77	2 60	4.12	2 54	2 64	5.00	2.06	3.64	5 30	3 20	3 70
-Breshold Odour Number	2.20	2.11	3.00	9	2.34	4	5.20	2.50	2.04	2.30	0.20	2.70
Colour	100		200	100		200	100		200	100		200
Total Filterable Residue	100	120	200	100	160	200	100	110	200	100	125	200
Total Non-Filterable Residue	293.0	76 4	254 0	185.0	52.0	198.0	250.0	85.2	281.0	331.0	81.6	249 N
Nitrate + Nitrite Nitrogen as N	0.043	0.004	0.063	0.032	0.016	0.065	0.034	0.003	0.052	0.030	0.003	0.053
Ammonie Nitrogen, T. as N	0.03	0.05	1.0.01	0.03	0.20	0.03	1.0.01	0.15	1.0.01	L0 01	0.55	LO 01
Kieldahl Nitrogen, T. as N	0.76	0.76	0.54	0.80	1.10	0.52	0.94	0.68	0.60	0.68	0.62	0.56
Nitrogen, T. as N	0.76	0.76	0.60	0.80	1.12	0.58	0.94	0.68	0.65	0.68	0.62	0.61
Total Organic Carbon		5.3	••••		11.5			5.5			6.2	
lotal Inorganic Carbon		19.0			26.0			20.0			19.0	
hosphorus, T. as P	0.250	0.057	0.159	0.176	0.051	0.151	0.285	0.069	0.178	0.191	0.056	0.150
Ortho-Phosphorus as P	0.011	0.027	0.011	0.011	0.029	0.013	0.015	0.026	0.009	0.016	0.023	0.010
Phenol	0.003	L0.001	L0.001	0.006	0.003	L0.001	0.012	L0.001	L0.001	0.009	0.003	L0.001
Surfactants	0.12		0.06	0.15		0.09	0.14		0.06	0.11		0.05
Dil & Grease	0.6	1.7	1.1	1.1		1.1	1.5	1.4	1.6	1.2	0.1	1.0
Carbon Chloroform Extraction	1.1		1.4	2.9		1.2	1.9		1.6	1.4		1.4
Themical Oxygen Demand	55	20	15	60	64	25	66	20	25	58	15	15
Biochemical Oxygen Demand	3.1		2.2	2.6		1.7	3.1		1.5	2.8		1.8
Cyanide, T.	0.002	0.001	0.004	0.003	0.002	0.003	0.003	0.001	0.003	0.002	0.003	0.003
Cadmium, T.	L0.001											
Chromium, T.	0.001	0.002	0.002	0.001	0.002	0.002	0.002	0.001	0.002	0.002	0.002	0.002
pper, T.	0.008	0.002	0.003	0.005	0.002	0.003	0.008	0.002	0.004	0.008	0.002	0.003
Iron, T.	2.70	0.89	2.40	1.60	0.87	2.41	2.80	1.08	3.02	2.60	0.92	2.37
Lead, T.	L0.002	L0.002	0.003	L0.002	LU.002	0.003	0.003	LU.UU2	0.003	0.002	L0.002	0.002
Manganese, 1.	0.233	0.060	0.190	U.177	0.070	0.170	0.232	0.060	0.220	0.141	0.070	0.180
ine T	LU.UUI	0 000	L0.001	0.001	0.001	0.007	10.001	0 009	LU.001	L0.001	0.006	T0.001
anc, 1. Venedium T	0.010	1.002	0.000	0.011	10.001	0.007	0.018	T 0 001	0.008	0.010	10.000	0.009
Selenium, T.	1.0.0002	1.0 0001	0.000	1.0 0002	1.0 0002	0.002	1.0 0002	1.0 0002	0.0002	1.0.0002	1.0.0001	0.002
Mercury, T.	L0.0001	L0.0001	1.0.0001	0.0001	L0.0001	1.0.0001	0.0001	L0.0001	L0 0001	L0.0002	L0.0001	1.0.000
vrsenic. T.	0.0011	0.0017	0.0010	0.0009	0.0010	0.0009	0.0010	0.0008	0.0011	0.0011	0.0006	0.0009
lickel, T.	0.004	0.002	L0.001	L0.001	0.002	L0.001	0.004	0.002	0.003	0.003	0.002	L0.001
uluminum, T.	0.90		0.77	0.72		0.73	0.85		0.85	1.03		0.70
Cobalt, T.	0.002		0.001	L0.001		0.002	0.002		0.002	0.002		0.002
Boron, T.	0.11	0.02	0.03	0.15	0.08	0.04	0.12	0.02	0.03	0.12	0.02	0.03
"itanium, T.	L0.010		L0.010									
erium, T.	0.11		0.08	0.08		0.08	0.10		0.08	0.12		0.08
lethyl Mercaptan	L0.1		L0.1									
Sodium as % of Cations	15		7.4	32		10.2	14		71	16		7.5
Tannin & Lignin	1.2	0.5	1.2	1.3	1.1	1.3	1.4	0.5	1.5	1.4	0.6	1.1

All values are reported in mg \dot{L}^{-1} unless otherwise noted. L - Less Than; T. - Total; N - Nitrogen; P - Phosphorus Notes:

Continued ...

SECTION 7.0

ATHABASCA RIVER

7.1 WATER QUALITY

7.1.1 PHYSICAL PARAMETERS

At stations AR-W1 to AR-W8, the water temperatures in the Athabasca River during May, July, and September ranged from 4.0°C (September) to 24.0°C (July) (Table 7.1). In July 1975, the maximum temperature was 20.0°C while in September the mean value was 12.3°C (McCart et al. 1977). The pH was alkaline, ranging from 7.6 to 8.7. Trends among sampling periods or among stations were not apparent, except that the highest pH generally occurred in July while the lowest pH was recorded in May. A similar pattern was identified in 1974/75 study by McCart et al. (1977). The levels of total non-filterable residue and turbidity were high, particularly those recorded in May and September. The non-filterable residue values ranged from 32.4 to 340.0 $\text{mg} \cdot \text{L}^{-1}$. The values were considerably higher in May and September than in July, which was similar to the pattern exhibited by the discharge rates in the river. The turbidity levels ranged from 14 to 200 N.T.U. with the lowest and highest values generally occurring in July and September, respectively. Between May and September 1975, total non-filterable residue and turbidity levels ranged from approximately 25 to 225 mg·L⁻¹ and 15 to 50 N.T.U., respectively (McCart et al. 1977). The colour of the Athabasca River water ranged from 100 to 200 (true colour) units in May and September, respectively.

Table 7.1. Continued

Site/Date		AR-W4			AR-W3			AR-W2		AR-W1		
un Parameter	26 May	28 July	27 Sept.	26 May	28 July	27 Sept.	26 May	28 July	27 Sept.	26 May	28 July	27 Sept.
Temperature ⁰ C	12.0	24.0	6.0	12.0	23.0	6.0	12.0	23.0	4.0	12.0	23.0	6.0
эн ,	7.8	8.0	7.9	7.8	8.3	8.0	7.9	8.0	8.0	7.8	7.8	8.1
	210	210	240	240	200	230	230	200	245	210	200	215
Dissolved Oxygen	9.1	8.7	11.9	9.1	8.4	11.7	9.1	8.5	11.7	9.1	8.8	10.8
Oxygen % Saturation	83	101	95	83	96	93	84	97	88	83	100	86
Turbidity N.T.U.	74	14	140	100	28	120	46	29	42	96	45	140
Calcium	22.50	25.00	28.90	25.30	26.50	32.80	23.00	26.00	30.20	26.20	26.00	33.10
Magnesium	5.69	6.50	7.90	6.78	7.00	9.10	6.76	7.60	9.70	6.50	7.40	8.90
Sodium	9.20	8.50	0.60	8.10	5.50	5.00	11.50	7.50	15.00	8.00	5.70	5.10
Potassium	1.00	0.71 7 00	0.75	2.00	0.70	0.18	1.00	0.76	2 10	2.00	2.00	0.76
Subbate	12.0	15.6	21.0	3.00	105	2.20	2.00	107	210	3.00	3.90	2.30
Suppliate	13.9	13.0	0.09	0.10	10.5	20.0	21.5	10.1	21.0	0.10	11.0	23.1
Supride	0.10	101	10.00	10.10	101	101	10.01	101	10.00	10.10	T 0 1	10.07
Alkelipity T as CaCOa	20.1	022	LU.1	04.0	00 6	101 0	10.1	01 6	116 0	01.0	10.1 97 c	D0.1
Biggsbonsto	00.0 09 0	102.0	99.0 1915	94.0 115.0	100.0	101.0	107 5	1120	110.0	111 0	107 0	99.0 191 0
Hardness T. as CaCOo	80.0	89.0	105.0	91.0	95.0	119 5	85.5	96.0	115 5	92.0	95 5	119 5
Pluoride	0.06	00.0	0.05	0.06	00.0	0.05	0.07	50.0	0.05	0.07		0.05
Silica (Reactive)	5.50	3.92	4.00	5.39	3.20	3.85	4.35	3.80	3.81	5.40	3.30	3.92
Threshold Odour Number	2	0.02	2	2	0.20	2	2	0100	2	2	0100	2
Colour	100		200	100		200	100		200	100		200
Total Filterable Residue		125			125			130			120	
Cotal Non-Filterable Residue	271.0	64.0	231.0	340.0	32.4	199.0	171.0	39.6	62.8	335.0	84.4	222.0
Nitrite + Nitrate Nitrogen as N	0.036	0.003	0.041	0.042	0.003	0.041	0.024	0.005	0.012	0.044	0.003	0.045
Ammonia Nitrogen, T. as N	L0.01	0.02	L0.01	L0.01	L0.01	L0.01	L0.01	0.04	0.02	L0.01	L0.01	0.28
Kjeldahl Nitrogen, T. as N	0.78	0.66	0.46	0.74	0.56	0.42	0.76	1.04	0.88	0.78	0.62	0.50
Nitrogen, T. as N	0.78	0.66	0.50	0.74	0.56	0.46	0.76	1.05	0.89	0.78	0.62	0.55
lotal Organic Carbon		8.2			6.3			16.5			6.5	
'otal Inorganic Carbon		17.0			19.0			18.0			18.0	
mhosphorus, T. as P	0.265	0.025	0.138	0.225	0.042	0.130	0.160	0.091	0.072	0.280	0.064	0.133
Ortho-Phosphorus as P	0.014	0.022	0.011	0.014	0.021	0.009	0.016	0.035	0.026	0.014	0.026	0.008
Phenol	0.006	0.002	L0.001	0.008	0.002	L0.001	0.012	0.004	0.005	0.003	L0.001	L0.001
	0.12	0.0	0.07	0.11		0.08	0.15		0.19	0.11		0.09
In a Grease	0.0	0.3	1.0	0.4	U.2	1.4	0.6	0.3	2.7	0.5	0.1	1.0
Chamical Orugan Domand	2.0	20	1.2	0.5	٨	20	1.0	50	2.3	0.4	94	1.2
Bioghemical Oxygen Demand	22	20	10	20	7	1 4	3 4	33	1 9	14 (1 C	24	10
Cuenide T	0.003	0 002	0.003	0.003	0.001	0.003	0.00/	0.021	1.0	2.0	0 001	1.0
'edmium T	T.0.001	1.0.001	1.0 001	T.0.001	1.0.001	1.0.001	7.0.001	10.021	1.0.001	1.000	1.0.001	10.003
hromium. T.	0.001	0.002	0.002	0.002	0.002	0.002	0 001	0.002	0.001	0 002	0 002	0 002
Copper, T.	0.007	0.001	0.004	0.009	0.001	0.001	0.003	0.001	L0.001	0.008	0.002	0.002
Iron. T.	3.30	0.96	2.60	2.90	0.46	1.32	1.90	1.01	1.17	2.90	1.03	2.40
Lead, T.	0.002	L0.002	0.002	0.003	L0.002	L0.002	L0.002	L0.002	L0.002	0.002	L0.002	0.002
1anganese, T.	0.140	0.070	0.190	0.174	0.040	0.130	0.117	0.050	0.030	0.145	0.060	0.150
ilver, T.	L0.001		L0.001	L0.001		L0.001	L0.001		L0.001	L0.001		L0.001
mine, T.	0.019	0.001	0.008	0.021	0.007	0.003	0.021	0.001	0.003	0.020	0.003	0.008
Vanadium, T.	0.008	L0.001	0.002	0.009	L0.001	0.003	0.008	L0.001	0.001	0.010	L0.001	L0.001
Selenium, T.	L0.0002	L0.0002	L0.0002	L0.0002	L0.0002	L0.0002	L0.0002	L0.0002	L0.0002	L0.0002	L0.0002	0.0002
lercury, T.	L0.0001	L0.0001	L0.0001	L0.0001	L0.0001	L0.0001	L0.0001	L0.0001	L0.0001	L0.0001	L0.0001	L0.0001
Jesenic, T.	0.0011	0.0006	0.0010	0.0014	0.0004	0.0010	0.0010	0.0007	0.0008	0.0012	0.0007	0.0010
Jickel, T.	0.003	0.002	LU.001	0.004	L0.001	L0.001	L0.001	L0.001	L0.001	0.004	0.002	L0.001
Aluminum, 1.	0.84		0.72	1.00		0.17	0.68		0.14	0.82		0.65
Boron T	0.002	0.02	0.002	0.002	0.00	T0.001	LU.UU1	0.00	LU.001	0.002	0.00	0.002
itonium T	U.12 10.010	0.03	U.U.J T.O. 010	0.14	0.02	0.02	0.14	0.00	0.10	U.11	0.02	0.04
naliulli, 1. orium T	0 00 T0*010		0.07	U 13 T0'010		LU.UIU	LU.UIU		LU.UIU	LU.UI0		LU.010
arum, I.	U.U0 T 0 1		101	U.10 TA 1		U.UD 101	0.07		0.03	0.11		0.07
Sodium as % of Cotions	20		120.1	16		03 D01	23		21.0	10.1		LU.1
Tannin & Lignin	20 1 9		1 1	17	0.6	1 0	40 1 1	1 9	41.3 9 A	1 1	0.6	0.0
in Balance	0.97	0.98	0.98	0.94	0.96	1.00	0.97	0.98	1 04	7.7	0.0	1.02
	0.0.	5.00		0.01		1.00	0.01	5.50	T.0.4	0.30	0.01	1.02

All values are reported in $mg \cdot L^{-1}$ unless otherwise noted. L - Less Than; T. - Total; N - Nitrogen; P - Phosphorus. Notes:

The dissolved oxygen concentrations (ranging from 8.4 to 12.8 $\text{mg}\cdot\text{L}^{-1}$) were lowest in July and highest in September. The oxygen saturation levels, however, were lowest in May (83%) and highest in July (105%). Trends among stations were not evident. During the same sampling periods in 1975, oxygen saturation exceeded 80% (McCart et al.

1977).

7.1.2 MAJOR IONS

The water in the Athabasca River was of the calcium bicarbonate type, generally with an ionic dominance of $HCO_3^{->}Ca^{++>}Mg^{++>}SO_4^{=}$ > Na⁺> C1^{->} K⁺ (Figure 7.1). The ionic character of the water was similar among the stations, showing no trends as indicated by the specific conductance levels. Sodium and chloride ions, however, exhibited an erratic behaviour at AR-W7; this perhaps resulted from influence by the Poplar Creek Reservoir water. Sodium and chloride concentrations in Poplar Creek were considerably higher (approximately three times) than those recorded at AR-W8. At AR-W7 samples were obtained at the demarcation between the Athabasca River water, which was silty in colour, and the brown coloured Poplar Creek water. Similarly, at AR-W2 the behaviour of sodium may have resulted from the MacKay River influence where the sodium concentrations were approximately two to three times greater. The sampling approach used at AR-W2 was similar to that described for AR-W7.



ł

Total nitrogen concentrations ranged from 0.46 to 1.12 mg N·L⁻¹ and generally were below the ASWQO of 1.0 mg N·L⁻¹. The values, which generally were highest in May and lowest in September, showed no trend among the stations. Nitrate + nitrite concentrations ranged from 0.003 to 0.065 mg N·L⁻¹. Although a trend among stations was not apparent, the values generally were highest in September and lowest in July.

concentrations (ranging 0.025 Total phosphorus from to 0.285 mg P·L⁻¹) frequently exceeded the ASWQO of 0.05 mg P·L⁻¹ but showed no trends among stations. The values generally were highest in May, declined sharply in July, and increased in September. This pattern closely paralleled the fluctuations of the non-filterable residue concentrations. The behaviour of ortho-phosphorus, however, was distinctly different, with the highest values occurring in July. In 1975, the concentrations of the total dissolved phosphorus, which ranged from approximately 0.030 to 0.020 mg $P \cdot L^{-1}$, showed the same behaviour with highest levels recorded during June and July (McCart et al. 1977). As with total nitrogen, there was no trend apparent among stations.

Reactive silica concentrations ranged from 2.54 to 5.50 $\text{mg} \cdot \text{L}^{-1}$. Although no trends among stations were apparent, the lowest and highest concentrations generally occurred in July and May, respectively.

Total organic carbon levels ranged from 5.3 to 16.5 $\text{mg} \cdot \text{L}^{-1}$. These concentrations were similar to those found in 1975 when concentrations

between 11.0 to 15.0 $\text{mg} \cdot \text{L}^{-1}$ were reported immediately downstream of the SUNCOR pumphouse (McCart et al. 1977). In addition, they indicated that values along transects were similar with no consistent difference between the east and west bank.

7.1.4 TRACE METALS AND OTHER SUBSTANCES

Most trace metals and elements exhibited concentrations below the detection limits. Most parameters showed no distinct trends among stations or sampling periods. Concentrations of heavy metals adsorbed to particulate matter (mainly clay and organics) generally fluctuate in direct relationship with concentrations of total non-filterable residue. This was exemplified by the concentrations of total copper, zinc, vanadium, aluminum, nickel, iron, and manganese which generally exhibited the highest levels in May. Iron concentrations (ranging from 0.046 to $3.30 \text{ mg} \cdot \text{L}^{-1}$) frequently exceeded the ASWQO of $0.30 \text{ mg} \cdot \text{L}^{-1}$. All manganese levels (ranging from 0.040 to $2.33 \text{ mg} \cdot \text{L}^{-1}$) exceeded the ASWQO of $0.05 \text{ mg} \cdot \text{L}^{-1}$ except on two occasions. A single cyanide concentration ($0.021 \text{ mg} \cdot \text{L}^{-1}$) slightly exceeded the ASWQO of $0.01 \text{ mg} \cdot \text{L}^{-1}$. Although the unusually high cyanide level is considered natural, it should be checked in future studies.

All aluminum levels (ranging from 0.14 to $1.03 \text{ mg} \cdot \text{L}^{-1}$) exceeded the tentative guideline of 0.100 mg $\cdot \text{L}^{-1}$ proposed by the International Joint Commission to Environment Canada. The source of the aluminum is probably associated with the suspended clay particles. Copper

324

concentrations (ranging from 0.001 to 0.008 $\text{mg} \cdot \text{L}^{-1}$) occasionally exceeded the Environment Canada guideline of 0.005 $\text{mg} \cdot \text{L}^{-1}$. With respect to other parameters, phenol levels ranged from less than 0.001 to 0.012 $\text{mg} \cdot \text{L}^{-1}$ and occasionally exceeded the ASWQO of 0.005 $\text{mg} \cdot \text{L}^{-1}$. All carbon chloroform extraction values (ranging from 0.4 to 2.9 $\text{mg} \cdot \text{L}^{-1}$) exceeded the ASWQO of 0.2 $\text{mg} \cdot \text{L}^{-1}$. Oil and grease concentrations ranging from 0.1 to 2.7 $\text{mg} \cdot \text{L}^{-1}$ were recorded.

SECTION 8.0

DISCUSSION

8.1 WATER QUALITY

Water quality has an important role in determining the character of aquatic life in aquatic systems.

Lotic systems, including the MacKay River and tributaries, West Interception Ditch and tributaries, Bridge Creek, Lower Beaver Creek, Creek B-1, Upper Beaver Creek, Poplar Creek, and Athabasca River, were indicative of typical natural systems and revealed no characteristics that were considered deleterious or seriously inhibitory to the existing aquatic life. Except for the Athabasca River, the water was brown in colour due to the dissolved organics. Temperatures as high as 24.5°C were reached in July. The water quality parameters generally were within the Alberta Surface Water Quality Objectives (Alberta Environment 1977) and the Environment Canada-Water Quality Sourcebook (McNeely et al. 1979). The concentrations of trace metals and elements were below the detection limits except for iron and manganese. The source of phenol likely was natural, originating mainly from oil sands outcroppings and The waters generally were alkaline and of the decaying vegetation. calcium bicarbonate type, although sodium bicarbonate waters frequently were present. Even though the streams exhibited changes in ionic dominance, the level of salinity did not increase notably. Except for some tributaries associated with the West Interception Ditch, the dissolved oxygen conditions were within the acceptable limits for fish. Although

the concentrations of nutrients (total nitrogen and total phosphorus) generally exceeded the water quality objectives, the concentrations of nitrate + nitrite and the ortho-phosphorus fractions frequently were low.

The water quality in lentic systems, including Beaver Creek Reservoir, Ruth Lake, Poplar Creek Reservoir, and Horseshoe Lake, were similar. The waters had a pH ranging from slightly acidic to alkaline and were of the sodium bicarbonate type with high levels of sodium and chloride ions. Concentrations of trace metals and elements generally were below detection limits except for iron and manganese which frequently exceeded the water quality objectives. These conditions are typical of shallow boreal lakes rich in organic matter. In Beaver Creek Reservoir stratification was poorly developed in June and July; an isothermal condition was reached in September. Temperatures as high as 22.0°C were reached at the surface in July. During stratification dissolved oxygen levels in the hypolimnion decreased to below 5.0 mg·L⁻¹, a minimum limit for fish. A supersaturated oxygen condition was present in the epilimnion in July. Specific conductance levels were considerably higher in the hypolimnion than in the epilimnion. Total nitrogen concentrations were low and only slightly exceeded the water quality objective. The concentrations of nitrate + nitrite also were considered The concentrations of total phosphorus frequently exceeded the low. water quality objective; some concentrations of the ortho-phosphorus fraction also exceeded the objective.

Water quality in Ruth Lake was similar to that in the Beaver Creek Reservoir. Although Ruth Lake showed no stratification, slight temperature, pH, dissolved oxygen, and specific conductance gradients between the surface and the bottom were observed. Total nitrogen concentrations were similar to that in Beaver Creek Reservoir while total phosphorus levels were lower in Ruth Lake.

Poplar Creek Reservoir revealed a typical stratification pattern during June, July, and September; an isothermal condition was reached in October 1984. Anaerobic conditions were present in the hypolimnion in June and July, and the presence of hydrogen sulphide gas was apparent. The concentrations of most major ions were higher in Poplar Creek Reservoir than Ruth Lake. In Poplar Creek Reservoir specific conductance, total nitrogen, total phosphorus, and reactive silica levels were higher in the hypolimnion than in the epilimnion. Total nitrogen concentrations generally were higher than those in Ruth Lake based on results from composite samples. The concentrations of trace metals and elements were similar to those described for Ruth Lake; cyanide concentrations exceeded the water quality objectives.

During the study, Horseshoe Lake was aerobic and exhibited supersaturation in June. Water temperatures reached 22.0°C in July. Total nitrogen and total phosphorus concentrations exceeded the water quality objectives. Concentrations of trace metals and elements were below the detection limits except for iron and manganese which exceeded the water quality objectives. Phenol levels also exceeded the objectives.

8.2 PHYTOPLANKTON

For Beaver Creek Reservoir, Ruth Lake, and Poplar Creek Reservoir, a comparison of mean phytoplankton standing crop estimates on a cell volume basis revealed that Beaver Creek Reservoir was the most productive and Poplar Creek Reservoir the least productive (Table 8.1). On an areal basis, however, which considers production for the total water column expressed on a surface area basis, Ruth Lake exhibited the lowest standing crop and Poplar Creek Reservoir the highest. High algal production levels in the epilimnion of Poplar Creek Reservoir also is indicated by the higher surface oxygen levels during both mid-June and late July sampling periods, in comparison to Ruth Lake and Beaver Creek The higher production level in Poplar Creek Reservoir is Reservoir. attributed mainly to a bloom of Cyanophyta, primarily Aphanizomenon flos-aquae, in the epilimnion. Although a similar increase in blue-green algae occurred in both Ruth Lake and Beaver Creek Reservoir, the biovolume was greater and the bloom persisted longer in Poplar Creek Reservoir.

The dominance by blue-green algae in the two reservoirs indicates that this group was able to take advantage of existing conditions and substantially increase its population. Blue-green algae can regulate their buoyancy (Reynolds 1975), and thus can better maintain themselves near the surface where incident light is greatest. This is a particular advantage in turbid systems such as Beaver Creek Reservoir where the trophogenic zone is shallow (Noton and Chymko 1978). Vertical mixing in

					*											E C		
					•								1			1	•	
-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	_	-	-	-	-	-	-		•	

 Table 8.1
 Phytoplankton standing crop estimates based on the mean of three seasonal samples.

	Volumetr	ric Basis	Areal Basis				
Waterbody	Cell Number (Cells·mL ⁻¹)	Cell Volume $(x10^3 \mu m^3 m L^{-1})$	Cell Number (x10 ⁹ ·m ⁻²)	Cell Volume $(x10^{12} \mu m^3 m^{-2})$			
Beaver Creek Reservoir	9 848	1 696	45.3	8.39			
Ruth Lake	20 807	1 234	41.6	2.47			
Poplar Creek Reservoir	17 294	1 135	27.4	17.9			

a weakly stratified waterbody such as this, can circulate algae unable to regulate their buoyancy into deeper waters and out of the trophogenic zone, thereby suppressing production. Many species of blue-green algae exhibit rapid population increases when conditions are suitable. Hoogenhout and Amez (1964) reported that some species of **Anabaena** are capable of doubling their populations one to four times per day. Large concentrations of algae near the surface also can effectively shade other algae in the deeper waters (Fogg 1966), thereby inhibiting production of those species that cannot regulate their buoyancy and move toward the surface.

Blue-green algae can also fix atmospheric nitrogen, thereby fluorishing during periods when concentrations of available dissolved nitrogen are low (Dugdale and Dugdale 1962). Water quality results from the present study indicate that nitrate + nitrite nitrogen levels were generally low throughout the three waterbodies in all three of the seasons sampled. The low available nitrogen levels may be a limiting factor for populations of non blue-green algae.

The extensive macrophyte growth might explain the low phytoplankton production in Ruth Lake. The extensive growths of **Nuphar** likely shade a substantial portion of the waterbody, thereby inhibiting algal growth in the underlying waters. Macrophytes and algae also compete for the available macronutrients. The extent to which these factors affect algal production is unknown. 8.3 ZOOPLANKTON

In this study, zooplankton samples obtained from Beaver Creek Reservoir, Ruth Lake, and Poplar Creek Reservoir, revealed no uncommon or rare species among the rotifers, crustaceans, and Chaoboridae. The zooplankton communities of these three waters showed little differentiation and were similar in many respects to the communities of many other small lakes in central and northern Alberta (R.S. Anderson 1974 and unpublished data). On a wide scale, the communities were not unlike those of many small meso- and eutrophic lakes in the Great Plains area of central North America (e.g., those described by Teraguchi et al. 1983; Baker 1979).

The dominance of the cladoceran plankton by **Daphnia parvula** appears to be uncommon for this part of North America, although it is frequently encountered farther east (e.g., Ohio: Teraguchi et al. 1983). **D. parvula** was reported only infrequently prior to the 1960's (Brooks 1975), but has been recorded with increasing frequency in recent years. This could be due to any or all of the following reasons:

- a) the species could have been missed, especially when scarce, because of its small size;
- b) prior to the 1970's, there was a paucity of detailed studies in the large numbers of small lakes in western Canada;
- c) increase in fish or other plankton predators could have shifted the size structure in favour of smaller species; and

 d) the species may be still in the process of range expansion, a process that could have been hastened by the previous point.

The continuation of the dominance by **D. parvula** is not assured. The alteration of dominance between **D. parvula** one year and one or more other **Daphnia** spp. in another year has been noted for Field Lake, a small, elongate and shallow lake near Lac la Biche (R.S. Anderson, unpubl. data). Such occurrences elsewhere in northeastern Alberta can be expected.

It is noteworthy that the zooplankton communities of all three waterbodies under study were comprised of relatively small species in 1984, although large species had been common in 1974-1977. In the presence of sufficient food and the absence of zooplankton-feeding predators, the tendency is towards large species (e.g., Lynch 1977a, and others), although the species of certain genera such as Daphnia (large) and **Bosmina** (small) may coexist in the absence of predators by partitioning an adequately diverse food source (Kerfoot and DeMott 1980). Many investigators have shown that the shift from large to small species is related to the presence of abundant fish or other vertebrate predators, or large invertebrate predators (Brooks and Dodson 1965; Hrbacek and Novotna - Dvorakova 1965; Anderson and Raasveldt 1974; and Anderson 1980). Conversely, the decline or removal of fish may promote a return to large zooplankton species (Shapiro and Wright 1984). However, certain other studies have shown that the type and concentration of food available (Weglenska 1971) or combinations of a number of environmental factors in addition to food and/or predators may determine the size structure of zooplankton communities (Lynch 1977b, 1980).

Although the presence of large numbers of zooplankton - feeding fish (especially fathead minnows) is the most obvious explanation for the apparent shift from large to small body size in the crustacean plankters from the three waterbodies between 1977 and 1984, other causes are possible. Large year-to-year fluctuations do occur in many small lake zooplankton communities, and it would be necessary to gather fish, zooplankton, and other limnological data consistently over a period of several years to be able to determine the exact causes of community structure changes and to ascertain the permanent or cyclical nature of these changes. For example, high flushing rates in small water bodies are known to have an impact on community structure and abundance. In the waterbodies of this study, flushing may have reduced overall abundance, but does not seem to have affected composition, as species gone from any one waterbody are gone from all three. Furthermore, there is no evidence of "downstream" accumulation of either numbers or biomass. With respect to water quality, there is some evidence of higher total dissolved solids (TDS) and lower dissolved oxygen levels at greater depths in Poplar Creek Reservoir, but it is unlikely that any of the species present now or in 1977 would be eliminated by present levels of TDS. If species have been excluded from the deeper waters of this reservoir, it likely is due to low oxygen levels. The combination of higher TDS at greater depth, especially in Poplar Creek Reservoir, and the establishment of a pronounced thermocline would prevent complete mixing and could produce

a zone of stagnation characterized by anoxic conditions. Such conditions reduce the lake volume occupied by zooplankters.

If zooplankton-feeding fish are a major factor in influencing the zooplankton community structure, a major change in fish species could, in future, see a return of some or all of the zooplankton species. These species are probably still present in very low numbers in the plankton, near shore in shallow areas, or in isolated shoreline ponds. If the large species should reappear, for whatever reasons, their reappearance could very well be accompanied by reductions in numbers of some of the small species dominating the 1984 plankton.

Due to the elongated and relatively narrow nature of the three waterbodies of this study, winds likely influence the distribution of zooplankton, with some species affected more than others (see Teraguchi et al. 1983). This wind factor may explain the considerable differences in abundance of certain species between different stations in the same reservoir on the same day in previous studies (Noton and Chymko 1977). To ascertain the effect of wind on zooplankton distribution sampling at several stations during a period of several days of moderate to strong wind action would be required. Conversely, to obviate the problem of uneven distribution due to wind action, composite samples from a minimum of ten stations should be taken in order to provide a representative assessment of total lake zooplankton. 8.4 **ZOOBENTHOS**

The composition of benthic communities within the study area is typical for the boreal region of northeastern Alberta. Differences in composition, richness, and abundance of zoobenthos could largely be ascribed to physical and energetic characteristics among stations. Multivariate analyses (Appendix H) detected compositionally distinct groupings of stations that reflected the differing physical nature of running water habitats in spring and summer. Stations dominated by mayflies and Simuliidae, such as upstream MacKay River and lower Poplar Creek stations, were characterized by moderate to rapid flow, hard, relatively unsilted substrate, and were located on wide streams that received abundant solar radiation. This stimulates periphytic development and provides a food supply conducive to development of grazing and filter-feeding organisms. Stations with equivalent flow and substrate conditions that received little sunlight harboured fewer individuals of these taxa and contained proportionately more organisms that feed on dead organic matter. Stations typical of this included some Lower Beaver Creek drainage stations, and smaller tributaries of the MacKay River. Stations with silted substrates and/or reduced velocity typically were dominated by Chironomidae and Oligochaeta (e.g., upstream W.I.D. and tributary stations).

There was little evidence that alteration of stream habitats resulted in taxonomically distinct communities. Principal components analysis consistently grouped stations subjected to modification with unperturbed

stations having equivalent structural and energetic characteristics. In particular, the communities of Poplar Creek stations downstream of the inflow of Poplar Creek Reservoir were similar to erosional stations on the MacKay River. Changes in community composition, abundance, and biomass from earlier studies (e.g., Tsui et al. 1977; Noton and Chymko 1978) indicate recovery from perturbation effects and convergence to community characteristics typical for this portion of the province.

The zoobenthos of lentic sites was dominated by Oligochaeta, Chironomidae, and in some cases **Chaoborus**. The community in deeper regions of Beaver Creek Reservoir appeared to be increasingly dominated by Oligochaeta. This implies that the substrate in such areas is accumulating organic material, and reflects a natural increase in productivity of the reservoir as it matures. The dipteran, **Chaoborus**, has become more prevalent in hypolimnetic regions of Poplar Creek Reservoir, suggesting continued anoxic conditions in such areas. Again, this appears to be a natural consequence of eutrophication of a newly formed reservoir.

8.5 **FISH**

The assemblage of fish species recorded in the MacKay River was similar to that noted during previous investigations on this system (Griffiths 1973; RRCS 1975; McCart et al. 1978; Machniak et al. 1980). Differences in species composition were limited to forage species. Earlier studies identified 21 species as compared to 19 species encountered in 1984.

Variations in the relative abundance of sportfish between 1978 and the present were, for most species, attributed to differences in sampling techniques and effort. An exception was the large number of goldeye captured in 1984 in comparison to 1978. In 1984, goldeye was the most abundant sportfish species encountered in the MacKay River, with both adults and juveniles present. In 1978, goldeye was the fourth most abundant sport fish species (after walleye, northern pike, and Arctic grayling). All of the catch was comprised of juveniles. Goldeve also was the most abundant sport species encountered during 1976 and 1977 studies on the Athabasca River within the Mildred Lake area (Bond 1980). Similarly, most (99%) of goldeve recorded in this area were juveniles. The presence of numerous adult goldeye in the MacKay River in 1984 may indicate a more intensive use of this system than originally surmised. Evidence of goldeye spawning in the MacKay River in 1984 was not obtained; however, it is evident that the system provides important feeding habitat.

The limited sampling conducted on the MacKay River in 1984 did not provide sufficient data for an accurate assessment of sportfish movements or use patterns in the system. Machniak et al. (1980) indicated sport fish species in the MacKay River originated from Athabasca River populations and returned to this system before freezeup. An exception was a resident population of northern pike reported in the upper reaches of the MacKay River. Walleye and northern pike movements into the MacKay River were described as post-spawning feeding migrations. Arctic grayling adults in spawning condition moved upstream in the MacKay River in early spring although spawning areas of these individuals were not recorded. The presence of a few young-of-theyear Arctic grayling in the MacKay River upstream of Lease 17 suggests some spawning use may be made of the upper reaches of the mainstem river or in tributaries to the system. The apparent absence (for extended rearing and adult feeding) of Arctic grayling from the middle and lower reaches of the MacKay River may be related to the high summer water temperatures (Sec. 3.2.1). Other factors (e.g., water chemistry, flow characteristics) also may be contributing factors. A similar small number of burbot, lake whitefish, and mountain whitefish were observed in the MacKay River during both 1978 and 1984 studies, and probably only indicates short distance/duration foraging movements by fish from the Athabasca River.

The late initiation of the spring study period in 1984 precluded the direct identification of spawning use of the MacKay River by spring spawning species (e.g., walleye, northern pike, yellow perch, sucker species). Indirect evidence (i.e., presence of spent adults and young-of-the-year fish) support the conclusion that both white sucker and longnose sucker spawning occurs in the MacKay River. White suckers were the most abundant coarse fish encountered. Machniak et al. (1980) reported a white sucker spawning migration into the MacKay River in early May 1978. A spawning migration of lesser magnitude was recorded for longnose suckers. Results for both study years indicate the presence of important spawning and rearing habitat for these species in the MacKay River.
Three species of fish were captured in the West Interception Ditch System and Bridge Creek including the fathead minnow, brook stickleback, and lake chub. The former two species were widespread in both systems. A similar distribution pattern was reported by Tsui et al. (1977). Lake chub were encountered in the ditch and in Bridge Creek, but only sporadically. The earlier investigators did not encounter lake chub in the upper part of the system (i.e., above North Starter Dike). It now appears that there is either a resident population of lake chub in the upper system or a periodic invasion of individuals from Creek B1 (i.e., overtopping of dam).

The 1984 sampling results indicate that the section of Lower Beaver Creek from the North Starter Dike to the Highway 63 crossing is devoid of fish. In 1977, lake chub, white suckers, and longnose suckers were present in this reach. It is apparent that the former upstream spawning movements into this reach no longer occur; this is likely due to severe habitat limitations and access restrictions (i.e., at culverts).

In 1984, the fish fauna of the Beaver Creek Diversion system (excluding Poplar Creek) consisted of resident populations of white suckers, fathead minnows, brook stickleback, and lake chub. Each of these species was recorded in Beaver Creek Reservoir and tributaries (i.e., Upper Beaver Creek and Creek B1) to the reservoir. Lake chub were absent from Ruth Lake and Poplar Creek Reservoir. Fathead minnow and brook stickleback were substantially more abundant in Ruth Lake than elsewhere in the diversion system. Densities of these species declined substantially at all lentic sample stations compared to densities reported in 1981. The reason for this population decrease is unclear, although it may be related to declining levels of productivity in the reservoir. The high densities recorded in 1978 and 1981 may have reflected an initial increase in productivity after impoundment. The decline in status of forage species also may have been due to competition for food and space by white suckers. White suckers, although present in low abundance in seine haul captures, exhibited similar gill net capture rates in 1981 compared to 1984. The presence of suitable spawning habitat for this species in Creek B1 may account for the apparent maintenance of white sucker population levels. The presence of diverse and densely populated invertebrate fauna in Creek B1 (Sec. 5.2.3) suggests that feeding conditions for young-of-the-year white suckers and lake chub are very suitable. In Ruth Lake, a substantial increase in gill net capture rates for white sucker was recorded in 1984 compared to 1981. This increase may be related to the presence of suitable rearing and feeding habitat since the catch in Ruth Lake consisted of juveniles and to a lesser extent, young adults.

As was noted in previous studies, the white sucker population in Poplar Creek Reservoir was characterized by relatively low abundance and the absence of annual recruitment (i.e., no y-o-y captured). The following features appear to limit the habitat suitability of this waterbody in comparison to Beaver Creek Reservoir: anoxic conditions in hypolimnetic strata during summer, which likely reduces the availability and quality of feeding areas; anoxic conditions throughout the majority of the water column during winter, which may reduce overwintering success (particularly for the larger individuals); and absence of suitable spawning habitat within, and in proximity to, the reservoir proper. It appears that the white sucker population in Poplar Creek Reservoir is supported by migrants from the upper part of the diversion system (Beaver Creek Reservoir).

Fish species composition in the Beaver Creek Diversion system (excluding Poplar Creek) has apparently stabilized since the development of the diversion system (Table 8.2). In Beaver Creek Reservoir, Poplar Creek Reservoir, Ruth Lake, and Upper Beaver Creek, species composition in 1981 was identical to that recorded in 1984. Differences in composition and abundance between 1981 and 1984 in Poplar Creek likely reflect differences in the extent of seasonal use (e.g., feeding related) by fish from the Athabasca River. The presence of Arctic grayling in particular appears to be dependent on flow rates in Poplar Creek.

	Be	eaver Rese	Cre rvoii	ek r]	Ruth	Lake	e	Р	oplar Rese	Cre crvoii	ek r	U	pper Cr	Beav eek	ver	Pe	oplar	Cre	ek
Species	77	78	81	84	77	78	81	84	77	78	81	84	77	78	81	84	77	78	81	84
Lake whitefish																	+			
Mountain whitefish																	+			
Arctic grayling													+				+	+		+
Northern pike	+d																+	+		+
Yellow walleye																	+			
Yellow perch																	+	+		
Burbot																	+	+	+	+
Longnose sucker	+	+			+	+							+	+			+	+	+	+
White sucker	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Fathead minnow	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Lake chub	+	+	+	+		+				+			÷	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Spottail shiner																	+			
Finescale dace																	+			
Northern redbelly dace																				+
Spoonhead sculpin														+						
Brook stickleback	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Trout-perch																	+	+		
Total species (17)	6	5	4	4	4	5	3	3	3	4	3	3	6	6	4	4	15	10	6	9
^a Noton and Chymko (1978). ^b O'Neil (1979). ^c O'Neil (1982). ^d + indicates species present.																				

1 1

I

I

1 1 1 1 1

1

I

I

1

Table 8.2. Post-development fish species composition in the Beaver Creek Diversion Study area recorded by previous investigators (1977^a, 1978^b, and 1981^c), and during the present study (1984).

I

1

I

I

SECTION 9.0

LITERATURE CITED

- Ahlstrom, E.H. 1943. A revision of the rotatorian genus Keratella with descriptions of three new species and five new varieties. Bull. Amer. Mus. Nat. Hist. 80 (12): 411-57.
- Akena, A.M. and L.L. Christian. 1981. Water quality of the Athabasca oil sands area. Volume IV: an interim compilation of non-AOSERP water quality data. Prep. for the Alberta Oil Sands Environmental Research Program by Alberta Environment. AOSERP Report L74. 242 pp.
- Alberta Environment. 1977. Alberta surface water quality objectives. Water Quality Branch, Standards and Approvals Division. 17 pp.
- Anderson, R.S. 1970a. Effects of rotenone on zooplankton communities and a study of their recovery patterns in two mountain lakes in Alberta. J. Fish. Res. Board Can. 27(8): 1355-56.
- Anderson, R.S. 1970b. Predator-prey relationships and predation rates for crustacean zooplankters from some lakes in western Canada. Can. J. Zool. 48(6): 1229-40.
- Anderson, R.S. 1972. Zooplankton composition and change in an alpine lake. Verh. Int. Verein. Limnol. 18: 264-68.
- Anderson R.S. 1974. Crustacean plankton communities of 340 lakes and ponds in and near the national parks of the Canadian Rocky Mountains. J.Fish. Res. Board Can. 31: 855-69.
- Anderson, R.S. 1980. Relationships between trout and invertebrate species as predators and the structure of the crustacean and rotiferan plankton in mountain lakes. Pages 635-41 in W.C. Kerfoot, ed. Evolution and ecology of zooplankton communities. Spec. Symp. Vol. 3, Amer. Soc. Limnol. Oceanogr., Univ. Press of New England, Hanover, New Hampshire, U.S.A.
- Anderson, R.S. 1981. Laboratory studies of **Chaoborus** predation on zooplankton. Northwest Science 55(2): 113-23.
- Anderson, R.S., and D.B. Donald. 1980. Limnological studies in Jasper National Park. Part 7: A limnological survey and management study of 24 lakes in the "West Block". Canadian Wildlife Service MS Report to Parks Canada. 209p.
- Anderson, R.S., and L.G. Raasveldt. 1974. **Gammarus** predation and the possible effects of **Gammarus** and **Chaoborus** feeding on the zooplankton composition in some small lakes and ponds in western Canada. Can. Wildl. Serv., Occasional Pap. 18: 1-23.

.

- Armantrout, N.B., ed. 1981. Acquisition and utilization of aquatic habitat inventory information. Proceedings of a symposium held 28-30 October 1981, Portland, Oregon. Western Division, American Fisheries Society. 376 pp.
- Baker, R.L. 1979. Birth rate of planktonic rotifers in relation to food concentration in a shallow, eutrophic lake in western Canada. Can. J. Zool. 57: 1206-14.
- Baumann, R.W., A.R. Gaufin and R.F. Surdick. 1977. The stoneflies (Plecoptera) of the Rocky Mountains. Mem. Amer. Ent. Soc. 31:1-208.
- Beliveau, D.J. and A. Furnell. 1980. Phytoplankton data summary 1976 1980. Water Quality Control Branch, Pollution Control Division, Alberta Environment. Mimeo Report. 164 pp.
- Boerger, H. 1983. Study of benthic fauna in Poplar Creek, 1982. Syncrude Canada Ltd., Department of Environmental Affairs, Edmonton. 49 pp.
- Bond, W.A. 1980. Fishery resources of the Athabasca River downstream of Fort McMurray: Volume 1. Prep. for the Alberta Oil Sands Environmental Research Program by Department of Fish. and Oceans. AOSERP Report 89. 81 pp.
- Bond, W.A. and D.K. Berry. 1980. Fishery resources of the Athabasca River downstream of Fort McMurray, Alberta. Volume II. Prep. for the Alberta Oil Sands Environmental Research Program by Department of Fisheries and Oceans and Alberta Department of the Environment. AOSERP Project AF 4.32. 158 pp.
- Brandlova, J., Z. Brandl, and C.H. Fernando. 1972. The Cladocera of Ontario with remarks on some species and distribution. Can. J. Zool. 50(11): 1373-403.
- Brooks, J.L. 1957. The systematics of North American Daphnia. Mem. Connecticut Acad. Arts Sci. 13: 1-180.
- Brooks, J.L., and S.I. Dodson. 1965. Predation, body size, and composition of plankton. Science 150: 28-35.
- Brown, A., M.J. Kent, J.O. Pork, and R.D. Roberts. 1978. Preliminary recommendations for mapping of habitat parameters for the AOSERP study area. Prep. for the Alberta Oil Sands Environmental Research Program by Schultz International Ltd., Edmonton, Alberta. AOSERP Project AF 4.4.1. 113 pp.
- Cahill, T. 1977. Forms and sediment associations of nutrients (C, N, and P), pesticides and metals -- nutrients P. Pages 157-181 in H. Shear and A.E.P. Watson, ed. Proceedings of a workshop on the fluvial transport of sediment-associated nutrients and contaminants. International Joint Commissions Research Advisory Board, Kitchener, Ontario. 309 pp.

- Carmack, E.C. and P.D. Killworth. 1979. Observations on the dispersal of saline groundwater in the Beaver Creek diversion system, 1976 - 1978. Prepared for Syncrude Canada Ltd. by Cove Science Associates Ltd., Dollarton. Syncrude Canada Ltd. Environmental Monograph 1979-2. 83 pp.
- Chamberlin, T.W. 1980. Aquatic system inventory. Assessment and Planning Division. Ministry of Environment. Victoria, B.C. Technical Paper No. 1. 33 pp.
- Chamberlin, T.W. and D. Humphries, eds. 1977. Aquatic system inventory and analysis: an interim methodological summary prepared for a workshop, March 23 and 24, 1977. Resource Analysis Branch, B.C. Ministry of Environment. 51 pp.
- Charlton, S.E.D., and M. Hickman. 1984. Seasonal physical, chemical and algal changes in five rivers flowing through the oil sands region of Alberta, Canada. Int. Revue ges. Hydrobiol. 69(3): 297-332.
- Church, M. and R. Kellerhals. 1970. Stream gauging techniques for remote areas using portable equipment. Inland Waters Br., Department Energy, Mines, Resour., Tech. Bull. 25:50 pp.
- Ciborowski, J.J.H and H.F. Clifford. 1984. Short-term colonization patterns of lotic macroinvertebrates. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 41: 1626-33.
- Clarke, A.H. 1973. The freshwater molluscs of the Canadian interior basin. Malacologia 13:1-509.
- Cook, E.F. 1956. The Nearctic Chaoborinae (Diptera: Culicidae). Bull. Minn. Agric. Exp. Sta. 218: 102p.
- Davis, J.C. 1973. Statistics and data analysis in geology. Wiley. New York.
- Dugdale, V.A. and R. Dugdale. 1962. Nitrogen metabolism in lakes. II Role of nitrogen fixation in Sanctuary Lake, Pennsylvania. Limn. and Ocean. 7:170.
- Edmondson, W.T., ed. 1959. Fresh-water Biology. 2nd ed. Wiley, Inc., New York. 1248p.
- Edmunds, G.F. Jr., S.L. Jensen and L. Berner. 1976. The mayflies of North and Central America. Univ. Minnesota Press, Minneapolis.
- Environment Canada 1983. NAQUADAT Directory of parameter codes. Data Systems Section, Water Quality Branch, Ottawa, Ontario.
- Flössner, D. 1972. Krebstiere, Crustacea: Kiemen und Blattfüsser, Brachiopoda, Fischläuse, Brachiura. Die Tierwelt Deutschlands. 60. Teil. Gustav Fischer Verlag, Jena. 501p.
- Fogg, G.E. 1966. Algal cultures and phytoplankton ecology. The Univ. Wisconsin Press, Madison, Wisconsin. 126 pp.

-

- Geen, G.H. T.G. Northcote, G.F. Hartman and C.C. Lindsey. 1966. Life histories of two species of catostomid fishes in Sixteenmile Lake, British Columbia, with particular reference to inlet spawning. J. Fish Res. Board Can. 23 (11): 1761-88.
- Green, J. 1977. Sampling rotifers. Arch. Hydrobiol. Bieh. Ergebn. Limnol. 8:9-12.
- Green, R.H. 1979. Sampling design and statistical methods for environmental biologists. John Wiley & Sons, New York.
- Griffiths, W.E. 1973. Preliminary fisheries survey of the Fort McMurray tar sands area. Alberta Department of Lands and Forests, Fish and Wildl. Div., Edmonton, Alta. 618 pp.
- Hem, J.D. 1970. Study and interpretations of the chemical characteristics of natural water. Geological Survey Water-Supply Paper 1473. 363 pp.
- Herrington, R.B. and S.R. Tocher. 1967. Aerial photo techniques for a recreation inventory of mountain lakes and streams. Research Paper INT-3-7. Forest Service. U.S. Department of Agriculture. Ogden, Utah. 21 pp.
- Hrbacek, J., and M. Novotna-Dvorakova. 1965. Plankton of four backwaters related to their size and fish stock. Rozpr. Cesk. Akad. Ved Rada Mat. Priv. Ved 75: 3-65.
- Hoogenhout, H. and J. Amez. 1964. Growth rates of photosynthetic microorganisms in laboratory cultures. Archiv. Fur Microbiologie 50:10-24.
- Hutchinson, G.E. 1957. A treatise on limnology. Vol. 1. John Wiley and Sons Inc., New York. 1015 pp.
- Jantzie, T., L.R. Noton and N.R. Chymko. 1980. Response of confined biota to mine depressurization water in Beaver Creek Reservoir. Syncrude Environmental Research Report 1980-2. 78 pp.
- Kerfoot, W.C., and W.R. DeMott. 1980. Foundations for evaluating community interactions: the use of enclosures to investigate coexistence of Daphnia and Bosmina. Pages 725-41. in W.C. Kerfoot, ed. Evolution and ecology of zooplankton communities. Spec. Symp. Vol. 3, Amer. Soc. Limnol. Oceanogr., Univ. Press of New England, Hanover, New Hampshire.
- Kiefer, F. 1978. Zur Kenntnis des Diacyclops thomasi (S.A. Forbes, 1882) (Copepoda, Cyclopoida). Crustaceana 34(2): 214-16.
- Koste, W. 1978. Rotatoria. Die Rädertiere Mitteleuropas. Ein Bestimmungswerk, begrunder von Max Voigt. Überordnung Monogononta. Gebruder Borntraeger, Berlin, Stuttgart. Vol. I: 673p. Vol. II: 469p.
- Lloyd, M., J.H. Zar and J.R. Karr. 1968. On the calculation of information theoretical measures of diversity. Am. Mid. Nat. 79(2): 257-72.

- Logan, T. 1977. Forms and sediment associations of nutrients (C, N and P) pesticides and metal-nutrients-N. Pages 180-198 in H. Shear and A.E.P. Watson, ed. Proceedings of a workshop on the fluvial transport of sediment-associated nutrients and contaminants. International Joint Commissions Research Advisory Board, Kitchener, Ontario. 309 pp.
- Lund, J.W.G., C. Kiping & E.D. LeCren. 1958. The inverted microscope method of estimating algal numbers and the statistical basis of estimation of counting Hydrobiologia 11: 143-70.
- Lynch, M. 1977a. Zooplankton competition and plankton community structure. Limnol. Oceanogr. 22: 775-77.
- Lynch, M. 1977b. Fitness and optimal body size in zooplankton populations. Ecology 58: 763-74.
- Lynch, M. 1980. The evolution of cladoceran life histories. Quarterly Rev. Biol. 55: 23-42.
- Machniak, K., and W.A. Bond. 1979. An intensive study of the fish fauna of the Steepbank River watershed of northeastern Alberta. Prep. for the Alberta Oil Sands Environmental Research Program by Environment Canada, Freshwater Institute, Winnipeg, Manitoba. AOESERP Report 61. 196 pp.
- Machniak, K., W.A. Bond, M.R. Orr, D. Rudy and D. Miller. 1980. Fisheries and aquatic habitat investigations in the MacKay River watershed of northeastern Alberta. Prep. for the Alberta Oil Sands Environmental Research Program and Syncrude Canada Ltd. by Department Fish. and Oceans. AOESERP Report 93. 173 pp.
- McCart, P.P. Tsui, R. Green and W. Grant. 1977. Baseline studies of aquatic environments in the Athabasca River near Lease 17. Prepared for Syncrude Canada Ltd. by Aquatic Environments Limited. 205 pp.
- McCart, P.J., P. Tsui, W. Grant, R. Green and D. Trip. 1978. Baseline study of the water quality and aquatic resources of the MacKay River, Alberta. Syncrude Canada Ltd. Environmental Research Monograph 1978-4. 203 pp.
- McNeeley, R.N., V.P. Neimanis, and L. Dwyer. 1979. Water quality sourcebook, a guide to water quality parameters. Inland Water Directorate, Environment Canada, Ottawa, Ont. 88 pp.
- Merritt, R.W. and K.W. Cummins. 1978. An introduction to the aquatic insects of North America. Kendall/Hunt, Dubuque, Iowa. 441 pp.
- Moss, E.H. 1983. Flora of Alberta. 2nd ed. Revised by J.G. Packer Univ. Toronto Press, Toronto.
- Neill, R.M. 1938. The food and feeding of the brown trout (Salmo trutta L.) in relation to the organic environment. Trans R. Soc. Edinb. 59: 481-520.

- Nielsen, L.A. and D.L. Johnson ed. 1983. Fisheries techniques. American Fisheries Society, Bethesda, Maryland. 468 pp.
- Noton, L.R. and N.R. Chymko. 1978. Water quality and aquatic resources of the Beaver Creek diversion system 1977. Syncrude Environmental Research Monograph 1978-3. 340 pp.
- O'Neil, J.P. 1979. Fisheries survey of the Beaver Creek Diversion System, 1978. Report prep. for Syncrude Canada Ltd., Environmental Affairs Dept. by R.L.& L. Environmental Services Ltd., Edmonton, Alta.
- O'Neil, J.P. 1982. Fisheries survey of the Beaver Creek Diversion System, 1981. Report prep. for Syncrude Canada Ltd., Environmental Affairs Dept. by R.L. & L. Environmental Services Ltd., Edmonton, Alta. 38p.
- Orloci, L. 1975. Multivariate analysis in vegetation research. W. Junk, The Hague.
- Oswood, M.W. 1979. Abundance patterns of filter-feeding caddisflies (Trichoptera: Hydropsychidae) and seston in a Montana (USA) lake outlet. Hydrobiologia 63: 177-83
- Pennak, R.W. 1949. Annual limnological cycles in some Colorado reservoir lakes. Ecol. Monogr. 19: 234-67.
- Pennak, R.W. 1978. Fresh-water invertebrates of the Unites States. 2nd ed. Wiley, New York. 803 pp.
- Platts, W.S. 1979. Relationships among stream order fish populations and aquatic geomorphology in an Idaho river drainage. Fisheries 4(2): 5-9.
- Platts, W.S. W. Megahan, and G.W. Minshall. 1983. Methods for evaluating stream, riparian and biotic conditions. U.S. Dept. Agric., Forest. Serv., Intermountain Forest and Range Exp. Station, Ogden, Utah. Gen. Tech. prep. INT-138.
- Prescott, G.W. 1970. Algae of the Western Great Lakes area. Wm. C. Brown Co Publ., Dubuque, Iowa.
- Reger, S.J., C.F. Brothersen, T.G. Osborn and W.T. Helm. 1982. Rapid and effective processing of macroinvertebrates samples. Dept. Fish. and Wildl., Utah State University. 15 pp.
- Renewable Resources Consulting Services Ltd. 1975. Northeast Alberta Regional Plan Project. Fisheries Resources. Volume II. Technical Appendices: Appendix II (Gradients of streams in northeast Alberta). Prep. for Ekistic Design Consultants Ltd. 389 pp.
- Reynolds, C.S. 1975. Interrelations of photosynthetic behaviour and buoyancy regulation in a natural population of blue-green algae. Freshwater Biology 5:323-38.

- Ruttner-Kolisko, A. 1974. Plankton rotifers: Biology and taxonomy. Die Binnengewasser, Vol. 26/1, Supplement. 146p.
- Saether, O.A. 1970. Nearctic and Palaearctic Chaoborus (Diptera: Chaoboridae). Fish. Res. Board Can. Bull. 174: 1-57.
- Sekerak, A.D., and G.L. Walder. 1980. Aquatic biophysical inventory of major tributaries in the AOSERP study area. Volume 1: Summary Report. Prep. for the Alberta Oil Sands Environmental Research Program by LGL Ltd., Environmental Research Associates. AOSERP 114. 100 pp.
- Shapiro, J., and D.I. Wright. 1984. Lake restoration by biomanipulation: Round Lake, Minnesota, the first two years. Freshwater Biology 14: 371-83.
- Sheldon, A.L. and M.W. Oswood. 1977. Blackfly (Diptera:Simuliidae) abundance in a lake outlet: test of a predictive model. Hydrobiologia 56: 113-20.
- Smirnov, N.N. 1971. Fauna of the U.S.S.R. Crustacea: Chydoridae. Vol. 1, No. 2. Akad. Nauk. SSSR, New Series No. 101 (Translated From Russian). Israel Program for Scientific Translations, Jerusalem. 644p.
- Strahler, A.N. 1957. Quantitative analysis of watershed geomorphology. Trans. Amer. Geophysical Union 38: 913-20.
- Syncrude Canada Ltd. 1975. Baseline Environmental studies of Ruth Lake and Poplar Creek. Syncrude Environmental Research Monograph 1975-3. 120 pp + app.
- Syncrude Canada Ltd. 1984. Biophysical impact assessment for the new facilities at the Syncrude Canada Ltd. Mildred Lake Plant. Syncrude Canada Ltd. 431pp.
- Taft, C.E. and C.W. Taft. 1971. The algae of Western Lake Erie. Bull. Ohio Biol. Surv. 4: 1-189.
- Teraguchi, M., D.E. Stucke, and M.M. Noga. 1983. Spatial dynamics of Mesocyclops edax (S.A. FORBES), Tropocyclops prasinus mexicannus KIEFER, Diaptomus pallidus HERRICK, Ceriodaphnia lacustris (BIRGE), Bosmina longirostris (O.F. MÜLLER, Daphnia parvula (FORDYCE) and nauplii in a northeastern Ohio pond. Int. Revue ges. Hydrobiol. 68: 863-83.
- Trew, D.O., D.J. Beliveau and E.I. Yonge. 1978. Baptiste Lake study, summary report. Alberta Environment, Pollution Control Division, Water Quality Control Branch.
- Tsui, P., D. Tripp and W. Grant. 1977. A study of biological colonization of the Western Interception Ditch and lower Beaver Creek. Prep. by Aquatic Environments Ltd. Syncrude Environmental Monograph 1978-6. 144 pp.
- United States Fish and Wildlife Service. 1980. Habitat evaluation procedures (HEP). Division of Ecological Services, ESM 102. Washington, D.C.

- Walder, G.L., P.L. Strankman, E.B. Watton, and K.A. Bruce. 1980. Aquatic biophysical inventory of major tributaries in the AOSERP study area. Volume II: Atlas. Prep. for the Alberta Oil Sands Environmental Research Program by LGL Ltd., Environmental Research Associates. AOSERP Project WS 3.4. 166 pp.
- Water Survey of Canada. 1983. Historical streamflow summary: Alberta to 1982. Environment Canada, Inland Waters Directorate, Ottawa. 487pp.
- Webber, C.I. 1971. A guide to the common diatoms at water pollution surveillance system stations. U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, National Environmental Research Center Analytical Quality Control Laboratory, Cincinnati, Ohio.
- Weglenska, T. 1971. The influence of various concentrations of natural food on the development, fecundity and production of planktonic crustacean filtrators. Ekologia Polska 19(30): 427-73.
- Wetzel, R.G. 1975. Limnology. W.B. Saunders Co. Toronto. 743p.
- Wiggins, G.B. 1977. Larvae of the North American caddisfly genera (Trichoptera). Univ. Toronto Press, Toronto. 401 pp.

4

Wishart, D. 1978. Clustan User Manual. 3rd ed. Edinburgh University, Edinburgh.

PHOTOGRAPHIC PLATES



Plate 1. MacKay River (km 2.7). Sampling by beach seine at station MR-SIB in the vicinity of habitat station MR-H2. The plate illustrates typical Flat habitat in association with inundated riparian vegetation. These areas were utilized for rearing (i.e., by young-of-the-year yellow perch, sucker sp. and forage sp.) and feeding (i.e., by adult forage sp.) during the fall period, 26 September 1984.



Plate 2. Dover River (km 32). Aerial view (upstream) of the Dover River (at lower right), and a tributary (at centre), illustrating the low relief of the drainage basin. This results in the low gradient, beaver controlled stream character typical of Reaches 3 and 4, 24 September 1984.



Plate 3. Creek M4 at water quality station M4-W. The plate illustrates the high channel gradient and coarse angular substrate typically encountered within Reach 1 of the majority of sampled MacKay River tributaries, 20 June 1984.



Plate 4. West Interception Ditch showing the extensive growth of emergent and submergent aquatic vegetation that was typical of Reach 3 in the summer and fall. Area shown is at WID-H3 and WID-EF3, 27 September 1984.



Plate 5. Creek W3 at water quality station W3-W. Upstream view from confluence with W.I.D. (foreground) illustrates typical beaver controlled character of W.I.D. tributaries. Water quality samples were taken from within the beaver pond, 25 July 1984.



Plate 6. Lower Beaver Creek viewed downstream through electrofishing station LBC-EF2, taken at high spring flows. Brook stickleback was the only species recorded from this area, 25 May 1984.



Plate 7. Creek B1 (formerly Creek No. 4) viewed downstream from the road crossing to Beaver Creek Reservoir (in background). The plate shows stations B1-B, B1-EF1, and B1-H2 (transect T1 located at standpipe on left bank). In May, this area was the primary spawning section for white sucker and lake chub; 25 July 1984.



Plate 8. Beaver Creek Reservoir viewed from south end of the reservoir at the mouth of Upper Beaver Creek (lower left) toward the mine site. Fisheries station UBC-ES was situated within this section of Upper Beaver Creek, 25 September 1984.



Plate 9. Poplar Creek illustrating habitat sampling procedures at PC-H1-T5. Note the flagging and painted arrow on the boulder on the far shore that mark the transect location, 6 September 1984.



Plate 10. Horseshoe Lake at water quality station HL-W. The plate illustrates the extensive macrophyte growth that has developed in the lake by late July, 27 July 1984.

APPENDICES

APPENDIX A

LOCATION AND IDENTIFICATION OF 1984 SAMPLE STATIONS

Table A1. Summary of sample station locations in the Syncrude Study Area, 1984.

System	Study Component	Station Designation	Station Location/Description ^a
MacKay River	Habitat	MR-H1	Km 0.8; approx. 300 m upstream of bridge; orange slash and S.P. on 30 cm diam. poplar on RUB.
(mainstem)		MR-H2	Km 2.8; transect is 9 m downstream of large poplar (approx. 35 m from waters edge) on RUB and 18 m downstream of
		MD 110	painted boulder on LUB; S.P. on popiar on RUB.
		MR-H3	Km 10.3; transect between 20 m nigh popiar on LUB and 25 m nigh popiar approx. 10 m back from top of RUB.
		MR-H4	Km 22.0; transect located 34 in downstream from large boulder in mid-chained; across from orch 5 in back from top of
		MR-H5	Km 29 \pm tangent between large birch (12 in high) on KO is s.r. on birch on KO is a poplar on LUB
		MR-H6	Km 38.9 transect between poplar 15 m from waters edge on LUB and 6 m bigb sprice 4 m from edge of RUB.
		MR-H7	Km 45.2: transect between painted builders on RUB and LUB: no S.P.
		MR-H8	Km 49.1; transect between alder 4 m from top of RUB and alder on LUB; S.P. on alder on RUB.
		MR-H9	Km 58.7; transect located 24 m upstream of large painted boulder on LUB and across from flagged alder on RUB; no S.P.
	Water Quality	MR-W1	Km 0.5; sampled off edge of bridge.
		MR-W2	Km 38.7; 40 m downstream of Creek M5 confluence.
		MR-W3	Km 60.8; approx. 2 km upstream of M11 confluence.
	Benthos	MR-B1	Km 0.7; 90 m upstream of bridge; flagging and paint on alders in shallow ditch along LUB.
		MR-B2	Km 14.0; along RUB.
		MR-B3	Km 29.3; 1.5 km upstream of Dover River confluence; site marked by two red rings on tree and painted rock on RUB.
	mi-h-si-s	MR-B4	Km 40.2; 90 m upstream of Creek Mb confluence; site marked by red paint on saplings and painted rock on LUB.
	Fisheries	MR-ESI	Km U.U to Km 5.0; alternate banks.
		MR-ESZ	Km 10.3 to Km 13.0; alternate banks.
		MR-LSS	Km 26.5 to 51.9 alternate banks.
		MR-EFI MR-FF9	
		MR-EF2	Km 10 - 110 m (alternate RUB and LUR)
		MR-FF4	Km 10.2, 110 m dane Hills
		MR-EF5	Km 216, 50 m along LUB.
		MR-EF6	Km 38.9 70 m along RUB.
		MR-EF7	Km 49.1: 50 m along RUB.
		MR-EF8	Km 59.3; 110 m along LUB.
		MR-EF9	Km 75.9; 160 m along RUB.
		MR-S1	Km 1.6; 3 hauls along RUB.
		MR-SIA	Km 0.6; 1 haul along LUB; 2 hauls along RUB.
		MR-S1B	Km 2.7; 3 hauls along RUB.
		MR-S2	Km 7.8; 3 hauls along RUB.
		MR-S2A	Km 10.2; 3 hauls along RUB.
		MR-S3	Km 19.8; 3 hauls along RUB.
		MR-SJA	Km 21.8; I hau along KUB.
		MD-85	K_{m} 43-1; I had along LUD.
Maakay Diver	Water Quality	M1-W	Rin (0.5) 2 haus along bob.
(tributaries)	water quanty	M2-W	approx. 30 m upstream from mouth-flagged.
(ti ibu tu: jes)		M3-W	approx. 10 m upstream from mouth: flagged.
		M4-W	approx. 20 m upstream from mouth; flagged.
		M 5-W	approx. 40 m upstream from mouth; flagged.
		M 6-W	access by cutline at top of valley approx. 1.0 km upstream from mouth; approx. 20 m below beaverdam; flagged.
		M7W	approx. 250 m upstream from mouth and 30 m below large beaverdam; flagged.
		M 8-W	approx. 10 m upstream from mouth; flagged.
		M9-W	approx. 25 m upstream from mouth; flagged.
		M10-W	approx. 40 m upstream from mouth, flagged.
	Bonthos	W11-W	approx. 40 m upstream from mouth; itagged.
	Delititos	M6-P	approx. 40 m distream from mouth, size marked by 2 and size on table on PUP
Dover River	Habitat	DR-H1	approx. Our in destream from modely, site marked by 2 for the on the on ROB. $K = 0$ approx. But ROB, $K = 0$ approxes that the standard large population of the of ROB and alder on LIB, S.P. on large population RIIB.
(mainstem)	Habitat	DR-H2	Kin 0.3, it alises to be tween a ge puppar on top of AUD and adde on LUB; $\sigma_{\rm AU}$ of large puppar of AUD. Kin 0.1, the second state of $\sigma_{\rm AU}$ high sequence of LUB; $\sigma_{\rm AU}$ and $\sigma_{\rm AUD}$ are derived as a set of $\sigma_{\rm AUD}$ and $\sigma_{\rm AUD}$ are defined as a set of $\sigma_{\rm AUD}$ and $\sigma_{\rm AUD}$ and $\sigma_{\rm AUD}$ are defined as a set of $\sigma_{\rm AUD}$ and $\sigma_{\rm AUD}$ are defined as a set of \sigma_{\rm AUD} and $\sigma_{\rm AUD}$ are defined as a set of \sigma_{\rm AUD} and $\sigma_{\rm AUD}$ are defined as a set of \sigma_{\rm AUD} and $\sigma_{\rm AUD}$ are defined as a set of \sigma_{\rm AUD} and $\sigma_{\rm AUD}$ are defined as a set of \sigma_{\rm AUD} and $\sigma_{\rm AUD}$ are defined as a set of \sigma_{\rm AUD} and $\sigma_{\rm AUD}$ are defined as a set of \sigma_{\rm AUD} and $\sigma_{\rm AUD}$ are defined as a set of \sigma_{\rm AUD} and $\sigma_{\rm AUD}$ are defined as a set of \sigma_{\rm AUD} and $\sigma_{\rm AUD}$ are defined as a set of \sigma_{\rm AUD} and $\sigma_{\rm AUD}$ are defined as a set of \sigma_{\rm AUD} are defined as a set of
(manistem)		DR-H2	on Rills SP on Spruce on Lills.
		DB-H3	Km 17.3 two transacts. Theoreted 2 m unstream of 10 m high alder on LUB (8 m from bank edge) and across from 3 m
		2	high alder on RUB: S.P. on alder on LUB: T2 (located approx, 100 m upstream of T1) situated between large aspen on edg
			of steep LUB and alder leaning out over water on RUB; S.P. on alder on LUB.
		DR-H4	Km 32.1: transect between alder 4 m inland from LUB and alder overhanging RUB: S.P. on alder on LUB.
	Water Quality	DR-W	Km 3.0; approx. 40 m upstream from confluence of Creek D1; discharge transect situated approx. 150 m upstream from
			confluence of Creek D1.
	Benthos	DR-B	100 m upstream from MacKay River confluence; marked by 2 red lines on boulder embedded in escarpment on RUB.
	Fisheries	DR-EF1	section extended from confluence with MacKay River upstream for 300 m.
		DR-EF2	Km 9.0; 90 m section along LUB above old meander scar on RUB.
		DR-EF3	Km 17.3; 110 m section; alternate banks.
		DR-EF4	Km 32.1; 130 m section; alternate banks.
		DR-S1	Km 9.0; 1 haul along LUB.
		DR-S2	Km 32.1; 1 haul along LUB.
Dover River	Water Quality	D1-W	approx. 75 m upstream from mouth; flagged.
(tributary)	11-1-1-1		
₩.I.D.	naoitat	w.i.DH1	21 in (straightime distances) upstream of bridge Greek confilence; Transect T1 across from willow clump on RUB; Transect 72 to T5 situated at 50 m intervals upstream from 71 (all floated)
		WID-49	reasseds 12 to 13 Situated at 50 m intervals upstream from 11 (all flagged).
		WID-HZ	at cuge or cuttine (E-W orientation); hagged wooden stake on LUB; transect T2 (located 50 m downstream of T1) also marked on 1118 with flagment wooden stake
		WID-H3	many on Dop with larged wooden state. Transect T1 located approx. 500 m downstream from dam at source, between flagged wooden stakes. S D on large block
			soruce (20 m back from channel) on RUB: T2 (50 m downstream of T1) between worden stakes; SLF. Of large Diack
			Transect T3 (30 m downstream of T1) between steel survey stake on LiB and wooden stakes on RUB
	Water Quality	WID-W1	at road crossing approx. 25 m downstream of culvert exit.
	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	W1D-W2	approx. 800 m downstream from Creek W2 confluence.
	Benthos	WID-B1	12.2 km downstream of source; 50 m downstream of double culverts.
		WID-B2	4.2 km downstream of source; site marked by double red rings on 2 poplars on RUB; designated as Station 5 by Tsui. et.
			(1977).

Continued . . .

Table A1. Continued.

System	Study Component	Station Designation	Station Location/Description ^a
W.I.D. (tributaries)	Water Quality	W 3-W W 4-W W 5-W	below first beaverdam approx. 30 m upstream from mouth. 30 m upstream from W.I.D. confluence. 3 m upstream from W.I.D. confluence.
	Benthos	W3-B	30 m upstream from mouth and 25 m upstream of beaverdam; flagged on beaverdam; designated as Station 7 by Tsui et. al (1977).
Bridge Creek	Fisheries Habitat	W2-EF BRC-H1	along southern edge of large beaverpond located approx. 200 m upstream from mouth Transect T1 located 30 m upstream from culvert inlet at Hwy 63 crossing; S.P. on large (1.5 m) stump on RUB at T1; re- maining 4 transects at 25 m intervals upstream of T1; (all transects flagged).
		BRC-H2 BRC-H3	Transect T5 located 20 m downstream from W.I.D. confluence (flagging on poplar on LUB); Transects T5 to T2 located at 25 m intervals downstream of T5; T1 located 50 m downstream of T2. All transects flagged. Transect T1 located 20 m upstream from W.I.D. confluence; Transects T2 to T5 at 25 m intervals upstream of T1 (all flagged).
	Water Quality	BRC-W1 BRC-W2	25 m upstream from Hwy 63 crossing; site marked by 2 red paint rings on tree on LUB. 25 m upstream from W.I.D. confluence.
	Benthos Fisheries	BRC-B BRC-EF1 BRC-EF2 BRC-EF3	200 m upstream from Hwy 63 crossing; site marked by 2 red paint rings on tree on LUB. section starts from culvert outlet downstream of Hwy 63 to approx. 150 m downstream. 150 m section upstream from culvert inited at Hwy 63. 200 m section downstream from W.L.D. confluence.
Lower Beaver Creek	Habitat	BRC-EF4 LBC-HI	150 m section upstream from W.I.D. confluence. Transect T1 located 20 m upstream from culvert inlet at Hwy 63 crossing; Transects T2 to T5 located at 50 m intervals upstream from T1 (all transects flagged); S.P. at T5 on 6 m alder on LUB.
	Water Quality	LBC-W1 LBC-W2	approx. 100 m downstream from Bridge Creek confluence. approx. 150 m upstream from Hwy 63 crossing.
	Benthos	LBC-B1 LBC-B2	approx. 80 m downstream from Bridge Creek confluence; site marked by 2 red paint rings on tree on LUB. approx. 200 m upstream from Hwy 63 crossing.
	Fisheries	LBC-EF1 LBC-EF2	from culvert at Hwy 63 crossing downstream for 150 m. from culvert at Hwy 63 crossing upstream for 150 m.
Creek B1	Habitat	B1-H1	T1 located 20 m downstream of large boulder on top of RUB (boulder located 800 m downstream of impoundment outlet
		B1-H2	Transect 11 located at metal standarding approx. 80 m downstream from temporary road crossing (crossing situated approx. 400 m upstream from Beaver Creek Reservoir); 2 additional sites at 50 m intervis downstream from T1 (all transects flagged); Note: this station was added (after the establishment of B1-H1) to determine habitat characteristics in a white sucker spawning area and therefore does not follow the sequential station coding system.
	Water Quality	B1-W1 B1-W2	immediately downstream of culvert at road crossing in channelized section of Creek B1 (approx. 320 m downstream from the outlet of the impoundment. upstream end of the culvert at the road crossing of the natural stream channel.
	Benthos Fisheries	B1-B B1-EF1	approx. 40 m downstream of the temporary road crossing situated 400 m upstream from Beaver Creek Reservoir.
Beaver Creek	Water Quality	B1-EF2 BCR-W	same location as B1-H1. approx. 400 m from a perpendicular to the dam and approx. 400 m from west bank; at the BCR-1 station (Noton and
Reservoir	Benthos	BCR-B1 BCR-B2	Chymko 1978). near access point (boat launch site) approx. 20 m offshore; at 1-m depth contour; marked with yellow float. at 3-m depth contour; marked with float.
	Fisheries	BCR-B3 BCR-B4 BCR-B5 BCR-Z BCR-P BCR-ES1 BCR-ES2 BCR-G1	at 3-m depin contour; marked with float. at 1-m depth contour; marked with float. same as BCR-W. same site BCR-W. diversion channel from Beaver Creek Reservoir to Ruth Lake; alternate banks. in vicinity of BCR-S3 perpendicular to shore adjacent to mine depressurization water discharge pipe; at same location as G1 established by
Ruth Lake	Water Quality Benthos Zooplankton	BCR-G2 BCR-S3 RL-W RL-B RL-Z	O'Neil (1979). parallel to island along 3-m depth contour; at same location as G2 established by O'Neil (1979). on west shore at cutline crossing; same location as S3 established by O'Neil (1979). approximately 0.8 km SE and nearer the outlet than the RL-2 site established by Noton and Chymko (1978). located 1/8 the way down the north shore approx. 80 m off shore; aligned with cutline; marked with white float. same as RL-W.
	Phytoplankton Fisheries	RL-P RL-ES RL-GN RL-S2	same as KL-W. from 100 m south-east of beaverlodge in a northwest direction to 300 m past beaverlodge. approx. 1/3 way down the north shore; approx. 200 m north-west of beaverlodge; near Station S2 established by O'Neil (1979).
Poplar Creek Reservoir	Water Quality	PCR-W	at south end of reservoir approx. 125 m off dam face on 18 m depth contour; situated approx. halfway between PCR-B5 PCR-B4; marked with float. Approximately the same location as PCR-1 established by Noton and Chymko (1978).
	Benthos	PCR-B1 PCR-B2 PCR-B3 PCR-B4 PCR-B5	at south end of reservoir on 1-m depth contour; site nearest to spillway canal; marked with float. at south end of reservoir 100 m off dam face and SW of PCR-B1 on 3-m depth contour; marked with float. at south end of reservoir 100 m off dam face in line with and to the SW of PCR-B2; on 5-m contour; marked with float. at south end of reservoir, closest to west shore of reservoir 100 m off dam face; on 10-m contour; marked with float. balfway between PCR-B3 and PCR-B4, approx. 100 m off dam face; marked with float. 5 m contour.
	Zooplankton Phytoplankton Fisheries	PCR-Z PCR-P PCR-G1 PCR-G2 PCR-S3	same as PCR-W. same as PCR-W. located approx. 50 m off point of west shore; north of causeway. located approx. 40 m off west shore perpendicular to dam face; south of causeway. along caster shore approx. 300 m south of causeway causeway.
Upper Beaver	Habitat	UBC-H	one transect location approx. 40 m downstream of AOSTRA road crossing; flagging on overhanging alder on RUB; S.P. on
Сгеек	Water Quality Benthos	UBC-W UBC-B	at Water Survey of Canada gauge site located approx. 100 m downstream from the AOSTRA road crossing. approx. 20 m downstream of WSC gauge; paint and flagging on cluster of overhanging dead trees; at station established by Noton and Chymko (1978).
	Fisheries	UBC-ES UBC-EF	lower 1.0 km; alternate banks. from AOSTRA road crossing downstream for approx. 400 m.
Poplar Creek	Habitat	PC-H1-T1 PC-H1-T2	transect situated approx. mid-way between drop structures 5 and 6 (DS5 and 6) across from large white spruce (orange blaze and S.P.) located approx. 15 m from RUB edge: Note - labelled on S.P. as PC1(a)-T1. transect located 20 m downstream from crest of DS5 (distance measured from top end of large boulder at crest of DS5).

Continued . . .

Table A1. Continued.

System	Study Component	Station Designation	Station Location/Description®
		РС-Н1-Т3	transect 1.6 m downstream from DS5; S.P. on large white spruce 20 m back from RUB: Note - labelled on S.P. as PCI(c)-T1.
		PC-H1-T4	transect 20.6 m downstream from crest of DS 11 across from flagged and painted birch tree on LUB: Note - labelled on flagging as PC1(b)-T2.
		PC-H1-T5	transect 3.6 m downstream from crest of DS 11; between painted small boulders on LUB and RUB; willows near both boulders flagged: Note - labelled on flagging as PC1(c)-T2.
		PC-H2	transect TI situated approx. 28 m downstream from 1-m high beaverdam; between birch tree (flagging, paint and S.P.) on RUB and alder on LUB; 4 additional transects (T2 to T5) located at 50 m intervals (measured along RUB) upstream from TI (all transects marked by flagged trees on both LUB and RUB).
		РС-НЗ	transect T1 situated 20 m upstream from Ruth Creek confluence; marked by flagged alder on RUB; 4 additional transects (T2 to T5) located upstream of T1 at 50 m intervals; S.P. on birch tree marking LUB at T3.
	Water Quality	PC-W1	approx. 500 m upstream Athabasca River confluence.
		PC-W2	approx. 600 m downstream of stilling basin; Station PC-2 (Noton and Chymko 1978).
		PC-W3	approx. 500 m upstream of stilling basin.
	Benthos	PC-B1	station approx. 25 m upstream of Hwy 63 bridge at yellow angle iron stake on LUB; at Syncrude benthic station PCI.
		PC-BZ	approx. 70 m downstream of DS 9; marked by 2 red rings on jackpine; at Syncrude bentnic station PC2.
		PC-B3	approx, but in distream of spinway confidence; at Synerida centric station PC3.
	FisheriesD	PC-EF1	approx, too in upstream from that in concerned to the second and the second sec
	I ISNEI YES	PC-EF2	section begins up row to in operation from stilling basin confluence at $PC-HI(T)$ site and extends 150 m upstream.
		PC-EF3	section begins below DS 10 and extends upstream to the stilling basin confluence.
		PC-EF5	section begins at crest of DS 4 and extends to the crest of DS 6.
		PC-EF6	section begins at large pool below DS 1 and extends to crest of DS 2.
Athabasca	Water Quality	AR-W1	mid-channel and approx. 50 m upstream of MacKay River confluence.
River		AR-W2	150 m downstream from MacKay River confluence and approx. 3 m from RUB.
		AR-W3	10 m upstream from MacKay River confluence and approx. 12 m from RUB.
		AK-W4	mid-channel and approx. 50 m upstream of pumphouse.
		AR-WS	as multiple and from pumphouse and the from KUB.
		AR-W7	indernating approx. So in upstream from Fourier Creek confluence.
		AR-W8	10 m unstream from Poplar Creek confluence, and 10 m from RUB.
Horseshoe	Water Quality	HL-W	off southern shore of main body of lake, midway between east and west arms.
Lake	Fisheries	HL-EF1	sampled 400 m in lower portion of east arm.
		HL-EF2	sampled 500 m along southern shoreline of main lake from HL-W towards east arm.

a Abbreviations used in this column are: LUB and RUB = left and right banks viewed looking upstream; S.P. = metal survey plate; DS = drop structure.

^b All Poplar Creek fisheries stations are the same as those established by O'Neil (1979).

Note: unless otherwise stated, all flagging and paint were blaze orange in color.

APPENDIX B

AQUATIC HABITAT

Table Bl. Stream Habitat - Survey Form

R.L.	& L. ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES LTD.
	STREAM HABITAT SURVEY FORM

Stream					Read	h_		D	ate							
Station			_ k	m _				_ т	rans							
Orientation	UB	to .		UB	Н2	Ο Τε	emp.,	'Tim	e							
Station/Transect M	ark	-														
									<u> </u>	,	<u></u>		<u> </u>			
Width (m) Rooted				V	Vette	ed _				G	radi	ent ((%)			
Turbidity		_		Visi	ibilit	у										
				BA	NK	FEA	TUR	ES								
Condition (DUD)			/1 11	 D)			Stabi	1:+	(011	D)			(1.11	מי)		
Undergut (RUB)	' S	$= \operatorname{Stability}(\mathbf{R} \cup \mathbf{B}) = (\mathbf{L} \cup \mathbf{B})$														
Cover (RUB) $_{-}$	(- ` (LU	(дор В)	· –		יי - ער -	erhai	רבב אס (צ	UR)	(נוט		(LIIF	3)			
Bankdepth (RUB)	`			LUB	;)		nu	-9 (1						-, _		
		-			· -		-									
			·	DE	PTH	/VEI		TY	r	r	_	,	<u> </u>			r—
Location ()											L					
Depth ()								L								
Velocity ()																
0.6 d							<u> </u>									
0.2 d/0.8 d																
					~~~						•			-		
T				<u> </u>	<u> </u>	VER	TY:	'ES	Т	<u> </u>	······	Τ				
Interval ( )	R	Riffl	le		Run		Fla	t		P	ool		In-S	Stream	n C	ov
										1.0				Veg	A	lga
						_+-			+-	1 2	343	<u>}</u>	K	ating	Re	
									1							
				<u> </u>			`									
				├								-			+	
						1						1			<u> </u>	
						-						Ŧ				
				<u> </u>					1						<u> </u>	
				<u> </u>		+			+							

#### Dominant Substrate (mm)

	Fi	nes		Gr	avels				Lar	ges			
Interval ( )	Silt	Sand	VFG (2-4)	FG (4-8)	MG (8-16)	CG (16-32)	VCG (32-64)	SC (64-128)	LC (128-256)	SB (256-512)	LB (512+)	<b>D90</b> (18)	Embed. (19)
			1	1								L	

1

1

Comments: (Photos, Habitat Description, etc.)

Ł

l

1

1

1

I

Crew _____

1

I

L

the term the second second

System	Drainage Area (km ² )	Stream Order ^a	Dominant Terrain Type
MacKay River (at Athabasca R.)	5550.0		Muskeg
Dover River (at MacKay R. confl.)	963.0	-	Muskeg
D1	27.6	2	Muskeg
M1	11.1	2	Highland
M 2	72.4	3	Muskeg
M 3	5.2	1	Muskeg
M 4	4.4	1	Muskeg
M 5	6.4	1	Muskeg
M 6	52.4	3	Muskeg
M 7	28.1	2	Muskeg
M 8	3.6	1	Muskeg
M 9	2.1	1	Muskeg
M10	18.0	2	Muskeg
M11	3.2	1	Muskeg
West Interception Ditch (above Bridge Cree	ek) 72.6	3	Muskeg
W1	16.1	b	Muskeg
W 2	1.8	1	Muskeg
W 3	26.0	2	Muskeg
W4	10.4	1	Muskeg
W 5	18.3	2	Muskeg
Bridge Creek (not incl. W.I.D)	13.7	1	Muskeg
Bridge Creek (incl. W.I.D)	86.3	3	Muskeg
Lower Beaver Creek (not incl. Bridge Creek	<) 3.8	2	Highland
Lower Beaver Creek (incl. Bridge Creek)	90.1	3	Muskeg
Upper Beaver Creek	165.0	3	Highland
Cache Creek	-	2	Muskeg
Creek B2	63.6	2	Highland
Creek Bl (at Beaver Cr. Res.)	47.8	2	Highland
Poplar Creek (at Athabasca R. confl.)	151.0	3	Highland

I

Ì

I

ł

Table B2. Drainage description for fluvial systems in the study area.

1

Ĩ

 a  According to Strahler (1957), not determined for larger systems.

_^bUndefined drainage.

		Sp	ring	Sur	nmer	F	all
System	Site	Date	Q(m ³ ·s ⁻¹ )	Date	Q(m ^{3.} s ⁻¹ )	Date	Q(m ³ ·s ⁻¹ )
MacKay River	WSCa	19 June	31.10	30 July	10.40	21 Sept.	6.38
•	M1-W	19 June	0.08	28 July	L0.01g	22 Sept.	L0.01
	M2-W	19 June	0.17	30 July	L0.01	21 Sept.	0.05
	M 3-W	19 June	0.06	30 July	L0.01	21 Sept.	L0.01
	M 4-W	19 June	0.02	30 July	L0.01	21 Sept.	L0.01
	M 5-W	19 June	0.02	30 July	L0.01	21 Sept.	L0.01
	M 6-W	20 June	0.02	30 July	L0.01	21 Sept.	L0.01
	M7-W	20 June	0.10	30 July	L0.01	21 Sept.	0.01
	M 8-W	20 June	L0.01	30 July	L0.01	21 Sept.	0
	M 9-W	20 June	L0.01	30 July	0	21 Sept.	0
	M10-W	20 June	0.05	30 July	0	21 Sept.	0.01
	M11-W	20 June	0.02	30 July	L0.01	21 Sept.	0
Dover River	DR-W	19 June	1.33	30 July	1.64	21 Sept.	0.41
	D1-W	19 June	0.05	30 July	L0.01	21 Sept.	0.01
West	WID-W1	17 June	0.10	25 July	0.02	26 Sept.	0.06
Interception	W 3-W	17 June	0.07	25 July	L0.01	25 Sept.	L0.01
Ditch	W4-W	17 June	0.02	25 July	L0.01	25 Sept.	L0.01
	W 5-W	17 June	L0.01	25 July	L0.01	25 Sept.	L0.01
Lower Beaver	LBC-W1	19 June	0.26	29 July	0.02	22 Sept.	0.02
Creek	LBC-W2	19 June	0.01	29 July	L0.01	21 Sept.	0.01
Bridge Creek	BRC-W1	18 June	0.16	29 July	0.02	21 Sept.	0.01
-	BRC-W2	17 June	0.04	25 July	L0.01	25 Sept.	L0.01
Poplar Creek	PC-W2b	18 June	4.18	26 July	1.47	23 Sept.	0.22
-	PC-W3	18 June	0.69	26 July	0.30	23 Sept.	0.07
Upper Beaver Creek	UBC-WC	15 June	0.44	30 July	0.17	21 Sept.	0.18
Creek B1	B1-W2	15 June	0.21	30 July	0.06	21 Sept.	0.02

Table B3. Discharges calculated from measurements recorded during the 1984 study and from Water Survey of Canada (WSC) gauging stations on the MacKay River, Poplar Creek, and Upper Beaver Creek (1984 preliminary data).

a WSC Stn. 07DB001.

b WSC Stn. 07DA007.

c WSC Stn. 07DA018.

d L=Less than.

	SEA	SONALC	COMPARISC	DN TO M.	ACKAY RI	VER DISC	CHARGE a	
SYSTEM	Draina Area	ge	SPRIN	ſG	SUMM	ER	FAL	Ĺ
-	(km²)	%b	Date	%	Date	%	Date	%
Creek M1	11.06	0.20	19 June	0.27	28 July	0.03	22 Sept.	0.05
Creek M2	72.35	1.30	19 June	0.53	30 July	0.05	21 Sept.	0.80
Creek M3	5.24	0.09	19 June	0.19	30 July	0.01	21 Sept.	0.10
Creek M4	4.38	0.08	19 June	0.06	30 July	L0.01C	21 Sept.	0.08
Creek M5	6.40	0.12	19 June	0.05	30 July	L0.01	21 Sept.	0.12
Creek M6	52.36	0.94	20 June	0.08	30 July	0.05	21 Sept.	0.08
Creek M7	28.06	0.51	20 June	0.32	30 July	L0.01	21 Sept.	0.09
Creek M8	3.57	0.06	20 June	L0.01	30 July	L0.01	21 Sept.	0
Creek M9	2.06	0.04	20 June	0.01	30 July	0	21 Sept.	0
Creek M10	18.04	0.32	20 June	0.17	30 July	0	21 Sept.	0.13
Creek M11	3.18	0.06	20 June	0.08	30 July	L0.01	21 Sept.	0
Dover River	963.00	17.35	19 June	4.29	30 July	15.79	21 Sept.	6.49
Creek D1	27.58	0.50	19 June	0.15	30 July	0.04	21 Sept.	0.19
W.I.D.	N/A ^d	N/A	17 June	0.26	25 July	0.10	25 Sept.	0.16
Creek W3	26.03	0.47	17 June	0.17	25 July	L0.01	25 Sept.	L0.0
Creek W4	10.37	0.19	17 June	0.04	25 July	L0.01	25 Sept.	0.05
Creek W5	18.30	0.33	17 June	L0.01	25 July	L0.01	25 Sept.	L0.03
L. Beaver Cr.	3.78	0.07	19 June	0.82	29 July	0.18	22 Sept.	0.34
Bridge Cr.	13.70	0.25	17 June	0.44	29 July	0.18	21 Sept.	0.17
U.Beaver Cr.	165.00	2.97	15 June	0.86	30 July	1.67	21 Sept.	2.88
Creek B1	47.44	0.85	15 June	0.40	30 July	0.54	21 Sept.	0.36
Poplar Cr.	$427.06^{e}$	7.69	18 June	11.58	26 July	7.24	23 Sept.	3.40

Table B4. A comparison of discharge and drainage areas of fluvial water bodies in the 1984 Syncrude Study Area to the discharge and drainage area of the MacKay River, 1984.

- Calculated by the division of the discharge for each system on a particular date by the discharge recorded in the MacKay River on that date (from Water Survey of Canada, preliminary 1984 data)
  - ^b Percent of MacKay River drainage area (5550 km² Water Survey of Canada 1983)
  - c L Less than
  - ^d Drainage area not calculated
- e Includes drainage area of Poplar Creek proper (151 km²), Upper Beaver Creek (165 km²), Creek B1 (47.44 km²) and Creek B2 (63.62 km²); does not include mine or reservoir drainage areas.

## APPENDIX C

#### ZOOPLANKTON

		15 Ji	une 19	184			24 .	July 19	984			23 Sep	tember	1984	
	Mean Body Length ^a	Co Aliq	untin uot Ne	ι 5,b	Calcu- lated Sample	Mean Body Length	C Ali	ount in guot N	n Io.	Calcu- lated Sample	Mean Body Length	C Ali	ount in guot No	0.	Calcu lated Sampl
	(mm)	1	2	3	Total	(mm)	1	2	3	Total	(mm)	1	2	3	Total
COPEPODA															
CALANOIDA															
Diaptomus oregonensis	0.842	34	29	24	464	1.007	101	88	82	1 445	1.190	166	154	167	2 597
diaptomid nauplii		284	-	-	4 544		244	-	-	3 904		12	-	-	192
CYCLOPOIDA															
Acenthographic verselic At adv C	0 976	1.4			204	0 750				100	0 707	10			
Acanthocyclops vernalis A+ adv.c	0.820	14	-	-	224	0.750	8	-	-	128	0.707	16	-	-	256
Discourdent the ani A radu C	(n=14)	0			•	(n=8)				100	(n=16)				
Diacyclops thomasi A+ adv.C		0	-	-	U	0.(69	8	-	-	128	0.799	18	-	-	288
••	0 550					(n=8)					(n=18)	_			
Mesocyclops edax	0.750	2	-	-	32	0.732	4	-	-	64	0.750	7	-	-	112
	(n=2)					(n=4)					(n=7)				
cyclopoid copepodids, immature C	0.441	75	-	-	1200	0.459	140	-	-	2 240	0.512	204	-	-	3 264
cyclopoid nauplii		264	-	-	4 224		152	-	-	2 432		540	-	-	8 640
CLADOCERA															
Bosmina longirostris	0.352	59	45	57	859	0.314	324	-	-	5 184	0.324	106	**	-	1 696
Ceriodaphnia lacustris		0	-	-	0	0.503	2	-	-	32		0	-	-	C
Macrothrix hirsuticomis	0.403	1	-	_	16	(n=2)	0		_	n		n	_	_	
	(n=1)						0			•		0			v
Denhnia pervula	0.663	11	7	9	144	0.525	92	_	-	1 479	0 744	3	0		90
Dupining phi tutu	(n=1.8)	**	•		111	01020	02			1 472	(n=11)	3	0	4	00
Diaphanosoma leuchtenbergianum	u. 10/	n	n	2	11	0.631	241	-	_	3 855	0 737	7	2	0	60
Distantion Internet Branzin		Ť	Ū	-		0.001				0 000	(n=7)	'	4	2	55
Alona guttata		0	0	1	5		1	-	-	16	ut ty	0	0	1	5
Chydorus sphaericus	0.220	0	1	1	11		2	2	3	37	0 236	g	3	1	64
	(n=2)	-	-	-			-	-		0,	(n=8)	0	U	1	01
OTIFERA															
Keratella cochlearis		308	-	-	4 928		42	-	-	672		4 051	-	-	64 816
Keratella earlinae		2 146	-	-	34 336		756		-	12 096		560		-	8 960
Keratella quadrata		616	*	-	9 856		0		-	0		19	-	-	304
Keratella hiemalis		28	-	-	448		0	-	-	0		0	-	-	(
Notholca acuminata		8	-	-	128		0	~	-	0		0		-	0
Euchlanis dilatata		0		-	0		56		-	896		0	-	~	C
Brachionus calycifloris		38	-	-	6 096		0		-	0		0	-	-	(
Brachionus quadridentatus		0	1	-	8		0	-	-	0		4	-	_	64
Asplanchna priodonta		2	-	-	32		4		-	64		8	· -	-	128
Synchaeta pectinata (?)		0	-	-	0		0	-	-	D		672	-	-	10 752
Synchaeta oblonga (?)		0	-	-	0		0		-	0		261	-	-	4 176
Synchaeta sp.		20	-	-	320		0	-	-	0		0	-	-	c
Gastropus (?) sp.		18			288		0	-	-	0		0	-	-	c
Polyarthra vulgaris		0	-	-	0		8		-	128		0	-		(
Filinia longiseta		46	~	-	736		8	-		128		37	_	_	592
Polyarthra dolichoptera		2 212	-	-	35 392		0		-	0		0	-	-	(
Rotaria neptunia		0	1	-	8		0	-	-	0		0	-	_	ſ
unidentified rotifers		0	-	-	0		0		-	0		93	-	-	1 488
OTHER TAXA															
Ostracoda, immature		4	,	5	59		n		-	0		0			
		-1	4		0.0		v		-	v		U U		-	U

Table C1. Mean body length and individual aliquot counts of zooplankton from Beaver Creek Reservoir (station BCR Z), 1984.

a Mean body length based on measurements of 30 individuals except where noted in brackets. Mean length not determined for Rotifera or immatures.
b Counts in aliquots 2 and 3 are for selected mature forms only, to allow assessment of replicability. Dash indicates species or life stage not counted in second or third aliquot. Depth sampled and total volume sampled were 0 - 5.5 m and 461 L on 15 June. 0 - 3.5 m and 294 L on 24 July, and 0 - 4.5 m and 377 L on 23 September. Volume of aliquot is 1/16 of preserved sample volume.
c A = adult; C = copepodid, usually I to III; adv. C = advanced copepodids, usually IV and V.

#### Table C2. Mean body length and individual aliquot counts of zooplankton from Ruth Lake (station RL-Z), 1984.

		16 Ju	ne 19	84			26 J	July :	1984		24 September 1984						
	Mean Body Length ^a	Cou Aligu	nt in ot No	. ^b	Calcu- lated Sample	Mean Body Length	Co Alio	ount quot	in no.	Calcu- lated Sample	Mean Body Length		Co Aliqu	untin Jot N	1 Q.	Calcu- lated Sample	
	(mm)	1	2	3	Total	(mm)	1	2	3	Total	(mm)	1	2	3	13/16	Total	
COPEPODA CALANOIDA																	
Diaptomus oregonensis	0.654	46	74	44	875	0.612 (p=7)	2	2	3	17	1.217 (n=4)	2	1	1	39	43	
diaptomid nauplii		168	-	-	2 688		33	33	35	539		11	11	9	-	165	
CYCLOPOIDIA Acenthovelors vernelis At adv C	0 666	4	1	0	27		n	_	_	n		ß	0	0	ŋ	n	
Discyclops thomasi 4+ adv C	(n=4)	,	1 0	ں م	5		0	-	_	0	0 847	0	n	1	4	5	
Mecoviors adex	(n=1) 0 798	2	3	1	22		ů		_	n	(n=3)	n	1	1	3	5	
Micrografore vericent suballus A	(n=6)	2	2	2	91		0			0	(n=3)	Ŭ	Î	·	0	0	
cyclopoid copepodids, immature C	(n=4) 0.429	61	61	58	960	0.395	23	24	21	385	0.419	2	3	4	_	48	
evelopoid nauplij	0.120	208	-	-	3 328	01000	101	81	85	1 424	(n=9)	~ 66	77	68	_	1 125	
CLADOCERA		-															
Bosmina longirostris	0.298	37	35	28	533	0,227	2	2	1	17	0.329 (n=2)	1	1	0	-	11	
Ceriodaphnia lacustris	(11 2 17	0	-	-	0	ur 07	0	0	1	2		0		-	-	0	
Daphnia parvula	0.711 (n=7)	1	2	4	37	-	0	0	0	1	0.915 (n=1)	0	1	0	0	1	
Diaphanosoma leuchtenbergianum	0.714 (n=4)	0	3	1	21	0.519 (n=11)	3	5	3	51		0		-	-	0	
Acroperus harpae	~	0	2	0	11												
Chydorus sphaericus	0.265 (n=4)	4	7	4	80	0.311 (n=2)	0	0	0	3		0	-	-	-	0	
ROTIFERA Keratella cochlearis		182	-	-	2 912		174	_	-	2 784		145	-		-	2 320	
Keratella earlinae		1 260	-	-	20 160		74	-	-	1 184		10	-	-	-	160	
Keratella quadrata Notholos scuminsts		168	-	-	2 688		11	-	-	176		2	1	-	-	24	
Trichotria pocillum		14	-	-	224		Ō	-		0		Ô	-	-	-	0	
Euchlanis dilata		0	-	-	0		0	2	1	16		0	-	-	-	0	
Brachnionus quadridentatus		0		-	0		2	1	0	16		0	1	0	-	5	
Synchaeta pectinata		0	-	-	0		0	-	-	100		4	-	-	-	64 190	
Synchaeta oolonga Filipia longisota		14	-	_	224		2	-		128		2	- 4		-	128	
Polvarthra dolichoptera		392	-	-	6 272		6	-	-	96		10	-	-	-	160	
Polyarthra vulgaris		14	-	-	224		14	-	-	224		4	-	-	-	64	
Conochilus unicornis		0	-	-	0		3	-	-	48		0	-	-	-	0	
Lecane (Monostyle) bulla		0	-	-	0		4	-	-	64		0	-	-	-	0	
unidentified rotifers		28	-	-	448		0	-	-	0		0 10	-	-	-	160	
OTHER TAXA																	
CERATOPOGONIDAE (larvae)		1	-	-	5		0	-	-	0		0			-	0	
OSTRACODA, immature		3	0	0	16	-	0	0	0	ı		0		-	-	0	

⁸ Mean body length based on measurements of 30 individuals except where noted in brackets. Mean length not determined for Rotifera or immatures.
 ^b Counts in aliquots 2 and 3 are for selected mature forms only, to allow assessment of replicability. Dash indicates species or life stage not counted in second or third aliquot. Depth sampled and total volume sampled were 0 - 1.5 m and 126 L, respectively, on all three sampling dates. Volume of aliquot is 1/16 of preserved sample volume.
 ^c A = adult; C = copepodid, usually I to III; adv. C = advanced copepodids, usually IV and V.

		16 J	984			26	July 1	984		24 September 1984						
	Mean Body Length ^a	C Aliq	ount i puot N	п о.Ъ	Calcu- lated Sample	Mean Body Length	C Ali	Count i iquot 1	n 10.	Calcu- lated Sample	Mean Body Length	C Al	tember 1984           Sount in iquot No.           2         3           302         39           -         -           -         -           -         -           -         -           -         -           -         -           -         -           -         -           -         -           -         -           -         -           -         -           -         -           -         -           -         -           -         -           -         -           -         -           -         -           -         -           -         -           -         -           -         -           -         -           -         -           -         -           -         -           -         -           -         -           -         -           -         -           -         -	n Io.	Calcu- lated Sample	
	(mm)	1	2	3	Total	(mm)	1	2	3	Total	(mm)	1	2	3	Total	
COPEPODA CALANOIDA Diantomus oregonensis	0.779	100	104	102	1 632	1.296	14	15	10	208	1.174	377	302	391	5 707	
diaptomid nauplii		93	-		1 488	(n=14)	196	-	-	3 136		5	-	-	80	
CYCLOPOIDA Acanthocycloos vernalis A+ adv.C	0.659	39	-	_	624	0.875	48	-	-	768	0.622	13	-	-	208	
Diacyclops thomasi A+ adv.C	0.865	8	-	-	128	(n=18) 0.966	64	-	-	1 024	(n=13) 0.820	70	-	-	1 120	
Mesocyclops edax	(n=8) 0.846	77	-	-	1 232	1.043	33	-	-	528	1.162	13	-	-	208	
cyclopoid copepodids, immature C	(n=14) 0.418	257	-	-	4 112	(n=11) 0.551	1 080	-	-	17 280	(n=8) 0.490	216	-	-	3 456	
cyclopoid nauplii		327	-	-	5 232		196	-	-	3 136		149	-	-	2 384	
CLADOCERA Bosmina longirostris	0.272	147	-	-	2 352	0 271	1 582	-	-	25 312	0.311	365	-	-	5 840	
Ceriodaphnia lacustris		0	-	-	0	0.454	11	-	-	176		0	-	-	0	
Ceriodaphnia guadrangula		0	-	-	0	0.531 (n=4)	4	-	-	64		0	-		0	
Macrothrix hirsuticornis	0.256 (n=1)	C	0	1	5		0	-	-	0		0	-	-	0	
Daphnia parvula	0.741	14	8	10	171	0.592	803	-	-	12 848	0 746	186	201	190	3 077	
Diaphanosoma leuchtenbergianum	0.564 (n=14)	14	6	8	149	0.620 (n=24)	79	-	-	1 264	0.695 (n=4)	4	7	8	101	
Alona guttata	0.300 (n=1)	1	0	0	5		0	-	-	0		0	-	-	0	
Chydorus sphaericus	0.420 (n=1)	1	1	1	16	0.256 (n=2)	2	-	-	32		0	-	-	0	
Keratella cochlearis		1 614	-	-	25 824		6	-	-	96		10 416	-	-	166 656	
Keratella earlinae		3 220	-	-	51 520		77	-	-	1 232		168		-	2 688	
Keratella quadrata		485	-	-	7 776		8	_	-	128		172	-	-	2 752	
Euchlanis dilatata		3	_	_	48		6	_	_	96		0	_	_	0	
Euchlanis mikropous		0	-	-	0		9	-	-	144		0		-	ŏ	
Trichocerca multicrinis		0	-	-	0		14	-	-	224		0	-	-	0	
Brachionus calycifloris		65	-	-	1 040		0	-	-	0		0	-	-	0	
Brachionus quadridentatus		28	-	-	448		0	-	-	0		28	-	-	448	
Asplanchna priodonta		304	-	-	864		8	-	-	128		128	-	•	2 048	
Synchaeta pecimate (1)		284	-		4 544		0	-		0		336	-	-	5 376	
Gastrous (?) sp.		0		_	0		8		-	128		04	-		1 344	
Filinia longiseta		14	-	-	224		ŏ	-	-	0		514	-	-	8 224	
Polyarthra dolichoptera		66	-	~	1 056		9	-	-	144		172	-	-	2 752	
Polyarthra vulgaris		1 624	-	-	25 984		0	-	-	0		0		-	0	
Conochilus unicornis		0	-	-	0		0	-	-	0		112	-	-	1 792	
CHAOBORIDAE			-	~			_	-	-							
Chaoborus Havicans		4	3	3	53		3	1	2	32		0	1	0	5	
Chaoborus instar 1 (unident.)		2	6 -	4	64 0		2 2	1	4	32		11 0	0	0	1 0	
OTHER TAXA Small fish		1	-	-	1		0	-	-	0		0		-	0	

Table C3. Mean body length and individual aliquot counts of zooplankton from Poplar Creek Reservoir (Station PCR-Z), 1984.

⁸ Mean body length based on measurements of 30 individuals except where noted in brackets. Mean length not determined for Rotifera or immatures.
 ^b Counts in aliquots 2 and 3 are for selected mature forms only, to allow assessment of replicability. Dash indicates species or life stage not counted in second or third aliquot. Depth sampled and total volume sampled were 0 - 14 m and 1174 L, respectively, on 16 June and 26 July, and 0 - 16 m and 1340 L on 24 September. Volume of aliquot was 1/16 of preserved sample volume.
 ^c A = adult; C = copepodid, usually I to III; adv. C = advanced copepodids, usually IV and V.

APPENDIX D

## ZOOBENTHOS

Table D1.	Taxonomic composition and abundance of benthic macroinvertebrates in replicate Neill samples and dipnet samples from station MR-B1 on the MacKay River, 1984.
-----------	---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

SYNCRU	DE	Spring (19 June)					Summer (28 July)					Fall (22 September)					
Code	Texa	1	1 2 3 x Dip					1 2 3 x Dip					1 2 3 <del>x</del> D				
ITC MTC	3																
	COELENTERATA																
12	Hydrozoa								4	1 2							
15	NEMATODA								4	1.5		2		1	1.0		
8	MOLLUSCA											-		-			
	Pelecypoda																
29	Sphaeriidae						5		1	2.0		1		2	1.0		
03	Gastropoda																
	Valvatidae																
66	Valvata						1			0.3							
	Valvata sincera sincera Velvata tricerinata																
	Lymnaeidae																
32	Lymnaea																
	Physidae																
10	Physa Bloporbide e																
67	Armiger																
11	Gyraulus																
50	Helisoma																
68	Promenetus																
18	Ferrissia																
9	ANNELIDA																
23	Hirudinea																
	Glossiphoniidae																
69	Glossiphonia complanata																
70	Helobdelia stagnalis Hirudinidaa																
71	Haemopis grandis																
	Erpobdellidae																
72	Nephelopsis obscura	•									·						
22	ARTHROPODA	8	12	9	9.7		18	22	29	23.0	Р	75	68	76	73.0		
	Arachnida																
13	Acari											19	22	52	31.0		
	Crustacea																
	Amphipoda																
24	Gammarus lacustris.																
73	Hyalella azteca																
74	Collembola																
1	Emphemeroptera																
	Siphlonuridae																
33	Ameletus				0.2												
10	Metretopodidae			1	0.3												
76	Metretopus																
	Baetidae							1		0.3		5	10	20	11.7		
1	Baetis	3		1	1.3		1	2	3	2.0	A	4	14		6.0		
77	Centroptilum																
44	Pseudocloeon	1			0.3							9			3.0		
	Heptageniidae								2	0.7		1		2	1.0		
2 79	Heptagenia							1		0.3	P			2	0.7		
79	Stenonema																
	Leptophlebiidae																
80	Leptophlebia																
30	Paraleptophiebia																
19	Ephemerella	1	2	3	2.0	А						18	25	8	17.0		
	Tricorythidae	=	-	•								10	20	v	11.0		
43	Tricorythodes						2	3	12	5.7	Р		7	2	3.0		
45	Caenia										ъ			1	0.9		
	Baetiscidae										•			1	0.3		
. 81	Baetisca											1	3	3	2.3		
5	Calopterwridee																
82	Calopterygidae																
01	T antida a																
02	Lestidae																
83	Lestes																
83 84	Lestidae Lestes Coenagrionidae Coenagrion					P					D						

Continued ...
Table D1. Continued.

SYNCRUDE			Spri	ng (19 a	June)		9	kum me	r (28	July)			Fall (2	2 Septe	mbe <del>r</del> )	
Code	Taza	1	2	3	x	Dip	 1	2	3	Ī	Dip	1	2	3	x	Dip
TC MTG																
	Gomphidae															
28	Gomphus										Р		3	1	1.3	Р
60	Aeshnidae										-					
42	Aeshna															
87	Anex															
39	Somatochlora															
88	Libellulidae											5			17	
2	Plecoptera											J			1.1	
3	Pteronarcys															
	Taeniopterygidae													2	1 9	
89	Taeniopteryx Nemouridae											1		2	0.3	
59	Malenka															
34	Nemoura															
90																
91	Claassenia															
	Perlodidae															
58 48	konerla											10	7	6	7.7	P
92	Chloroperlidae															
0.2	Hemiptera															
93	Corixidae															
•••	Gerridae															
95	Gerris															
5	pupae															
_	Philopotamidae															
17	Wormaldia															
96	Psychomyia															
	Polycentropodidae															
20	Neureclipsis Bolycontrouw															
51	Hydropsychidae															
98	Cheumatopsyche											1			0.3	
4	Hydropsyche Rhyscophilidae											1			0.5	
51	Rhyacophila															
-	Glossosomatidae															
5	Glossosoma Hydroptilidae															
41	Hydroptila															
99	Ochrotrichia															
101	Agruppia															
102	Ptilostomis															
	Brachycentridae															
27	Brachycentrus Lepidostometidee															
103	Lepidostoma															
	Limnephilidae															
104	Grammotaulius															
106	Hesperophylax															
107	Nemotaulius Heliconsvehidse															
108	Helicopsyche															
•	Leptoceridae															
9 109	Oecetis															
4	Coleoptera					_					-					
110	Gyrinidae Ualiplidae					P					Р					
111	Halipius					Р										
47	Dytiscidae															
6	Elmidae												5		1.7	
v	pupae		1		0.3		1			0.3					•	
35	Tipulidae															
119	Chaoboridae															
7	Simuliidae	2			0.7		1	2		1.0	P					
•	pupae															
37	Ceratopogonidae	7	1	5	0.3		25	9	8	14.0		99	36	140	91.7	A
38	Tabanidae	(	9	J	1.0		20	5	0	- 1.0		50				•-
46	Empididae											4		5	3.0	i
	COLUMN TOTALS	22	25	19	21.9		54	40	59	50.9		256	202	322	260.0	' <u>-</u>
	TAXA			12		4		1	6		9			23	_	9

Notes: MTC = major taxonomic category; MTG = major taxonomic group; A = abundant (five or more individuals), P = present; Neill sampler: area = 0.1 m² mesh size = 0.210 mm; Dipnet: mesh size = 0.250 mm.

-

ننتعد

Ś.

the second second

Table D2. Taxonomic composition and abundance of benthic macroinvertebrates in replicate Neill samples and dipnet samples from station MR-B2 on the MacKay River, 1984.

SYNC	RUDE			Spring	(19 Jun	ıe)			Sumn	ner (30	July)			F	all (21	Septer	nber)	
Cod	e	Таха	1	2 3	3	x	Dip	1	2	3	x	Dip	1		2	3	x	Q
MTC	MTG																	
		COELENTERATA																
		Hydrozoa																
	12	Hydra																
	15	NEMATODA																
8		MOLLUSCA Delegenerado																
	20	Sphaniidaa						2			07							
	45	Unionideo						2										
	03	Gestropode																
		Valvatidae																
	66	Valvata																
		Valvata sincera sincera																
		Valvata tricarinata																
		Lymnaeidae																
	32	Lymnaea																
		Physidae																
	10	Physa																
		Planorbidae																
	67	Armiger																
	11	Gyraulus																
	50	Promoneture																
	00	Ancylidee																
	18	Ferrissia																
_	10																	
9		ANNELIDA																
	23	Hirudinea																
		Giossiphonitoae																
	59 70	Holobdolla stamalis																
	10	Hirudinidae																
	71	Haemoois grandis																
	••	Erpobdellidae																
	72	Nephelopsis obscura																
	22	Oligochaeta		3		1.0		39	21	14	24.7			2	6	7	5.0	
		ARTHROPODA																
		Arachnida						-	~	,								
	13	Acari						2	2	4	2.7							
	10	Crustacea																
		Malacostraca																
	0.4	Ampnipoda																
	24	Hundella agtera																
	10	Insecta																
	74	Collembola																
1	••	Emphemeroptera																
		Siphlonuridae																
	33	Ameletus																
	75	Siphlonurus																
		Metretopodidae																
	76	Metretopus												_				
		Baetidae					n	15	2	10	5.7			6	3	3	4.(	,
	1	Baetis			1	0.3	Р	21	26	10	19.0	A						
		Campactis																
	11	Breudoelocon			1	0.3				3	1 0					2	0 9	7
		Hentageniidae			•	0.0		2			0.7					ĩ	ŏ.	ŝ
	2	Hentagenia					Р	2				Р				2	0.7	7
	78	Rhithrogena					•					-			1	-	Ö.3	3
	79	Stenonema																
		Leptophlebiidae																
	80	Leptophlebia																
	30	Paraleptophiebia																
		Ephemerellidae																
	19	Ephemerella					Р								1		0.3	3
		Tricorythidae						-		~								
	43	Tricorythodes						3		2	1.7	A						
	45	Caenidae									0 9							
	40	Caenis Beetiscideo							1		0.3							
	81	Bactisce																
5	01	Odona ta																
		Calopterveidae																
	82	Caloptervx																
		Lestidae						<b>~</b>										
	83	Lestes																
		Coenagrionidae																
	84	Coenagrion																
	85	Inchase																

Table	D2.	Continued.

SVNC	TOUDE			Sp	ring (1	9 June)	)		1	Summ	er (30	July)			Fall (	21 Septe	nber)	
Co	de	Taxa	1	2	3	x	Dip	-	1	2	3	Ī	Dip	1	2	3	Ī	Dip
MTC	MTG																	
		Gomphidae																
	28	Gomphus					_											
	86	Ophiogomphus					Р			4		1.3	A					
	49	Aeshnidae																
	87	Anax											•					
	0.	Corduliidae																
	39	Somatochlora																
	88	Libellulidae																
2		Plecoptera																
	2	Pteronarcyidae												1			03	
	3	Taenionterveidae																
	89	Taeniopteryx																
		Nemouridae																
	59	Malenka																
	34	Nemoura																
	90	Acroneuria																
	91	Claassenia																
		Perlodidae																
	58	Arcynopteryx															1 0	n
	48	isoper la Chiene populida e												1		z	1.0	P
	92	Hamiotera																
	93	Notonectidae																
	94	Corixidae																
		Gerridae																
0	95	Gerris																
3		ninoptera																
		Philopotamidae																
	17	Wormaldia																
		Psychomyiidae																
	96	Psychomyia																
	20	Neuroclinsis																
	97	Polycentropus																
		Hydropsychidae																
	98	Cheumatopsyche																
	4	Hydropsyche								1		0.3						
	51	Rhyacophila																
	vi	Glossosomatidae																
	5	Glossosoma																
		Hydroptilidae																
	41	Hydroptila																
	99	Phrygeneidee																
	101	Agryonia																
	102	Ptilostomis																
		Brachycentridae																
	27	Brachycentrus																
	103	Lepidostomaticae																
	100	Limnephilidae																
	104	Clostoeca																
	105	Grammotaulius																
	106	Hesperophylax																
	101	Helicopsychidae																
	108	Helicopsyche																
		Leptoceridae																
	9	Ceraclea																
4	109	Coleoptera																
-	110	Gyrinidae																
		Haliplidae																
	111	Haliplus																
	47	Dytiscidae																
6	0	Diptera																
v		pupae																
	35	Tipulidae																
		Chaoboridae																
	112	Chaoborus					7 D		01	160	110	120 1						
	4	Simulidae			1 4	a T			91	100	110	120.3						
	37	Ceratopogonidae																Р
	8	Chironomidae		1	3 1	1 1	.7		16	18	10	14.7				1	0.3	
	38	Tabanidae																
	46	Empididae																
						_					4.5.5							
		COLUMN TOTALS	:	1	7	75	.0		191	235	153	193.1		10	ı 11	18	12.9	
		TAXA			8		5				14		4			16		9

Notes: MTC = major taxonomic category; MTG = major taxonomic group; A = abundant (five or more individuals), P = present; Neill sampler: area = 0.1 m², mesh size = 0.210 mm; Dipnet: mesh size = 0.250 mm.

Table D3.	Taxonomic composition and abundance of benthic macroinvertebrates in replicate Neill samples and dipnet samples from station MR-B3 on the MacKay River, 1984.
-----------	---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

SYNCRUDI	B	_	Spri	ng (19	June)			Sum	mer (3	0 July)			Fall (2	1 Septe	ember)	
Code	Taxa	1	2	3	x	Dip	1	2	3	x	Dip	1	2	3	x	Dip
MTC MTG																
	COELENTERATA															
12	Hydra															
15	NEMATODA							1		0.3				1	0.3	
8	MOLLUSCA															
	Pelecypoda							_								
29	Sphaeriidae						4	7		3.7			1		0.3	
00	Gastropoda															
	Valvatidae															
66	Valvata															
	Valvata sincera sincera															
	Lymnaeidae															
32	Lymnaea															
	Physidae															
10	Physa Diamanhistan															
67	Armiger															
11	Gyraulus															
50	Helisoma															
68	Promenetus															
18	Rerrissia							1		0.3		,			0.2	
								1		0.0		T			0.3	
23	Hirudinea															
	Glossiphoniidae															
69	Glossiphonia complanata															
70	Helobdella stagnalis															
71	Haemonis grandis															
	Erpobdellidae															
72	Nephelopsis obscura															
22	Oligochaeta	18	13	12	14.3		34	40	4	26.0		4	66	9	26.3	Р
	Arachnida															
13	Acari								1	0.3	Р	1	1	10	4.0	
10	Crustacea															
	Malacostraca															
24	Genmaris legistris															
73	Hyalella azteca															
	Insecta															
1 74	Collembola							1		0.3						
1	Siphlopuridee															
33	Ameletus															
75	Siphlonurus															
	Metretopodidae															
76	Metretopus						2	1.4								
1	Baetis	10	5	7	7.3	Р	3 6	14	6	5.7 7 7	۵	1	20	4	8.3	
	Callibaetis						Ť	••	Ů		n		1		0.5	
77	Centroptilum										Р					
44	Pseudocloeon	3	8	1	4.0									1	0.3	
2	Heptagenindae	1		1	07	D	4	6		3.3	n	1	1	1	1.0	
78	Rhithrogena	-		•	0.1	•	1			0.3	r	1	1		0.3	P
79	Stenonema												•		0.0	
	Leptophlebiidae															
80 30	Leptophiebia Bassleptophiebia															A
00	Ephemerellidae															
19	Ephemerella	1			0.3	Р										
42	Tricorythidae										_					
4.5	Caenidae						13	13	1	9.0	Р	3		4	2.3	A
45	Caenis						1	2		1.0						
	Baetiscidae						-	-								
5 81	Baetisca															
J	Caloptervoidae															
82	Calopteryx															
	Lestidae															
83	Lestes															
84	Coenagrion															
85	Ischnura															

Table D3. Continued.

SYNCRUDE			Sprin	ng (19	June)		 	Summ	er (3(	) July)			Fe	all (21	Septer	nber)	
Code	Таха	1	2	3	x	Dip	 1	2	3	x	Dip	1		2	3	x	Dip
MTC MTG																	
••	Gomphidae																
28	Gomphus Ophiogomphus					P					Р						Р
00	Aeshnidae					•					-						-
42	Aeshna																
87	Anax																
30	Corduliidae																
88	Libellulidae																
2	Plecoptera																
	Pteronarcyidae																
3	Teeniopterwridee																
89	Taeniopteryx																
	Nemouridae																
59	Malenka														1	03	
34	Perlidae														1	0.5	
90	Acroneuria																
91	Claassenia																
E 0	Periodidae																
48	Isoperla													1		0.3	
92	Chloroperlidae																
	Hemiptera																
93	Notonectidae																А
54	Gerridae																
95	Gerris																
3	Trichoptera																
	pupae Philopotemidee																
17	Wormaldia																
	Psychomyiidae																
96	Psychomyia																
20	Neureclinsis																
97	Polycentropus																
	Hydropsychidae																
98	Cheumatopsyche							1		0.3							
-	Rhyacophilidae							1		0.5							
51	Rhyacophila																
	Glossosomatidae																
5	Glossosoma																
41	Hydroptila																
99	Ochrotrichia																
	Phryganeidae																
101	Agrypnia Btilestomic																
102	Brachycentridae																
27	Brachycentrus																
	Lepidostomatidae																
103	Lepidostoma																
104	Clostoeca																
105	Grammotaulius																
106	Hesperophylax																
107	Helicopsychidae																
108	Helicopsyche																
	Leptoceridae																
9	Ceraclea																
4	Coleoptera																
110	Gyrinidae																
	Haliplidae																
111 47	Dytiscidae																Р
6	Elmidae																
6	Diptera																
	pupae														1	0.3	
35	Chaoboridae																
112	Chaoborus																
7	Simuliidae	27	56	46	43.0	Р	60	258	74	130.7	Р						
0.7	pupae Constant																
37	Chironomidae	5	4		3.0		3	9	2	4.7				1	11	4.0	
38	Tabanidae	5							2					-	-		
46	Empididae		1	1	0.7												
· <u>····</u> ·····																	
	COLUMN TOTALS	65	87	68	73.3		133	364	88	194.9			12	94	43	49.3	
	TAXA			9		5			18		7			2	0		7

Notes: MTC = major taxonomic category; MTG = major taxonomic group; A = abundant (five or more individuals), P = present; Neill sampler: area = 0.1 m², mesh size = 0.210 mm; Dipnet: mesh size = 0.250 mm.

SYNC	RUDE			Sprin	<b>g</b> (19	June)			Sum	mer (3	0 July)			Fall (2	1 Septe	mber)	
Co	de	Taza	1	2	3	x	Dip	1	2	3	x	Dip	1	2	3	x	D
(TC	MTG					_											
110		COFLENTERATA															
		Hydrozoa															
	12	Hydra								0	0.7				,	1 2	
a	15	NEMATODA MOLLUSCA	2			0.7				z	0.7				4	1.5	
0		Pelecypoda															
	29	Sphaeriidae	2		1	1.0	Р		2		0.7		5	5	1	2.7	
	65	Unionidae					Р							1		0.3	
		Gastropoda															
	66	Valvata															
		Valvata sincera sincera															
		Valvata tricarinata															
	32	Lymnaea															
		Physidae															
	10	Physa															
	67	PlanorDidae															
	11	Gyraulus							1		0.3						
	50	Helisoma															
	68	Promenetus															
	18	Ferrissia												1	1	0.7	
0		ANNELIDA															
3	23	Hirudinea															
		Glossiphoniidae															
	69	Glossiphonia complanata			1	0.3											
	70	Hirudinidae															
	71	Haemopis grandis															
	-	Erpobdellidae															
	72	Nepnelopsis obscura Oligochaeta	2	33	4	13.0		3	22	16	13.7		138	59	198	131.7	
	22	ARTHROPODA	-					-									
		Arachnida								10	4.0		40	40		10.0	
	13	Acari		4		1.3			3	10	4.3		48	40	8	32.0	
	10	Malacostraca															
		Amphipoda															
	24	Gammarus lacustris												1	1	0.7	
	10	Insecta												•	-		
	74	Collembola															
1		Emphemeroptera															
	33	Ameletus															
	75	Siphlonurus															
		Metretopodidae															
	76	Metretopus							3		1.0		104	32	125	87.0	
	1	Baetis	3	5	5	4.3	А	6	11	21	12.7	P	3	ĩ	1	1.7	
		Callibactis															
	77	Centroptilum		•	2	17							6		ı	2 3	
	44	Heptageniidae		2	5	1.,			5		1.7		v		-	2.5	
	2	Heptagenia			1	0.3		5	2	6	4.3	Р					
	78	Rhithrogena															
	79	Stenonema Lentophlebiidse															
	80	Leptophiebia											5			1.7	r -
	30	Paraleptophlebia										Р	2			0.7	
	19	Ephemerellidae					P			2	0.7						
	15	Tricorythidae					•				•••						
	43	Tricorythodes						1	6	5	4.7	Р	63	15	216	98.0	)
	45	Caenidae	1			n 3		n			17	Р		6	5	3 7	,
	40	Baetiscidae	I			0.0		2	2	1	1.1			U		0.1	
	81	Baetisca															
5		Odonata															
	82	Calopterygidae Caloptervx															
		Lestidae						•									
	83	Lestes															
	84	Coenagrionidae															
		Cochagerout															

Table D4. Taxonomic composition and abundance of benthic macroinvertebrates in replicate Neill samples and dipnet samples from station MR-B4 on the MacKay River, 1984.

Table D4. Continued.

SANCHIDE			Spri	<b>ng</b> (19	June)			Summ	er (30	July)			Fall (2	1 Septe	mber)	
Code	Таха	1	2	3	x	Dip	1	2	3	x	Dip	1	2	3	x	Dip
IC MTG																
	Gomphidae															
28	Gomphus															
50	Aeshnidae															_
42	Aeshna															Р
87	Anax Corduliidae															
39	Somatochlora															
88	Libellulidae														0 7	
2	Plecoptera													8	4 . (	
3	Pteronarcys										Р					
	Taeniopterygidae															
89	Taeniopteryx Nemouridae															
59	Malenka															
34	Nemoura															
90	Acroneuria											1		1	07	
91	Claassenia															
	Perlodidae															
58	Arcynopteryx															
92	Chloroperlidae															
	Hemiptera															
93	Corizidae															Р
	Gerridae															
95	Gerris															
3	DUDAE															
	Philopotamidae															
17	Wormaldia															
96	Psychomyidae															
	Polycentropodidae															
20	Neureclipsis															
97	Hydropsychidae															
98	Cheumatopsyche															
4	Hydropsyche															
51	Rhyacophila															
	Glossosomatidae															
5	Glossosoma															
41	Hydroptila															
99	Ochrotrichia															
101	Phryganeidae															
101	Ptilostomis															
	Brachycentridae															
27	Brachycentrus															
103	Lepidostoma															
	Limnephilidae															
104	Clostoeca															
106	Hesperophylax															
107	Nemotaulius															
108	Helicopsychidae															
100	Leptoceridae															
9	Ceraclea															
4	Coleoptera															
110	Gyrinidae															Р
111	Haliplidae															
47	Dytiscidae															
6	Elmidae															
6	Diptera			1	03			1		0.3				4	1.3	
35	Tipulidae			1	0.5			1						1	0.3	
	Chaoboridae															
112	Cheoborus	200	312	106	302.2	А	15	30	21	32 0						
'	DUDAG	390	919	190	0.3	A	40	50	41	0.3						
37	Ceratopogonidae			_									4		1.3	
8	Chironomidae	2	9	7	6.0		6	14	4	8.0	Р	39	4 228	206	276.0	Р
38 46	Empididae															
	• • • •															
	COLUMN TOTALS	411	366	219	331.8		69	104	88	87.1		76	9 393	781	646.8	
	TAXA			15		5			18		7			23		7

Notes: MTC = major taxonomic category; MTG = major taxonomic group; A = abundant (five or more individuals), P = present; Neill sampler: area = 0.1 m², mesh size = 0.210 mm; Dipnet: mesh size = 0.250 mm.

SYNCRUDI	2		Spri	ng (19	June)		_		Sumn	ier (30	) July)			Fall (2	1 Septe	mber)	
Code	Таха	1	2	3	x	Dip		1	2	3	x	Dip	 1	2	3	x	Dip
	COELENGERACA																
	UULENTERATA																
12	Hydrozoa																
15	NEMATODA																
8	MOLLUSCA																
	Pelecypoda																
29	Sphaeriidae																
65	Unionidae																
	Gastropoda																
66	Valvata																
	Valvata sincera sincera																
	Valvata tricarinata																
	Lymnaeidae																
32	Lymnaea																
10	Physical																
10	Planorbidae												1			0.3	
67	Armiger												-				
11	Gyraulus																
50	Helisoma																
68	Promenetus																
18	Ferrissia																
9 23	Hirudines									,	0.2						
20	Glossiphoniidae									1	0.5						
69	Glossiphonia complanata																
70	Helobdella stagnalis																
	Hirudinidae																
71	Haemopis grandis																
79	Nonhelonsis observe																
22	Oligochaeta		2		0.7			4	2		2.0		5	3		2.7	
	ARTHROPODA		-					•	-		2.0			Ū		2	
	Arachnida																
13	Acari														2	0.7	
10	Crustacea																
	Amphipoda																
24	Gammarus lacustris																
73	Hyalella azteca																
	Insecta																
1 74	Collembola								•								
1	Siphlopuridae								3		1.0						
33	Ameletus																
75	Siphlonurus																
	Metretopodidae																
76	Metretopus												_	_	_		
T	Baeticae	10	90	10	10.0			10	0	10	12.0	р	8	3	2	4.3	
•	Callibaetis	15	20	10	13.0	л		12	3	10	13.0	r	5	10	1	5.3	Р
77	Centroptilum																
44	Pseudocloeon		1	1	0.7									3		1.0	А
	Heptageniidae																
2 79	Heptagenia																
78	Stopopera																
15	Leptophlebiidae													7			
80	Leptophlebia															2.0	Р
30	Paraleptophlebia									1	0.3	Р					•
	Ephemerellidae																
1.9	Ephemerella																
43	Tricorythodes																
	Caenidae																
45	Caenis																
<b>.</b>	Baetiscidae																
5 81	Baetisca																
J	Calopterveidae																
82	Calopteryx																
	Lestidae																
83	Lestes																
	Coenagrionidae																
0.4																	

Table D5. Taxonomic composition and abundance of benthic macroinvertebrates in replicate Neill samples and dipnet samples from station M2-B on Creek M2, 1984.

Table D5. Continued.

SYNCRUDE			Spri	ing (19	June)		5	Summe	er (30	July)			Fall (2)	Septe	mber)	
Code	Таха	1	2	3	x	Dip	1	2	3	x	Dip	1	2	3	x	Dip
						•	 									
NIU MIU	Comphiden															
28	Gomphus															
86	Ophiogomphus															
40	Aeshnidae															
42	Anax															
	Corduliidae								c	<u> </u>						
39	Somatochlora								2	0.7	A					
2 88	Plecoptera															
-	Pteronarcyidae															
3	Pteronarcys															
89	Taeniopterygidae															
	Nemouridae															
59 34	Malenka Nemoure			1	0.3							9	41	6	18.7	
	Perlidae											-				
90	Acroneuria															
91	Periodidae															
58	Arcynopteryx															
48	isoperla Chloroportidoo															
92	Unioroperiidae Hemiptera															
93	Notonectidae															
94	Corixidae															
95	Gerris										Р					
3	Trichoptera									0 1						
	pupae Philopotamidae						1			U.3						
17	Wormaldia															
••	Psychomyiidae															
96	Psychomyia Polycentropydidae															
20	Neureclipsis															
97	Polycentropus															
98	Hydropsychidae Cheumatopsyche															
4	Hydropsyche															
E1	Rhyacophilidae															
91	Glossosomatidae															
5	Glossosoma															
A1	Hydroptilidae Hydroptile															
99	Ochrotrichia															
	Phryganeidae															
101	Agrypnia Philostomic															
102	Brachycentridae															
27	Brachycentrus															
103	Lepidostomatidae															
103	Limnephilidae															
104	Clostoeca															
105	Grammotaulius Hesperophylax															
107	Nemotaulius															
109	Helicopsychidae															
100	Leptoceridae															
9	Ceraclea															
109	Coleoptera															
110	Gyrinidae															
111	Haliplidae															
47	Dvtiscidae								1	0.3						
6	Elmidae															
8	Diptera							,	2	17		1	2	1	1.3	
35	pupae Tipulidae							4	3	1.(		1	4		1.0	
	Chaoboridae															
112	Chaoborus Simuliida -		17	9.0	91 9			1	5	2.0	р	4	8	4	5.3	
Ÿ	DuDae	27	17	20	41.3			1	2	0.7		4	U	-	0.0	
37	Ceratopogonidae							_								
8	Chironomidae	2	5	9	5.3	;	11	9	20	13.3 0 7	Р	13	59	24	32.0	P
38 46	Empididae								+	0.3						
	COLUMN TOTALS	48	45	49	47.3		 28	26	54	35.9		46	136	40	73.9	
	TAXA			6		1		1	4		6			12		4

Notes: MTC = major taxonomic category; MTG = major taxonomic group; A = abundant (five or more individuals), P = present; Neill sampler: area = 0.1 m², mesh size = 0.210 mm; Dipnet: mesh size = 0.250 mm.

SYNCR	UDE			Spri	ng (19	June)			Summ	ier (30	July)			Fall (2	1 Septe	mber)	
Code		Taxa	1	2	3	x	Dip	1	2	3	x	Dìp	1	2	3	x	Di
атс м	ITG																
		COELENTERATA															
		Hydrozoa															
	12	Hydra												1	1	0.7	
~	15	NEMATODA								2	07			1		03	
8	1	MOLLUSCA															
	20	Pelecypoda	,	1		07					1 0						
	29 65	Unionidae	i	r		0.1			3		1.0			1		0.5	
	00	Gestropode															
		Valvatidae															
	66	Valvata															
		Valvata sincera sincera															
		Valvata tricarinata															
		Lymnaeidae															
	32	Lymnaea															
	10	Physidae															
	10	Physe Bioporbide e											1	0		2.0	
	67	Asmigas											1	8		3.0	
	11	Geraulus	1	1		0.7		3			1.0						
	50	Helisoma	-	1		0.1					1.0						
	68	Promenetus															
		Ancylidae															
	18	Ferrissia											2	8		3.3	
9		ANNELIDA															
5	23	Hirudinea												1		0.3	
	•••	Glossiphoniidae												-			
	69	Glossiphonia complanata															
	70	Helobdella stagnalis															
		Hirudinidae															
	71	Haemopis grandis															
		Erpobdellidae															
	72	Nephelopsis obscura	•	2		• •		11	10	14	10 77		16	1.01	25	51.0	
	44	ARTHROPODA	3	3		3.3		11	10	14	19.1		15	101	31	(1.0	
		Arachnida															
	13	Acari	4	4		2.7		2	3	4	3.0		7		8	5.0	
	10	Crustacea															
		Malacostraca															
		Amphipoda															
	24	Gammarus lacustris															
	73	Hyalella azteca															
	74	Collembole															
1	1.4	Emphemeroptera															
-		Siphlonuridae															
	33	Ameletus															
	75	Siphlonurus															
		Metretopodidae															
	76	Metretopus															
		Baetidae						9	7	16	10.7		49	13	51	37.7	
	1	Baetis	25	22	11	19.3	Α	54	28	36	39.3	Α		1	4	1.7	
		Callibaetis															
	77	Centroptium										Р	~			0.7	
	44	rseucocióeon Hentegeniideo						4			1 2		2		,	0.7	
	2	Hentegenie						4		1	1.3	р			1	0.3	
	78	Rhithrogena						0		1	1.5	r			1	0.5	
	79	Stenonema												3		1.0	
		Leptophlebiidae															
	80	Leptophlebia												1	1	07	
	30	Paraleptophlebia															
		Ephemerellidae															
	19	Ephemerelia	4			1.3	Α	1			0.3		2		3	1.7	
	42	Tricorythidae						-			• •	-					
	40	Capridao						7	1	1	3.0	Р		1		0.3	
		Caenjuae	,			03	P										
	45	Caents	1			0.0	r										
	45	Baetiscidae															
	45 81	Baetiscidae Baetisca															
5	45 81	Baetiscidae <b>Baetisca</b> Odonata															
5	45 81	Baetiscidae <b>Baetisca</b> Odonata Calopterygidae															
5	45 81 82	Baetiscidae <b>Baetisca</b> Odonata Calopterygidae <b>Calopteryx</b>															
5	45 81 82	Baetisciae Baetisca Odonata Calopterygidae Calopteryx Lestidae															
5	45 81 82 83	Baetiscidae Baetisca Odonata Calopteryx Lestidae Lestes						•									
5	45 81 82 83	Baetiscidae Baetisca Odonata Calopterygidae Calopteryx Lestidae Lestes Coenegrionidae															

Table D6. Taxonomic composition and abundance of benthic macroinvertebrates in replicate Neill samples and dipnet samples from Station DR B on Dover River 1984.

Table D6. Continued.

SYNC	TRUDE			Spri	ng (19 .	June)			Summ	er (30	July)			Fall (	21 Septe	ember)	
Co	de	Таха	1	2	3	x	Dip	1	2	3	x	Dip	1	2	3	x	Dip
TC	MTG																
		Gomphidae															
	28	Gomphus	1			0.3		1	3		0.7	р					Р
	80	Aeshnidae	1			0.0		•	•			•					
	42	Aeshna															
	87	Anax															
	39	Somatochlora															
	88	Libellulidae															
2		Plecoptera															
	3	Pteronarcys					P										
		Taeniopterygidae															
	89	Taeniopteryx															
	59	Malenka															
	34	Nemoura								1	0.3						
	00	Perlidae															
	91	Claassenia											1			0.3	
		Perlodidae															
	58	Arcynopteryx											2	5	1	2.7	Р
	92	Chloroperlidae															
		Hemiptera															
	93 04	Notonectidae															
	23	Gerridae															
	95	Gerris															
3		Trichoptera															
		Philopotamidae															
	17	Wormaldia							2	1	1.0						
	96	Psychomylidae Psychomyla															
	50	Polycentropodidae															
	20	Neureclipsis															
	97	Polycentropus															
	98	Cheumatopsyche															
	4	Hydropsyche						1	1	1	1.0	Р					
	51	Rhyacophiliae															
	••	Glossosomatidae															
	5	Glossosoma															
	41	Hydroptilidae	1			0.3											
	99	Ochrotrichia															
		Phryganeidae															
	101	Ptilostomis															
	105	Brachycentridae															
	27	Brachycentrus															
	103	Lepidostomatidae															
	100	Limnephilidae															
	104	Clostoeca															
	105	Hesperophylax															
	107	Nemotaulius															
	100	Helicopsychidae					D										
	108	Leptoceridae					r										
	9	Ceraclea															
	109	Oecetis															
4	110	Gvrinidae															
		Haliplidae															
	111 47	Halipius Dytiscidae															
	6	Elmidae		1		0.3		2			0.7			1		0.3	
6		Diptera						•			1 0					0.0	
	35	pupae Tipulidae		1	3	1.3		2	1		1.0		1		1	0.3	
		Chaoboridae															
	112	Chaoborus				ac c		10		07	64.0	р					
	7	Simuliidae	16	31	29	25.3	A	10 3	85	97	64.0 1 0	Р					
	37	Ceratopogonidae						5					1			03	
	8	Chironomidae	3	21	6	10.0		25	3	9	12.3		6	8	3 4	6.0	Р
	38	Tabanidae Empididae		1		0 3							1		1	0.7	
	40	Emplorede		1		0.5											
		COLUMN TOTALS	60	86	53	66-1		138	151	183	157.3		90	21/	114	139.2	
		TAYA	50		16		F	130		21		7			26		5
		1000			T.A.										~~		

Notes: MTC = major taxonomic category; MTG = major taxonomic group; A = abundant (five or more individuals), P = present; Neill sampler: area = 0.1 m², mesh size = 0.210 mm; Dipnet: mesh size = 0.250 mm.

VNCBUD	3		Sprin	g (19	June)			Sumn	ner (30	) July)			Fall (2	1 Septe	mber)	
Code	Таха	1	2	3	x	Dip	1	2	3	x	Dip	1	2	3	x	Di
TC MTG																
10 110	COELENTERATA															
	Hydrozoa															
12	Hydra						-		•						9.7	
8 15	MOLLIISCA		ç		1.7		5	4	3	3.3			-	4	2.1	
0	Pelecypoda															
29	Sphaeriidae		2	1	1.0			9	17	8.7		12	39	5	18.7	
65	Unionidae															
	Gastropoda Valvatidae															
66	Valvata															
	Valvata sincera sincera															
	Valvata tricarinata															
32	Lymnaea															
	Physidae															
10	Physa							1		0.3						
67	Armiger															
11	Gyraulus															
50	Helisoma															
68	Angylidae															
18	Ferrissia															
9	ANNELIDA															
23	Hirudinea						2			0.7		1	3	1	1.7	
	Glossiphoniidae															
69 70	Glossiphonia complanata Helobdella stamalis												2		0.7	
10	Hirudinidae												-			
71	Haemopis grandis															
79	Erpobdellidae Nephelopsis obscure															
22	Oligochaeta	8	6	19	11.0		104	34	45	61.0		85	590	366	347.0	
	ARTHROPODA															
12	Arachnida			2	07		2			07		8			2.7	
10	Crustacea						2			0					2	
	Malacostraca															
24	Amphipoda Gemmerus legistris															
73	Hyalelia azteca															
	Insecta															
1 74	Collembola															
1	Siphlonuridae															
33	Ameletus															
75	Siphlonurus															
76	Metretopondae															
	Baetidae													1	0.3	
1	Baetis	8	33	14	18.3	Р						1			0.3	
77	Centroptilum															
44	Pseudocloeon															
	Heptageniidae															
2	Heptagenia Rhithrogene	1		1	0.7											
79	Stenonema															
	Leptophlebiidae															
80	Leptophlebia															
30	Ephemerellidae						1			0.3						
19	Ephemerella															
42	Tricorythidae															
43	Caenidae															
45	Caenis															
	Baetiscidae															
5 81	Daeusca Odonata															
·	Calopterygidae															
82	Calopteryx															
83	Lestidae															
00	Coenagrionidae															
84	Coenagrion															
0.5	Icobatima															

Table D7. Taxonomic composition and abundance of benthic macroinvertebrates in replicate Neill samples and dipnet samples from station M6-B on Creek M6, 1984.

Table D7. Continued.

YNCRUDE			Spri	ng (19	June)			Sun	nme <del>r</del> (	(30 July)	)		Fall	(21 Sept	tember)	
Code	Taxa	1	2	3	x	Dip	1	2	3	x	Dip	1	2	3	x	Dip
TC MTG																
	Gomphidae															
28	Gomphus															
80	Aesbuidee															
42	Aeshna															
87	Anax															
	Corduliidae															
39	Libellulidae															
2	Plecoptera															
	Pteronarcyidae															
3	Pteronarcys															
89	Taeniopterygidae															
00	Nemouridae															
59	Malenka		8	5	4.3											
34	Nemoura															
90	Acconquis															
91	Claassenia															
	Perlodidae															
58	Arcynopteryx															
48	<b>isoperia</b> Chloroporlidae															
52	Hemiptera															
93	Notonectidae															
94	Corixidae															
05	Gerridae										P					
3	Trichoptera								1	0.	3					
•	pupae															
	Philopotamidae															
17	Wormaldia															
96	Psychomylidae															
50	Polycentropodidae															
20	Neureclipsis															
97	Polycentropus															
0.9	Hydropsychidae															
4	Hydropsyche															
	Rhyacophilidae															
51	Rhyacophila		1	2	1.0											
	Glossosomatidae						,			0	2					
э	Hydroptilidae						1			0.	0					
41	Hydroptila															
99	Ochrotrichia															
	Phryganeidae															
101	Agrypnia															
102	Brachycentridae															
27	Brachycentrus		2		0.7											
	Lepidostomatidae															
103	Lepidostoma															
104																
105	Grammotaulius															
106	Hesperophylax												3		1.0	
107	Nemotaulius															
108	Helicopsychiae															
	Leptoceridae															
9	Ceraclea															
109	Coleoptera															
110	Gyrinidae															
-	Haliplidae															
111	Haliplus															
47	Dytiscidae Fimidae			1	0.3								1		0.3	
3	Diptera			r	5.5								-		0.0	
•	pupae	1		1	0.7					1 0.	3			_		
35	Tipulidae												1	3	1.3	
	Chaoboridae															
112	C <b>naodorus</b> Simuliidae	21	10	4	11.7		1			0.	. 3			2	0.7	
(	DUDAC	-1	10	-										-	<b>v</b> · 1	
37	Ceratopogonidae													2	0.7	
8	Chironomidae	5	49	47	33.7		30	1	19 2	20 23	.0 P	173	1 51	5 2368	1538.0	Α
38	Tabanidae												3	7	3.3	
46	Emplaidae															
					95 5						•		e	0 0750	1010 4	
	COLUMN TOTALS	44	116	97	89.8		146	6	5 00	50 99.	. 4	184	0 116	U 2752	1919.4	
	TAXA			13		1			13		2			15		2

Notes: MTC = major taxonomic category; MTG = major taxonomic group; A ≈ abundant (five or more individuals), P = present; Neill sampler: area = 0.1 m², mesh size = 0.210 mm; Dipnet: mesh size = 0.250 mm.

Table D8. Taxonomic composition and abundance of benthic macroinvertebrates in replicate Neill samples and dipnet samples from station WID-B1 on the West Interception Ditch, 1984.

ov w	שתווסי		s	Spring	g (17	June)			Summ	ner (28	July)			Fall (26	6 Septe	mber)	
Co	de	Таха	1	2	3	x	Dip	1	2	3	x	Dip	1	2	3	x	Di
	MIRCO																
MIC	MIG	COELENTERATA															
		Hydrozoa															
	12	Hydra						5			1.7			7	9	5.3	F
	15	NEMATODA			8	2.7		3		8	3.7		5	3	5	4.3	
8		MOLLUSCA															
		Pelecypoda															
	29	Sphaeriidae						3			1.0						
	65	Unionidae															
		Gastropoda															
		Valvatidae															
	66	Valvata sincera sincera															
		Valvata sincera sincera Valvata tricarinata															
		Lymnaeidae															
	32	Lymnaea		4		1.3	P						1			0.3	
		Physidae															
	10	Physa												10	~	10.0	
		Planorbidae											13	13	6	10.3	
	67	Armiger		1.0				10	0		4.0	р					
	11	Gyraulus		16		5.3		10	Z	16	4.0	P					
	50	Helisoma		1		0.3			1	10	0.3						
	00	Angulideo		+		0.0			-		0.0						
	18	Ferrissia															
~	••																
9		ANNELIDA															
	23	Classiphoniidee															
	69	Glossiphonia complanata															
	70	Helobdella stagnalis															
		Hirudinidae															
	71	Haemopis grandis															
		Erpobdellidae															
	72	Nephelopsis obscura					_	-						~			
	22	Oligochaeta		5	66	23.7	Р	7	1	18	8.7		1	Ð	z	3.0	
		ARTHROPODA															
	13	Arachinus			3	1.0							2		3	1.7	
	10	Crustagea			•								-				
	10	Malacostraca															
		Amphipoda															
	24	Gammarus lacustris															
	73	Hyalella azteca					P		1		0.3		1		1	0.7	
		Insecta															
1	74	Collembola															
1		Siphlopuridao															
	33	Ameletis															
	75	Siphlonurus					Р										
		Metretopodidae					-										
	76	Metretopus															
		Baetidae											54	13	14	27.0	
	1	Baetis	4	6	8	6.0	A		8	7	5.0	P	9		19	9.3	
		Callibaetis															
	77	Centroptilum															
	44	Pseudocloeon		4									,			03	
	0	Heptageniidae		4	2	2.0							1			0.5	
	79	Rhithrogene				0.0											
	79	Stenonema															
	15	Leptophlebiidae															
	80	Leptophlebia															
	30	Paraleptophlebia					A										
		Ephemerellidae															
	19	Ephemerella															
	4.2	Tricorythidae								1	0.2	D	5	13	1	6.3	
	43	Tricorythodes								1	0.5	P	5	19	Ţ	0.0	
	45	Caenis															
	10	Baetiscidae															
	81	Baetisca															
5		Odonata															
		Calopterygidae															
	82	Calopteryx															
		Lestidae															
	83	Lestes															
		Coenagrionidae															
	84	Loenagrion											10	ç	2	7 0	
	85	Ischnura											10	0	2	1.0	

Table D8. Continued.

NCRUD	DE			эрг	uig (17	June)			Summ	HEF (AC	aury)			Pall (2	so septe	ember)	
Code		Тажа	1	2	3	x	Dip	1	2	3	x	Dip	1	2	3	x	Di
C MTG	3																
		Gomphidae															
28		Gomphus															
86		Ophiogomphus											1			03	
		Aeshnidae															
42		Aeshna															
87		Anax															
		Corduliidae															
39		Somatocniora								1	0.2	ъ	1	2		1 2	
88		Discontano								r	0.5	г		5		1.0	
		Pteroparavidao															
3		Pteronarcys															
0		Taenioptervgidae															
89		Taenioptervx											1			0.3	
		Nemouridae															
59	•	Malenka															
34		Nemoura															
		Perlidae															
90	ł	Acroneuria															
91		Claassenia															
		Perlodidae															
58	,	Arcynopteryx															
48		Chloroperlidee															
32	·	Hemintera															
93		Notonectidae															
94		Corixidae										Р		1		0.3	
		Gerridae															
95	i	Gerris															
		Trichoptera											1			0.3	
		pupae															
	,	Philopotamidae															
17		wormaidia Doucho muitat -															
26		Psychomyhoae															
90	,	Polycentronodidee															
20	)	Neureclinsis											1			0.3	
97	,	Polycentropus					A						1				
		Hydropsychidae											1			0.3	
98	3	Cheumatopsyche															
4	ł	Hydropsyche											1			03	
		Rhyacophilidae															
51		Rhyacophila															
		Glossosomatidae															
5	)	Glossosoma															
4.1		Hydroptilidae														1 0	
41		Osbrotziebie											3	1		1.3	
39	, 	Phryganeideo															
101	i	Agryonia															
102	2	Ptilostomis															
		Brachycentridae															
27	7	Brachycentrus															
		Lepidostomatidae															
103	3	Lepidostoma															
		Limnephilidae															
104	1	Clostoeca											1			0.3	
105	5	Grammotaulius															
106	5	Hesperophylax															
107		Nemotatinus Veligonsvohidan															
109	4	Helicopsychiate															
100	-	Leptoceridae															
9	3	Ceraclea						1			0.3		1		1	0.7	
109	9	Oecetis						-					1			0.3	
1		Coleoptera															
110	)	Gyrinidae															
		Haliplidae															
111	l	Haliplus							1		03	Р		2		07	
47	( 2	Dytiscidae					Ч										
0		Diptera															
		pupae			4	1.3	Р		2	12	47		1	;		07	
35	5	Tipulidae			-1	1.0	•		-				1	1		0.1	
		Chaoboridae															
112	2	Chaoborus															
7	7	Simuliidae	1	19	16	12.0	Α	6	36	47	29.7	Р	9	1	9	6.3	
		pupae	1			0.3											
37	7	Ceratopogonidae								2	0.7	_	2	3	4	3.0	
	5	Chironomidae	3	14	127	48.0	A	140	78	238	152.0	Р	3166	2323	1528	2339.0	
38	6	Fabanidae															
40	0	Emploreae															
		COLUMN TOTALS				104 0		105	190	950	910 7		2000	9900	1.000	7420 5	
		COLUMN IUIALS	9	10	434	104.2		112	130	300	410.J		3293	2929	1002	4490.3	
		TAXA			18		12			19		8			29		

Notes: MTC = major taxonomic category; MTG = major taxonomic group: A = abundant (five or more individuals). P = present; Neill sampler: area = 0.1 m², mesh size = 0.210 mm; Dipnet: mesh size = 0.250 mm.

.

Table D9.	Taxonomic composition and abundance of benthic macroinvertebrates in replicate Ekman grab samples and dipnet samples from station W3-B on Creek W3
	1984.

SYNC	RUDE		s	pring (17	June)			Summ	ner (28	July)			Fall (2	6 Septe	mber)	
Coc	le	Таха	1	2 3	x	Dip	1	2	3	x	Dip	1	2	3	x	Dip
ATC	MTG															
		COELENTERATA Hydrozoa														
	12	Hydra							2	0.7						
	15	NEMATODA		2	0.7		4		2	2.0		14	4		6.0	
8		Pelecypoda														
	29	Sphaeriidae												4	1.3	
	65	Unionidae														
		Gastropoda														
	66	Valvatidae Valvata														
	00	Valvata sincera sincera														
		Valvata tricarinata														
	29	Lymnaeidae														
	34	Physidae														
	10	Physa														Р
		Planorbidae														Р
	67	Armiger Gyraulus									P					
	50	Helisoma									•					
	68	Promenetus				Р										Р
	1.0	Ancylidae														
	18	Ferrissia														
9	0.0	ANNELIDA														
	23	Glossiphoniidae														
	69	Glossiphonia complanata							1	0.3						
	70	Helobdella stagnalis														
	71	Hirudinidae Hoomonis mondis														
	11	Erpobdellidae														
	72	Nephelopsis obscura														
	22	Oligochaeta	3	4	2.3		31	24	45	33.3		8		36	14.7	P
		Arachnida														
	13	Acari							1	0.3						Р
	10	Crustacea														
		Malacostraca														
	24	Gammarus lacustris	1		0.3											
	73	Hyalella azteca				Р	4	4	1	3.0	Α					Ρ
	~ .	Insecta														
1	74	Emphemeroptera														
•		Siphlonuridae														
	33	Ameletus														
	75	Siphlonurus				Р										
	76	Metretopus														
		Baetidae														
	1	Baetis														
	77	Centroptilum														
	44	Pseudocloeon														
		Heptageniidae														
	2	Heptagenia														
	78	Stenonema														
	15	Leptophlebiidae														
	80	Leptophlebia														
	30	Paraleptophiebia Fobemarallidae														
	19	Ephemerella														
		Tricorythidae														
	43	Tricorythodes												4	1.3	
	45	Caenia										2			0.7	
		Baetiscidae														
e	81	Baetisca														
э		Caloptervgidae														
	82	Calopteryx														
		Lestidae														
	83	Lestes Coenagrication				P										
	84	Coenagrion				•										
		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·														

Table D9. Continued.

SANCHIDE			Sp	ring (17	June)			Sum	mer	(28 Ju	njà)			Fal	11 (26	Septem	ber)	
Code	Таха	1	2	3	x	Dip	 1	2	3		x I	Dip	1	2		3	x	Dip
TC MTG																		
	Gomphidae																	
28	Gomphus																	
86	Aeshnidae																	
42	Aeshna											n						p
87	Anax											P						г
39	Somatochlora																	_
88	Libellulidae																	Р
2	Plecoptera																	
3	Pteronarcyidae																	
, i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i	Taeniopterygidae																	
89	Taeniopteryx Nomouridee																	
59	Malenka																	
34	Nemoura																	
00	Perlidae																	
90	Claassenia																	
	Periodidae																	
58	Arcynopteryx																	
48 92	Chloroperlidae																	
	Hemiptera					п						D						Р
93	Notonéctidae					A						P						•
54	Gerridae																	
95	Gerris																	
3	Dipae																	
	Philopotamidae																	
17	Wormaldia																	
36	Psychomylidae																	
00	Polycentropodidae																	
20	Neureclipsis																	
97	Hydropsychidae																	
98	Cheumatopsyche																	
4	Hydropsyche																	
51	Rhyacophila																	
•••	Glossosomatidae																	
5	Glossosoma																	
41	Hydroptila																	
99	Ochrotrichia																	
10:	Phryganeidae Agrypnia																	
101	Ptilostomis																	
	Brachycentridae																	
27	Brachycentrus																	
103	Lepidostoma																	
	Limnephilidae																	
104	Clostoeca Grammotaulius																	
106	Hesperophylax																	D
107	Nemotaulius																	r
108	Helicopsychidae																	
100	Leptoceridae																	
9	Ceraclea																	
4	Coleoptera																	
110	Gyrinidae																	
111	Haliplidae																	Р
47	Dytiscidae					А												
6	Elmidae																	
0	Diptera		1		0	3 P												
35	Tipulidae																	
	Chaoboridae					р								8			2.7	
112	Chaoborus Simuliidae					P								Ť				
(	pupae													~ .				
37	Ceratopogonidae					0 5			14	1	0.3			24 52	20	84	52.0	
8	Chironomidae			1	<b>)</b> 2.	.u P	1.	ч.	. 4	00	29.0			~~	20	0.4		
46	Empididae																	
							 			_								
	COLUMN TOTALS		5	3	95.	.6	5	3 4	42 1	113	69.2		1	08	24	128	86.7	
	TAXA			14		11			12			5			1	8		11

Notes: MTC = major taxonomic category; NTG = major taxonomic group; A = abundant (five or more individuals). P = present; Ekman grab sampler: area = 0 023 m², sieve mesh size = 0.250 mm; Dipnet: mesh size = 0.250 mm.

i 1

Table D10. Taxonomic composition and abundance of benthic macroinvertebrates in replicate Neill samples and dipnet samples from station WID-B2 on the West Interception Ditch, 1984.

SYNC	CRUDE			Spri	ng (17	June)			Summ	ner (28	8 July)			Fail (2	26 Septe	mber)	
Co	de	Taxa	1	2	3	x	Dip	1	2	3	x	Dip	1	2	3	x	Dip
MTC	MTG																
		COELENTERATA															
	12	Hydrozoa														1 2	
	15	NEMATODA	1	1		0.7		2	40	12	18.0		4	20		7 3	
8		MOLLUSCA	-	•				-			1010		-	20			
		Pelecypoda															
	29	Sphaeriidae													4	1.3	
	65	Unionidae															
		Gastropoda															
	66	Valvata															
		Valvata sincera sincera															
		Valvata tricarinata															
		Lymnaeidae					_					_					
	32	Lymnaea					Р					Р	2			0.7	
	10	Physical										p					P
	10	Planorbidae											34			11.3	r
	67	Armiger															
	11	Gyraulus							1	2	1.0	₽					
	50	Helisoma			1	0.0											
	00	Ancylidae			Ţ	0.3											
	18	Ferrissia															
0																	
9	23	Highdinge															
	23	Glossiphoniidae															
	69	Glossiphonia complanata															
	70	Helobdella stagnalis															
	_	Hirudinidae															
	71	Haemopis grandis															
	72	Nephelopsis obscure															
	22	Oligochaeta	38	10	1	16.3	Р	1	22	55	26.0		174	31	92	99.0	
		ARTHROPODA															
		Arachnida															
	13	Acari	1	1		0.7	Р							4		1.3	
	10	Meleostrees															
		Amphipoda															
	24	Gammarus lacustris															
	73	Hyalella azteca															
	74	Insecta															
1	74	Emphameranters															
		Siphlonuridae															
	33	Ameletus															
	75	Siphlonurus					Α										
		Metretopodidae															
	76	Metretopus															
	1	Baetic					D										
	•	Callibaetis					1										
	77	Centroptilum															
	44	Pseudocloeon															
		Heptageniidae															
	2 79	Beitheorena															
	79	Stenoneme															
		Leptophlebiidae															
	80	Leptophlebia															
	30	Paraleptophlebia					Р										
		Ephemerellidae															
	19	Ephemerella															
	43	Tricorythodes															
		Caenidae															
	45	Caenis															
		Baetiscidae															
6	81	Baetisca															
J		Calootervgidae															
	82	Calopteryx															
		Lestidae															
	83	Lestes					P										
	9.1	Coenagrionidae					Р										
	85	Ischnura															
	00	iocritica a															

Table D10. Continued.

INCRUDE			Spri	ng (17	June)			Summ	ner (28	July)			Fall (2	6 Septe	mber)	
Code	Таха	1	2	3	x	Dip	1	2	3	x	Dip	1	2	3	x	Dip
C MTG																
	Gomphidae															
28	Gomphus															
80	Aeshnidae															
42	Aeshna															
87	Anax															
	Corduliidae															
39	Lipellulidae					P										
50	Piecoptera															
	Pteronarcyidae															
3	Pteronarcys				-											
89	Taeniopterygidae															
	Nemouridae															
59	Malenka															
34	Nemoura															
90	Acroneuria															
91	Claassenia															
	Periodidae															
58 19	Arcynopteryx															
92	Chloroperlidae															
	Hemiptera															
93	Notonectidae					-										
94	Contixidae					P					Р					Р
95	Gerris															
	Trichoptera															
	pupae															
17	Wormaldia															
	Psychomylidae															
96	Psychomyia															
20	Polycentropodidae															
97	Polycentropus		1		0 3											
	Hydropsychidae															
98	Cheumatopsyche															
+	Bhyacophilidae															
51	Rhyacophila															
	Glossosomatidae															
5	Glossosoma															
41	Hydroptillae															
99	Ochrotrichia															
	Phryganeidae															
101	Agrypnia															
102	Brachycentridae															
27	Brachycentrus															
	Lepidostomatidae															
103	Lepidostoma															
104	Clostoeca															
105	Grammotaulius															
106	Hesperophylax															
107	Nemotaunus Helicopsychidae															
108	Helicopsyche															
	Leptoceridae															
9	Ceraclea															
104	Coleoptera															
110	Gyrinidae															
	Haliplidae					D			1	0.3						
111	Hanplus Dytiscideo			1	03	P					P		1		0.3	
6	Elmidae			i	0.3	•					•		4	4	2.7	
	Diptera					_										
95	pupae	1	1		0.7	Р		1		0.3			4	8	4.0	
35	Chaoboridae															
112	Chaoborus															
7	Simuliidae	5	1		2.0	Р	1			0.3						
	pupae											2			0 7	
aí R	Ceratopogonidae	1	n	24	10.3	4	Q.1	16	41	47 0	4	5,10	420	4	1.3 460 0	
38	Tabanidae	4	J	44	.0.0	-	- 94	10	٦.	-1.0	2 N	345	420	-112	100.0	
46	Empididae															
	COLUMN TOTALS	50	18	28	31.9		88	80	111	92.9		766	484	524	591.2	
	ΤΑΧΑ			19		15			11		6			14		3
						·•					-			~ *		

Notes: MTC = major taxonomic category; MTG = major taxonomic group; A = abundant (five or more individuals). P = present; Neill sampler: area = 0.1 m². mesh size = 0.210 mm; Dipnet: mesh size = 0.250 mm.

Table D11.	Taxonomic composition and abundance of benth	c macroinvertebrates in replicate Neill	l samples and dipnet samples from station BR	C-B on Bridge Creek, 1984.
------------	----------------------------------------------	-----------------------------------------	----------------------------------------------	----------------------------

CNN	OBUDE			Spr	ing (18	June)				Summ	ner (29	July)			Fall (2	1 Septe	mber)	
Co	de	Таха	1	2	3	x	Dip	1	1	2	3	x	Dip	1	2	3	x	Dip
MTC	MTG																	
		COELENTERATA																
	12	Hydra																Р
	15	NEMATODA	4	1		1.7			2			0.7			1		0.3	
8		MOLLUSCA																
		Pelecypoda																
	29	Sphaeriidae																
	65	Unionidae																
		Gastropoda																
	66	Valvatidae																
	00	Valvata sincera sincera																
		Valvata tricarinata																
		Lymnaeidae																
	32	Lymnaea																
		Physidae																
	10	Physa																
		Planorbidae																
	67	Armiger																
	11	Gyradius																
	50	Promonetur																
	00	Ancylidae																
	18	Ferrissia																
0																		
9		Hinudipon														2	0.7	
	23	Glossiphoniidae														-		
	69	Glossiphonia complanata																
	70	Helobdella stagnalis																
		Hirudinidae																
	71	Haemopis grandis																
		Erpobdellidae																
	72	Nephelopsis obscura	-			0.7					16	0 7		7	4	0	67	
	22	Oligochaeta	(	1		2.1			11	2	10	9.1		•	4	3	0.7	
		Arachnida																
	13	Acarí	1			0.3												
	10	Crustacea																
		Malacostraca																
		Amphipoda																
	24	Gammarus lacustris																
	73	Hyalella azteca																
	74	Collembols																
1	14	Emphemeroptera																
-		Siphlonuridae																
	33	Ameletus																
	75	Siphlonurus																
		Metretopodidae					_											
	76	Metretopus					Р											
	1	Beeticae	1		1 0		Ð		,	5	6	4.0	р					
	1	Callibaetis	1	-	. 4	2.3			1	5	0	4.0	•					
	77	Centroptilum																
	44	Pseudocloeon																
		Heptageniidae																
	2	Heptagenia																
	78	Rhithrogena																
	79	Stenonema																
	90	Leptophiebina																
	30	Paralentonhlebia											Р					
	30	Ephemerellidae											-					
	19	Ephemerella																
		Tricorythidae																
	43	Tricorythodes																
	40	Caenidae					D											
	40	Baetiscidee					r											
	81	Baetisca																
5		Odonata																
=		Calopterygidae																
	82	Calopteryx																
		Lestidae																
	83	Lestes																
	84	Coenagrion																
	85	Ischnura																

Table D11. Continued.

				Spri	ng (18 .	June)			Summ	er (29	July)			Fall	(21 Sept	ember)	
Code		Таха	1	2	3	x	Dip	1	2	3	x	Dip	1	2	3	x	Dip
rc N	<b>IT</b> G																
		Gomphidae															
	28	Gomphus															
	86	Ophiogomphus															
	49	Aeshna															
	87	Anax															
	01	Corduliidae															
	39	Somatochlora					Р										
	88	Libellulidae						5	2	14	73						
2		Plecoptera						5	3	14	1.5						
	2	Pteronarcyloae															
	3	Taenioptervgidae															
	89	Taeniopteryx															
		Nemouridae															
	59	Malenka															
	34	Nemoura															
	90	Agropeutie															
	91	Claassenia															
		Perlodidae															
	58	Arcynopteryx															
	48	Isoperla															
	92	Chloroperlidee															
	93	Notonectidae															
	94	Corixidae															
		Gerridae															
	95	Gerris															
3		Trichoptera															
		Philopotemidee															
	17	Wormaldia															
		Psychomyiidae															
	96	Psychomyia															
	**	Polycentropodidae															
	20	Neurechipsis Belueentaenuu															
	91	Hydronsychidae															
	98	Cheumatopsyche															
	4	Hydropsyche															
		Rhyacophilidae															
	51	Rhyacophila															
	-	Glossosomatidae										Р		1		0.3	
	Ð	Hydroptilidae															
	41	Hydroptile															
	99	Ochrotrichia						1	1	1	1.0						
		Phryganeidae															
	101	Agrypnia															Р
	102	Ptilostomis															
	27	Brachycentricae															
	21	Lepidostomatidae															
	103	Lepidostoma															
		Limnephilidae															
	104	Clostoeca															
	105	Grammotaullus															
	107	Nemotaulius															
		Helicopsychidae															
	108	Helicopsyche															
	_	Leptoceridae															
	9	Ceraclea															
4	109	Coleoptera															
-	110	Gyrinidae															
		Haliplidae															
	111	Haliplus										D					
	47	Dytiscidae				0 7	Р					r					
6	b	Elmidae	2			0.7											
0		Dupae															
	35	Tipulidae															
		Chaoboridae															
	112	Chaoborus	_						•								
	7	Simuliidae	7	1	3	3.7	A	3	2	2	2.3						
	97	pupae	,			n v											
	37	Chiropomidae	1 7		2	3.0		10	2	7	6.3			1		0.	3 A
	38	Tabanidae			*	0.0		10	-								
	46	Empididae	2			0.7											
	-	•						_									
		COLUMN TOTALS	32	: 7	7	15.4		33	15	46	31.3			9	5 11	8.	3
		mivi			12		c			10		4			7		3
		11 A X A			1.5					4.12					-		

Notes: MTC = major taxonomic category; MTG = major taxonomic group; A = abundant (five or more individuals). P = present; Neill sampler: area = 0.1 m², mesh size = 0.210 mm; Dipnet: mesh size = 0.250 mm.

•

Table D12. Taxonomic composition and abundance of benthic macroinvertebrates in replicate Neill samples and dipnet samples from station LBC-B1 on Lower Beaver Creek, 1984.

SYNC	RUDE			Spr	ing (19	June)			Sum	mer (2	9 July)			Fall (2	2 Septe	mber)	
	de 	Таха	1	2	3	x	Dip	1	2	3	x	Dip	1	2	3	x	Dip
4TC	MTG																
		COELENTERATA Hydrozoa															
	12	Hydra															
	15	NEMATODA							5	1	2.0		4	4	2	3.3	
8		Pelagunoda															
	29	Sobaeriidae															
	65	Unionidae															
		Gastropoda															
		Valvatidae															
	66	Valvata															
		Valvata sincera sincera															
		Lympaeidae															
	32	Lymnaea															
		Physidae															
	10	Physa											1			0.3	
	67	Planorbidae															
	11	Gyraulus															
	50	Helisoma															
	68	Promenetus															
		Ancylidae															
	18	Ferrissia															
9		ANNELIDA															
	23	Hirudinea															
	60	Glossiphoniidae															
	70	Helobdella stamalis															
		Hirudinidae															
	71	Haemopis grandis															
		Erpobdellidae															
	72	Nephelopsis obscura	1	1		0.7											
	22	Uligochaeta	1	26	53	26.7		28	13	19	20.0		66	63	2	43.7	
		Arachnida															
	13	Acari						2			0.7		4	1		17	
	10	Crustacea						-			0.1		1	-		1.,	
		Malacostraca															
	24	Amphipoda Commonus logustais															
	73	Hvalella azteca															
		Insecta															
	74	Collembola															
1		Emphemeroptera															
	33	Ameletus															
	75	Siphlonurus															
		Metretopodidae															
	76	Metretopus															
	1	Baetidae											1	1	1	1.0	
	1	Callibratis	1	2		1.0	A	136	68	81	95.0		5	7		4.0	
	77	Centroptilum					Р										
	44	Pseudocloeon					•										
		Heptageniidae							1		0.3						
	2	Heptagenia						1			0.3						
	78	Rhithrogena															
	19	Leptophlebiidee															
	80	Leptophlebia															n
	30	Paraleptophlebia															P
		Ephemerellidae															
	19	Ephemerella															
	43	Tricorythidae															
	10	Caenidae								1	0.3						
	45	Caenis						1			0.3						
		Baetiscidae															
5	81	Baetisca															
J		Caloptervgidae															
	82	Calopterys															
		Lestidae															
	83	Lestes															
	84	Coenagrionidae															
	85	Ischnure															
	00	isciniu a															

Table D12. Continued.

WNCPUD?			Spr	ing (19	June)			Summ	er (29	July)		_	Fall (22	Septer	mber)	
Code	Таха	1	2	3	x	Dip	1	2	3	x	Dip	1	2	3	x	Dip
IC MTG																
	Gomphidae															
28	Gomphus															
80	Aeshnidae															
42	Aeshna															
87	Anax Conduliidaa															
39	Somatochlora					Р	1			0.3						
88	Libellulidae											2		1	1.0	p
2	Plecoptera											4			10	L
3	Pteronarcys				~											
	Taeniopterygidae															
89	Taeniopteryx Nemouridae															
59	Malenka													•		
34	Nemoura											33	46	8	29.0	
90	Acroneuria															
91	Claassenia															
- 0	Perlodidae															
58 48	Isoperla											5	1		2.0	
92	Chloroperlidae												6		2.0	
0.9	Heiniptera															
93 94	Corixidae															
	Gerridae															
2 95	Gerris															
5	pupae					Р										
	Philopotamidae															
17	Wormaldia Psychomyüdae															
96	Psychomyia															
20	Polycentropodidae															
20	Polycentropus															
	Hydropsychidae															
98	Cheumatopsyche											10	8	t	6.3	Р
ч	Rhyacophilidae															
51	Rhyacophila															
5	Glossosomatidae											8	2	1	3.7	
5	Hydroptilidae															
41	Hydroptila															
99	Phryganeidae															
101	Agrypnia															
102	Ptilostomis															Р
27	Brachycentrus															
	Lepidostomatidae															
103	Lepidostoma															
104	Clostoeca															
105	Grammotaulius															
106	Hesperophylax Nemotaulius															
101	Helicopsychidae															
108	Helicopsyche															
9	Ceraclea															
109	Oecetis															
4	Coleoptera															
110	Haliplidae															
111	Haliplus					Р				0.2	n					
47	Dytiscidae Fimidee							i		0.5	r					
6	Diptera									_						
	pupae							2	2	1.3		3			1.0	
35	Tipulidae							ı		0.5						
112	Chaoborus															
7	Simuliidae			1	0.3		1			0.3						
37	pupae Ceratopogonidae															
8	Chironomidae		3	4 12	6.3		38	9	31	26.0	A	168	185	37	131	
38	Tabanidae		1		0.3		1			0.3		1	2	1	1.3	
46	Empididae											,			v. d	
	COLUMN TOTALS		7 3	4 65	35.3		209	100	135	147.7		312	329	54	231.6	i
	TAYA			10	30.0	5		1.00	15		2			18		4
	IAAA			40							-					-

Notes: MTC = major taxonomic category; MTG = major taxonomic group; A = abundant (five or more individuals). P = present: Neill sampler: area = 0.1 m². mesh size = 0.210 mm; Dipnet: mesh size = 0.250 mm.

SYNCRUDE		_	Spr	ing (19	9 June)			Sum	mer (2	9 July)			Fall (2	1 Septe	ember)	
Code	Taxa	1	2	3	x	Dip	1	2	3	x	Dip	1	2	3	x	Dip
																_
and and	COFLENTERATA															
	Hydrozoa															
12	Hydra						1	12	1	4.7		4	12		5.3	
15	NEMATODA			1	0.3		1			0.3						
8	MOLLUSCA															
29	Spheeriidee		4	11	5.0		520	12	6	179.3		2	34	19	19.0	
65	Unionidae		1	*1	0.0		010	12	0	110.0		4		10	10.0	
	Gastropoda															
	Valvatidae															
66	Valvata															
	Valvata snicera snicera Valvata tricarinata															
	Lymnaeidae															
32	Lymnaea			3	1.0											
	Physidae															_
10	Physa Planorbidae								4	1.3	Р					Р
67	Armiger															
11	Gyraulus						1			0.3						
50	Helisoma															
68	Promenetus						6			2.0						
1.8	Roprissia															
9 24	ANNELIDA		c	1.9	6.0			c	99	0 2		9	r		= 2	
20	Giossiphoniidae		0	12	0.0			0	66	9.0		0	5	3	5.5	
69	Glossiphonia complanata		6	7	4.3	Р	11	2		4.3			3		1.0	
70	Helobdella stagnalis												-			
	Hirudinidae															
71	Haemopis grandis						3			1.0						
72	Nepheloosis obscura	2			0.7	Р	2			0.7						
22	Oligochaeta	12	122	172	102.0	P	306	148	165	206.3		218	222	194	211.3	
	ARTHROPODA															
12	Arachnida						0									
10	Crustacea		4	1	1.7		2		Э	3.7		4		4	2.7	
	Malacostraca															
	Amphipoda															
24	Gammarus lacustris															
73	Hyalelia azteca															
74	Collembola															
1	Emphemeroptera															
	Siphlonuridae															
33	Ameletus															
()	Metretopodidae															
76	Metretopus															
	Baetidae															
1	Baetis	10		1	3.7	А	4		2	2.0	Α			2	0.7	
77	Callibaetis										D					
44	Pseudocloeon					Р					Р					
	Heptageniidae					•										
2	Heptagenia										Р					
78	Rhithrogena															
19	Lentophebiidee															
80	Leptophiebidae											1	4		1.3	
30	Paraleptophlebia											1			0.3	
	Ephemerellidae															
19	Ephemerella						1			0.3						
43	Tricorythodes											1			0.2	
	Caenidae											1			0.5	
45	Caenis						1			0.3						
21	Baetiscidae															
5 81	Odonata															
-	Calopterygidae															
82	Calopteryx															
	Lestidae															
83	Lestes Connegricoridae															
a 1	Coenegrion															
0.4																

Table D13. Taxonomic composition and abundance of benthic macroinvertebrates in replicate Neill samples and dipnet samples from station LBC-B2 on Lower Beaver Creek, 1964.

Table D13. Continued.

SYNCRUDE			Spri	ng (19	June)			Summ	ner (2	July)			Fall (2	1 Septe	mber)	
Code	Таха	1	2	3	x	Dip	1	2	3	x	Dip	1	2	3	x	Dip
TC MTG																
	Gomphidae						,			0.2						
28	Comprus						1			0.3						
	Aeshnidae															
42	Aeshna															
87	Anax Corduliidae															
39	Somatochlora															
88	Libellulidae						9			07						
2	Plecoptera Pteronarcvidae						2			0.1						
3	Pteronarcys															
	Taeniopterygidae															
89	Nemouridae															
59	Malenka															
34	Nemoura															
90	Acroneuria															
91	Claassenia															
5.0	Perlodidae															
48	Isoperla															
92	Chloroperlidae															
93	Notonectidae															
94	Corixidae						•	14		5.0						P
05	Gerridae								1	0.3						
3 95	Trichoptera								1	0.5						
	pupae															
17	Philopotamidae															
17	Psychomyiidae															
96	Psychomyia															
20	Polycentropodidae															
97	Polycentropus															
	Hydropsychidae															
98 4	Cheumatopsyche Hydronsyche	1			0.3											
	Rhyacophilidae	•			0.0											
51	Rhyacophila															
5	Glossosomatidae												2		0.7	
Ū	Hydroptilidae															
41	Hydroptila						8		26	11.3						
99	Phryganeidae						0		20	11.0						
101	Agrypnia											1			0.3	
102	Ptilostomis Presbugentnidee															
27	Brachycentrus															
	Lepidostomatidae															
103	Lepidostoma															
104	Clostoeca															
105	Grammotaulius															
106	Hesperophylax Nemotaulius											1			0.3	1
	Helicopsychidae															
108	Heli <b>copsy</b> che															
9	Ceraclea															
109	Oecetis															
4 110	Coleoptera															ī
110	Haliplidae						2			0.7						
111	Haliplus			1	03	Р			1	0.3	P		2		07	
47	Dytiscidae Fimidee	10		7	5.7	A	4		3	1.3	P					
6	Diptera		1		0.3			1	-	0.3						
	pupae	2	3	3	2.7		38	32	17	29.0						
35	Chaoboridae								1	0.3						
112	Chaoborus															
7	Simuliidae		1	1	0.7											
37	pupae		3	2	1.7											
8	Chironomidae	22	116	87	75.0	А	598	271	674	514.3	Р	112	112	78	100.7	
38	Tabanidae	2	8	12	7.3			1	3	1.3		5	1	7	4.3	
46	Empididae															
·			974	291	91.9 7		1614	400	949	984 6		359	397	306	353.5	
	COLUMN IUTALS	01	6(4	341	210.1	0	1314	-133	21	U	7		551	2200		
	TAXA			19		ō			31		•			2. <b>4</b>		

Notes: MTC = major taxonomic category; MTG = major taxonomic group; A = abundant (five or more individuals), P = present; Neill sampler: area = 0.1 m², mesh size = 0.210 mm; Dipnet: mesh size = 0.250 mm.

1

SYN	CRUDE		-	Spri	ing (15	June)			Sumr	ner (30	July)			Fall (	22 Septe	ember)	
Co	de	Taza	1	2	3	x	Dip	1	2	3	x	Dip	1	2	3	x	Di
MTC	MTG									_							
		COELENTER ATA Hydrozoa															
	12	Hydra						2		8	3.3						
	15	NEMATODA						-									
8		MOLLUSCA															
		Pelecypoda															
	29	Sphaeriidae							3	2	1.7				4	1.3	
	65	Unionidae															
		Gastropoda															
	66	Valvatioae															
	00	Valvata Valvata sincera sincera															
		Valvata tricarinata															
		Lymnaeidae															
	32	Lymnaea															
		Physidae															
	10	Physa															
		Planorbidae															
	67	Armiger															
	50	Gyraulus															
	68	Prometetus															
		Anevlidae															
	18	Ferrissia															
0		ANNELIDA															
3	23	Hirudipea						,	2		1.0						
	•••	Glossiphoniidae						1	2		1.0						
	69	Glossiphonia complanata															
	70	Helobdella stagnalis															
		Hirudinidae															
	71	Haemopis grandis															
		Erpobdellidae															
	72	Nephelopsis obscura															
	22			ł		0.3	P	18	3	53	24.7		68	36	36	46.7	
		Arachnida															
	13	Acari	4			1.3		5	1		2.0				8	27	
	10	Crustacea						,									
		Malacostraca															
		Amphipoda															
	24	Gammarus lacustris															
	73	Hyalella azteca										Р					
	74	Collembola															
1		Emphemeroptera															
î		Siphlonuridae															
	33	Ameletus															
	75	Siphlonurus															
		Metretopodidae															
	76	Metretopus															
		Baetidae															
	1	Callibactic					A										
	77	Centroptilum										p					
	44	Pseudoclocon										г					
		Heptageniidae							1		0.3						
	2	Heptagenia							•		5.0						
	78	Rhithrogena															
	79	Stenonema					Р										
		Leptophlebiidae															
	80	Leptophlebia															Р
	30	Faraieptophiebia															
	19	Ephemerella															
		Tricorythidae															
	43	Tricorythodes															
		Caenidae															
	45	Caenis	45			15.0	А	t	28		9.7		20	36	4	20.0	
	0.1	Baetiscidae															
5	01	Dectisce Odonata															
5		Calonterveidee															
	82	Calopteryx					P										
	~ 4	Lestidae					1	-									
	83	Lestes															
		Coenagrionidae															
	84	Coenagrion					F										
	85	Ischnura															

Table D14. Taxonomic composition and abundance of benthic macroinvertebrates in replicate Ekman grab samples and dipnet samples from station UBC B on Upper Beaver Creek, 1984.

Table D14. Continued.

VNCRUDE			Spr	ing (15 .	June)			Summ	er (30	July)			Fall (	22 Septe	ember)	
Code	Taxa	1	2	3	x	Dip	1	2	3	x	Dip	1	2	3	x	Dip
℃ MTG																
	Gomphidae															
28	Gomphus															
86	Ophiogomphus															
42	Aeshna										Р					P
87	Anax										Р					
	Corduliidae							0		0.7						
39	Somatochlora					P		2		0.1						
2	Plecoptera															
-	Pteronarcyidae															
3	Pteronarcys				-											
80	Theniopterygidae															
00	Nemouridae															
59	Malenka															
34	Nemoura															
90	Acroneuria															
91	Claassenia															
	Perlodidae															
58	Arcynopteryx															
92	Chloroperlidae															
	Hemiptera															
93	Notonectidae					n					D					Δ
94	Gerridae					r					c .					<u>^</u>
95	Gerris															
3	Trichoptera															
	pupae Philopote mideo															
17	Wormaldia															
	Psychomyiidae															
96	Psychomyia															
20	Polycentropodidae															
97	Polycentropus															
	Hydropsychidae															
98	Cheumatopsyche															
4	Bhyacophilidae															
51	Rhyacophila															
	Glossosomatidae															
5	Glossosoma															
41	Hydroptila															
99	Ochrotrichia															
	Phryganeidae															
101	Agrypnia Btilostomis															р
102	Brachveentridae															•
27	Brachycentrus															
	Lepidostomatidae															
103	Lepidostoma							1		0.3						
104	Clostoeca															
105	Grammotaulius															
106	Hesperophylax															
107	Nemotaulius															
108	Helicopsyche															
	Leptoceridae															
9	Ceraclea															
109	Coleoptera															
110	Gyrinidae															Р
	Haliplidae															
111	Haliplus					n										
+( 6	Elmidae					r		1		0.3						
6	Diptera									-						
	pupae	3			1.0		2	11		4.3						
35	Tipulidae															
112	Chaoborus															
7	Simuliidae	1			0.3	А										
	pupae	2			0.7	Р									10 5	
37	Ceratopogonidae	30	1		13.3	р	9 20	4	149	4.7	P	12	12	. 8	193-3	
38	Tabanidae	29			19.9	r	28	199	43	01.0		152	230	. 152	100.0	
46	Empididae															
							<u>.</u>									
	COLUMN TOTALS	94	:	2 0	31.9		77	212	113	134.0		252	380	192	274.7	
	ΤΑΧΑ			14		12			18		6			11		5

÷.

×1

ć

1

Notes: MTC = major taxonomic category; MTG = major taxonomic group; A = abundant (five or more individuals), P = present: Ekman grab sampler: area = 0.023 m², sieve mesh size = 0.250 mm; Dipnet: mesh size = 0.250 mm.

SYNCRUDE			Sp	ring (	N/A)				Summ	ner (28	8 July)			Fall (2	6 Septe	mber)	
Code	Taxa	1	2	3	x	Dip	-	L.	2	3	x	Dip	1	2	3	x	Di
	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·									•			<i></i>				
HC MIG	(10 P) (10 P) (10 P)																
	Hudrozon	C	NO SA	MPLI	ES WEI	RE											
12	Hydrozoa	U.	OLLEU	TED	IN SPR	ang							,	1			
15	NEMATODA							1			0.3		1	1		0.7	
8	MOLLUSCA							-									
	Pelecypoda																
29	Sphaeriidae														1	0.3	
05	Gestropode																
	Valvatidae																
66	Valvata																
	Valvata sincera sincera																
	Valvata tricarinata																
32	Lymnaeidae																
	Physidae												z	1		1.0	
10	Physa												1			0.3	
	Planorbidae												23		4	9.0	
67	Armiger							_									
50	Helisoma							2			0.7						
68	Promenetus																
	Ancylidae																
18	Ferrissia																
9	ANNELIDA																
23	Hirudinea																
<u>co</u>	Glossiphoniidae																
70	Giossippionia complanata Helobdella stampalic																
10	Hirudinidae																
71	Haemopis grandis																
	Erpobdellidae																
72	Nephelopsis obscura									-							
44	ARTHROPODA								1	2	1.0		9	4	12	8.3	
	Arachnida																
13	Acari							2			0.7		6		2	2.7	
10	Crustacea														2	2	
	Malacostraca																
24	Gammarus lacustris																
73	Hyalella azteca																
	Insecta																
1 24	Collembola												9			3.0	
1	Siphonuridae																
33	Ameletus													1		0 3	
75	Siphionurus													1		0.3	
	Metretopodidae																
76	Metretopus																
1	Baetis								c	,							
_	Callibaetis							LJ	0	4	8.3	А	6		1	2.3	4
77	Centroptilum																
44	Pseudocloeon																
2	Heptageniidae											_					
78	Rhithrogena											Р					
79	Stenonema																
	Leptophlebiidae																
80	Leptophlebia												11		1	4.0	1
30	Paraleptophiebia												1		2	1.0	
19	Ephemerella																
	Tricorythidae																
43	Tricorythodes							1	1	1	1.0		1		1	0.7	
45	Caenidae												-		-		
40	Baetiscidae												3			1.0	
81	Baetisca																
5	Odonata																
	Calopterygidae																
82	Calopteryx																
83	Lestes																
30	Coenagrionidae																
84	Coenagrion																
85	Ischnura																

Table D15. Taxonomic composition and abundance of benthic macroinvertebrates in replicate Neill samples and dipnet samples from station B1-B on Creek B1, 1984.

Table D15. Continued.

SYNCRUDE			Sp	ring ()	1/A)		 5	amme	r (28	July)			Fall (26	Septer	mber)	
Code	Таха	1	2	3	x	Dip	 1	2	3	x	Dip	1	2	3	x	Dip
с мтg																
	Gomphidae															
28	Gomphus															
80	Aeshnidae															
42	Aeshna															
87	Алах															
20	Corduliidae										p	1			0.3	
39	Libellulidae											•				
2	Plecoptera															
	Pteronarcyidae															
3	Pteronarcys Tecnionterwridee															
89	Taeniopterygrade															
	Nemouridae															
59	Malenka															
34	Perlidae															
90	Acroneuria															
91	Claassenia															
	Perlodidae															
58 48	Isoperia															
92	Chloroperlidae															
	Hemiptera															
93 04	Notonectidae															
34	Gerridae															
95	Gerris															
3	Trichoptera											1			0.3	
	pupae Philopotamidae															
17	Wormaldia															
	Psychomylidae															
96	Psychomyia													z	07	
20	Polycentropodidae Neureclinsis											7			2.3	
97	Polycentropus															
	Hydropsychidae											1	2		1.0	
98	Cheumatopsyche							1		0.3		1			0.3	
4	Rhyscophilidae											,			0.0	
51	Rhyacophila															
	Glossosomatidae											,			0.2	
5	Glossosoma						1			0.3		1			0.3	
41	Hydroptila												1		0.3	
99	Ochrotrichia															
	Phryganeidae															
101	Agrypnia															
102	Brachycentridae															
27	Brachycentrus															
	Lepidostomatidae															
103	Lepidostoma															
104	Clostoeca															
105	Grammotaulius															
106	Hesperophylax															
107	Nemotaulius															
108	Helicopsychie															
	Leptoceridae														• •	
9	Ceraclea											1			0.3	
109	Coleopters															
110	Gyrinidae															
	Haliplidae															
111	Haliplus															
47	Elmidae						3	3		2.0		2		2	1.3	
6	Diptera							_								
	pupae						2	2		1.3		1			0.3	
35	Tipulidae															
112	Cheoborus															
7	Simuliidae						51	23		24.7	Α	6	1	_	2 3	Α
~-	pupae						1	3		1.3		1		5	2.0	
37	Ceratopogonidae						43	31	3	25.7	р	2 221	115	149	161.7	Р
38	Tabanidae						10				•	221	•	- ••		
46	Empididae						1			0.3		1			0.3	
	-															
	COLUMN TOTALS						123	. 71	10	67.9		320	126	182	209.0	
	ТАХА							1	6		5			30		4

1

Notes: MTC = major ta: nomic category; MTG = major taxonomic group; A = abundant (five or more individuals). P = present; Neill sampler: area = 0.1 m². mesh size = 0.210 mm; Dipnet: mesh size = 0.250 mm.

Table D16.	<ul> <li>Taxonomic composition and abundance of benthic macroinvertebrate</li> </ul>	s in replicate	Ekman grab samples	and dignet samples f	rom station BCR-B1 on	Beaver
	Creek Reservoir, 1984.	•	0 1			Dearer

SYN	CRUDE			Spri	ing (1	5 June)	_	Summ	ner (24	t July)			Fall (2	3 Septe	mber)	
Co	de	Таха	1	2	3	x	1	2	3	x	Dip	1	2	3	x	Dip
NTC	MTG															
		COELENTERATA Hydrozoa														
	12	Hydra														
	15	NEMATODA	1	2		1.0	1	1		0.7			4		1.3	
8		MOLLUSCA														
		Pelecypoda														
	29	Sphaeriidae		1		0.3										
	65	Unionidae														
		Gastropoda														
	66	Valuate														
	00	Valvata singera singera										2		4	2.0	
		Valvata sincera sincera Valvata tricarinata														
		Lymnaeidae														
	32	Lymnaea							1	0.3	۵					р
		Physidae							1	0.5	<u>^</u>					P
	10	Physa									А					r
		Planorbidae	2			0.7						2	4	4	3.3	P
	67	Armiger												•	0.0	•
	11	Gyraulus						2	2	1.3	Р					
	50	Helisoma														
	00	Angulidae														
	18	Fornissio														
	10	I CI I ISSIA														
9		ANNELIDA														
	23	Hirudinea			1	0.3		1	2	1.0						
	60	Glossiphoniidae														
	70	Giossiphonia complanata														
	10	Hinudinideo							4	1.3						
	71	Hirudinidae Hoomooia mondia														
	11	Froobdellideo														
	7.2	Nephelopsis observes														
	22	Oligochaeta	243	83	68	131 3	60	7.4	1	0.3		1.00		100		
		ARTHROPODA	2.10		00	10110	00		04	00.0		100	10	100	94.7	
		Arachnida														
	13	Acari		1		0.3							16	4	67	
	10	Crustacea											10	-	0.1	
		Malacostraca														
		Amphipoda														
	24	Gammarus lacustris	1			0.3							4		1.3	
	73	Hyalella azteca	2			0.7					A		8		2.7	Р
	7.4	Insecta														
1	14	Collembola														
1		Siphlopurideo														
	33	Ameletus														
	75	Siphlonurus														
		Netretopodidae														
	76	Metretopus														
		Baetidae														
	1	Baetis														
		Callibaetis														
	77	Centroptilum														
	44	Pseudocloeon														
		Heptageniidae														
	2	Heptagenia														
	78	Rhithrogena														
	79	Stenonema														
	60	Leptophiebiidae														
	20	Leptophiebla														
	30	Faraleptophiebia														
	19	Ephemerellidae														
	15	Tricorythidee														
	43	Tricorythodes														
		Caenidae											4		1.3	
	45	Caenis	4	7		3.7			2	0.7		.1			1.2	
		Baetiscidae							2	0.1		-			1.3	
	81	Baetisca														
5		Odonata														
		Calopterygidae														
	82	Calopteryx														
	0.9	Lestidae					-									
	83	Lestes									Р					
	94	Coenagrionidae									Р					A
	85	Coenagrion														
	00	iscinura											4	4	2.7	

Table D16. Continued.

VNCRUDE			Spri	ng (15 .	June)		St	ımme	er (24	July)			Fall (2	3 Septe	mber)	
Code	Таха	1	2	3	x	1		2	3	x	Dip	1	2	3	x	Dip
C MTG																
	Gomphidae															
28	Gomphus															
86	Ophiogomphus															
42	Aeshna															-
87	Anax															Р
20	Corduliidae															
88	Libellulidae															
2	Plecoptera															
9	Pteronarcyidae															
3	Taenioptervgidae															
89	Taeniopteryx															
50	Nemouridae															
34	Nemoura															
	Perlidae															
90	Acroneuria															
91	Periodidae															
58	Arcynopteryx															
48	Isoperia Chieroperidae															
92	Hemiptera															
93	Notonectidae										P		,			P
94	Corixidae	1	1	2	1.3						А	2	4		2.0	r
95	Gerris															
3	Trichoptera															
	pupae Philopotemidee															
17	Wormaldia															
	Psychomyiidae															
96	Psychomyia															
20	Neureclipsis															
97	Polycentropus															
99	Hydropsychidae Cheumatopsyche															
4	Hydropsyche															
	Rhyacophilidae															
51	Clossosomatidae															
5	Glossosoma															
	Hydroptilidae															
41	Hydroptila															
55	Phryganeidae															
101	Agrypnia												4		13	
102	Phryganea Ptilostomis															
102	Brachycentridae															
27	Brachycentrus															
103	Lepidostomatidae															
105	Limnephilidae															
104	Clostoeca															
105	Grammotauluus Hesperophylax															
107	Nemotaulius															
109	Helicopsychidae															
108	Leptoceridae															
9	Ceraclea															
109	Oecetis															
110	Gyrinidae															
	Haliplidae										D					р
111	Haipius Dytiscidae										P					
6	Elmidae															
6	Diptera			,	1.2											
35	pupae Tipulidae	1	2	, t	1.3											
	Chaoboridae															
112	Chaoborus															
7	Simuliidae															
37	Ceratopogonidae							1		0.3					a- c	
8	Chironomidae	37	· 9	20	22.0		70	13	48	43.7		72	140	80	97.3	A
38	Tabanidae Empididae															
40	Emproriale														_	
	COLUMN TOTALS	295	106	92	163.2	1	31	92	124	115.3		250	208	196	217.9	
	таха			19	-	-			17		10			19		10
	4 7444.75			14												

Notes: MTC = major taxonomic category; MTG = major taxonomic group; A = abundant (five or more individuals). P = present: Ekman grab sampler: area = 0.023 m². sieve mesh size = 0.250 mm; Dipnet: mesh size = 0.700 mm.

SYNCRUDE	E Taxa	Spring (15 June)					Summ	ner (24	July)	Fall (23 September)				
Code		1	2	3	x	1	2	3	x	1	2	3	x	
TC MTG							_			·				
IC MIG	COELENTERATA													
	Hydrozoa													
12	Hydra									16	4	4	8.0	
15	NEMATODA		1	2	1.0	2		1	1.0	20	20	20	20.0	
8	MOLLUSCA													
20	Pelecypoda	1	0	0	1 7	,		4	1 7					
49 65	Unionidae	1	4	4	1.4	1		4	1.,					
00	Gastropoda													
	Valvatidae													
66	Valvata		20	14	11.3	3	5	13	7.0	4	4	4	4.0	
	Valvata sincera sincera													
	valvata tricarinata													
32	Lymnaea													
	Physidae													
10	Physa													
	Planorbidae													
67	Armiger													
50	Gyraulus Helisome													
68	Promenetus													
	Ancviidae													
18	Ferrissia													
9	ANNELIDA													
23	Hirudinea													
	Glossiphoniidae													
69	Glossiphonia complanata													
70	Helobdella stagnalis			1	0.3									
71	Hirudinidae Heemenia mendia													
/1	Freedolidee													
72	Nephelopsis obscura													
22	Oligochaeta	7	6	26	13.0	21	9	44	24.7	136	56	44	78.7	
	ARTHROPODA													
10	Arachnida				0.0									
13	ACEFI			1	0.3						8		2.7	
10	Malacostraca													
	Amphipoda													
24	Gammarus lacustris													
73	Hyalella azteca													
	Insecta													
14	Emphemaropters													
1	Siphlonuridae													
33	Ameletus													
75	Siphlonurus													
	Metretopodidae													
76	Metretopus													
۱	Baeticae									4			1.3	
1	Callibaetis													
77	Centroptilum													
44	Pseudocloeon													
	Heptageniidae													
2	Heptagenia													
78	Rhithrogena													
(9	Leptophlebiidee													
80	Leptophlebia													
30	Paraleptophlebia													
	Ephemerellidae													
19	Ephemerella													
40	Tricorythidae													
43	Caepidae									8			2.7	
45	Caenis													
	Baetiscidae													
81	Baetisca													
5	Odonata													
	Calopterygidae													
82	Calopteryx													
82	Lestique													
00	Coenagrionidae													
	Cooperation													
84	Cochagnion													

Table D17. Taxonomic composition and abundance of benthic macroinvertebrates in replicate Ekman grab samples from station BCR-B2 on Beaver Creek Reservoir, 1984.

Table D17. Continued.

SYNCRUDE			Spring (15 June)					Summer (24 July)					Fall (23 September)					
Code	Таха	1	2	3	x		1	2	3	x		1	2	3	x			
IC MTG																		
	Gomphidae																	
28	Gomphus																	
86	Ophiogomphus																	
42	Aeshna																	
87	Anax																	
20	Corduliidae																	
88	Libellulidae																	
2	Plecoptera																	
	Pteronarcyidae																	
3	Taeniontervaidae																	
89	Taeniopteryx																	
• •	Nemouridae																	
59	Malenka																	
54	Perlidae																	
90	Acroneuria																	
91	Claassenia																	
58	Arcynoptervx																	
48	Isoperla																	
92	Chloroperlidae																	
93	Notonectidae																	
94	Corixidae																	
65	Gerridae																	
3	Trichoptera																	
	pupae																	
	Philopotamidae																	
17	Psychomyjidae																	
96	Psychomyia																	
	Polycentropodidae																	
20	Polycentropus																	
	Hydropsychidae																	
98	Cheumatopsyche																	
4	Hydropsyche Rhygophilidee																	
51	Rhyacophila																	
	Glossosomatidae																	
5	Glossosoma																	
41	Hydroptila																	
99	Ochrotrichia																	
101	Phryganeidae																	
102	Ptilostomis																	
	Brachycentridae																	
27	Brachycentrus																	
103	Lepidostomatidae																	
100	Limnephilidae																	
104	Clostoeca																	
105	Grammotaunus Hesperophylax																	
107	Nemotaulius																	
100	Helicopsychidae																	
108	Leptoceridae																	
9	Ceraclea																	
109	Oecetis																	
4 110	Gvrinidae																	
	Haliplidae																	
111	Haliplus																	
47	Elmidae																	
6	Diptera								2	0.7								
40.27	pupae																	
35	Chaoboridae																	
112	Chaoborus	1			0.3													
7	Simuliidae																	
37	pupae Ceretopogenidae																	
31	Chironomidae	7	9	14	10.0		2	12	16	10.0		76	32	44	50.7			
38	Tabanidae	•	•				-							••				
46	Empididae																	
					· · · ·													
	COLUMN TOTALS	16	38	60	37.9		29	26	80	45.1		264	124	116	168.1			
	TAXA			8					6					8				

Notes: MTC = major taxonomic category; MTG = major taxonomic group; Ekman grab sampler: area = 0.023 m², sieve mesh size = 0.250 mm.

Table D18.	Taxonomic composition and abundance of benthic macroinvertebrates in replicate Ekm	nan grab samples from station BCR-E3 on Beaver Creek Reservoir, 1984
------------	------------------------------------------------------------------------------------	----------------------------------------------------------------------

SYNCRUDI	Тала		Sprin	ug (15	June)	Summer (24 July)	Fall (23 September)					
Code		1	2	3	x	1 2 3 x	1	2 3 x				
ATC MTG												
	COELENTERATA											
12	Hydrozoa											
15	NEMATODA	3	5		2.7	3 1 1 2	20	8 9.3				
8	MOLLUSC A	-	Ť			5 1 1.5	24	28 8 20.0				
20	Pelecypoda											
65	Unionidae			1	0.3		2	0 7				
	Gastropoda											
66	Valvatidae											
00	Valvata Valvata sincera sincera	4	6	3	4.3	6 2.0	6	8 4.7				
	Valvata tricarinata											
30	Lymnaeidae											
52	Physidae											
10	Physa											
67	Planorbidae											
11	Gyraulus											
50	Helisoma											
68	Promenetus											
18	Ferrissia											
9	ANNELIDA											
23	Hirudinea											
60	Glossiphoniidae											
70	Helobdella stagnalis											
_	Hirudinidae											
71	Haemopis grandis											
72	Nephelopsis obscura											
22	Oligochaeta	41	40	43	41.3	31 43 89 54.3	62 5	16 5.3 18 328 150 3				
	ARTHROPODA						02 0	0 010 102.0				
13	Acari											
10	Crustacea											
	Malacostraca											
24	Gammarus lacustris											
73	Hyalella azteca											
74	Collembola											
1	Emphemeroptera											
	Siphlonuridae											
33 75	Ameletus Siphlopurus											
	Metretopodidae											
76	Metretopus											
1	Baetic											
1	Callibaetis											
77	Centroptilum											
44	Pseudocloeon											
2	Heptagenia											
78	Rhithrogena											
79	Stenonema											
80	Leptophiebildae											
30	Paraleptophlebia											
10	Ephemerellidae											
15	Tricorythidae											
43	Tricorythodes											
45	Caenidae											
70	Baetiscidae							4 1.3				
81	Baetisca											
3	Caloptervoidee											
82	Calopteryx											
	Lestidae					•						
83	Lestes											
84	Coenagrion											

Table D18. Continued.

NORIDE	Таха		Spring (15 June)				Summe	er (24 J	July)	Fall (23 September)					
Code		1	2	3	x	1	2	3	x	1	2	3	x		
TC MTG															
ie mie	Gomphidae														
28	Gomphus														
86	Ophiogomphus														
42	Aeshna														
87	Anax														
20	Corduliidae														
39	Libellulidae														
2 0.0	Plecoptera														
	Pteronarcyidae														
3	Taenioptervgidae														
89	Taeniopteryx														
5.0	Nemouridae														
34	Nemoura														
	Perlidae														
90	Classenia														
51	Periodidae														
58	Arcynopteryx														
48	Isoper la Chloroper lidag														
02	Hemiptera														
93	Notonectidae														
94	Gerridae														
95	Gerris														
3	Trichoptera														
	Philopotamidae														
17	Wormaldia														
0.0	Psychomyiidae														
90	Polycentropodidae														
20	Neureclipsis														
97	Polycentropus														
98	Cheumatopsyche														
4	Hydropsyche														
51	Rhyacophilidae														
01	Glossosomatidae														
5	Glossosoma														
41	Hydroptilla														
99	Ochrotrichia														
	Phryganeidae														
101	Agrypma Ptilostomis														
102	Brachycentridae														
27	Brachycentrus														
103	Lepidostomatidae														
103	Limnephilidae														
104	Clostoeca														
105 106	Grammotaulius Hesperophylax														
107	Nemotaulius														
100	Helicopsychidae														
108	Leptoceridae														
9	Ceraclea														
109	Oecetis														
<b>1</b> 10	Gyrinidae														
	Haliplidae														
111 47	Hanplus Dytiscidee														
6	Elmidae														
6	Diptera														
35	pupae Tipulidae														
	Chaoboridae														
112	Chaoborus	1		1	0.7										
7	Simuliidae			1	0.3										
37	Ceratopogonidae														
8	Chironomidae	9	33	9	17.0		4	25	9.7	16	28	60	34.7		
38	Tabanidae Empididee														
40	Emploidae														
	COLUMN TOTALS	58	84	58	66.6	31	50	121	67.3	130	160	416	235.3		
	TAVA	50		7		-		4				8			

Notes: MTC = major taxonomic category; MTG = major taxonomic group; Ekman grab sampler: area = 0.023 m², sieve mesh size = 0.250 mm.

SYNCRUDE			Spring N/A				Sum	ner (2-	4 July)		Fall (23 September)						
Code	de	Taxa	1	2	3	x	1	2	3	x		1	2	3	x		
MTC	MTG																
		COELENTERATA	NO S	AMPL	ES WEE	₹F											
		Hydrozoa	COLLE	CTED	IN SPR	ING											
	12	Hydra										1	6	4	6.7		
8	15	MOLUISCA									1	66	54	12	30.7		
U		Pelecypoda															
	29	Sphaeriidae					8	13	11	10.7	1	2	8	8	9.3		
	65	Unionidae											-	-			
		Gastropoda															
	66	Valvata					2		1	1.0				•	07		
		Valvata sincera sincera					2		•	1.0				0	2.1		
		Valvata tricarinata															
	32	Lymnaeidae															
	52	Physidae															
	10	Physa															
	0.5	Planorbidae										4	4	8	5.3		
	67 11	Armiger					0			0.7							
	50	Helisoma					2			0.7							
	68	Promenetus															
	1.0	Ancylidae															
	18	Ferrissia															
9	0.2	ANNELIDA															
	23	Glossiphoniidee							1	0.3							
	69	Glossiphonia complanata															
	70	Helobdella stagnalis															
	7.1	Hirudinidae															
	11	Froobdellidee															
	72	Nephelopsis obscura															
	22	Oligochaeta					18	34	22	24.7	26	4 12	4	256	214.7		
		ARTHROPODA															
	13	Acari						1		0.2	0	,		1.0	14.7		
	10	Crustacea								0.5	2	,	4	12	14.7		
		Malacostraca															
	24	Amphipoda Commenus lacustais															
	73	Hvalella azteca															
		Insecta															
	74	Collembola															
1		Siphlopuridee															
	33	Ameletus															
	75	Siphlonurus															
	70	Metretopodidae															
	10	Beetidee															
	1	Baetis															
		Callibaetis															
	77	Centroptilum															
		Heptageniidae															
	2	Heptagenia															
	78	Rhithrogena															
	79	Stenonema															
	80	Leptophlebia															
	30	Paraleptophlebia															
	1.0	Ephemerellidae															
	19	Ephemerella															
	43	Tricorythodes									1				2.7		
		Caenidae															
	45	Caenis						1	1	07							
	81	Baetisce															
5		Odonata															
		Calopterygidae															
	82	Calopteryx															
	83	Lestidae															
		Coenagrionidae															
	84	Coenagrion															
	85	Ischnura															

Table D19. Taxonomic composition and abundance of benthic macroinvertebrates in replicate Ekman grab samples from station BCR B4 on Beaver Creek Reservoir. 1984.
Table D19. Continued.

SYNCRUDE			SĮ	pring N/	A	 :	Summ	er (24	July)		Fall (2	3 Septe	mbe <del>r</del> )
Code	Таха	1	2	3	x	 1	2	3	x	1	2	3	x
TC MTG													
	Gomphidae												
28	Gomphus												
86	Ophiogomphus												
42	Aeshna												
87	Anax												
	Corduliidae												
39	Somatochlora												
2 88	Elecopters												
2	Pteronarcyidae												
3	Pteronarcys												
	Taeniopterygidae												
89	Nemouridae												
59	Malenka												
34	Nemoura												
~~	Perlidae												
90	Classenia												
51	Perlodidae												
58	Arcynopteryx												
48	Isoperla												
92	Chioroperlidae												
93	Notonectidae												
94	Corixidae					1			0.3				
07	Gerridae												
3 95	Gerris												
5	oupse												
	Philopotamidae												
17	Wormaldia												
96	Psychomylidae												
50	Polycentropodidae												
20	Neureclipsis												
97	Polycentropus												
00	Hydropsychidae												
98 1	Uneumatopsyche												
	Rhyacophilidae												
51	Rhyacophila												
	Glossosomatidae												
5	Glossosoma												
41	Hydroptila												
99	Ochrotrichia												
	Phryganeidae												
101	Agryphia Ptilostomis												
102	Brachycentridae												
27	Brachycentrus												
	Lepidostomatidae												
103	Lepidostoma												
104	Clostoeca												
105	Grammotaulius												
106	Hesperophylax												
107	Nemotaujuus Helicopsychidee												
108	Helicopsyche												
	Leptoceridae												
9	Ceraclea												
4	Coleoptera												
110	Gyrinidae												
	Haliplidae									12		4	5.3
111	Haliplus												
47	Elmidae												
6	Diptera												
	pupae					2	1	1	1.3				
35	Tipulidae												
112	Chaoborus										4		1.3
7	Simuliidae										-		
-	pupae												
37	Ceratopogonidae					2	1	25	1.0	8	20	4	4.0
8	Chironomidae					46	63	35	48.0	540	32	332	268.0
30 46	Empididae									4			
	COLUMN TOTALS					 80	115	72	89.0	896	256	548	566.7
										500		1.0	
	TAXA							11				13	

Notes: MTC = major taxonomic category; MTG = major taxonomic group; Ekman grab sampler: area = 0.023 m². sieve mesh size = 0.250 mm.

Table D20. Taxonomic composition and abundance of benthic macroinvertebrates in replicate Ekman grab samples from station BCR-B5 on Deaver Creek Reservoir. 1984.

SYNCRU	DE			Spring 1	I/A		Sumπ	1er (24	July)	_	Fa <u>ll</u>	(23	Septer	mber)
Code		Taxa	1	2 3	x	1	2	3	x	1	2	3	3	x
ATC MT	rG													
		COELENTERATA	NC	O SAMPLE	SWERE									
		Hydrozoa	COL	LECTED I	N SPRING									
1	2	Hydra								2	12	2	4	5.3
8	. 5	MOLLUSCA								2				47
		Pelecypoda												
2	29	Sphaeriidae				1			0.3				2	0.7
6	55	Unionidae												
		Valvatidae												
6	i6	Valvata				2	7	11	6.7					
		Valvata sincera sincera												
		Lymnaeidae												
3	12	Lymnaea												
1	n	Physidae												
1	.0	Planorbidae											2	0.7
6	57	Armiger											-	
1	1	Gyraulus					1		0.3					
5	50 58	Promenetus												
•		Ancylidae												
1	8	Ferrissia												
9		ANNELIDA												
2	23	Hirudinea					1	2	1.0					
6	9	Glossiphonia complanata												
7	0	Helobdella stagnalis												
		Hirudinidae												
'	1	Eroobdellidae												
7	2	Nephelopsis obscura												
2	2	Oligochaeta				7	95	24	42.0	32	44	1	74	56.0
		Arachnida												
1	3	Acari												
1	.0	Crustacea												
		Amphipoda												
2	4	Gammarus lacustris												
7	3	Hyalella azteca						3	1.0					
7	4	Collembola												
1		Emphemeroptera												
2		Siphlonuridae												
7	5	Siphlonurus												
		Metretopodidae												
7	6	Metretopus												
	1	Baetis												
		Callibaetis												
• 7	7	Centroptilum												
4	4	Hentageniidae												
	2	Heptagenia												
7	8	Rhithrogena												
7	9	Stenonema												
8	80	Leptophlebia												
3	0	Paraleptophlebia												
	0	Ephemerellidae												
1	3	rpnemerella Tricorythidae												
4	3	Tricorythodes												
	1.5	Caenidae												0 7
4	IJ	Baetiscidae								2				0.7
8	31	Baetisca												
5		Odonata												
9	12	Calopterygidae												
0	-	Lestidae												
8	13	Lestes												
		Coenagrionidae												
8	4	Coenagrion												

Table D20. Continued.

NCRUDE			S	oring N	/A	 	Summe	er (24 -	July)	 	Fati (2	3 Septer	nber)
Code	Taxa	1	2	3	x	 1	2	3	x	 1	2	3	x
C MTG													
	Gomphidae												
28	Gomphus												
86	Ophiogomphus												
42	Aeshna												
87	Anax												
	Corduliidae												
39	Somatochlora												
2 88	Pleconters												
2	Pteronarcvidae												
3	Pteronarcys				~								
	Taeniopterygidae												
89	Nemouridae												
59	Malenka												
34	Nemoura												
	Perlidae												
90	Classenia												
51	Perlodidae												
58	Arcynopteryx												
48	Isoperla												
92	Chioroperiidae Hemintera												
93	Notonectidae												
94	Corixidae												
05	Gerridae												
95	Gerris												
3	DUDAE												
	Philopotamidae												
17	Wormaldia												
0.6	Psychomylidae												
30	Polycentropodidae												
20	Neureclipsis												
97	Polycentropus												
0.0	Hydropsychidae												
98 4	Hydronsyche												
•	Rhyacophilidae												
51	Rhyacophila												
-	Glossosomatidae												
э	Glossosoma Hydroptilidae												
41	Hydroptija												
99	Ochrotrichia												
	Phryganeidae												
101	Agrypnia												
102	Brachycentridae												
27	Brachycentrus												
	Lepidostomatidae												
103	Lepidostoma												
104	Clostoeca												
105	Grammotaulius												
106	Hesperophylax												
107	Nemotaulius												
108	Helicopsychiae												
	Leptoceridae												
9	Ceraclea												
109	Oecetis												
T 1) Û	Gvrinidae												
	Haliplidae												
111	Haliplus												
47	Dytiscidae												
6	Diptera												
	pupae												
35	Tipulidae												
110	Chaoboridae												
112	Simuliidee												
•	pupae												
37	Ceratopogonidae							1	0.3				a
8	Chironomidae					11	28	29	22.7	24	24	54	34.0
38 46	Labanidae Empididae												
10						 				 			
	COLUMN TOTALS					 20	133	70	74.3	 60	80	148	96.1

Notes: MTC = major taxonomic category; MTG = major taxonomic group; Ekman grab sampler: area = 0.023 m², sieve mesh size = 0 250 mm

Table D21.	Taxonomic composition and abundance of benthic macroinvertebrates in replicate Ekman grab samples and dipnet samples from station RL-B on Ruth Lake, 1954.
------------	------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

SYNCRUDE		Spring (16	i June)		Sum	ner (25	i July)			Fall (2	4 Septe	mber)	
Code	Taxa	1 2 3	x	1	2	3	x	Dip	1	2	3	x	Di
TC MTG													
	COELENTERATA												
12	Hydra												
15	NEMATODA	1	0.3								1	0.3	
8	MOLLUSCA										-	0.0	
	Pelecypoda												
29	Sphaeriidae			1			0.3		2			0.7	
65	Custopada												
	Valuatidao												
66	Valvatione												
	Valvata sincera sincera												
	Valvata tricarinata												
	Lymnaeidae												
32	Lymnaea												
10	Physidae												
10	Physa							Р					
67	Planorbidae								40	20	28	29.3	
11	Gymnilue							_	14		2	5.3	
50	Helisoma							Р					
68	Promenetus												
	Ancylidae									z		0.7	
18	Ferrissia												
9	ANNELIDA												
23	Hirudinea												
	Glossiphoniidae												
69	Glossiphonia complanata												
70	Helobdella stagnalis												
	Hirudinidae												
71	Haemopis grandis												
7.0	Erpobdellidae												
12	Nephelopsis obscura												
22	Ungochaeta A BTUROBODA			4	4	7	5.0		4		3	2.3	
	Arachnide												
13	Aceri												
10	Crustacea								1.4				
	Malacostraca								14	14	24	17.3	
	Amphipoda												
24	Gammarus lacustris							р			1	0.3	
73	Hyalella azteca					1	0.3	Ā	2	14	14	10.0	
•.	insecta								-		••	10.0	
74	Collembola												
1	Emphemeroptera												
33	Ameletin												
75	Siphlonurus												
	Metretopodidee												
76	Metretopus												
	Baetidae												
1	Baetis												
	Callibaetis												
77	Centroptilum												
44	Pseudocloeon												
	Heptageniidae												
2 20	Heptagenia												
79	Stopopomo												
15	Leptophlebiidae												
80	Lentophlebie												
30	Paraleptophiebia												
	Ephemerellidae												
19	Ephemerella												
	Tricorythidae												
43	Tricorythodes								12			4.0	
45	Caenidae												
40	Caenis	1	0.3							26	16	14.0	
81	Baetisce												
	Odonata												
	Caloptervgidae												
82	Caloptervx												
	Lestidac												
	Lestes							D					
83								r					
83	Coenagrionidae									4		9 0	-
83 84	Coenagrionidae Coenagrion									4	2	2.0	F

Table D21. Continued.

SANCEUDE		Spring (16 June)	Summer (25 July)	Fall (24 September)
Code	Таха	1 2 3 x	1 2 3 x Dip	1 2 3 x Dip
TC MTG				
	Gomphidae			
28	Gomphus			
86	Ophiogomphus Aesbuidee			
42	Aeshna			
87	Anax		Р	
20	Corduliidae			
39	Libellulidae		p	
2	Plecoptera			
	Pteronarcyidae			
3	Teeniontervoidae			
89	Taeniopteryx			
	Nemouridae			
59 24	Nalenka			
54	Perlidae			
90	Acroneuria			
91	Classenia			
58	Acconotervx			
48	Isoperla			
92	Chloroperlidae			
03	Notonectidae		Р	
94	Corixidae		Â	9
	Gerridae			
95	Gerris			
3	DUDBE			
	Philopotamidae			
17	Wormaldia			
9.6	Psychomyiidae			
50	Polycentropodidae			
20	Neureclipsis			
97	Polycentropus			
98	Cheumatopsychidae			
4	Hydropsyche			
	Rhyacophilidae			
51	Khyacophila Clossosometidee			
5	Glossosoma			
	Hydroptilidae			
41	Hydroptila			
99	Derrotricnia			
	Phryganea			1 0.3
101	Agrypnia			
102	Ptilostomis			
27	Brachycentrus			
5.	Lepidostomatidae			
103	Lepidostoma			
104	Clostoeca			
105	Grammotaulius			
106	Hesperophylax			
107	Nemotaulius Helicopsychidae			
108	Helicopsyche			
	Leptoceridae			
9	Ceraclea			
4 109	Coleoptera			
110	Gyrinidae			
	Haliplidae		ά	2 0 7
47	nampus Dytiscidee		r	
6	Elmidae			
ő	Diptera			
25	pupae			2 0 /
30	Chaoboridae			
112	Chaoborus			4 6 3.3
7	Simuliidae			
97	pupae Ceretopogonideo			
31 8	Chironomidae	4 12 5 7.0	4 5 28 12.3 P	82 164 118 121.3 A
38	Tabanidae			
46	Empididae			
			0 0 00 10 0	100 944 016 013 0
	COLUMN TOTALS	4 14 5 76	9 9 36 17.9	18U ZAA ZID 213.Z
	COLUMN IOTALS	4 14 0 110		100 244 210 21012

Notes: MTC = major taxonomic category; MTG = major taxonomic group; A = abundant (five or more individuals). P = present; Ekman grab sampler: area = 0.023 m² sieve mesh size = 0.250 mm; Dipnet: mesh size = 0.700 mm.

Table D22. Taxonomic composition and abundance of benthic macroinvertebrates in replicate Ekman grab samples and dipnet samples from station PCR-B1 on Poplar Creek Reservoir, 1984.

SYNC	RUDE			Spri	ng (16	June)		Sum	mer (20	July)			Fall (	25 Sept	ember)	
Co	de	Таха	1	2	3	x	1	2	3	x	Dip	1	2	3	x	Di
anc.	MTG															
		COELENTERATA														
	19	Hydrozoa						4		1 3		3	+		1 3	
	15	NEMATODA	1	2		1.0	1	4		0.3		5	1		1.6	
8		MOLLUSCA														
	20	Pelecypoda					1		1	07		4	A	4	4.0	
	65	Unionidae					L		1	0.7		4	4	4	4.0	
		Gastropoda										1			0.3	
	66	Valvatidae			2	07		1	2	1.0			2		1.0	
	00	Valvata sincera sincera			ĩ	0.1		1	~	1.0			5		1.0	
		Valvata tricarinata														
	32	Lymnaeidae									P					,
		Physidae									•					i
	10	Physa										20	10		20 5	
	67	Armiger										20	19	55	0.3	
	11	Gyraulus					1	7		2.7	Р					
	50 68	Helisoma														
	00	Ancylidae														
	18	Ferrissia														
9		ANNELIDA														
	23	Hirudinea							1	03			12		4.0	
	69	Glossiphonia complanata														
	70	Helobdella stagnalis														
	71	Hirudinidae Haemoois grandis														
	••	Erpobdellidae														
	72	Nephelopsis obscura								<b>-</b>						
	22	ARTHROPODA	lə	24	23	20.7	44	54	162	86.7		1335	430	1543	1102.7	
		Arachnida														
	13	Acari										4	9	2	5.0	
	tu	Valacostraca														
		Amphipoda														
	24	Gammarus lacustris					4	1	3	2.3	D	9			3.0	F
	15	Insecta					12	1		4.5	r					
	74	Collembola														
1		Siphlopuridae														
	33	Ameletus														
	75	Siphlonurus														
	76	Metretopodidae														
		Baetidae														
	1	Baetis														
	77	Centroptilum	1			0.3	1			0.3		2			07	
	44	Pseudocloeon														
		Heptageniidae														
	78	Rhithrogena														
	79	Stenonema														
	90	Leptophlebiidae														
	30	Paraleptophlebia														
		Ephemerellidae														
	r A	rpnemerella Tricorythidae														
	43	Tricorythodes										37	30	7	24.7	
	45	Caenidae					1			0.2						
	40	Baetiscidae					1			0.3						
	8;	Baetisca														
5		Odonata Calonterveidao											1		0.3	
	82	Calopteryx														
		Lestidae					`									
	83	Lestes														
	84	Coenagrion														Ę
		-														

Table D22. Continued.

SYNC	RUDE			Spr	ing (16	June)	 5	Summ	er (26	July)			Fall (2	5 Septe	mber)	
Co	de	Таха	1	2	3	x	 1	2	3	x	Dip	1	2	3	x	Dip
rc	MTG															
		Gomphidae														
	28	Gomphus														
	86	Aeshnidae														
	42	Aeshna									Р					
	87	Anax														
	20	Corduliidae														
	88	Libellulidae														
2		Plecoptera														
		Pteronarcyidae														
	3	Pteronarcys														
	89	Taeniopteryx														
		Nemouridae														
	59	Malenka														
	24	Perlidae														
	90	Acroneuria														
	91	Claassenia														
	58	Periodidae														
	48	isoperla														
	92	Chloroperlidae														
	0.2	Hemiptera									D					p
	93 94	Corixidae									A	2			07	P
		Gerridae														
	95	Gerris										0			0.7	
3		Dupae										2			0.7	
		Philopotamidae														
	17	Wormaldia														
	06	Psychomylidae														
	50	Polycentropodidae														
	20	Neureclipsis														
	97	Polycentropus														
	98	Cheumatopsyche														
	4	Hydropsyche														
		Rhyacophilidae														
	51	Khyacophila Glossosometidee														
	5	Glossosoma														
		Hydroptilidae														
	41	Hydroptila														
	33	Phryganeidae														
	101	Agrypnia														
	102	Ptilostomis														
	27	Brachycentridae														
		Lepidostomatidae														
	103	Lepidostoma														
	104	Limnephilidae														
	104	Grammotaulius														
	106	Hesperophylax														
	107	Nemotaulius														
	108	Helicopsychiae														
		Leptoceridae														
	9	Ceraclea														
4	109	Coleoptera														
	110	Gyrinidae														
		Haliplidae												1	03	
	47	Halipius Dytisgidee									р					р
	6	Elmidae									-					
6		Diptera					7			2.3						
	35	pupae Tipulidae														
		Chaoboridae														
	112	Chaoborus														Р
	7	Simulidae														
	37	Ceratopogonidae			1	0.3							2		07	
	8	Chironomidae	15	3	3 25	24.3	198	52	40	96.7		1598	974	2180	1584.0	Р
	38	Tabanidae			1	0.3										
	40	Emplaidae														
		COLUNN TOTALS			0 61	47 7	 970	110	900	100.3		2022	1401	2702	0700 9	
		COLUMN IUTAES	32	, 5	ə ə2 -	*(.)	210	119	209	199.3		2023	1421	3193	2722.3	_
		TAXA			7				18		7			26		9

Notes: MTC = major taxonomic category; MTG = major taxonomic group: A = abundant (five or more individuals). P = present: Ekinan grab sampler: area = 0.023 m². sieve mesh size = 0.250 mm; Dipnet: mesh size = 0.700 mm.

SYN/	RUDE			Sprin	<b>g (</b> 16	June)	_	S	umme	er (26 J	uly)	-	1	Fall (25	Septe	mber)
Co	de	Таха	1	2	3	x		1	2	3	x		1	2	3	x
мтс	MTG															
		COELENTERATA														
	12	Hydra														
	15	NEMATODA														
8		MOLLUSCA														
	29	Sobaeriidae														
	65	Unionidae														
		Gastropoda														
		Valvatidae														
	66	Valvata Valvata sincera sincera														
		Valvata tricarinata														
		Lymnaeidae														
	32	Lymnaea														
	10	Physidae														
	10	Planorbidae														
	67	Armiger		1		0.3										
	11	Gyraulus														
	50	Helisoma														
	00	Ancylidae														
	18	Ferrissia														
4		ANNELIDA														
•	23	Hirudinea														
		Glossiphoniidae														
	69 70	Glossiphonia complanata Holobdollo atognalia														
	10	Hirudinidae														
	71	Haemopis grandis														
		Erpobdellidae														
	72	Nephelopsis obscura	5	9	3	5.7		32	15	59	35.3		13	30	9	17.3
	66	ARTHROPODA	Ŭ	0	v	0.1		02	10		0010			••		
		Arachnida														
	13	Acari														
	10	Crustacea														
		Amphipoda														
	24	Gammarus lacustris	2			0.7										
	73	Hyalella azteca														
	74	Insecta Collembola		1		0.3										
1		Emphemeroptera		•		010										
		Siphlonuridae														
	33	Ameletus														
	75	Metretopodidae														
	76	Metretopus														
		Baetidae														
	1	Baetis														
	77	Centroptilum														
	44	Pseudocloeon														
		Heptageniidae														
	2	Heptagenia														
	78	Steponema														
		Leptophlebiidae														
	80	Leptophlebia														
	30	Paraleptophlebia														
	19	Ephemerella														
		Tricorythidae														
	43	Tricorythodes														
	45	Caenidae														
	-10	Baetiscidae														
	81	Baetisca														
5		Odonata														
	32	Caloptervy														
	02	Lestidae														
	83	Lestes														
	8.4	Coenagrionidae														
	85	Ischnura														

Table D23. Taxonomic composition and abundance of benthic macroinvertebrates in replicate Ekman grab samples from station PCR-B2 on Poplar Creek Reservoir, 1984.

Table D23. Continued.

SYNC	RUDE			Sprin	ug (16	June)	 S	umme	er (26	July)		Fall (2	5 Septe	mber)	
Co	de	Таха	1	2	3	x	 1	2	3	x	 1	2	3	x	
ATC.	MTG														
		Gomphidae													
	28	Gomphus													
	86	Ophiogomphus													
	42	Aeshna													
	87	Anax													
	4.0	Cordulidae													
	39 88	Libellulidae													
2		Plecoptera													
		Pteronarcyidae													
	3	Taenioptervgidae													
	89	Taeniopteryx													
	50	Nemouridae													
	34	Nemoura													
		Perlidae													
	90 91	Classopis													
	31	Perlodidae													
	58	Arcynopteryx													
	48 92	isoperia Chloroperlidae													
		Hemiptera													
	93	Notonectidae													
	94	Gerridae													
	95	Gerris													
3		Trichoptera													
		Philopotamidae													
	17	Wormaldia													
	06	Psychomyiidae													
	30	Polycentropodidae													
	20	Neureclipsis													
	97	Polycentropus Hydropsychidae													
	98	Cheumatopsyche													
	4	Hydropsyche													
	51	Rhyacophilidae Rhyacophila													
		Glossosomatidae													
	5	Glossosoma													
	41	Hydroptilla													
	99	Ochrotrichia													
	101	Phryganeidae													
	101	Ptilostomis													
	-	Brachycentridae													
	27	Brachycentrus													
	103	Lepidostoma													
		Limnephilidae													
	104	Clostoeca Grammotaulius													
	106	Hesperophylax													
	107	Nemotaulius Helicopsychicke													
	108	Helicopsyche													
	<i>c</i>	Leptoceridae													
	9 109	Oecetis													
4		Coleoptera													
	110	Gyrinidae Haliolidae													
	111	Haliplus													
	47	Dytiscidae													
6	0	Diptera													
-		рирае		1		0.3	1		2	1.0					
	35	Tipulidae													
	112	Chaoborus	1		11	4.0	1		1	0.7					
	7	Simuliidae	•				-		-						
	27	pupae													
	31	Chironomidae	21	19	7	15.7	3	9	4	5.3	14	30	20	21.3	
	38	Tabanidae			·		-	·	-			••			
	46	Empididae													
				21		97.0	 	24	60	42.2	 	~~~		20.0	
		COLUMN IUTALS	Z9	31	21	21.0	37	<b>44</b>	00	44.3	27	60	29 2	38.6	
		TAXA		7				4					Z		

Notes: MTC = major taxonomic category; MTG = major taxonomic group; Ekman grab sampler: area = 0.023 m², sieve mesh size = 0.250 mm.

1

أتبيه

-

di la

Table D24. Taxonomic composition and abundance of benthic macroinvertebrates in replicate Ekman grab samples from station PCR-B3 on Poplar Creek Reservoir, 1984.

	_			Sprin	g (16 .	lune)		Sum	mei	r (26 J	July)			Fall (25	Septer	nber)
SY NO Co	CRUDE de	Taxa	1	2	3	x	1	2		3	x		1	2	3	x
MTC	MTG															
		COELENTERATA														
	12	HydroZoa Hydro														
	15	NEMATODA		1		0.3										
8		MOLLUSCA														
		Pelecypoda														
	29	Sphaeriidae														
	65	Unionidae														
		Gastropoda														
	66	Valvate														
	00	Valvata sincera sincera														
		Valvata tricarinata														
		Lymnaeidae														
	32	Lymnaea														
	10	Physicale														
	10	Planorbidae														
	67	Armiger														
	11	Gyraulus						2	2		0.7					
	50	Helisoma														
	68	Promenetus														
	18	Forrissia														
	10															
9		ANNELIDA														
	23	Glossiphoniidae														
	69	Glossiphonia complanata		T		0.3										
	70	Helobdella stagnalis														
		Hirudinidae														
	71	Haemopis grandis														
	70	Erpoddellidae														
	22	Oligochaeta	2		1	1.0	2				0.7					
	~-	ARTHROPODA														
		Arachnida														
	13	Acari														
	10	Crustacea														
		Amphipoda														
	24	Gammarus lacustris														
	73	Hyalella azteca														
		Insecta														
,	74	Collembola														
1		Siphlopuridae														
	33	Ameletus														
	75	Siphlonurus														
		Metretopodidae														
	76	Metretopus														
	1	Baetic														
	1	Callibeetis														
	77	Centroptilum														
	44	Pseudocloeon														
		Heptageniidae														
	2 79	Heptagenia Bhithromone														
	79	Stenonema														
		Leptophlebiidae														
	80	Leptophlebia														
	30	Paraleptophlebia														
	10	Ephemereilidae														
	19	Tricorythidae														
	43	Tricorythodes														
		Caenidae														
	45	Caenis														
	<b>9</b> 1	Baetiscidae														
5	01	Odonata														
÷		Calopterygidae														
	82	Calopteryx														
	26	Lestidae					×									
	83	Lestes														
	84	Coenagrion														
	85	Ischnura														

Table D24. Continued.

SYN	CRUDE			Spr	ing (16	June)		Sun	ımer (	(26 July)		Fal	1 (25 :	Septer	nber)
Co	xde	Taxa	1	2	3	x		1 2	2 :	3 x	1		2	3	x
MTC	MTG														
	MILO														
	28	Gomphidae													
	86	Ophiogomphus													
		Aeshnidae													
	42	Aeshna													
	01	Corduliidae													
	39	Somatochlora													
	88	Libellulidae													
Z		Plecoptera													
	3	Pteronarcys				ς									
		Taeniopterygidae													
	89	Taeniopteryx													
	59	Malenka													
	34	Nemoura													
	0.0	Perlidae													
	90	Clearsonia													
	51	Perlodidae													
	58	Arcynopteryx													
	48	Isoperla Chierenelida													
	32	Hemiptera													
	93	Notonectidae													
	94	Corixidae													
	95	Gerridae													
3	00	Trichoptera													
		pupae													
	17	Philopotamidae													
	17	Psychomyiidae													
	96	Psychomyia													
	20	Polycentropodidae													
	97	Polycentropis													
		Hydropsychidae													
	98	Cheumatopsyche													
	4	Hydropsyche													
	51	Rhyacophila													
		Glossosomatidae													
	5	Glossosoma													
	41	Hydroptila													
	99	Ochrotrichia													
	101	Phryganeidae													
	102	Ptilostomis													
		Brachycentridae													
	27	Brachycentrus													
	103	Lepidostomatidae													
		Limnephilidae													
	104	Clostoeca													
	105	Grammotaulius													
	107	Nemotaulius													
	100	Helicopsychidae													
	108	Helicopsyche													
	9	Ceracles													
	109	Oecetis													
4	110	Coleoptera													
	110	Haliplidae													
	111	Haliplus													
	47	Dytiscidae													
6	0	Diptera													
		pupae					5	5	2	4.0					
	35	Tipulidae					0	J	4	40					
	112	Chaoboridae	0		_										
	7	Simuliidae	3	2	5	3.3	9	10	2	7.0	4	1		5	3.3
		рирае													
	37	Ceratopogonidae	_		_										
	33	Tabanidae	7	1	3	3.7	2	6	4	4.0	32	5	2	1	19.3
	46	Empididae													
		COLUMN TOTALS	12	5	9	8.6	18	23	8	16 4	20	0		e .	79 e
		TAXA		:	5				5		30	0	2 •	U I	
													z		

Notes: MTC = major taxonomic category; MTG = major taxonomic group; Ekman grab sampler: area = 0.023 m², sieve mesh size = 0.250 mm

ev NC BUD	F	Spr	ing (16	June)		Summer (26	July)		Fall (25	Septem	Der)
Code	Taxa	1 2	3	x	1	2 3	x	1	2	3	x
me Mille											
10 110	COELENTERATA										
	Hydrozoa										
12	Hydra NEMATODA										
8	MOLLUSCA										
	Pelecypoda										
29	Sphaeriidae Unionidae										
00	Gastropoda										
	Valvatidae										
66	Valvata Valvata sincera sincera										
	Valvata sincera sincera Valvata tricarinata										
	Lymnaeidae										
32	Lymnaea Physidae										
10	Physa										
	Planorbidae										
67	Armiger										
50	Helisoma										
68	Promenetus										
18	Ferrissia										
0	ANNELIDA										
23	Hirudinea										
	Glossiphoniidae										
69 70	Glossiphonia complanata Helobdella stagnalis										
	Hirudinidae										
71	Haemopis grandis										
79	Nephelonsis obscura										
22	Oligochaeta		1	0.3					1 1		0.7
	ARTHROPODA										
13	Acari										
10	Crustacea								1		0.3
	Malacostraca										
24	Gammarus lacustris										
73	Hyalella azteca										
74	Insecta Collembola										
1	Emphemeroptera					1	0.3				
	Siphlonuridae										
3.	Siphlonurus										
	Metretopodidae										
76	6 Metretopus Beetidee										
:	Baetis										
	Callibaetis										
71	Centroptilum Pseudocloeon										
1	Heptageniidae										
_	2 Heptagenia										
71	S Khitarogena Steponema										
	Leptophlebiidae										
8	) Leptophiebia										
3	Ephemerellidae										
1	9 Ephemerella										
	Tricorythidae										
4	Caenidae										
4	5 Caenis										
R	Baetiscidae 1 Baetisca										
5	Odonata										
~	Calopterygidae										
8	Lestidae										
8	3 Lestes										
0	Coenagrionidae										
8											

Table D25 Taxonomic composition and abundance of benthic macroinvertebrates in replicate Ekman grab samples from station PCR-B4 on Poplar Creek Reservoir, 1984.

Table D25. Continued.

NCRUDE			Spri	ng (16	June)		Summe	er (26	July)	_		Fall (2	5 Sept	ember)	
Code	Таха	1	2	3	x	1	2	3	x		1	2	3	x	
. мтG															
	Gomphidae														
28	Gomphus														
86	Ophiogomphus														
42	Aeshna														
87	Anax														
	Corduliidae														
39	Somatochlora														
00	Plecoptera														
	Pteronarcyidae														
3	Pteronarcys														
89	Taeniopterygidae														
00	Nemouridae														
59	Malenka														
34	Nemoura														
90	Actopetris														
91	Claassenia														
	Perlodidae														
58 49	Arcynopteryx														
92	Chloroperlidae														
	Hemiptera														
93	Notonectidae														
94	Gerridae														
95	Gerris														
	Trichoptera														
	pupae Philopotamidao														
17	Wormaldia														
	Psychomyiidae														
96	Psychomyia														
20	Polycentropodidae														
97	Polycentropus														
	Hydropsychidae														
98	Cheumatopsyche														
4	Rhyacophilidae														
51	Rhyacophila														
	Glossosomatidae														
5	Glossosoma														
41	Hydroptila														
99	Ochrotrichia														
	Phryganeidae														
101	Agrypnia														
102	Brachycentridae														
27	Brachycentrus														
	Lepidostomatidae														
105	Lepidostoma														
104	Clostoeca														
105	Grammotaulius														
106	Hesperophylax														
101	Helicopsychidae														
108	Helicopsyche														
0	Leptoceridae														
109	Oecetis														
	Coleoptera														
110	Gyrinidae														
111	Haliplus														
47	Dytiscidae														
6	Elmidae														
	Diptera		,		03			1	0.3						
35	Tipulidae		1		0.0			T	0.0						
	Chaoboridae														
112	Chaoborus	8	1		3.0		1	5	2.0		129	131	8	89.3	
7	Simuliidae														
37	Ceratoporonidae														
8	Chironomidae	13	5	5	7.7		2 20	3	8.3		14	15	4	11.0	
38	Tabanidae														
46	Empididae														
		·													
	COLUMN TOTALS	21	7	6	11.3	:	22	9	10.9		145	147	12	101.3	
	TAXA			4			4						4		

-

-

×

ъź

Notes: MTC = major taxonomic category; MTG = major taxonomic group; Ekman grab sampler: area = 0.023 m², sieve mesh size = 0.250 mm.

Table D26. Taxonomic composition and abundance of benthic macroinvertebrates in replicate Ekman grab samples from station PCR B5 on Poplar Creek Reservoir, 1984.

		L		Sprin	ng (16	June)		Sum	mer (26	5 July)		Fall (2	5 Septe	mber)
SYNC	de	Taxa	1	2	3	x	1	2	3	x	 1	2	3	x
MTC	MTG													
		COELENTERATA Hydrozoa												
	12	Hydra							1	0.0				
	15	NEMATODA			1	0.3			1	0.3				
8		MOLLUSCA												
	20	Pelecypooa												
	65	Unionidae												
		Gastropoda												
		Valvatidae												
	66	Valvata												
		Valvata sincera sincera												
		valvata tricarinata												
	32	Lymnaea												
		Physidae												
	10	Physa												
		Planorbidae												
	67	Armiger												
	50	Helisoma												
	68	Promenetus												
		Ancylidae												
	18	Perrissia												
9		ANNELIDA												
	23	Hirudinea	3			0.3								
		Glossiphoniidae												
	69 70	Giossipnonia complanata Helebdelle stamplis												
	10	Hirudinidae												
	71	Haemopis grandis												
		Erpobdellidae												
	72	Nephelopsis obscura				0.7			1	03			1	0.3
	22	Oligochaeta A R TURO POD A	4			0.1				0.0				
		Arachnida	ţ			0.3				0.3				
	13	Acari												
	10	Crustacea												
		Malacostraca												
	24	Amphipoda Genmerus lecustris												
	73	Hvalella azteca												
		Insecta												
	74	Colleinbola												
1		Emphemeroptera												
	33	Ameletus												
	75	Siphlonurus												
		Metretopodidae												
	76	Metretopus												
		Baetidae												
	L	Callibectis												
	77	Centroptilum												
	44	Pseudocloeon												
		Heptageniidae												
	2	Heptagenia												
	78	Rhithrogena												
	19	Leptophlebiidae												
	80	Leptophiebia												
	30	Paraleptophiebia												
		Ephemerellidae												
	19	Ephemerella												
	43	Tricorythodes												
		Caenidae												
	45	Caenis												
		Baetiscidae												
5	81	Odonata												
5		Calopterygidae												
	82	Calopteryx												
		Lestidae					× .							
	83	Lestes												
	0.1	Coenagrionidae												
	95	kehnura												

Table D26. Continued.

SYNC	CRUDE			Spri	ing (16	6 June)		Sum	ner (2	6 July)		Fall (2	5 Sept	ember)	
Co	de	Taxa	1	2	3	x	1	2	3	x	 1	2	3	ž	
u Tre	MTC										 	·			
MIC	MIG														
	90	Gomphidae													
	28 86	Comprus													
		Aeshnidae													
	42	Aeshna													
	87	Anax													
	20	Cordulidae													
	39	Libellulidae													
2	00	Plecoptera													
		Pteronarcyidae													
	3	Pteronarcys				×									
	20	Taeniopterygidae													
	03	Nemouridae													
	59	Malenka													
	34	Nemoura													
	00	Perlidae													
	90	Classenie													
	• •	Periodidae													
	58	Arcynopteryx													
	48	Isoperia													
	az	Unioroperiidae Hemintera													
	93	Notonectidae													
	94	Corixidae													
	07	Gerridae													
3	95	Gerris													
Ū		DUDAE													
		Philopotamidae													
	17	Wormaldia													
	96	Psychomylidae													
	50	Polycentropodidae													
	20	Neureclipsis													
	97	Polycentropus													
	0.0	Hydropsychidae													
	38 4	Hydronsyche													
	-	Rhyacophilidae													
	51	Rhyacophila													
	-	Glossosomatidae													
	э	Giossosoma													
	41	Hydroptila													
	99	Ochrotrichia													
		Phryganeidae													
	101	Agrypnia													
	102	Brachycentridae													
	27	Brachycentrus													
		Lepidostomatidae													
	103	Lepidostoma													
	104	Clostoece													
	105	Grammotaulius													
	106	Hesperophylax													
	107	Nemotaulius													
	108	Helicopsychidae													
		Leptoceridae													
	9	Ceraclea													
4	109	Oecetis Coleoptera													
4	110	Gyrinidae													
		Haliplidae													
	111	Haliplus													
	4/ 6	Elmidee													
6	v	Diptera													
		pupae			1	0.3	1	2	I	1.3					
	35	Tipulidae					·	-	-	-					
	119	Chaoboridae		1.0		01.0		~	-						
	7	Simuliidae	41	1.8	4	21.3	2	2	5	3.0	25	55	26	35.3	
		pupae													
	37	Ceratopogonidae													
	8 38	Chironomidae	6	4	6	5.3	6	5	6	5.7	2	4	3	3.0	
	46	Empididae													
		•													
		COLUMN TOTALS	51	23	12	28.5	10	10	13	10.9	 27	50	30	38 0	
		ТАХА			7		10							30.3	
					1				6				3		

Notes: MTC = major taxonomic category; MTG = major taxonomic group; Ekman grab sampler: area = 0.023 m², sieve mesh size = 0.250 mm.

QV M/	ימופי			Spri	ng (18	June)			Summ	ner (27	July)			Fall (2	5 Septer	mber)	
Co	de	Taza	1	2	3	x	Dip	1	2	3	x	Dip	1	2	3	x	D
тс	MTG																
		COELENTERATA Hydrozoa															
	12	Hydra						77	81	68	75.3				2	0.7	
	15	NEMATODA	18	7	15	13.3		2	11	6	6.3		7	1	6	4.7	
8		MOLLUSCA															
	29	Sphaeriidae								17	5.7		1			0.3	
	65	Unionidae															
		Gastropoda															
	66	Valvatidae															
	00	Valvata sincera sincera															
		Valvata tricarinata															
	20	Lymnaeidae															
	32	Physidae															
	10	Physa					Р										
		Planorbidae															
	67	Armiger					р					р					
	50	Helisoma					•					•					
	68	Promenetus															
	1.0	Ancylidae															
	18	Perrissia															
9		ANNELIDA															
	23	Glossiphoniidae															
	69	Glossiphonia complanata															
	70	Helobdella stagnalis															
	71	Hirudinidae Haemooje grandie															
		Erpobdellidae															
	72	Nephelopsis obscura						_		_						10.0	
	22	Oligochaeta	2		1	1.0		6	2	5	4.3		13	15	29	19.0	,
		Arachuida															
	13	Acari	4			1.3			1		0.3		6	4	1	3.7	T
	10	Crustacea															
		Malacostraca Amphipode															
	24	Gammarus lacustris															
	73	Hyalella azteca															
	74	Insecta															
1	14	Emphemeroptera															
		Siphlonuridae															
	33	Ameletus															
	10	Metretopodidae															
	76	Metretopus															_
		Baetidae						27	a7	-		n	5	13	2	6.7	7
	1	Baetis		2	2	1.3	A	37	21	5	23.0	P	3	3	4	4.0	,
	77	Centroptilum															
	44	Pseudocloeon	2			0.7											
	0	Heptageniidae					a	1	1		0.3		,	1 2	5	0.3	3 7
	78	Rhithrogena					r	J	1		1.5		1	2	Ŭ		•
	79	Stenonema															
		Leptophlebiidae															
	80 20	Leptophlebia Persleptophlebia											1			0.3	3
	30	Ephemerellidae											•				
	19	Ephemerella								1	0.3						
		Tricorythidae							,		0.2	D			1	0.3	2
	43	Caenidae							1		0.5	r				0.0	
	45	Caenis					Р										
		Baetiscidae															
5	61	Didona ta															
		Calopterygidae															
	82	Calopteryx															
		Lestidae															
	83	Les es															
	83	Coenagrionidae															

Table D27. Taxonomic composition and abundance of benthic macroinvertebrates in replicate Ekman grab samples and dipnet samples from station PC-B1 on Poplar Creek, 1984.

Table D27. Continued.

SYNCE	UDE			Spr	ing (18	3 June)				Sum	ner (2	7 July)			Fall (2	5 Septe	ember)	
Code		Taxa	1	2	3	x	Dip		1	2	3	x	Dip	1	2	3	x	Dip
мтс м	ITG																	
		Gomphidae																
	28	Gomphus												1			0 2	
	00	Aeshnidae												1			0.3	
	42	Aeshna																
	87	Anax																P
	39	Somatochlora																
	88	Libellulidae																
2		Plecoptera																
	3	Pteronarcys																
	-	Taeniopterygidae																
	89	Taeniopteryx																
	59	Malenka																
	34	Nemoura												1			03	
	0.0	Perlidae																
	91	Claassenia																
		Perlodidae																
	58 48	Arcynopteryx																
	92	Chloroperlidae																
		Hemiptera																
	93 94	Notonectidae																Р
	34	Gerridae																
	95	Gerris																
3		Trichoptera							3			1.0		2	2	1	1.7	
		Philopotamidae																
	17	Wormaldia									4	1.3						
	96	Psychomyidae													2	8	3 3	
	20	Polycentropodidae													-	v	0.0	
	20	Neureclipsis																
	97	Hydropsychidae												5	2		2.3	
	98	Cheumatopsyche												1	3		1.3	
	4	Hydropsyche							2	3	1	2.0		3	3	3	3.0	Α
	51	Rhyacophila																
		Glossosomatidae																
	5	Glossosoma							16	10	5	10.3		1	1		0.7	
	41	Hydroptila																
	99	Ochrotrichia																
	101	Phryganeidae																
1	101	Ptilostomis																Р
		Brachycentridae																
	27	Brachycentrus																
1	03	Lepidostoma																
		Limnephilidae																
1	104	Clostoeca																
1	106	Hesperophylax					А											
1	107	Nemotaulius																
1	08	Helicopsychidae																
		Leptoceridae																
,	9	Ceraclea					Р							4	2	2	2.7	Þ
4	109	Coleoptera																
1	110	Gyrinidae																
,	121	Haliplidae																
	47	Dytiscidae					Р											Р
	6	Elmidae	4	3	1	2.7			4	4	5	4.3		T	1	4	2.0	P
6		Diptera	5	3		27			3	7	4	4.7		2	2	2	2.0	
	35	Tipulidae	5	J		2.1			5	•	"	4.4		2	-	2	2.0	
		Chaoboridae					-											
1	112	Chaoborus Simuliidae	70	74	118	87 3	P		65	225	483	257 7	A	14	54	R	25 3	
	•	pupae	3	1	11	5.0	Ā		19	- 23	16	14.3	P	14	~ 1	0	0.04	
	37	Ceratopogonidae													1		0.3	
	8 38	Chironomidae Tabanidae	41	18	43	34.0			28	17	96	47.0		70	69	41	60.0	A
	46	Empididae														1	0.3	
		•																
		COLUMN TOTALS	149	110	192	150.3		1	165	399	717	460.0		142	183	120	148.2	
		TAXA			19		11			:	21		5		:	32		11

Notes: MTC = major taxonomic category; MTG = major taxonomic group; A = abundant (five or more individuals), P = present; Neill sampler: area = 0.1 m², mesh size = 0.210 mm; Dipnet: mesh size = 0.250 mm.

Table D28.	Taxonomic composition and abundance of benthic macroinvertebrates in replica	te Neill samples and dipnet samples from station PC-B2 on Poplar Creek, 1984	t ·

-				Sprin	eg (18	June)		\$	Summ	er (2	7 Jul	ly)		·	Fall (25	Septe	mber)	
SY NO Co	de	Таха	1	2	3	x	Dip	1	2	3	,	ι I	)ip	1	2	3	x	Dip
MTC	MIG	COLLENTERATA																
		Hydrozoa						100			0.41			5.9	25	30	35.7	
	12	Hydra	10	3	1	47		128	22	991	24	9. r		7	8		5 (	
8	15	NEMATODA NOLLUSCA	10	0	,	1. /												
0		Pelecypoda								1		1 2				3	1.(	)
	29	Sphaeriidae						i	2	,		1.9				-		
	65	Gestropoda																
		Valvatidae																
	66	Valvata Valvata sincera sincera																
		Valvata incera shicera Valvata tricarinata																
		Lymnaeidae																
	32	Lymnaea Physidae																
	10	Physa																1
		Planorbidae																
	67	Armiger Gyraulus					Р											
	50	Helisoma																
	68	Promenetus																
	18	Ferrissia					р								2	1	1	0
G		ANNELUA																-
5	23	Hirudinea														1	U	1
		Glossiphoniidae																
	69 70	Helobdella stagnalis																
		Hirudinidae																
	71	Haemopis grandis Erpopdellidae																
	72	Nephelopsis obscura				_		••	10			0.0		313	68	19	133	3
	22	Oligochaeta	7			2.3	3 P	10	10	34	4 2	\$0.0		010	00	1.7	1000	
		Arachnida													-		0	-
	13	Acari	1	1	1	ι.	0							!1	Ŷ	z	ο.	(
	10	Crustacea																
		Amphipoda												,	1		٥	7
	24	Gammarus lacustris												1	1		0.	
	73	Insecta																
	74	Collembola																
1		Emphemeroptera																
	33	Ameletus																
	75	Siphlonurus																
	76	Metretopodidae																
	10	Baetidae										~ ~			2		0	7
	1	Baetis	8	2	1	3.	7 A	7	8	1	3	9.3	Р	4				0
	75	Callibactis Centrontilum																
	4-1	Pseudocloeon									-			1	5		0	. 3
		Heptageniidae						2	2		5 1	1.0					•	
	78	Rhithrogena																
	79	Stenonema																
		Leptophlebiidae													1	2	I	.0
	30	Paraleptophlebia																
		Ephemerellidae						,	2		2	1.7		2			p	7
	19	Ephemerella Tricorythidae							2		-			_				-
	43	Tricorythodes											Р	3	11		+	• 7
	45	Caenidae									1	0.3				12	4	. 0
	40	Baetiscidae																
	81	Baetisca																
5		Odonata Calopterveidae																
	82	Calopteryx						<b>`</b>										
	A.2	Lestidae																
	83	Lestes Coenagrionidae																
	84	Coenagrion																
	85	Ischnura																

Notes: MTC = major taxonomic category; MTG = major taxonomic group;  $\Lambda$  = abundant (five or more individuals). P = present; Neill samplet: area = 0.1 m², mesh size = 0.210 mm; Dipnet: mesh size = 0.250 mm.

SYNC	RUDE			Spri	ng (18	June)			Summ	ner (2'	7 July)			Fall (2	5 Sept	ember)	
Co	de	Taxa	1	2	3	x	Dip	1	2	3	x	Dip	1	2	3	<u>x</u>	Dip
iTC	MTG																
		Gomphidae															
	28	Gomphus															
	30	Aeshnidae															
	42	Aeshna															
	87	Алах															
	20	Corduliidae															
	39	Libellulidae															
2		Plecopters															
		Pteronarcyidae															
	3	Pteronarcys				`											
	89	Taeniopterygidae															
	-•	Nemouridae															
	59	Malenka															
	34	Nemoura											1	2		1.0	
	90	Acroneuria															
	91	Claassenia															
		Periodidae															
	38 19	Arcynopteryx															
	+0 92	Chloroperlidae															
		Hemiptera															
	93	Notonectidae															
	94	Corixidae															
	95	Gerris					Р										
3		Trichoptera								1	0.3			1		0.3	
		pupae							1		0.3						
	17	Wormeldie															
		Psychomyjidae															
	96	Psychomyia								2	07		8	3		3.7	
	30	Polycentropodidae															
	20	Polycentropus															
		Hydropsychidae											5			1.7	
	98	Cheumatopsyche								2	0.7		3	4	1	2.7	
	4	Hydropsyche							2	3	1.7		6	3		3.0	
	51	Rhyacophila	1			03	р										
	••	Glossosomatidae	1			0.0	•										
	5	Glossosoma							1	4	1.7						
	41	Hydroptilidae														0.2	
	99	Ochrotrichia											i			0.3	
		Phryganeidae															
	101	Agrypnia															
	102	Ptilostomis															
	27	Brachycentricae															
	2.1	Lepidostomatidae															
	103	Lepidostoma															
	101	Limnephilidae															
	104	Grammotaulius															
	106	Hesperophylax															
	107	Nemotaulius															
	1.0.9	Helicopsychidae															
	100	Leptoceridae															
	9	Ceraclea								1	0.3		6	8	6	6.7	
	109	Oecetis															
4	110	Coteoptera															
		Haliplidae															
	111	Haliplus					P										
	47	Dytiscidae				0 7					0.2			1	2	1 7	
6	0	Diotera			1	0.1					0.5			(		5 6	
		pupae	1			0.3		5	3	9	5.7	Р	4		1	1.7	
	35	Tipulidae															
	112	Chaoboridae															
	7	Simuliidae	201	95	132	142.7	А	27	5	77	36.3	А					
		pupae	3	5	1	3.0	A	2		9	3.7						
	37	Ceratopogonidae				<b>.</b> .	-			10-				100	000	0.05 0	
	38	Chironomidae Tebenideo	11	13	5	9.7	Р	63	141	125	109.7	P	1283	421	892	865.3	A
	46	Empididae											1	2		1.0	
														-			
		COLUMN TOTALS	244	119	142	168.4		246	239	847	444.0		1713	576	973	1087.6	
		TAYA		2	14		10			91 	-	5			71		7

and in

-

<u>نیں</u>

-

أناس

فتعد

أكند

....

Table D28. Continued.

(fable D29. Taxonomic composition and abundance of benthic macroinvertebrates in replicate Neill samples and dipnet samples from station PC-B3 on Lower Poplar Creek 1984.

				Spring (1	8 June)			Summ	ier (27	July)			Fall (7	5 Septe	mber)	
SYN	CRUDE ode	Taxa	1	2 3	x	Dip	1	2	3	x	Dip	1	2	3	x	Dip
	MINO															
aic	MIG	COELENTERATA														
		Hydrozoa														
	12	Hydra	6		2 D									2	0.7	
8	15	MOLLUSCA	0		2.0											
-		Pelecypoda														
	29	Sphaeriidae														
	69	Gastropoda														
		Valvatidae														
	66	Valvata Valvata sincera sincera														
		Valvata tricarinata														
		Lymnaeidae														
	32	Lymnaea Physidae														
	10	Physa														,
		Planorbidae												1	0.,	2
	11	Gvraulus														
	50	Helisoma														
	68	Promenetus														
	18	Ferrissia														
9		ANNELIDA														
-	23	Hirudinea														
	60	Glossiphoniidae Glossiphonia complanata														
	70	Helobdella stagnalis														
		Hirudinidae														
	71	Haemopis grandis Erpobdellidae														
	72	Nephelopsis obscura										-		0.5	17	^
	22	Oligochaeta	1	3 2	2.0		2	1	i	1.7		5	23	25	11.	3
		Arachnida														
	13	Acari	1	2 5	2.7								4		1.	3
	10	Crustacea														
		Amphipoda														
	24	Gammarus lacustris														
	73	Hyalella azteca Insecta														
	74	Collembola														
1		Emphemeroptera														
	33	Ameletus														
	75	Siphlonurus														
	76	Metretopodidae														
		Baetidae												2	0.	7
	ì	Baetis		2	0.7	A A		2	11	4.3	A			i	0.	3
	77	Centroptilum												1	0.	3
	44	Pseudocloeon														
	a	lieptageniidae														
	78	Rhithrogena														
	79	Stenonema														
	80	Leptophlebiidae														
	30	Paraleptophlebia														
		Ephemerellidae					1	2	11	5.0	4					
	19	Tricorythidae					'	3								
	43	Tricorythodes														
	45	Caenidae Caenis				Р										
	45	Baetiscidae				-										
-	81	Baetisea														
J		Caloptervgidae														
	82	Calopteryx														
	87	Lestidae														
	00	Coenagrionidae														
	84	Coenagrion														
	85	Ischnura														

Table D29. Continued.

SYNC	RUDE			Spri	ng (18	June)			Summ	er (27	July)			Fall (2	5 Septe	mber)	
Co	de	Таха	1	2	3	x	Dip	 1	2	3	x	Dip	1	2	3	x	Dip
ATC	MTG																
		Gomphidae															
	28	Gomphus															
	00	Aeshnidae															
	42	Aeshna															
	87	Anax															
	39	Somatochlora					P										
	88	Libellulidae															
2		Plecoptera						2			0.7						
	3	Pteronarcys															
		Taeniopterygidae															
	89	Taeniopteryx								1	03						
	59	Malenka								-	0.5						
	34	Nemoura							1		0.3		2		10	3.3	Р
	90	Perlidae															
	91	Claassenia															
		Perlodidae															
	58	Arcynopteryx															
	92	Chloroperlidae															
		Hemiptera															
	93 94	Notonectidae															
	34	Gerridae															
	95	Gerris										Р					
3		Trichoptera	1			0.3											
		Philopotamidae															
	17	Wormaldia															
	96	Psychomyidae															
	50	Polycentropodidae															
	20	Neureclipsis															
	97	Polycentropus															
	98	Cheumatopsyche												2		0.7	
	4	Hydropsyche															
	51	Rhyacophilidae Bhyacophila		1		0.3											
	51	Glossosomatidae				0.0											
	5	Glossosoma													l	0.3	
	41	Hydroptilidae															
	99	Ochrotrichia															
		Phryganeidae															
	101	Agrypnia Ptilostomis															
	100	Brachycentridae															
	27	Brachycentrus															
	103	Lepidostomatidae															
	105	Limnephilidae															
	104	Clostoeca															
	105	Hesperophylax															
	107	Nemotaulius															
	100	Helicopsychidae															
	100	Leptoceridae															
	9	Ceraclea															
4	109	Coleoptera															
-	110	Gyrinidae															
		Haliplidae															
	47	Dytiscidae		1		0.3											
	6	Elmidae		2		0.7			1		0.3						
6		Diptera														0.2	
	35	pupae Tipulidae		2		U.7									1	0.3	
		Chaoboridae															
	112	Chaoborus	-	~	~		-				0.1						
	7	Simuliidae	Ĵ.	3	9	ə.7	Р	1			0.3						
	37	Ceratopogonidae															
	8	Chironomidae	6		4	3.3		7	1	1	3.0	Р	20	28	143	63.7	
	38 46	Tabanidae Empididae	1			0.3								1	3	0.7	
	10	Silpidae															
		COLUMN TOTALS	21	16	20	19.0		13	9	25	15.9		27	57	189	89.9	
		ТАХА			14		4		t	0		4			13		1

Notes: MTC = major taxonomic category: MTG = major taxonomic group; A = abundant (five or more individuals), P = present; Neill sampler: area = 0.1 m², mesh size = 0.210 mm; Dipnet: mesh size = 0.250 mm.

**W** 

			Spri	ing (18	June)			Sum	ner (27	July)			Fall (	25 Sept	ember)	
SYNCRUDE Code	Tere	1	2	3	x	Dip	1	2	3	x	Dip	1	2	3	x	Dip

0.7

0.3

0.3

5 1.7

2

0.7 Ρ

1 1.3 A

1 1

1

1

2 1

COELENTERATA Hydrozoa Hydra

Sphaeriidae Unionidae

Valvata tricd Lymnaeidae Lymnaea Physidae Physia Planorbidae Armiger Gyraulus Helisoma Promenetus Ancylidae

Ancylidae Ferrissia

Hirudinidae Hirudinidae Haemopis grandis Erpobdellidae Nephelopsis obscura Oligochaeta ARTHROPODA Arachnida Acari Crustacea Malacostraca Amphipoda Gammarus lacustris Hyaella azteca

Collembola Emphemeroptera Siphionuridae Ameletus Siphionurus Metretopodidae Metretopos Baetidae Baetis Callibaetis Centroptilum Pseudoclocon Heptagenidae Heptagenia Rhithrogena Stenonema

Stenonema

Stenonema Leptophlebiidae Leptophlebia Paraleptophlebia Ephemerellidae Ephemerella Tricorythidae Tricorythodes Caenidae Caenis Baetiscidae Baetisca Joonata

Baetisca Odonata Calopterygidae Calopteryx Lestidae Lestes Coenagrionidae Coenagrion Ischnura

Insecta Collembola

ANNELIDA

Hirudinea

Valvata Valvata sincera sincera Valvata tricarinata

Glossiphoniidae Glossiphonia complanata Helobdella stagnalis Hirudinidae

Gastropoda Valvatidae

NEMATODA MOLLUSCA Pelecypoda

12

15 8

29 65

66

32 10

18

69 70

71 72 22

 $13 \\ 10$ 

24 73

74

33 75 76

1

77 44

2 78 79

80 30

19 43

45 81

82

83

84 85

5

1

9 23

restruction in applicate Neill samples and dinnet samples from station PC-B4 on Poplar Creek, 1984. ....

> 9 12 1 4.3 Ρ 4 Р ` 1

> > Continued ...

0.3

2

1 0.7

ı

5 1 4 3.3

1 1

11

4 24

1

1

0.7

3.7

1.312.7

1.3

Р

Ρ 0.3

8

6

3

1 1.0

33

36 3

> 4 4

> > 2 1

2 2

1

1

24.0

2.7

 $0.7 \\ 0.7$ 

1.7

4.3

Р

P

Table D30. Continued.

SVNC	BUDE			Spri	ng (18	June)			Summ	e <del>r</del> (27	(July)			Fall (2	5 Septe	mber)	
Co	de	Taxa	1	2	3	x	Dip	1	2	3	x	Dip	1	2	3	x	Dip
ATC	MIG	S															
	28	Gomphidae															
	86	Ophiogomphus															
		Aeshnidae															_
	42	Aeshna										P					Р
	01	Corduliidae										r					
	39	Somatochlora												1		0.3	
	88	Libellulidae								-							
2		Plecoptera							52	5	19.0						
	3	Pteronarcys															
		Perlodidae															
		Arcynopteryx									0.7				1	0.3	n
		Taeniootervgidae							4		0.7						r
	89	Taeniopteryx															
		Nemouridae										-					
	59 34	Malenka Nemoure						18			6.0	P	244	112	151	169.0	
	34	Perlidae						10			0.0		211	• • • •	101	100.0	
	90	Acroneuria															
	91	Claassenia															
	58	Arcynopteryx															
	48	Isoperla															
	92	Chloroperlidae															
	93	Notonectidae															
	94	Corixidae															
		Gerridae										<b>D</b>					
3	95	Gerris Trichoptera										P					
0		pupae															
	_	Philopotamidae															
	17	Wormaldia															
	96	Psychomyidae															
		Polycentropodidae															
	20	Neureclipsis															
	91	Hydropsychidae															
	98	Cheumatopsyche															
	4	Hydropsyche											9		5	4.7	
	51	Rhyacophilidae	1			0.3			1		0.3						
	01	Glossosomatidae	•						•								
	5	Glossosoma								2	0.7		4	10		4.7	
	41	Hydroptilidae															
	99	Ochrotrichia															
		Phryganeidae	•														
	101	Agrypnia															
	102	Brachveentridae															
	27	Brachycentrus															
		Phryganeidae															
		Ptilostomis Lepidostomatidae															Р
	103	Lepidostoma															
		Limnephilidae															
	104	Clostoeca Grammotaulius					P										
	106	Hesperophylax					•										
	107	Nemotaulius															
4	110	Coleoptera															
	110	Haliplidae															
	111	Haliplus															
	47	Dytiscidae	I			0.3		6	2	2	3.3		6	6	5	5.7	
6	0	Diptera	•			0.0		•	~		014		-		1	0.3	
		pupae	1			0.3				1	0.3			2	1	1.0	
	35	Tipulidae															
	112	Chaoborus															
	7	Simuliidae	2		1	1.0	Р	1	1		0.7						
	27	pupae														1 2	
	ა: 8	Chironomidae	2	6		2.7		20	17	22	19.7		312	387	472	390.3	A
	38	Tabanidae	1	3	1	1.7		20		2					1	0.3	
	46	Empididae							2		0.7						
		COLUMN TOTALS	13	11	10	11.3		94	100	45	79.7		619	538	683	613.3	
		TAXA			13		4		:	24		7			23		6

Notes: MTC = major taxonomic category; MTG = major taxonomic group; A = abundant (five or more individuals). P = present: Neill sampler: area = 0.1 m², mesh size = 0.210 nm; Dipnet: mesh size = 0.250 mm.

-

-

## Table D31. Size distribution and estimated biomass of macroinvertebrates at MacKay River system stations, 1984.

			matel analysis	Perc	entage o	of organis	ms in siev	'es	Entimetod
Waterbody	Station	Replicate	per 0.1 m ²	0.25-0.5	Mesn 0.5-1	1-2	2-4	>4	biomass (mg)
SPRING									à
MacKay R.	MR-B1	1 2	22 25	0 16	68 48	23 20	9 16	0	3.14 4.46
		3	19	11	58	21	11	0	$x \pm s.e. 3.46 \pm 0.511$
	M R-B2	$\frac{1}{2}$	1 7	0 0	100 86	0	0 14	0 0	0.05
		3	7	14	0	86	0	0	1.15 x <u>+</u> s.e. 0.74 <u>+</u> 0.349
	MR-B3	1	65 87	12	48	40 30	0	0	6.54 7.65
		3	68	3	66	29	Ţ	Õ	6.74 x + S.E. 6.98 + 0.342
	MR-B4	1	411	1	21	64	15	0	97.65
		3	219	4	26	73	0	0	32.92 x + S.E. 60.17 + 19.372
Creek M2	M 2B	1	48 45	2	29	69 40	0	0	6.94 4.72
		3	49	10	67	2	20	Ö	9.16 x + S.E. 6.94 + 1.282
Dover R.	DR-B	1	60 86	13	33 67	38	10	0	18.26
		3	53	13	49	19	19	0	10.54 x ± s.E. 11.14 ± 3.952
Creek Mô	M 6-B	1	44 116	7	30 59	64 32	0	0	5.97
		3	97	6	72	19	2	1	11.19 x ⁺ _s.e. 11.57 ⁺ _3.348
SUMMER									
MacKay R.	MR-B1	1 2	54 40	22 18	54 42	22 40	2 0	0	4.57 3.95
		3	59	30	56	14	0	0	3.36 x <u>+</u> S.E. 3.96 <u>+</u> 0.349
	MR-B2	$\frac{1}{2}$	191 235	42 25	50 65	8 9	0 L 1	0 2	8.59 20.63
		3	153	44	52	3	0	0	5.70 x ⁺
	MR-B3	1	133 364	20 15	50 74	27 10	0 L 1	4	24.47
		3	88	44	50	6	Ū O	Ö	3.61 $\bar{x}^+$ S.E. 16.66 $\frac{+}{-}$ 6.566
	MR-B4	1	69 104	10 34	59 39	30 25	0	0	6.07 8.84
		3	88	30	40	27	3	0	8.78 x + S.E. 7.90 + 0.913
M 2	M2-B	$\frac{1}{2}$	28 26	21 12	46 46	29 42	4 0	0 0	2.96
		3	54	11	57	22	4	6	$13.78 \\ \bar{x} + S.E. 6.48 + 3.649$
Dover R.	DR-B	1 2	138 151	14 28	42 58	33 13	8 L 1	3 L1	31.08 12.00
		3	183	19	53	27	1	0	15.93 x + s.e. 19.67 + 5.817
M 6	M6-B	$\frac{1}{2}$	146 66	13 50	38 21	29 27	20 0	0 2	32.07 7.34
		3	86	38	42	17	2	0	6.49 x ± S.E. 15.30 ± 8.389

continued . . .

Table D31. Continued.

			Total number	Patimated					
Waterbody	Station	Replicate	per 0.1 m ²	0.25-0.5	0.5-1	1-2	2-4	74	biomass (mg)
FALL									
MacKay R.	MR-B1	1	256	48	40	12	n	0	12 63
·		2	202	28	52	17	ĩ	1	20 10
		3	322	48	46	5	î	сî	18 00
						0	-	0.	x + S.E. 16.94 + 2.246
	MR-B2	1	10	10	70	10	n	10	2.26
		2	11	27	64	10 Q	0	10	0.57
		3	10	10	70	10	0	10	2.57
		•	10	10	10	10	0	10	$\bar{x}_{-}^{+}$ S.E. 2.43 $\frac{+}{-}$ 0.930
	MR-B3	1	12	25	50	17	8	0	1 44
		2	94	20	63	16	ĩ	ō	6.70
		3	43	47	49	5	ō	ō	1.67
						-		-	x + S.E. 3.27 + 1.716
	MR-B4	1	769	36	54	2	8	LI	76.82
		2	393	58	37	5	LI	0	14.53
		3	781	22	57	21	L 1	L1	60.67
									x ⁺ S.E. 50.67 ⁺ 18.663
M 2	M2-B	1	46	24	26	48	2	0	5.62
		2	136	26	18	49	8	Ō	22.12
		3	40	52	25	22	Ō	ō	2.46
									x + S.E. 10.07 + 6.095
Dover R.	DR-B	1	90	29	70	0	1	0	4.15
		2	214	21	53	22	2	1	26.62
		3	114	43	50	7	0	0	4.94
									x ± S.E. 11.90 ± 7.362
Creek M6	М6-В	1	1 846	57	39	4	L 1	0	65.89
		2	1 160	49	40	9	1	Ľ	63.92
		3	2 752	50	47	3	Li	៍ព	100.17
						Ŭ		Ŷ	x + S.E. 76.66 + 11.769

L = less than.

Waterbody 			Total number	Perc	entage o Mesh	f organis: opening (	ms in siev mm)	/es	Estimated
Waterbody	Station	Replicate	per 0.1 m ²	0.25-0.5	0.5-1	1-2	2-4	>4	biomass (mg)
SPRING									
WID	WID-B1	1	q	n	44	0	55	0	3 84
		2	70	q	29	44	11	7	26.84
		3	234	35	56	9	10	'n	11.59
		,				v	U	•	x + S.E. 14.09 + 6.756
Creek W3	W3-B	1	22ª	20	20	40	0	20	14.18
		2	13	0	100	0	0	0	0.64
		3	39	44	55	0	0	0	1.29 x <u>+</u> S.E. 5.37 <u>+</u> 4.409
W.I.D.	WID-B2	1	50	30	48	12	10	0	6.15
		2	18	33	44	17	6	0	1.77
		3	28	0	25	71	4	0	4.85
									x <u>+</u> S.E. 4.26 <u>+</u> 1.299
Bridge Creek	BRC-B	1	32	9	72	16	3	0	2.84
		2	7	14	57	29	0	0	0.59
		3	7	U	57	29	14	U	$\hat{x}_{-}^{+}$ S.E. 1.58 $\frac{+}{-}$ 0.664
Lower	LBC-B2	1	61	7	25	48	18	3	19.92
Beaver Creek		2	274	11	68	14	4	3	44.68
		3	321	4	73	12	9	2	62.28
									x <u>+</u> S.E. 42.29 <u>+</u> 12.286
Lower 1	LBC-B1	1	7	14	43	0	14	29	6.53
Beaver Creek		2	34	29	59	9	3	0	2.41
		3	65	5	48	48	0	0	7.42
									x ± S.E. 5.45 ± 1.543
SUMMER									
W.I.D.	WID-B1	1	175	21	36	41	0	1	20.00
		2	130	37	44	19	0	0	8.14
		3	350	21	37	42	0	L1	<b>x</b> ⁺ <b>S.E.</b> 21.97 ⁺ 8.610
Creek W3	W3-B	1	230a	19	81	0	0	0	9.72
		2	183	19	69	12	0	0	10.79
		3	491	29	55	16	0	0	29.83
									x <u>+</u> S.E. 16.78 <u>+</u> 6.532
W.I.D.	WID-B2	1	88	2	18	27	52	0	38.88
		2	80	39	48	14	0	U	4.34
		3	111	47	30	17	3	4	x ± S.E. 20.86 ± 9.999
Bridge Creek	BRC-B	1	33	58	30	9	0	3	4.12
-		2	15	7	67	27	0	0	1.26
		3	46	50	37	13	0	0	$\bar{x} \stackrel{+}{=} S.E. 2.55 \stackrel{+}{=} 0.837$
Lower	LBC-B?	1	1 514	20	17	57	7	L1	263 63
Beaver Creek	000-02	2	499	11	34	51	1.1	4	108.64
Starte Creek		3	942	12	63	22	1	1	116.50
		v	012	12			•	1	x + S.E. 162.92 + 50.404
Lower 1	LBC-B1	1	209	13	36	44	6	1	36.53
Beaver Creek		2	100	3	48	46	2	1	15.36
		3	135	9	39	49	3	0	18.14
									v 7 S F 93 34 + 6 649

,

Table D32. Size distribution and estimated biomass of macroinvertebrates at stations associated with the West Interception Ditch, Bridge Creek and Lower Beaver Creek, 1984.

continued . . .

Table D32. Continued.

	Station		Total number	Perc	entage o Mesh	f organis	msinsiev mm)	/es	Estimated
Waterbody	Station	Replicate	per 0.1 m ²	0.25-0.5	0.5-1	1-2	2-4	>4	biomass (mg)
FALL									<u> </u>
w.i.d.	WID-B1	1	3 294	49	40	5	5	L1	275.17
		2	2 398	40	49	9	1	1	194.50
		3	1602	66	29	5	ъi	- LÎ	64.54
		-				0	5.		x ⁺ S.E. 178.07 ⁺ 61.356
Creek W3	₩3-В	1	454	56	8	37	0	0	36.69
		2	101	17	17	66	ō	0	13.72
		3	538	12	50	38	õ	Ő	52.23
								ů	x ± S.E. 34.21 ± 11.186
W.I.D.	WID-B2	1	2	48	48	2	0	0	100.72
		2	6	12	74	9	0	0	102.47
		3	1	27	71	1	0	0	80.33
									x ⁺ ₋ S.E. 94 51 ⁺ ₋ 7.106
Bridge Creek	BRC-B1	1	9	33	44	22	0	0	0.61
-		2	5	20	20	60	0	0	0.63
		3	11	45	18	36	0	0	0.92
									x ⁺ S.E. 0.7? ⁺ 0.099
Lower	LBC~B2	1	358	19	60	18	2	1	39.21
Beaver Cree	k	2	397	44	47	5	20	1	32.58
		3	306	27	48	22	3	0	42.72
									x ± S.E. 38.17 ± 2.973
Lower	LBC-B1	1	312	43	24	27	6	0	30.67
Beaver Cree	k	2	329	37	39	19	4	0	18.11
		3	54	59	20	17	4	0	4.11 x + S.E. 17.63 + 7.670

^a Eckman grab samples (area 0.023 m²) were taken at station W3-B. Densities have been converted to 0.1 m².

L = less than.

Table D33. Seasonal changes in size distribution and estimated biomass of macroinvertebrates in Upper Beaver Creek and Creek B-1, 1984.

			Total number ^a	Perc	entage o Mesh	forganis	ms in sie (mm)	ves	Estimated
Waterbody	Station	Replicate	per 0.1 m ²	0.25-0.5	0.5-1	1-2	2-4	>4	biomass (mg)
SPRING ^b									
Upper	UBC-B	1	409	5	37	35	22	0	101.42
Beaver Creek	:	2	9	0	0	100	0	0	1.70
		3	0	0	0	0	0	0	0.0 $\bar{x} \stackrel{+}{=} S.E. 34.37 \stackrel{+}{=} 33.527$
SUMMER									
Upper	UBC-B	1	335	14	62	22	0	1	37.08
Beaver Creek		2	922	14	73	10	L. 1	2	117.04
		3	491	2	60	26	11	2	101.00
		-		-		20	**	~	x + S.E. 85.04 + 24.423
Creek B1	B1-B	1	123	16	43	33	8	0	17.71
		2	71	24	42	28	6	ň	8.39
		3	10	10	80	10	Ň	ň	0.59
		-				10	Ū	Ū	x ⁺ S.E. 8.90 ⁺ 4.947
FALL									
Upper	UBC-B	1	1 058	21	79	0	0	0	43.99
Beaver Creek		2	1 530	23	70	7	Ő	ő	76.40
		3	807	25	69	6	õ	õ	39.27
						-	·		x + S.E. 53.22 + 11.670
Creek B1	B1-B	1	320	44	31	23	2	L1	23,26
JPEEK DI		2	126	65	33	2	õ	Ő	5.10
		3	182	42	49	8	õ	Ő	8.25
						-	•	-	x + S.E. 12.20 + 5.604

^a Ekman grab samples (area 0.023 m²) were taken at the Upper Beaver Creek station. Densities have been converted to 0.1 m².
 ^b No samples were collected at Station B1-B in spring.
 L = less than.

				Perc	entage o	of organis	ms in siev	/es	
Season	Station and Depth	Replicate	Total number per 0.1 m ²	0.25-0.5	Mesh 0.5-1	opening ( 1-2	mm) 2-4	>4	Estimated biomass (mg)
SPRING	BCR-B1	1	1 270	24	68	6	2		88.26
	(1 m)	2	461	11	63	16	9	0	60.62
		3	400	23	58	15	3	1	45.75
									x ± S.E. 64.88 ± 12.45
	BCR-B2	1	70	12	31	19	25	12	40.84
	(3 m)	2	165	3	21	8	<u>68</u>	0	86 64
		3	261	12	50	12	27	0	87.77 x ± s.e. 71.75 ± 15.458
	BCR-B3	1	252	55	22	10	9	3	49.87
	(5 m)	2	365	31	42	19	8	0	44.26
		3	252	24	45	26	5	0	23.17
									$\ddot{\mathbf{x}} \stackrel{+}{=} \mathbf{S}.\mathbf{E}.\ 40.77 \stackrel{+}{=} 6.503$
SUMMER	BCR-B1	1	570	35	55	9	1	0	30.97
	(1 m)	2	400	20	73	6	1	0	23.39
		3	539	35	47	1.6	2	0	40.73
									x ± S.E. 31.70 ± 5.019
	BCR-B2	1	126	41	28	31	0	0	9.25
	(3 m)	2	113	8	23	23	42	4	53.45
		3	348	51	20	20	9	0	41.06
									x ± S.E. 34.59 ± 13.164
	BCR-B3	1	135	55	35	10	0	0	5.77
	(5 m)	2	217	24	62	12	2	0	15.38
		3	526	18	33	28	21	0	116.95
									x <u>s</u> .E. 46.03 <u>35.567</u>
	BCR-B4	1	348	31	59	6	2	0	21.87
	(1 m)	2	500	22	63	16	0	0	31.54
		3	313	22	58	17	3	0	26.05
									x _ S.E. 26.49 _ 2.800
	BCR-B5	1	87	40	25	30	0	5	18.71
	(3 m)	2	578	9	33	20	33	5	256.68
		3	304	11	36	29	10	14	166.97 $\tilde{x} \pm S.E. 147.45 \pm 69.386$
FALL	BCB_B1	1	1 097	14	53	26	7	0	130 81
<u>r Abb</u>	(1 m)	2	904	10	35	42	8	6	286.59
	(1 111)	3	852	4	5	29	16	Ő	169.21
									$\dot{\mathbf{x}} \stackrel{+}{=} \mathbf{S} \cdot \mathbf{E}$ . 198.54 $\stackrel{+}{=} 44.837$
	BCR-B2	1	1 148	30	42	9	14	5	309.30
	(3 m)	2	539	16	42	23	10	10	220.34
		3	504	14	34	28	10	14	269.87
									$x \pm S.E. 266.50 \pm 25.736$
	BCR-B3	1	565	26	52	15	5	2	76.38
	(5 m)	2	696	10	52	32	5	0	86.87
		3	1 809	6	63	31	0	U	$x \pm 162.79$ $x \pm 5.E. 108.68 \pm 27.224$
	BC P_BA	1	3 806	17	50	10	2	1	496 05
	(1 m)	2	1 113	37	42	19	2	n 1	80.56
	(1 111)	3	2 383	28	42	31	õ	Ő	195.22
		-					-	,	x + S.E. 257.28 + 123.890
	BCR-B5	1	261	17	73	7	3	0	19.57
	(3 m)	2	348	5	70	20	0	5	74.33
		3	644	4	55	28	7	5	185.13
									x ± S.E. 93.01 ± 48.697

Table D34. Seasonal changes in size distribution and estimated biomass of macroinvertebrates in Beaver Creek Reservoir, 1984.

L = less than.

Seeson	Station and Depth	Poplicate	Total number	0 25-0 5	Mesh	opening (	mm) 2-4	24	Estimated
	Debru	Replicate	per virm		0.0 1				biomaas (mg/
SPRING	RL-B	1	17	0	25	50	25	0	5.03
	(1 m)	2	61	0	14	36	50	0	26.72
		3	22	40	20	20	20	0	4.32
									$\bar{x} + S.E. 12.02 + 7.351$
SUMMER	RL-B	1	39	33	44	0	11	11	16.45
	(1 m)	2	39	55	44	0	0	0	1.13
		3	157	42	3	56	0	0	17.50
									$\bar{x}^+$ S.E. 11.69 $\frac{+}{-}$ 5.290
FALL	RL-B	1	783	11	46	41	0	2	79.41
	(1 m)	2	1 061	14	50	33	3	0	119.01
		3	939	20	35	40	3	2	157.40
									$\bar{x} \pm S.E. 118.61 \pm 22.515$

Table D35. Seasonal changes in size distribution and estimated biomass of macroinvertebrates in Ruth Lake, 1984.

				Perc	entage o	f organis	ms in siev	ves	
Season	Station and Depth	Replicate	Total number per 0.1 m ²	0.25-0.5	Mesh 0.5-1	opening ( 1-2	mm) 2-4	>4	Estimated biomass (mg)
SPRING	PCR-B1	1	139	12	47	41	0	0	14.10
	(1 m)	2 3	257 226	29 0	71 83	0 15	0 0	0 2	9.91 15.74 x ± S.E. 39.75 ± 1.736
	PCR-B2	1	126	21	45	24	7	3	27.46
	(3 m)	2 3	135 91	26 0	58 29	$\frac{13}{71}$	3 0	0 0	10.74 13.60 x ⁺ _S.E. 17.27 ⁺ _5.163
	PCR-B3	1	52	17	17	42	25	0	14.16
	(5 m)	2 3	22 39	0 22	40 22	0 22	60 33	0 0	9.94 11.69 x ⁺ S.E. 11.93 ⁺ 1.224
	PCR-B4	1	91	10	0	5	10	76	203.39
	(10 m)	2 3	30 26	0 33	57 33	0 0	0 0	43 33	37.62 25.05 $\bar{x} \stackrel{+}{=} S.E. 88.69 \stackrel{+}{=} 57.466$
	PCR-B5	1	222	2	2	84	2	10	61.28
	(15 m)	2 3	100 52	0 8	0 0	$\frac{35}{17}$	61 42	4 33	63.21 66.58 x ⁺ ₊ S.E. 63.69 ⁺ ₋ 1.549
SUMMER	PCR-B1	1	1 174	17	51	24	7	0	149.79
	(1 m)	$\frac{2}{3}$	517 909	24 25	41 68	34 6	2 1	0 0	51.23 52.56 $\bar{x}^+$ S.E. 84.53 $\pm$ 32.634
	PCR-B2	1	161	51	32	5	11	0	17.95
	(3 m)	2 3	$\frac{104}{287}$	62 9	12 68	8 23	0 0	17 0	52.16 22.25 x + S.E. 30.79 + 10.759
	PCR-B3	1	78	0	11	33	44	11	55.23
	(5 m)	2 3	100 35	4 0	0 0	$\frac{26}{38}$	22 0	48 62	155.66 63.75 x ⁺ S.E. 91.55 ⁺ 32.151
	PCR-B4	1	9	0	0	0	100	0	6.34
	(10 m)	2 3	96 39	0 0	0 0	5 22	5 33	91 44	249.13 60.18 $\tilde{x} \stackrel{+}{=} S.E. 105.22 \stackrel{+}{=} 73.616$
	PCR-B5	1	43	0	10	10	20	60	80.92
	(15 m)	2 3	43 55	20 8	20 54	10 0	50 8	0 31	17.21 58.00 x ⁺ S.E. 52.04 ⁺ 18.63
FALL	PCR-B1	1	13 187	46	42	9	1	2	1 451.44
	(1 m)	2 3	$\begin{array}{c} 6 \\ 483 \\ 16 \\ 492 \end{array}$	24 64	$\frac{61}{31}$	11 5	1 L 1	2 L1	$\begin{array}{c} 859.60 \\ 619.21 \\ \bar{x} \stackrel{+}{-} \text{S.E. } 976.75 \stackrel{+}{-} 247.282 \end{array}$
	PCR-B2	1	117	22	37	37	4	0	13.86
	(3 m)	2 3	261 126	18 17	$\frac{52}{31}$	23 41	7 3	0 7	31.41 39.74 x ⁺
	PCR-B3	1	157	3	14	28	33	22	145.43
	(5 m)	2 3	26 113	33 0	17 8	50 27	0 50	0 15	2.79 96.41 $\bar{x} \stackrel{+}{=} S.E. 81.54 \stackrel{+}{=} 41.842$
	PCR-B4	1	630	0	3	89	2	6	214.63
	(10 m)	2 3	639 52	0 8	1 0	91 67	3 0	5 25	209.01 39.29 $\bar{x} \pm S.E. 154.31 \pm 57.533$
	PCR-B5	1	117	0	0	48	52	0	55.06
	(10 m)	2 3	$\begin{array}{c} 257 \\ 130 \end{array}$	3 3	$\frac{20}{7}$	31 87	46 0	0 3	103.04 34.11 $\bar{x}^+$ S.E. 64.07 + 20.402

Table D36. Seasonal changes in size distribution and estimated biomass of macroinvertebrates in Poplar Creek Reservoir, 1984.

APPENDIX E

FISHERIES

Waterbody	Survey							Sp	ecies	CUE ^a								Effort (min)	Effic- iency ^b
(Station)	Date	LW	MW	AG	GE	NP	YW	LING	LNS	WS	FHC	LKC	LND	PD	NRD	SS	ТР		
MacKay R.		······			_										•				
MR-ES1	28 May 25 July	L0.1	L0.1 0.1	e	0.2 0.6	L0.1 L0.1	0.3 0.1		0.1	1.0 0.4	0.03 0.1	0.2						$\begin{array}{c} 66.6 \\ 47.0 \end{array}$	1 1
MR-ES2	27 May 24 July		L0.1		L0.1 0.4	L0.1	L0.1 L0.1	L0.1	$0.1 \\ 0.1$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.3 \\ 0.2 \end{array}$	0.1 0.1	L0.1					L0.1	$\begin{array}{c} 46.4 \\ 47.0 \end{array}$	$\frac{2}{2}$
MR-ES3	27 May 24 July		L0.1	L0.1	$\begin{array}{c} 0.2\\ 0.2 \end{array}$	L0.1 L0.1	0.2 L0.1		0.1	0.1 0.2	L0.1	0.1						$\begin{array}{c} 46.3 \\ 43.0 \end{array}$	$\frac{2}{2}$
MR-EF1	26 Sept.											14.1		1.4	0.7			2.9	1
MR-EF2	26 Sept.									0.2		7.9					0.4	5.3	1
MR-EF3	26 Sept.											3.6					0.6	7.2	1
MR-EF4	25 Sept.								0.8			2.1						4.8	1
MR-EF5	25 Sept.	-							0.5			1.9	0.9				0.2	6.4	2
MR-EF6	25 Sept.											3.8	0.6		0.2		0.4	5.2	2
MR-EF7	25 Sept.								0.3			3.8	0.2				1.2	6.6	1
MR-EF8	25 Sept.								0.3			0.9	0.4					7.0	1
MR-EF9	25 Sept.			0.1					3.3	2.2		3.2	0.2	2.3	3.2		1.9	9.1	1
Dover R.																			
DR-EF1	29 May 25 July 24 Sept.							0.1	0.1	1.1		$0.9 \\ 1.9 \\ 2.7$	0.4		0.1	0.3	1.2	10.2 12.2 8.1	1 1 2
DR-EF2	24 Sept.									0.8		5.0	0.3		0.2	0.3	1.9	10.6	2
DR-EF3	24 Sept.								0.6	0.5		5.0	0.0		0.2	0.9	1.4	11.0	2
DR-EF4	24 Sept.								0.7	1.3		6.8				0.5	2.1	12.0	2

Table E1. Summary of boat electoshocking (ES) and backpack electrofishing (EF) CUE (catch per unit effort) for sample stations in the MacKay River and Dover River, 1984.

1

^a For species code explanation, see text Table 3.6; CUE = catch (captured and observed) per electrofishing minute. ^b Efficiency rating (1 = optimum efficiency; 4 = lowest efficiency).

^o L = Less than

Scale	Fo	rk Lengt	h (mm)		(g)		
Age	Mean	S.D.	Range	Mean	S.D.	Range	Number
Goldeye	9					·····	
0							0
1							0
2	145.0	8.89	135 to 152	32.7	4.93	27 to 36	3
3	226.2	14.20	203 to 241	125.2	23.59	89 to 146	5
4	264.4	15.79	235 to 284	193.0	37.78	141 to 150	7
5	278.0	4.24	275 to 281	204.5	21.92	189 to 220	2
6	326.8	12.06	309 to 341	383.3	68.90	300 to 480	6
7	352.6	8.27	343 to 362	463.0	54.27	375 to 510	5
8	368.3	23.07	348 to 395	546.3	85.38	450 to 630	4
Walleye ^b	)						
0							0
1							0
2							0
3	270.8	15.98	247 to 291	182.8	32.32	150 to 225	5
4	310.3	19.28	285 to 330	293.8	31.46	250 to 325	4
5	351.0	15.56	340 to 362	412.5	88.39	350 to 475	2
6	394.0			580.0			1
7	422.5	16.91	385 to 443	889.6	121.80	575 to 990	10
8							0
9	467.0	24.04	450 to 484	1095.0	346.48	850 to 1340	2
Mountair	n Whitefi	sh ^a					
0							0
1	142.0	3.94	136 to 146	40.8	2.95	37 to 45	5
2							0
3	279.0			300.0			1
4	336.0			480.0			1

Table E2. Age-length and age-weight relationships for goldeye, walleye and mountain whitefish captured in the MacKay River, 1984.

a_{Scale} age

 $\mathbf{b}_{Fin-ray \; age}$ 

Watanbady	body Survey Species CUE ⁸										μουί Δεοσ				
(Station)	Date	NP	YW	YP	LNS	WS	FHM	LKC	LND	PD	NRD	SS	TP	ES	(m ² )
MacKay Rive	r			<u>.</u>											
MR- <b>S</b> 1	28 May 25 July	L0.1 ^b	L0.1	L0.1	0.2 L0.1	L0.1 0.4	1.5	$1.3 \\ 7.6$	1.4			L0.1	3.3 0.9	0.1	450.0 450.0
MR-S1A	26 Sept.			L0.1				0.1		0.1				360.0	)
MR-S1B	26 Sept.			L0.1		0.1		0.3		0.1	0.4		0.2		519.0
MR- <b>S</b> 2	28 May 25 July		L0.1		0.1 0.1	L0.1 L0.1	L0.1	2.5 4.4	0.1 1.1			L0.1 0.1	0.2 0.5		705.0 500.0
MR-S2A	26 Sept.							0.2				L0.1	0.1		420.0
MR- <b>S</b> 3	28 May 25 July	L0.1			L0.1	1.0		$2.6 \\ 6.9$	L0.1 0.1		L0.1	L0.1	L0.1 0.4		$547.5 \\ 450.0$
MR-S3A	25 Sept.							0.1	L0.1			L0.1			210.0
MR-S4	25 Sept.					0.1		0.2	0.3				0.1		140.0
MR-S5	25 Sept.				0.1			1.9	0.3		0.2				120.0
Dover River															
DR-S1	24 Sept.							0.8					0.5		84.0
DR- <b>S2</b>	24 Sept.							0.8					0.3		90.0

Table E3. Summary of sampling effort and CUE (catch per unit effort) from seine stations (S) on the MacKay River and Dover River, 1984.

Ē

ł

Ŧ

f

1

^aFor species code explanation, see text Table 3.6; CUE = catch per 10 m² of surface area.

 $b_{L} = Less than.$ 

1

ŧ

2

I

ŧ

Waterbody (Station)	<b>Survey</b> Date	Species CUE ^a					Effort	
		LNS	WS	FHM	LKC	BS	(min)	<b>Efficiency</b> ^b
W.I.D.								······································
WID-EF1	30 May						4.8	1
	26 July			0.5			3.0	1
	27 Sept.			0.2		0.9	5.3	1
WID-EF2	30 May						5.4	1
	26 July						3.4	1
	27 Sept.					0.4	4.8	1
WID-EF3	26 July					0.3	3.3	1
	27 Sept.				0.3	0.6	3.4	2
W.I.D. Tribu	taries							
W2-EF	30 May			1.1		0.1	7.4	1
Beaver Cree	k							
LBC-EF1	25 May					2.4	6.8	1
	21 July		0.1		0.4	2.8	12.9	1
	21 Sept.					2.4	8.7	2
LBC-EF2	25 Mav					6.3	6.2	1
	21 July					4.8	12.6	1
	22 Sept.					6.2	8.6	3
Bridge Creel	k							
BRC-EF1	26 May				0.1	0.2	8.0	1
	21 July	0.5	0.4				8.5	1
	21 Sept.						7.6	1
BRC-EF2	21 July						6.5	1
	22 Sept.						5.9	1
BRC-EF3	30 May					0.1	8.1	1
	26 July			0.4	1.6	1.4	4.4	1
	27 Sept.					2.8	9.2	1
BRC-EF4	30 May			8.1		1.5	7.9	1
	26 July			1.0		3.1	3.9	1
	27 Sept.			2.1		1.0	2.9	2

Table E4.Summary of electrofishing (EF) CUE (catch per unit effort) from sample<br/>stations in the West Interception Ditch/Lower Beaver Creek System, 1984.

^aFor species code explanation, see text Table 3.6; CUE = catch (captured and observed) per electrofishing minute.

^bEfficiency rating (1 = optimum efficiency; 4 = lowest efficiency).

-

.
Waterbody	Survey					Species	CUE ^a					Effort	
(Station)	Date	AG	NP	LING	LNS	WS	FHM	FHC	LKC	NRD	BS	(min)	<b>Efficiency</b> ^b
Upper Beaver	Creek												
UBC-ES UBC-EF	13 June 26 Sept.					0.1 0.5	3.2 0.6		$9.9 \\ 0.6$		0.9	13.2 14.1	2 2
Creek B1													
B1-EF1	31 May 27 Sept.					256.7 1.6	3.0		110.0 15.4	I	1.7	0.3 8.7	1 2
B1-EF2	26 July 27 Sept.					$2.5 \\ 11.9$	1.2 15.5		4.7 35.1		8.9 6.8	7.2 4.7	2 1
Beaver Creek	Reservoir												
BCR-ES1 BCR-ES2	13 June 13 June					3.0 4.2	0.1		0.1			9.6 $26.4$	2 2
Ruth Lake													
RL-ES	13 June					8.5	6.9				1.6	13.2	2
Poplar Creek													
PC-EF1	31 May 23 July 22 Sept.					1.8 1.7	1.0 0.4		0.2			10.7 16.0 12.9	1 1 1
PC-EF2	31 May 23 July 23 Sept.					$1.1 \\ 1.5 \\ 3.4$	$15.2 \\ 3.6 \\ 0.2$		0.7 0.1	$0.2 \\ 0.2$	$15.5 \\ 0.9 \\ 0.4$	$8.5 \\ 11.9 \\ 5.0$	$2 \\ 1 \\ 2$
PC-EF3	31 May 23 Sept.	0.3			0.1	$5.6 \\ 1.9$	33.4 0.2		$\begin{array}{c} 1.6\\ 2.7\end{array}$		$17.9 \\ 0.2$	10.3 $6.2$	1-2 2-3
PC-EF5	25 May 22 July 23 Sept.			0.1	$0.4 \\ 0.1 \\ 0.9$	1.7 34.0° 6.0	17.0 6.1 0.7	1	$1.0 \\ 2.5$		1.9 1.6 0.4	$6.9 \\ 13.7 \\ 16.6$	$2 \\ 1-2 \\ 2$
PC-EF6	25 May 22 July 23 Sept.		0.1		4.1	0.8 11.1d 2.9	9.1d		$14.0 \\ 0.5 \\ 7.0$		5.9	$11.2 \\ 10.7 \\ 12.9$	2 1-3 2

 Table E5.
 Summary of boat electroshocking (ES) and backpack electrofishing (EF) CUE (catch per unit effort) from sample stations in the Beaver Creek Diversion System, 1984.

^aFor species code explanation, see text Table 3.6; CUE = catch (captured and observed) per electrofishing minute.

^bEfficiency rating (1 = optimum efficiency; 4 = lowest efficiency).

^cDoes not include more than 10 000 fry observed. Identified subsamples consisted of approximately 98% white sucker y-o-y and 2% fathead minnow y-o-y.

^dDoes not include more than 5 000 fry observed. Identified subsamples consisted of approximately 98% white sucker y-o-y and 2% fathead minnow y-o-y.

Waterbody (Station)	Survey Date	White Sucker	Fathead Minnow	Brook Stickleback	Haul Area (m ² )
BCR-S3	15 July	3.4	8.2	7.0	525.0
RL-S2	16 July	0.2	37.6	12.5	400.0
PCR-S3	17 July		0.2	3.8	475.0

Table E6.	Summary of sample effort and CUE (catch per unit effort) for seine collections
	in the Beaver Creek Diversion System, 1984.

 $a_{CUE} = catch per 10 m^2 of surface area.$ 

	Waterbody (Station)	<b>Survey</b> Date	Species CUE ^a White Sucker	Set Duration (h)	
	BCR-G1	15-16 July	5.1 (6)	14.0	
	BCR-G2	16-17 July	32.6 (38)	14.0	
	RL-G2	16-17 July	68.3 (74)	13.0	
	PCR-G1	17-18 July	10.5 (11)	12.6	
,	PCR-G2	17-18 July	11.7 (13)	13.3	

Table E7. Summary of sample effort and CUE (catch per unit effort) for overnight gillnet sets in the Beaver Creek Diversion System, 1984.

^aCUE based on standard net-unit (15.2 m x 2.8 m panels of 3.8 cm, 6.4 cm, 8.9 cm monofilament mesh). Results expressed as number of fish/net-unit/12 h; number of fish/standard net unit/overnight set given in parentheses.

	White Sucker Juv. and y-o-y			Fathead Minnow			La	ke Chub	)	Brook Stickleback		
Location	1978	1981	1984	1978	1981	1984	1978	1981	1984	1978	1981	1984
Beaver Creek Reservoir (BCR-S3)	0.7 ^b (0.6)	5.2 (5.3)	18.3 (3.4)	48.1 (42.4)	65.1 (65.5)	44.0 (8.2)	2.2 (2.0)	0.3 (0.3)	0 (0)	49.0 (43.3)	29.4 (29.6)	37.7 (7.0)
Ruth Lake (RL-S2)	L0.1 ^c L0.1	0.7 (1.6)	0.4 (0.2)	92.6 (281.2)	85.0 (198.6)	74.7 (37.6)	L0.1 (L0.1)	0 (0)	0 (0)	7.4 (22.4)	14.3 (33.5)	24.9 (12.5)
<b>Poplar Creek</b> Reservoir (PCR-S3)	1.8 (0.3)	0.8 (0.2)	0 (0)	57.1 (9.8)	29.1 (7.9)	4.2 (0.2)	0.1 (L0.1)	0 (0)	0 (0)	41.0 (7.1)	70.1 (18.9)	95.8 (3.8)

Table E8.Percentage composition and CUE (catch per unit effort) for various fish species in seine collections from Beaver<br/>Creek Reservoir, Ruth Lake and Poplar Creek Reservoir (summer 1978, 1981 and 1984).^a

^a1978 data from O'Neil (1979); 1981 data from O'Neil (1982); 1984 data from present study.

1

1

1

1

^bFirst number given is percentage composition of catch; CUE (catch per 10 m² of surface area) given in parentheses; both values based on three hauls conducted at each station during the summer period.

1

ŧ.

1

L

L

L

1

.

1

I

 $e_L$  = Less than

1

1

1

Table E9. Sampling effort and CUE (catch per unit effort) for overnight gillnet sets in the Beaver Creek Diversion System (summer 1978, 1981 and 1984).^a

		Species CUE ^b							
Location	Year	Long suc	nose ker	Whi ⁻ suck	te ter	Lake chub		Set Duration (h)	
Beaver Creek Reservoir									
BCR-G1	1978 1981 1984	9.5 0 0	2(10) (0) (0)	95.1 $42.6$ $5.1$	(103) (63) (6)	0 0.7 0	(0) (1) (0)	$13.0 \\ 17.8 \\ 14.0$	
BCR-G2	$\begin{array}{c} 1981\\ 1984 \end{array}$	0 0	(0) (0)	$\begin{array}{c} 41.2\\ 32.6\end{array}$	(52) (38)	0 0	(0) (0)	$\begin{array}{c} 15.2\\ 14.0 \end{array}$	
Ruth Lake									
RL-G2	1978 1981 1984	0 0 0	(0) (0) (0)	$31.7 \\ 17.0 \\ 68.3$	(41) (33) (74)	0 0 0	(0) (0) (0)	$15.5 \\ 23.2 \\ 13.0$	
Poplar Creek Reservoir									
PCR-G1	1978 1981 1984	0 0 0	(0) (0) (0)	$32.3 \\ 12.4 \\ 10.5$	(43) (21) (11)	0 0 0	(0) (0) (0)	16.0 20.2 12.6	
PCR-G2	1981 1984	0 0	(0) (0)	8.2 11.7	(13) (13)	0 0	(0) (0)	19.0 13.3	

a 1978 data from O'Neil (1979); 1981 data from O'Neil (1982); 1984 data from present study.

^b CUE based on a standard net-unit (15.2 m X 2.8 m panels of 3.8 cm, 6.4 cm, 8.9 cm monofilament mesh). Results expressed as number of fish/netunit/l2 h; number of fish/standard net-unit/overnight set given in parentheses.

Fork	Beaver Rese	r Creek er <b>voir</b>	Rut	h Lake	Popla Res	ar Creek servoir	Combined		
Length (mm)	Numberl	% Frequency	Number	% Frequency	Number	% Frequency	Number	% Frequency	
0-19	1	1.3	0	0	0	0	1	0.4	
20-39	11	14.5	0	0	0	0	11	5.0	
40-59	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	
60-79	6	7.9	0	0	0	0	6	2.7	
80-99	4	5.3	3	2.7	2	5.7	9	4.0	
100-119	0	0	11	9.9	4	11.4	15	6.8	
120-139	0	0	10	9.0	1	2.9	11	5.0	
140-159	10	13.2	19	17.1	8	22.9	37	16.7	
160-179	12	15.8	41	36.9	9	25.7	62	27.9	
180-199	2	2.6	9	8.1	0	0	11	5.0	
200-219	1	1.3	3	2.7	1	2.9	5	2.2	
220-239	1	1.3	0	0	0	0	1	0.4	
240-259	4	5.3	4	3.6	2	5.7	10	4.5	
260-279	3	3.9	1	0.9	6	17.1	10	4.5	
280-299	6	7.9	0	0	0	0	6	2.7	
300-319	5	6.6	1	0.9	0	0	6	2.7	
320-339	5	6.6	4	3.6	0	0	9	4.0	
340-359	2	2.6	3	2.7	0	0	5	2.2	
360-379	0	0	1	0.9	2	5.7	3	1.4	
380-399	1	1.3	1	0.9	0	0	2	0.9	
400-419	2	2.6	0	0	0	0	2	0.9	
Total No	o. 76		111		35		222		

Table E10. Length frequency distribution for white sucker captured by all sample methods in Beaver Creek Reservoir, Ruth Lake and Poplar Creek Reservoir, 1984.

a a constant

**W** 

## APPENDIX F

SITE SPECIFIC COMMENTS RELATING TO THE DISTRIBUTION OF AQUATIC MACROPHYTES IN THE FOUR STANDING WATERBODIES IN THE STUDY AREA

Table F1.	Site specific comments relating to distribution of macrophytes in Beaver Creek Reservoir, July 1984.
Site ^a	Description
Site 1	At 0.5 m depth - patches of <b>Sparganium</b> and <b>Nuphar</b> . At 0.9 m, <b>Potamogeton pusillus</b> and <b>P. richardsonii</b> . At shore - <b>Carex</b> with patches of <b>Typha</b> and <b>Scirpus</b> with <b>Salix</b> on higher ground.
Site 2	<b>Myriophyllum</b> towards the shore with <b>P. pectinatus</b> growing at depths up to 1.5 m. Shore - <b>Typha</b> .
Site 3	Myriophyllum, Ceratophyllum, P. pectinatus, P. zosteriformis with smaller amounts of P. pusillus and P. richardsonii. Shore - Typha with small areas of Scirpus.
Site 4	Myriophyllum, Ceratophyllum, P. pectinatus, P. zosteriformis with smaller amounts of P. pusillus and P. richardsonii. Shore - Typha with small areas of Scirpus.
Site 5	Mixture of Ceratophyllum, Myriophyllum, P. zosteriformis and P. richardsonii.
Site 6	Mixture of <b>Ceratophyllum, Myriophyllum, P. zosteriformis</b> and <b>P. richardsonii</b> .
Site 7	P. pectinatus, P. zosteriformis, some Myriophyllum. Typha thinning out on shore.
Site 8	Patches of <b>Sparganium</b> near shore with isolated patches of <b>Nuphar</b> . Shoreline has a narrow band of <b>Carex</b> with a few plants of <b>Equisetum</b> near the water's edge.
Site 9	Well developed colonies of <b>Sparganium</b> extending from the point in an arc towards the southeast.
Site 10 &	11 Very thick beds of Myriophyllum.
Site 12	Start of <b>Typha</b> on shore with a few small <b>Typha</b> islands off shore. Submersed vegetation consisting almost exclusively of <b>Myriophyllum</b> growing to a depth of $2 \text{ m}$ with much smaller amounts of <b>P</b> . zosteriformis.
Site 13	Large numbers of <b>Typha</b> islands which are surrounded with <b>Ceratophyllum</b> with lesser amounts of <b>Myriophyllum</b> and <b>P. zosteriformis.</b> Much of the <b>Typha</b> is last year's growth. Some <b>Lemma minor</b> was seen among the <b>Typha</b> . The depth increased rapidly away from the islands to about $1 - 1.5$ m.
Site 14	<b>Typha</b> islands surrounded by <b>Ceratophyllum</b> and <b>Myriophyllum</b> with smaller amounts of <b>P. zosteriformis</b> and <b>P. pectinatus</b> with about 60% cover.
Site 15	Myriophyllum, Ceratophyllum and P. zosteriformis.
Site 16	Shore - <b>Typha</b> being replaced by <b>Scirpus</b> and some <b>Salix</b> . Submersed vegetation almost exclusively <b>Myriophyllum</b> with almost 100% cover with one well developed patch of <b>P. praelongus</b> , the only one seen in the reservoir.
<u></u>	

^a For site location see Figure 5.8.

Table F2.Site specific comments relating to distribution of macrophytes in<br/>Ruth Lake, July 1984.

Site ^a	Description
Site 1	Myriophyllum dominant with small amounts of P. pectinatus, P. zosteriformis, Ranunculus, and isolated plants of Nuphar. A few plants of P. praelongus were seen. Clumps of Scirpus in 0.9 m of water with an understorey of Ceratophyllum and Lemna trisulca.
Site 2	Dense <b>Myriophyllum</b> and small patches of <b>Nuphar</b> with an understorey of <b>Ceratophyllum</b> and <b>L. trisulca.</b>
Site 3	Numerous small <b>Scirpus</b> islands with small amounts of <b>Typha</b> . The islands are surrounded by extremely dense <b>Myriophyllum</b> .
Site 4	Dense <b>Myriophyllum</b> which at 10 m from shore thins out in the shallow water. Shore - a narrow band of <b>Typha</b> with <b>Salix</b> and <b>Populus</b> behind.
Site 5	Myriophyllum dominant. In a few small patches Chara occurs as an understorey beneath the Myriophyllum. Small amounts of P. pusillus and P. richardsonii. Shore - Typha.
Site 6	Entrance to discharge canal. Myriophyllum and P. pectinatus growing in a slow current. Shore - dense Typha on both sides.
Site 7	Myriophyllum with small amounts of P. zosteriformis and Ceratophyllum. A patch of Chara occurring beneath Myriophyllum was seen.
Open Area	Roughly follows the 2 m contour and is occupied by scattered <b>Nuphar</b> plants and occasional plants of <b>Myriophyllum</b> and <b>P. zosteriformis.</b>
Site 8	The open area ends abruptly with the appearance of dense <b>Myriophyllum</b> with smaller amounts of <b>Ceratophyllum</b> . Shore - <b>Carex</b> with <b>Eleocharis</b> and <b>Scirpus</b> .
Site 9	Ceratophyllum is dominant with Myriophyllum sub-dominant.
Site 10	A fan of <b>P. pectinatus</b> extends from the mouth of the diversion canal.

^a For site location see Figure 5.16.

Table F3.	Site specific comments relating to distribution of macrophytes in Poplar Creek Reservoir, July 1984.						
Site ^a	Description						
Sites 1 & 2	The east side has submersed vegetation moderate density consisting of a mixture of <b>Myriophyllum, Sagittaria</b> and <b>Sparganium</b> growing on a fairly firm bottom. Shore - <b>Carex</b> with small amounts of <b>Typha</b> and <b>Scirpus.</b>						
Site 3	A few small <b>Typha</b> islands situated in a dense bed of <b>Myriophyllum</b> with lesser amounts of <b>Utricularia</b> and some emergent <b>Hippuris</b> and <b>Ranunculus</b> .						
Site 4	Near the mouth of the diversion canal is a fan of <b>P. pectinatus</b> in <0.5 m of water which extends into the canal itself.						
Site 5	A very large marshy area of <b>Menyanthes trifoliata</b> of unestimated extent on both sides of the canal. The west side of the diversion canal has a narrow band of <b>Typha</b> .						
Site 6	The west side of the upper section of the reservoir is populated by occasional plants of <b>Sparganium</b> reaching the surface with some <b>Sagittaria</b> and <b>Myriophyllum</b> . Overall density of plants is low.						
Site 7	The west side of the lower section (south of the causeway) is sparsely occupied with a mixed community of <b>Sparganium</b> and <b>Sagittaria</b> . Near the dam, <b>Myriophyllum</b> and <b>Utricularia</b> form a small bed near shore.						
Site 8	Along the dam face patches of <b>P. zosteriformis</b> and <b>Myriophyllum</b> grow on a fairly firm and rocky bottom.						
Site 9	The area near the entrance of the discharge canal contains fairly dense <b>Myriophyllum</b> with patches of <b>P. vaginatus</b> which grows into the canal. The south side of the canal has a band of <b>Typha</b> .						
Site 10	The east side of the lower section of the reservoir has patches of <b>Sparganium</b> with lesser amounts of <b>Sagittaria</b> , <b>Myriophyllum</b> and a few plants of <b>Polygonum</b> . Shore - <b>Carex</b> , patches of <b>Typha</b> with <b>Salix</b> behind.						
Site 11	A few plants of <b>Chara</b> seen in shallow water close to shore.						

^a For site location see Figure 5.22.

Site ^a	Description
Site 1	<b>Ceratophyllum</b> dominant with <b>Elodea</b> and <b>P. pectinatus</b> growing in 0.5 m. Small amounts of <b>P. pusillus</b> , <b>L. trisulca</b> and <b>L. minor</b> with a localized patch of <b>Nuphar</b> . Small amounts of emerging <b>Hippuris</b> and <b>Sparganium</b> were seen near shore. Shore - <b>Eleocharis</b> . Outlet channel overgrown with very dense <b>Typha</b> and <b>Carex</b> .
Site 2	<b>Elodea</b> dominant, heavily marled with lesser amounts of <b>P. pectinatus</b> and <b>Ceratophyllum</b> . In some areas a light understorey of <b>Chara</b> occurred in about 0.6 m. Shore - <b>Carex</b> with <b>Eleocharis</b> and small amounts of <b>Sagittaria</b> with occasional <b>Typha</b> on the east side. The west side of the arm is occupied by <b>Carex</b> .
Site 3	Dense <b>Elodea</b> (male plants with some flowering) growing in 2.5 m of water.
Site 4	Nuphar becomes dominant growing on both sides of the channel leaving a narrow Nuphar-free strip down the middle. Elodea, P. pectinatus and Ceratophyllum form an understorey. Shore - Carex, Sparganium and small amounts of Typha and Eleocharis.
Site 5	Nuphar growing almost completely across the channel. Elodea is much less abundant. Understorey composed of a mixture of P. pectinatus, Ceratophyllum with Elodea, L. trisulca and occasional plants of P. zosteriformis.
Site 6	Heavy growth of <b>Nuphar</b> with <b>L. trisulca</b> beneath. The channel is blocked at this point by a dense bed of <b>Scirpus</b> with some <b>Sparganium</b> . The bed extends to Site 7.
Site 7	Nuphar with an understorey of Ceratophyllum and L. trisulca. The centre of the channel has a number of small colonies of Hippuris and some Typha. Shore - Sparganium, Carex and Salix on east side, Sparganium and Salix on the west side.
Site 8	Nuphar forming an almost continuous cover with L. trisulca beneath the small amounts of Utricularia and Elodea. P. pectinatus and some Chara was found in some areas where Nuphar was less dense. Several large patches of the moss Drepanocladus mixed with L. trisulca occurred in the area.
Site 9	Abundant <b>Nuphar</b> with an understorey of <b>Utricularia</b> with occasional mats of partly floating <b>Drepanocladus</b> in 0.4 m of water. Small amounts of <b>L. trisulca.</b> Shore – <b>Typha</b> and <b>Sparganium</b> .
Site 10	Nuphar with Elodea and some Ceratophyllum.
Site 11	<b>Elodea</b> in 1.3 m of water. Shore - <b>Sparganium</b> with <b>Carex</b> and <b>Salix</b> behind.

Table F4.	Site	specific	comments	relating	to	distribution	of	macrophytes	in
	Hors	eshoe Lal	ke, July 198	4.					

Continued ...

Table F4. Continued.

- Site 12 Nuphar with an understorey of Ceratophyllum and Utricularia with areas of Sparganium and Hippuris. A large area of emergent Hippuris growing in water up to 0.3 m occurs at the north end of the lake. This bed is surrounded by Nuphar and Ceratophyllum.
- Site 13 The northwest arm is occupied by patches of Nuphar extending right across the arm with an understorey of Elodea and Ceratophyllum and a few areas of P. pectinatus. Smaller amounts of P. zosteriformis and P. praelongus in 0.5 to 0.75 m of water occur. Shore - Carex and Sparganium with Salix behind.
- Site 14 Dense Nuphar with L. trisulca and Ceratophyllum beneath with lesser amounts of Elodea and P. pectinatus. Shore - Carex and Sparganium.
- Site 15 An area without Nuphar cover extends out to 5 m from the shore. The bottom in this area is covered with L. trisulca, Myriophyllum and Ceratophyllum. In the area covered with Nuphar the understorey consists of P. pectinatus and Elodea in 0.4 m of water.
- Site 16 Variable density of Nuphar with varying proportions of P. pectinatus, Elodea and Ceratophyllum with small amounts of L. trisulca and P. pusillus. Shore - Carex and Sparganium with Salix behind.

^a For site location see Figure 6.1.

APPENDIX G

PHYTOPLANKTON

	15 June		24 July		23 September	
	Number	Volume	Number	Volume	Number	Volume
BACILLARIOPHYTA						
Melosira granulata (large)	260	142	457	362	293	173
Melosira granulata (small) Niterebia egicularia	N 21 7	N 3.22	123 P	21.6 P	4(9 P	73.0 P
Unidentified centric	21 N	N N	61.5	36.1	52.4	34.6
Asterionella formosa	P	P	43.9	11.3	13.3	3.54
Stephanodiscus hantzschii	101	61.7	N	N	N	N
Diatoma elongatum	14.5	8.67	8.79	3.42	P 3 33	P 4 99
Synedra acus	J.62 7 23	27.6	8.79 N	24.J N	13.1	34.9
Unidentified	239	57.4	35.1	6.01	26.2	6.07
Unidentified	14.5	11.0	N	N	26.2	19.8
Gyrosigma sp.	P	P	N	N	N	N
Tabellaria fenestra	N	N	P	P	P	N P
Gompnonema sp.	N	N	r N	r N	26.2	324
Fragilaria sp.	N	N	N	N	Р	P
Cocconeis sp.	N	N	N	N	Р	Р
CRYPTOPHYTA					0.401	20.0
Rhodomonas minuta	470	24.4	N	N	2491	39.0
Cryptomones erosa	231 P	030 P	N	N	420	184
Cryptomonas reflexa	181	147	N	N	N	N
Cryptomonas sp.	94.0	90.0	N	N	N	N
CHRYSOPHYTA						
Kephyrion sp.	7.23	0.80	N	N	N	N
Dinobryon divergens	36.2	40.0	N N	N	N Q	P
Desmarella sp.	P	P	N	N	Ň	Ñ
Unidentified statospore	N	Ň	N	N	P	Р
PYRROPHYTA						
Glenodinum sp.	28.9	17.4	N	N	N	N
	М	N	r	P	N	N
Phaces overin	253	219	N	N	N	N
Phacus sp.	7.23	35.4	4.39	8.30	P	P
Trachelomonas planctonica	68.7	264	4.39	32.8	156	471
Euglena acus	N	N	Р	P	6.66	24.8
CHLOROPHYTA	N	N	597	24.0		
Sphaerocysus schroeteri Scenedesnys scynubatys	P	P	26.4	1.47	52.4	2.26
Scenedesnys acynubarys	57.9	1.89	141	4.22	P	P
Scenedesmus bijuga	325	4.87	483	7.41	1692	18.0
Scenedesmus quadricauda	130	7.35	158	10.1	246	12.7
Quadrigula closteroides	P	P	N	N	N	N
Aniastrodesmus convolutus	181	2.60 N	35.1 P	0.30 P	20.2	1.02
Kirchneriella elongata	N	N	N	N	20.0	1.03
Kirchneriella lunaris	36.2	2.20	52.7	1.70	P	P
Dictyosphaerium sp.	P	Р	501	12.0	118	2.43
Occystis sp.	79.6	10.0	1467	158	341	56.5
Gloeotilla pelagica	499 N	11.3 N	N 70.3	N 6 33	N D	N D
Coeloestrum microporum	N	N	N N	N	420	43.5
Pediastrum tetras	N	N	70.3	6.71	P	P
Pediastrum boryanum	Р	P	Р	Р	P	P
Elakatothrix sp.	P	P	96.6	2.78	P	Р
Tetrastrum glabrum	N Z 02	N 2.04	70.3	1.54	93.7	1.35
Tetraedrom trignum	7.23	3.84	Р N	P N	N P	P
Chlamydomonas sp.	43.4	2.77	N	N	N	N
Lagerheimia quadriseta	14.5	0.11	N	N	N	N
Chlamydomonas sp.	21.7	3.03	N	N	Ň	N
Crucigenia tetrapedia	P	P	N	N	P	P
Cosmarium sp.	P	P	N	N	N	N
Closterium actum	P' N	r N	4.39	r 2.73	P N	r N
Crucigenia rectangularis	N	N	141	3.33	P	P
Volvox aureus	N	N	Р	P	N	N
Mougeotia sp.	N	N	Р	P	N	N
Cleaterium an	N	N	P	P	N	N
Pediastrum dunlex	и	1	1	r	N	14
var calthratum	N	N	N	N	Р	Р
Char racium sp.	N	N	N	N	Р	Р
Staurastrum sp.	N	N v	N	N	P	P
Sorestrum soinulosum	N	N	ND	N P	P	PN
CYANOPHYTA	IN	14	r	1	14	14
Oscillatoria sp.	333	11.0	N	N	N	N
Oscillatoria limnetica	362	4.18	N	N	N	N
Anabaena sp.	166	7.86	1722	166	N	N
Anabaena planetonica	N	N	237	37.6 280	N 1710	N 64 7
Apriliazoniction 1108-89486 Pseudanabaena so	N N	N	351	2.30	1710	7.29
Chrococcus limneticus	N	N	378	4.63	772	7.03
Unidentified akinete	N	N	8.79	5.73	N	N
Gomphosphaeria naegelianum	N	N	N	N	998	3.34
Merismopedia sp.	N	N	N	N	52.4	0.03
		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·				
TOTAL	4448	1925	13 960	1245	11 134	1920

Table G1 Cell counts (cells-mL⁻¹) and cell volumes ( $\mu$ m³·10³·mL⁻¹) of phytoplankton from Beaver Creek Reservoir (Station BCR-P), 1984.

P = present but not encountered in routine cell counts; N = not observed.

	15 June		24 July		23 Sentember	
	Number	Volume	Number	Volume	Number	Volume
BACILLARIOPHYTA				······		
Melosina granulata (large)	416	250	172	87.1	N	N
Melosira granulata (Small) Nitzschia acicularis	N 98.4	N 16 0	159	24.4	15.7	2.60
Nitzschia palea	36.5	8.78	P 50.5	9.24 P	5.24	1.01
Unidentified centric	139	72.8	Р	Р	Р	P
Asterionella formosa Unidentified distoms (4)	7.29	1.74	N G DG	N 1 91	N 5 94	N 5 17
Synedra sp.	N N	2.82 N	3.03	12.9	5.24 N	5.17 N
Diatoma elongatum	Р	P	Р	Р	P	P
Cocconeis sp.	P	P	N	N	P	P
Fragilaria crotonensis	P '	P	P N	P N	P	P
Nitzschia sp.	P	Р	N	N	N	N
Synedra acus Stophopodiscus bentzschij	P	P	N	N	P	P
Cymbella sp.	N	N	r N	r N	P	P
Tabellaria floculosa	N	N	N	N	P	P
Synedra una Gyrosigma so	N	N	N	N	P	P
Gomphonema sp.	N	N	N	N	P	P
CRYPTOPHYTA						-
Cryotomonas minuta	N 65.6	N 53 7	12.3	1.19	435	60.9
Cryptomonas curvata	14.6	77.9	P 50.4	P 22.3	9.18	39.9
CHRYSOPHYTA Disobergen divergent		40.0				
PYRROPHYTA	416	428	N	N	N	N
Peridinium sp.	14.6	99.7	6.06	26.2	P	Р
Ceratium hirundinella	N	N	6.06	272	N	N
Glenodinium sp. EUGLENOPHYTA	N	N	N	N	10.5	14.0
Trachelomonas sp.	29.2	142	24.2	106	36.7	84.1
Euglena acus	14.6	101	Р	P	Р	Р
Phacus sp. Trachelomones plactopics	21.9	62.4 239	P	P	3.77	13.0 N
Trachelomonas sp.	N N	N	N	Ň	1.26	3.75
CHLOROPHYTA						
Sphaerocystis schroeteri Scenedesmus acuminatus	2384	332	P 54 5	P 5 59	N 86 5	N 5 3 2
Scenedesmus arcuatus	N	N 0.52	P 94.5	P	N N	N 5.52
Scenedesmus bijuga	766	12.6	578	11.8	49.8	1.18
Scenedesmus medricuste	N 401	N 19.9	P	P	N	N
Quadrigula closteroides	14.6	0.59	P	P	N	N
Ankistrodesmus convolutus	314	19.2	42.4	0.97	15.7	0.14
Koliella sp. Kirchneriella lunaris	7.29	0.45	P	P	2.51	0.19
Dictyosphaerium sp.	124	6.24	443	10.2	10.5 N	N N
Oocystis sp.	277	54.0	1266	49.7	13.1	5.34
Gloetilla pelagica Binuclearia eriensis	1575 N	37.3 N	N 46-2	N 5 42	N	N
Coeloastrum microporum	21.9	12.0	43.2	22.7	N	N
Pediastrum tetras	80.2	6.35	Р	Р	N	N
Pediastrum boryanum Elekatotheir so	P	P 0.70	N	N	N	N
Tetrastrum glabrum	29.2	0.42	18.2 P	P.55	N	N
Tetraedron trigonum	21.9	20.9	N	N	N	N
Tetraedron caudatum	7.29	1.10	N	N	N	N
Chiamydomonus sp.	36.5	5.33	P N	P N	N	N
Tetraedron minimum	Р	Р	P	Р	N	N
variabile	P	P	N	N	N	N
Staurodesmus sp.	P	P	P	P	N	N
Tedraedron limneticum	P	P	N	N	N	N
Crucigenia tetrapedia Crucigenia rectangularis	P N	r N	N 242	N 12.6	N	N
Chlamydomonas sp.	N	N	73.8	106	N	N
Closterium actum	N	N	12.3	9.19	N	N
Coeloastrum cambricum	N N	N	P	P	N	N
Scenedesmus denticulatus	N	N	P	P	N	N
Caracium sp.	N	N	N	N	1.26	2.98
CYANOPHYTA	N	N	N	N	Р	Р
Pseudanabaena sp.	437	4.02	148	1.23	133	1.10
Chroococcus limneticus	87.5	0.90	545	6.68	N	N
Anabaena so	241	0.74	N 1120	N 125	N	N
Anabaena planctonica	2333 P	91.3 P	1139	43.2	N N	N
Aphanizomenom flos-aquae	Ň	Ň	43338	139	P	P
Gomphosphaeria naegelianum	N	N	1770	9.29	N	N
Merismopedia glauca	P	r P	N N	N N	N N	N N
Pseudanabaena constricta	P	P	N	N	P	P
Dactylococcus Smithii Spiruline Sp	N	N	N	N	Р	P
aprutitus sp.				=		
TOTAL	10 738	2297	50 765	1122	915	284

 $Table \ G2 \qquad Cell \ counts \ (cells \cdot mL^{-1}) \ and \ cell \ volumes \ (\mu m^3 \cdot 10^3 \cdot mL^{-1}) \ of \ phytoplankton \ from \ Ruth \ Lake \ (Station \ RL-P), \ 1984.$ 

P = present but not encountered in routine cell counts; N = not observed.

Number         Value         Number         Value         Number         Value         Number         Value           Medicis germints (arcs)         P         P         115         1         1         5         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1         1				24 July		23 September	
CILLABORTA         P         P         216         144         7 65         119           Michair granulation         3         1         1         11         11         11         11         11         11         11         11         11         11         11         11         11         11         11         11         11         11         11         11         11         11         11         11         11         11         11         11         11         11         11         11         11         11         11         11         11         11         11         11         11         11         11         11         11         11         11         11         11         11         11         11         11         11         11         11         11         11         11         11         11         11         11         11         11         11         11         11         11         11         11         11         11         11         11         11         11         11         11         11         11         11         11         11         11         11         11         11 <td< th=""><th></th><th>Number</th><th>Volume</th><th>Number</th><th>Volume</th><th>Number</th><th>Volume</th></td<>		Number	Volume	Number	Volume	Number	Volume
Addition granulate Darge)         P         P         P         15         14         25         13         25         13         15         14         15         15         15         15         15         15         15         15         15         15         15         15         15         15         15         15         15         15         15         15         15         15         15         15         15         15         15         15         15         15         15         15         15         15         15         15         15         15         15         15         15         15         15         15         15         15         15         15         15         15         15         15         15         15         15         15         15         15         15         15         15         15         15         15         15         15         15         15         15         15         15         15         15         15         15         15         15         15         15         15         15         15         15         15         15         15         15         15         15<	ACILLARIOPHYTA	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·					
Nitisatis actualers         27.1         5.23         1.9         1.6         1.6         1.6         1.6         1.6         1.6         1.6         1.6         1.6         1.6         1.6         1.6         1.6         1.6         1.6         1.6         1.6         1.6         1.6         1.6         1.6         1.6         1.6         1.6         1.6         1.6         1.6         1.6         1.6         1.6         1.6         1.6         1.6         1.6         1.6         1.6         1.6         1.6         1.6         1.6         1.6         1.6         1.6         1.6         1.6         1.6         1.6         1.6         1.6         1.6         1.6         1.6         1.6         1.6         1.6         1.6         1.6         1.6         1.6         1.6         1.6         1.6         1.6         1.6         1.6         1.6         1.6         1.6         1.6         1.6         1.6         1.6         1.6         1.6         1.6         1.6         1.6         1.6         1.6         1.6         1.6         1.6         1.6         1.6         1.6         1.6         1.6         1.6         1.6         1.6         1.6         1.6	Melosira granulata (large)	P	P	216	144	269	219
Nillisotis palse     12.8     1.28     1.28     N     N     6.41     5.41       Difformation congrishin     24.1     30.5     9.43     5.41     7     7       Synder science     24.1     30.5     9.43     5.44     7     7       Consert (full     N     N     6.56     5.47     7     7     7.5       Consert (full     N     N     6.56     5.40     N     N       Gynodig may     N     N     6.56     5.40     N     N       Gynodig may     N     N     P     P     N     N       Gynodig may     N     N     N     P     P     P       Gynodig may     N     N     N     N     N     P       Gynodig may     N     N     N     N     N     P       Gynodig may     N     N     N     N     N     P       Frequencing     N     N     N     N     N     P       Frequencing     N     N     N     N     N     N       Gynodig may     N     N     N     N     N     N       Gynodig may     N     N     N     N     N	Nitzschia acicularis	32 1	5.28	111 P	10.9 P	96.2 P	16.3 P
Atternation         51.7         6.36         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P	Nitzschia palea	12.8	1.26	Ň	Ň	6.41	1.58
Differential of contract         34.5         30.0         5.5         10.1         p         p         p         p         p         p         p         p         p         p         p         p         p         p         p         p         p         p         p         p         p         p         p         p         p         p         p         p         p         p         p         p         p         p         p         p         p         p         p         p         p         p         p         p         p         p         p         p         p         p         p         p         p         p         p         p         p         p         p         p         p         p         p         p         p         p         p         p         p         p         p         p         p         p         p         p         p         p         p         p         p         p         p         p         p         p         p         p         p         p         p         p         p         p         p         p         p         p         p         p	Asterionella formosa	25.7	6.36	Р	Р	12.8	3.41
Spectra scale         Spectra	Unidentified centric	38.5	30.0	6.56	10.1	P	Р
Understräg         N.	Synedra acus	54.1 23.5	30.5	9.83	5.47	P 4 17	P 9.31
Tabellicit fementre         N         N         P         P         N         N         N         P           Ampore so,         N         N         N         P         P         P         N         N           Complexe so,         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N	Unidentified	20.0 N	N N	6.56	5.40	4.11 N	9.31 N
Bynders p.         N         N         P         P         P         N         N           Stephanolisus hartzechi         N         N         N         N         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         <	Tabellaria fenestra	N	N	Р	P	N	N
Approximants, and a sequence of the seq	Synedra sp.	N	N	Р	P	N	N
Stephonogram         bnttzschil         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         D         D         D         D         D         D         D         D         D         D         D         D         D         D         D         D         D         D         D         D         D         D         D         D         D         D         D         D         D         D         D         D         D         D         D         D         D         D         D         D         D         D         D         D         D         D         D         D         D         D         D         D         D         D         D         D         D         D         D         D         D         D         D         D         D         D         D         D         D         D         D         D         D         D         D         D         D         D         D         D         D         D         D         D         D         D         D         D         D         D         D         D         D <thd< th="">         D         <thd< th="">         D</thd<></thd<>	Amphore sp.	N	N	P	P	P	P
Component sp.         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         <	Stephanodiscus hantzschii	N	N	r N	r N	12.5	8.44
Mitsenia insearis         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N	Gomphonema sp.	N	N	N	N	P	Р
Synche acceleption         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         P         P           VPTOPINTA         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         P         P           VPTOPINTA         N         N         N         N         N         N         P         P           VPTOPINTA         12.8         40.6         N         N         N         6.41         3.6           Cryptomonse curata         11.8         9.58         N         N         N         N           RISOPITITA         -         -         3.6         P         N         N         N           RICPHIVTA         -         -         3.6         P         P         N         N         N           RICPHIVTA         -         -         4.3         9.4         P         N         N         N           RICPHIVTA         -         -         -         N         N         N         N           RICPHIVTA         -         P         P         N         N         N         N           Constantional spintotas spintotas spi	Nitzschia linearis	N	N	N	N	Р	Р
Symptom tube         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N <t< td=""><td>Synedra cyclopum</td><td>N</td><td>N</td><td>N</td><td>N</td><td>P</td><td>P</td></t<>	Synedra cyclopum	N	N	N	N	P	P
Display         Display <t< td=""><td>Svnedra ulna</td><td>N</td><td>N</td><td>N</td><td>N</td><td>P</td><td>P</td></t<>	Svnedra ulna	N	N	N	N	P	P
Nbokoncas minuta         135         31.4         N         N         D         225         67.5           Cryptoncas escreta         12.8         63.6         N         N         N         P         9           VSDFNYTA         25.7         17.9         N         N         6.41         3.6           Dinobryon divergens         6.41         5.38         13.1         14.3         N         N           Dinobryon divergens         6.41         5.38         13.1         14.3         N         N           Dinobryon divergens         6.41         5.38         13.1         14.3         N         N           Riverdiation sp.         P         P         N         N         N         N           Controlinium sp.         P         P         N         N         N         N           Controlinium sp.         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P <t< td=""><td>RYPTOPHYTA</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td>1</td><td>1</td></t<>	RYPTOPHYTA					1	1
Gryptonomas erses         44.9         42.1         6.36         2.39         70.5         124           Cryptonomas erruta         12.8         63.6         N         N         P         P           MYSDPHYTA         13.9         N         N         N         N         S.41         3.94           MYSDPHYTA         11.8         9.38         N         N         N         N         N           Dindeyco divergins         6.41         5.33         13.1         14.3         N         N           Dindeyco divergins         6.41         5.33         11.7         N         N         N         N           Cignocidium sp.         P         P         N         N         N         N         N           CLNOPHYTA         Dindeyco divergins         53.7         T7.2         P         P         P         N         N           CLNOPHYTA         D         P         P         N         N         N         N         N         N           CLNOPHYTA         D         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P	Rhodomonas minuta	135	31.4	N	N	325	67.5
C-protonomes curvata         12.8         80.6         N         N         P         P         P           Disobyon divergens         6.41         6.38         13.1         14.3         N         N         N           Disobyon divergens         6.41         6.38         13.1         14.3         N         N         N           Disobyon divergens         6.41         0.4         P         P         N         N         N         N           Disobyon divergens         11.8         9.98         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N	Cryptomonas erosa	44.9	42.1	6.56	2.39	70.5	124
1.1.1         2.1.1         2.1.2         3.1         1.4.3         N         N         0.4.1         3.4.8           Diadogon serularia         11.8         9.58         N         N         N         N           Diadogon serularia         11.8         9.58         N         N         N         N           Meridinian sp.         22.4         30.4         P         P         N         N         N           Meridinian sp.         22.4         30.4         P         P         N         N         N         N           Ogmodiatium unberrinun         P         P         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N	Cryptomonas curvata	12.8	60.6	N	N	P	P
Display         Display         Second second         Second second         Second second         N         N         N           RACPHUTA         1.8         9.98         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N	IRYSOPHYTA	25.7	19.9	N	N	6.41	3.84
Dinocyto, sertularia         11.8         9.98         N         N         N         N         N         N           Perdintium op.         22.4         30.4         P         P         N         N         N         N           Perdintium op.         P         P         N         N         N         N         N           Cestulum hirundinelia         P         P         N         N         N         N         N           Cisto PH TA         Thecholonnas plantone         35.3         117         197         379         76.6         25           Phears sp.         25.7         77.2         6.56         15.4         N         N           Byserocystic scrutinistic         20.5         26.47         26.2         1.97         506         65.9           Scenedesmus protecture         N         N         N         P         P         65.9           Scenedesmus protecture         22.4         1.03         117         1.43         788         10.9           Scenedesmus protecture         23.1         1.30         65.2         0.38         13         0.5           Scenedesmus protecture corecture         23.4         1.5         <	Dinobryon divergens	6.41	6.38	13.1	14.3	N	N
BROPHITA Glinodium sp.     22.4     30.4     P     P     P     N     N       Glinodium sp.     P     P     P     N     N     N     N       Clinodium sp.     P     P     N     N     N     N     N       Considium sp.     P     P     N     N     N     N     N       Clinodium sp.     35.3     117     197     379     76.6     235       Tracholononas planctories     35.7     P     P     P     P     N     N       Subjeten scutture     13.5     0.47     P     P     P     P     P       DKOPHYTA     N     N     13.5     0.47     P     N     P     P       Scenedesmus increase tubigs     13.5     0.47     P     N     P     P       DKOPHYTA     N     26.2     1.01     N     N     N       Scenedesmus increase tubigs     13.5     1.13     1.43     788     N.5       Scenedesmus increase tubigs     13.5     1.50     P     P     P       Glinodian sp.     23.5     1.30     65.2     0.30     N     N       Glinodian spinitos     62.4     0.15     N     N <td>Dinobryon sertularia</td> <td>11.8</td> <td>9.98</td> <td>N</td> <td>N</td> <td>N</td> <td>N</td>	Dinobryon sertularia	11.8	9.98	N	N	N	N
remain sp.         22.4         30.4         P         P         N         N         N           Clenoditum sp.         P         P         P         N         N         N         N         N         N           Coratium hirodineta         P         P         N         N         N         N         N         N           Trachelomonas planticonies         35.3         117         157         379         76.6         235           Dicko PH TA         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P	RROPHYTA	· · ·	<u>.</u>	_		_	
Contensional approximation         F         F         F         F         F         F         F         F         F         F         F         F         F         F         F         F         F         F         F         F         F         F         F         F         F         F         F         F         F         F         F         F         F         F         F         F         F         F         F         F         F         F         F         F         F         F         F         F         F         F         F         F         F         F         F         F         F         F         F         F         F         F         F         F         F         F         F         F         F         F         F         F         F         F         F         F         F         F         F         F         F         F         F         F         F         F         F         F         F         F         F         F         F         F         F         F         F         F         F         F         F         F         F         F         F </td <td>Peridinium sp. Glenodinium sp.</td> <td>22.4</td> <td>30.4</td> <td>P</td> <td>P</td> <td>N</td> <td>N</td>	Peridinium sp. Glenodinium sp.	22.4	30.4	P	P	N	N
Céreitine Himodineira         p         p         n         n         n         n         n         n         n         n         n         n         n         n         n         n         n         n         n         n         n         n         n         n         n         n         n         n         n         n         n         n         n         n         n         n         n         n         n         n         n         n         n         n         n         n         n         n         n         n         n         n         n         n         n         n         n         n         n         n         n         n         n         n         n         n         n         n         n         n         n         n         n         n         n         n         n         n         n         n         n         n         n         n         n         n         n         n         n         n         n         n         n         n         n         n         n         n         n         n         n         n         n         n         n	Grenodinium umberrimum	P P	r P	N	N	25.0 N	19.4 N
GLENOPHYTA         Difference         Difference <thdifferenc< th="">         Differenc         Differenc&lt;</thdifferenc<>	Ceratium hirundinella	P	P	Ň	N	N	N
Trachelomonas plantosas         35.3         117         197         379         76.6         235           Prachelomonas plantosas         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         Scancedosmus acruants         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N	GLENOPHYTA	-			-		••
Trachelomonta spunitosa         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         Somedesmus increase tubus increases tubus	Trachelomonas planctonica	35.3	117	197	379	76.6	235
Finite Struct         2.3.1         1.1.2         9.30         18.4         N         N         N           Spharocystis schrocystis schrocker in the schrole	Trachelomonas spinulosa	P	P	P	P	12.5	60.5
Dorb Of Privit TA         r         r         r         r         r         r         r         r         r         r         r         r         r         r         r         r         r         r         r         r         r         r         r         r         r         r         r         r         r         r         r         r         r         r         r         r         r         r         r         r         r         r         r         r         r         r         r         r         r         r         r         r         r         r         r         r         r         r         r         r         r         r         r         r         r         r         r         r         r         r         r         r         r         r         r         r         r         r         r         r         r         r         r         r         r         r         r         r         r         r         r         r         r         r         r         r         r         r         r         r         r         r         r         r         r	Fuelena acus	23. ( P	(1.4 P	0.00 D	18.4 D	N	N
Sphenrosystic schrocoteri         205         26.9         26.2         1.97         500         69.8           Sceneddsmus arcuntatics         N         N         N         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         Sceneddsmus arcuntation         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N	LOROPHYTA	-	•		1	r	r
Scenedesmus acunitation         12.8         0.47         N         N         P         P         85.9         56.59           Scenedesmus bijuga         115         1.03         117         1.43         788         10.9           Scenedesmus quadriculat         69.8         3.15         P         2         0.31         N         N           Scenedesmus quadriculat         69.8         3.15         P         2         0.32         1.01         N         N           Scenedesmus convolutus         21         1.30         85.2         0.30         73         10.4           Kitchneriella lunaris         6.41         0.15         N         N         N         125.1         39.2           Dictyospherium sp.         802         22.2         269         8.46         1251         39.2           Ocystit sp.         160         14.2         315         30.5         350         21.3         N           Binuclearia eriensis         N         N         N         P         P         N         N           Binuclearia eriensis         N         N         N         N         N         N         N           Dictyspheria sp.         6.	Sphaerocystis schroeteri	205	26.9	26.2	1.97	500	69.8
Schendesmus bijgg         N         N         N         P         P         B         B         B         B         B         B         B         B         B         B         B         B         B         B         B         B         B         B         B         B         B         B         B         B         B         B         B         B         B         B         B         B         B         B         B         B         B         B         B         B         B         B         B         B         B         B         B         B         B         B         B         B         B         B         B         B         B         B         B         B         B         B         B         B         B         B         B         B         B         B         B         B         B         B         B         B         B         B         B         B         B         B         B         B         B         B         B         B         B         B         B         B         B         B         B         B         B         B         B         B	Scenedesmus acuminatus	12.8	0.47	N	N	Р	Р
Sections in the Dipute production in the Dipute product is a product is a product in the Dipute product in the Dipute product is a product in the Dipute product in the Dipute prodipute Dipute product in the Dipute product in the Dipute produc	Scenedesmus arcuatus	N	N 1 02	P	P	87.9	6.59
Sciencidesmic quadricenada         69.8         3.16         P         P         113         5.78           Quadrigud. fosteroides         P         P         26.2         0.38         N         N           Ankistrodesmus convolutus         231         1.30         85.2         1.20         713         10.4           Kitchneriella elongata         N         N         N         N         N         25.7         0.38           Kitchneriella lanaris         6.41         0.15         N         N         25.7         0.39           Dictyosphaerium sp.         802         22.2         269         8.46         1251         39.2           Obeystis sp.         160         14.2         315         30.5         350         21.3           Binuclearia erienis         N         N         N         N         N         N         N           Pediastrum tetras         N         N         N         19.7         1.02         N         N           Pediastrum tetras         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         <	Scenedesmus incressatulus	115 N	1.03 N	26.2	1.43	788 N	10.9 N
Quadrigula closteroides         P         P         26.2         0.38         N         N           Ankistrodesmus convolutes         231         1.30         85.2         1.20         713         10.4           Kirchneriella longata         N         N         N         N         N         1.13         0.5           Kirchneriella lunaris         6.41         0.15         N         N         25.7         0.39           Dictycophaerium sp.         802         22.2         269         8.46         1251         39.2           Ocosystis sp.         160         14.2         315         30.5         350         21.3           Gloeotilla pelagice         83.4         1.59         N         N         N         N           Pediastrum boryanum         N         N         19.7         1.02         N         N           Relakatotriris sp.         6.41         0.27         N         N         N         N           Chanydomonas sp.         6.41         0.32         N         N         N         N           Chanydomonas sp.         6.41         0.19         N         N         N         N           Chanydomonas sp. <td< td=""><td>Scenedesmus quadricauda</td><td>69.8</td><td>3.16</td><td>P</td><td>P</td><td>113</td><td>5.78</td></td<>	Scenedesmus quadricauda	69.8	3.16	P	P	113	5.78
Ankistrodesmus convolutus         231         1.30         85.2         1.20         713         10.4           Koliella sp.,         33.5         1.50         P         P         62.5         3.1.7           Kirchneriella launaris         6.41         0.15         N         N         25.7         0.39           Kirchneriella launaris         6.41         0.15         N         N         25.7         0.39           Obeyotissp.         160         14.2         315         30.5         330.5         330.5         330.5         330.5         330.5         330.5         330.5         330.5         330.5         330.5         330.5         330.5         330.5         330.5         330.5         330.5         330.5         330.5         330.5         330.5         330.5         330.5         330.5         330.5         330.5         330.5         330.5         330.5         330.5         330.5         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N <td>Quadrigula closteroides</td> <td>Р</td> <td>Р</td> <td>26.2</td> <td>0.38</td> <td>N</td> <td>N</td>	Quadrigula closteroides	Р	Р	26.2	0.38	N	N
Kolella Sp.         38.5         1.50         P         P         62.5         3.17           Kirchneriella siongata         N         N         N         N         N         N         1.50         9         9         62.5         3.17         Kirchneriella siongata         0.39           Dictycephaerium sp.         802         22.2         259         8.46         1251         39.2         0.39           Gloeotilla pelagica         83.4         1.59         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N <td>Ankistrodesmus convolutus</td> <td>231</td> <td>1.30</td> <td>85.2</td> <td>1.20</td> <td>713</td> <td>10.4</td>	Ankistrodesmus convolutus	231	1.30	85.2	1.20	713	10.4
Internetical Bongata       N       N       N       N       N       S13       0.59         Dictysephaerium sp.       802       22.2       269       8.46       1251       33.2         Occystis sp.       160       14.2       313       30.5       350       21.3         Glocotilla pelagice       83.4       1.59       N       N       N       N         Binuclearia eriensis       N       N       N       N       N       N       N         Pediastrum tetras       N       N       N       1275       19.9       N       N         Pediastrum tetras       N       N       N       127.7       1.02       N       N         Pediastrum tetras       N       N       N       19.7       1.02       N       N         Retastruk glakum       P       P       N       N       N       N       N       N         Charytomones sp.et       6.41       0.27       N       N       N       N       N         Cagerheinin guadriseta       12.8       0.32       N       N       N       N       Charytomones sp.et       1.08       1.74       4.62       385       8.20 </td <td>Kollella sp.</td> <td>38.5</td> <td>1.50</td> <td>P</td> <td>P</td> <td>62.5</td> <td>3.17</td>	Kollella sp.	38.5	1.50	P	P	62.5	3.17
Dictysephaerium sp.         802         22.2         269         6.46         1251         39.2           Ocoystis sp.         160         14.2         315         30.5         30.5         30.2         30.5           Glocotilla pelagica         83.4         1.59         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         <	Kirchneriella lunaris	6 41	0.15	N	N	51.3 25.7	0.59
Occystis sp.         160         14.2         315         30.5         550         21.3           Gloeotilla pelagica         83.4         1.59         N         N         N           Binuclearia eriensis         N         N         19.9         19.2         2.43           Pediastrum tetras         N         N         P         P         N         N           Pediastrum boryanum         N         N         N         19.7         1.02         N         N           Relakatothris sp.         N         N         19.7         1.02         N         N           Chlanydomonas sp.         6.41         0.27         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N <td< td=""><td>Dictyosphaerium sp.</td><td>802</td><td>22.2</td><td>269</td><td>8.46</td><td>1251</td><td>39.2</td></td<>	Dictyosphaerium sp.	802	22.2	269	8.46	1251	39.2
Glocotilla pelagica         83.4         1.59         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N <td>Oocystis sp.</td> <td>160</td> <td>14.2</td> <td>315</td> <td>30.5</td> <td>350</td> <td>21.3</td>	Oocystis sp.	160	14.2	315	30.5	350	21.3
Bunclearia eriensis         N         N         1275         19,9         19,2         2,43           Pediastrum boryanum         N         N         P         P         N         N           Pediastrum boryanum         N         N         N         P         P         N         N           Pediastrum boryanum         N         N         N         N         1.08         N         N           Chlanydomonas sp.         6.41         0.27         N         N         N         N         N         N           Charactimus p.         6.41         0.12         N         N         N         N         N         N           Crucigenia rectangularis         22.1         0.19         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N <td>Gloeotilla pelagica</td> <td>83.4</td> <td>1.59</td> <td>N</td> <td>N</td> <td>N</td> <td>N</td>	Gloeotilla pelagica	83.4	1.59	N	N	N	N
Teubasi un teubo         N         N         P         P         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N	Binuclearia eriensis Rediestrum tetres	N	N	1275	19.9	19.2	2.43
Blakatothrix sp.         N         N         19.7         1.02         N         N           Tetrastsruk glabrum         P         P         N         N         N         N         N           Tetrastsruk glabrum         P         P         N         N         N         N           Chlanydomaas sp.         6.41         0.27         N         N         N         N           Lagerheimis quadriseta         12.8         0.32         N         N         N         N           Charactium sp.         6.41         0.19         N         N         N         N           Crucigenia rectangularis         32.1         0.19         157         4.62         385         8.20           Crucigenia rectangularis         32.1         0.19         157         4.62         385         8.20           Closterium actum         P         P         N         N         N         N         N           Closterium actum         P         P         N         N         N         N         N           Staurastrum spinilosum         N         N         N         P         P         N         N           Colosterium sp.	Pediastrum borvanum	N	N	r p	P	N	N
Tetrastruk glabrum         P         P         N         N         50.0         1.08           Chlanydomonas sp.         6.41         0.27         N         N         N         N         N           Lagerheimia quadriseta         12.8         0.32         N         N         N         N         N           Crucigenia rectangularis         32.1         0.19         N         N         N         N         N           Crucigenia tetrapedia         51.3         0.38         N         N         100         1.14           Glenodinium sp.         P         P         N         N         N         N           Tetraedron minium p         P         P         P         N         N         N           Tetraedron minium         N         N         S.56         2.85         N         N           Tetraedron minium         N         N         P         P         N         N         N           Costarium spinulosum         P         P         N         N         N         N         N         N         N           Costarium sp.         N         N         N         N         N         N         N <td>Elakatothrix sp.</td> <td>N</td> <td>N</td> <td>19.7</td> <td>1.02</td> <td>N</td> <td>N</td>	Elakatothrix sp.	N	N	19.7	1.02	N	N
Chlanydomonas sp.         6.41         0.27         N         N         N         N         N           Lagerheimia quadriseta         12.8         0.32         N         N         N         N         N           Characium sp.         6.41         0.19         N         N         N         N         N           Crucigenia tetrapedia         51.3         0.38         N         N         N         100         1.14           Genodinium sp.         P         P         N         N         N         N         N           Closterium actum         P         P         P         N         N         N         N           Colosterium actum         P         P         P         N         N         N         N           Colosterium spinulosum         N         N         N         P         P         N         N           Costerium spinulosum         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N           Costerium spinulosum         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N           Closterium spinulosum         N         N         <	Tetrastsruk glabrum	Р	Р	N	N	50.0	1.08
Lagerneima quadriseta         12.8         0.32         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N<	Chianydomonas sp.	6.41	0.27	N	N	N	N
Characterium sp.         0.41         0.19         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N	Lagerheimia quadriseta	12.8	0.32	N	N	N	N
Crucigenia tetrapedia         51.3         0.13         1.02         383         8.20           Crucigenia tetrapedia         51.3         0.38         N         N         100         1.14           Glenodinium sp.         P         P         P         N         N         N         N           Closterium actum         P         P         P         P         P         N         N         N           Mougeotia sp.         P         P         P         N         N         N         N           Mougeotia sp.         N         N         N         Sold         2.85         N         N           Staurstrum spinulosum         N         N         P         P         N         N           Costerium sp.         N         N         N         P         P         N         N           Costerium sp.         N         N         N         N         N         P         P           Reudanabaena sp.         1449         11.6         85.2         0.68         10142         92.4           Aphanizomenom flos-aquae         526         180         19301         498         4662         10 <t< td=""><td>Crucizenia rectangularis</td><td>0.41 32.1</td><td>0.19</td><td>N 157</td><td>N 4 69</td><td>N 205</td><td>N 8 90</td></t<>	Crucizenia rectangularis	0.41 32.1	0.19	N 157	N 4 69	N 205	N 8 90
Glenodinium sp.PPPNNNNClosterium actumPPPPPPNNNMougeotia sp.PPPPPPNNNNMougeotia sp.PPPPNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNN	Crucigenia tetrapedia	51.3	0.38	N	N 1.52	100	1.14
Closterium actum         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N	Glenodinium sp.	Р	Р	N	N	N	N
retraction manumum         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         P         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N	Closterium actum	P	Р	P	P	N	N
moneyouts sy.         r         r         r         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         <	Nourceotia sp	P	р Ч	P	P	N	N
Coelosstrum cambricum         N         N         P         P         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         D         D         D         D	Treubaria varia	r N	r N	N 6 56	N 2.85	N	N
Staurestrum sp.         N         N         N         P         P         N         N           Sorastrum spinulosum         P         P         P         N         N         N           Cosmarium sp.         N         N         N         P         P         N         N           Cosmarium sp.         N         N         N         P         P         N         N           var variabile         N         N         N         N         N         P         P           Cosmarium sp.         N         N         N         N         P         P           Cosmarium sp.         N         N         N         N         P         P           Cosmarium sp.         N         N         N         N         P         P           ANOPHYTA	Coeloastrum cambricum	N	Ň	P	P	N	N
Sorestrum spinulosum         P         P         N         N         N           Cosmarium sp.         N         N         N         P         P         N         N           var variabile         N         N         N         N         N         N           Var variabile         N         N         N         N         P         P           Costerium actum         N         N         N         N         P         P           Closterium sp.         N         N         N         N         P         P           Costamarium sp.         N         N         N         N         P         P           Socidantiamsp.         1449         11.6         85.2         0.68         10142         92.4           Aphanizomenom flos-aquae         526         180         19301         498         4662         170           Gomphosphaeria naegetianum         345         1.16         446         1.49         705         2.36           Dactylococceus dispersus         323         1.32         184         1.39         638         4.41           Anabeena sp.         1122         71.6         275         29.3	Staurastrum sp.	N	N	P	P	N	N
Costnerium sp.         N         N         N         P         P         P         N         N         N           Var variabile         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         P         P         P         Closterium sp.         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         Signature         N         N         N         N         N         N         Signature         Signature         Sig	Sorastrum spinulosum		NT.	P	P	N	N
var variabile         N         N         N         N         N         P         P           Closterium sp.         N         N         N         N         N         N         P         P           Cosmarium sp.         N         N         N         N         N         N         P         P           Cosmarium sp.         N         N         N         N         N         P         P           ANOPHYTA         Pseudanabaena sp.         1449         11.6         85.2         0.68         10142         92.4           Aphanizomenom flos-aquae         526         180         19301         498         4662         170           Gomphosphaeria naegelianum         345         1.16         446         1.49         705         2.36           Dactylococcus sp.         423         3.29         N         N         N         N           Chroococcus dispersus         323         1.32         184         1.39         633         4.41           Anabeena sp.         1122         71.6         275         16.7         P         P         P         Anabeena planctonica         P         P         N         N         N	Cosnarium sp. Closterium actum	N	N	P	Р	N	N
Closterium sp.         N         N         N         N         N         N         P         P           Cosmarium sp.         N         N         N         N         N         N         P         P           Rosemarium sp.         N         N         N         N         N         N         P         P           Pseudanabaena sp.         1449         11.6         85.2         0.68         10142         92.4           Aphanizomenom flos-aquae         526         180         19301         498         4662         170           Gomphosphaeria naegetianum         345         1.16         446         1.49         705         2.36           Dactylococcus sp.         423         3.29         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N	var variabile	N	N	N	N	p	P
Cosmarium sp. NNOPHYTA         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N	Closterium sp.	N	N	N	Ň	P	p
NOPHYTA         Pseudanabaena sp.       1449       11.6       85.2       0.68       10142       92.4         Aphanizomenom flos-aquae       526       180       19301       498       4662       170         Gomphosphaeria naegelianum       345       1.16       446       1.49       705       2.36         Dactylococcus sp.       423       3.29       N       N       N       N         Chroococcus dispersus       323       1.32       184       1.39       638       4.41         Anabaena sp.       1122       71.6       275       16.7       P       P         Unidentified akinete (2)       N       N       52.5       29.3       N       N         Anabaena planctonica       P       P       N       N       N       N         Oscillatoria sp.       P       P       N       N       N       N       N         Lyngbya sp.       P       P       N       N       N       N       N       N         Chroococccus limiteius       N       N       N       N       N       N       N         Unidentified       N       N       P       P       N	Cosmarium sp.	N	N	N	Ν	P	P
rsecondinamenta sp.         1449         11.5         85.2         0.68         10142         92.4           Aphanizomenom flos-aquae         526         180         19301         498         4662         170           Gomphosphaeria naegelianum         345         1.16         446         1.49         705         2.36           Dactylococcus sp.         423         3.29         N         N         N         N           Chroococcus dispersus         323         1.32         184         1.39         638         4.41           Anabaena sp.         1122         71.6         275         16.7         P         P           Unidentified akinete (2)         N         N         S2.5         29.3         N         N           Coscillatoria sp.         P         P         N         N         N         N           Chroococcus limaticus         N         N         N         N         N         N           Coscillatoria sp.         P         P         N         N         N         N           Lyngbya sp.         P         P         N         N         N         N         N           Chroococcus linneticus         N	ANOPHYTA Broudensbrone an	1440	11.0		0.00		
Anabaena planctonica         P         P         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N	rseudanabaena sp. Aphanizomenom flos-eques	1449	11.6	85.2	0.68	10142	92.4
Dactylococcus sp.         423         3.29         N         N         N         N           Chroococcus dispersus         323         1.32         184         1.39         638         4.41           Anabeena sp.         1122         71.6         275         16.7         P         P           Unidentified akinete (2)         N         N         N         S2.5         29.3         N         N           Anabeena sp.         122         71.6         275         16.7         P         P           Unidentified akinete (2)         N         N         S2.5         29.3         N         N           Anabeena planctonica         P         P         S2.4         12.0         327         74.8           Oscillatoria sp.         P         P         N         N         N         N           Lyngbya sp.         P         P         N         N         N         N           Chroococcus limiteitous         N         N         N         N         N         N           Unidentified         N         N         P         P         N         N           Unidentified         N         N         N	Gomphosphaeria naegelianum	345	1.16	19301 44R	498	4662	170 26
Chroococcus dispersus         323         1.32         184         1.39         638         4.41           Anabaena sp.         1122         71.6         275         16.7         P         P           Unidentified akinete (2)         N         N         52.5         29.3         N         N           Anabaena sp.         Difference         P         P         52.4         12.0         327         74.8           Oscillatoria sp.         P         P         N         N         N         N           Lyngbya sp.         P         P         N         N         N         N           Chroococcus linneticus         N         N         164         0.85         N         N           Marssoniella elegans         N         N         P         P         N         N         N           Unidentified         N         N         P         P         N         N         N           Merismopedia sp.         N         N         N         P         P         P         P	Dactylococcus sp.	423	3.29	N	N	N	N 21.55
Anabeena sp.         1122         71.6         275         16.7         P         P           Unidentified akinete (2)         N         N         52.5         29.3         N         N           Anabeena planctonica         P         P         52.4         12.0         327         74.8           Anabeena planctonica         P         P         S2.4         12.0         327         74.8           Oscillatoria sp.         P         P         N         N         N         N           Lyngbya sp.         P         P         N         N         N         N           Chroococcus limneticus         N         N         N         N         N         N           Unidentified         N         N         P         P         N         N           Unidentified         N         N         P         P         N         N           Marssoniella elegans         N         N         P         P         P         P           Merismopedia sp.         N         N         N         P         P         P	Chroococcus dispersus	323	1.32	184	1.39	638	4.41
Unidentified akinete (2)         N         N         S2,5         29,3         N         N           Anabeen planctonica         P         P         S2,4         12.0         327         74,8           Oscillatoria sp.         P         P         N         N         N         N           Lyngbya sp.         P         P         N         N         N         N           Chrococcus linneticus         N         N         N         N         N         N           Marssoniella elegans         N         N         P         P         N         N           Unidentified         N         N         P         P         N         N           Merisnopedia sp.         N         N         N         P         P         P	Anabaena sp.	1122	71.6	275	16.7	Р	Р
P         P         P         52.4         12.0         327         74.8           Oscillatoria sp.         P         P         N         N         N         N           Lyngbya sp.         P         P         N         N         N         N           Chrocococcus limeticus         N         N         N         N         N         N           Marssoniella elegans         N         N         P         P         N         N         N           Unidentified         N         N         P         P         N         N           Merismopedia sp.         N         N         N         P         P         N         N	Unidentified akinete (2)	N	N	52.5	29.3	N	N
Lyngbya sp. P P P N N N N Chroococcus linneticus N N N 164 0.85 N N Marssoniella elegans N N P P N N N Unidentified N N P P N N N Merismopedia sp. N N N P P P	Anauaena plancionica Oscillatoría sp.	P	P V	52.4	12.0	327	74.8
Chroococcus limneticus     N     N     164     0.85     N     N       Marssoniella elegans     N     N     P     P     N     N       Unidentified     N     N     P     P     N     N       Merismopedia sp.     N     N     P     P     P	Lyngbya sp.	P	p	N	N	NN	N
Marssoniella elegans     N     N     P     P     N     N       Unidentified     N     N     P     P     N     N       Merismopedia sp.     N     N     N     P     P	Chroococcus limneticus	Ň	Ň	164	0.85	N	N
Unidentified N N P P N N Merismopedia sp. N N N N P P P	Marssoniella elegans	N	N	P	P	N	N
Merismopedia sp. N N N N P P	Unidentified	N	N	Р	P	N	N
TAL 6539 951 93.477 1001	merismopedia sp.	N	N	N	N	Р	Р
TAL 65 470 1001		0-00	051				

Table G3 Cell counts (cells·mL⁻¹) and cell volumes (µm³·10³·mL⁻¹) of phytoplankton from Poplar Creek Reservoir (Station PCR-P), 1984.

P = present but not encountered in routine cell counts; N = not observed.

## APPENDIX H

# ZOOBENTHOS MULTIVARIATE ANALYSES

By

Dr. J. Ciborowski

#### APPENDIX H

#### ZOOBENTHOS MULTIVARIATE ANALYSES

Resolution of the 19 lotic benthic stations within the Syncrude Development area into discrete groupings based on composition of abundant zoobenthos taxa was good in spring and summer, but poor in fall. In spring, both principal component analysis (PCA, Figure H1) and similarity analysis (SA, Figure H2) detected two groupings of benthic stations (A/B and C/D/E, separated by a solid line). The first principal component axis accounted for 39.0% of variation among stations. High scores along this axis were positively correlated with abundance of **Baetis**, Simuliidae, Chironomidae, and Oligochaeta, and were negatively correlated with abundance of Caenis. Included in the former grouping were the two upstream MacKay River stations (MR-B3 and MR-B4), MacKay River tributary stations (M2-B and M6-B), and station WID-B1. These stations were characterized by moderate to rapid flow over relatively unsilted substrate; both are factors conducive to development of a strongly rheophilic fauna. Within this grouping, two subgroups (A and B) were discerned. These were separated along the second principal component, which accounted for 25.6% of variation. High scores were associated with high densities of Simuliidae, whereas low scores were correlated with abundant Oligochaeta and Chironomidae populations. Stations in one subgroup (A) included MR-B3, MR-B4, M2-B, DR-B, PC-B1, and PC-B2. These stations exhibit a relatively wide, exposed, shallow channel form that provides ample solar radiation to permit a large degree

CODE	STATION	CODE	STATION
1	MR-B1	10	PC-B3
2	MR-B2	11	PC-B4
3	MR-B3	12	WID-B1
4	MR-B4	13	W3-B
5	M2-B	14	WID-B2
6	DA-B	15	BRC-B
7	M6-B	16	LBC-B2
8	PC-B1	17	LBC-B1
9	PC-B2	18	UBC-B
		19	B1-B



E

t

I

I

I

I

ł

I

I

I

Figure H1 Principal component analysis of benthic samples in study area, 1984.

ł

I

l

l

I

1

t

I



I

ł

ŧ

I

f

1



f

ł

of autotrophy. These factors enhance the development of a high quality seston source, which is of major importance in filter-feeding based benthic communities. The remaining three stations (Group B) were not well clustered. Stations M6-B and WID-B1 were structurally dissimilar, but both received poor quality carbon inputs from upstream sources — a beaver pond in the former instance, and stands of macrophytes in the latter. Zoobenthos at station LBC-B2 were highly autotrophic, which may be the result of abundant growths of periphyton on the rock substrates inhibiting development of a dense filter-feeding population.

Stations that clustered in the second major grouping (C/D/E) could also be subdivided. The separation cannot be ascribed to abundance or rarity of any single taxonomic group, except in the case of UBC-B (subgroup E), where **Caenis** was abundant. Clustering of stations within subgroup C was somewhat anomalous from a structural perspective. Stations MR-B1 and LBC-B1 were both moderate-flow stations that showed evidence of siltation; however, the closely clustered station WID-B2 was markedly depositional, with minimal flow and dense macrophytic growth. With regard to subgroup D, stations PC-B3, PC-B4, and BRC-B were similar in terms of flow, substrate composition, and shading, yet the biotic similarity of these with MR-B2 (a wide, fast-flowing, silted station) and W3-B (an open, dystrophic, depositional station) cannot readily be explained.

Similarity analysis of summer data provided discrete clustering of stations into five general groups (A to E; Figure H2). The MacKay River

mainstem and Dover River stations formed a single group (A) of high similarity. These were linked to a second group (B) consisting of smaller creeks that had an open canopy and moderate flow over gravel or cobble substrate (stations M2-B, B1-B, WID-B1, and LBC-B1). The downstream Poplar Creek stations (PC-B1 and PC-B2) were similar to each other (group C), but joined the above two groups at a relatively low level of similarity.

Small shaded creeks with moderate flow and low overall benthic densities formed a fourth group (D; stations PC-B3, PC-B4, and BRC-B). The remaining group (E) consisted of the depositional stations (W3-B, WID-B2, UBC-B) and two small creeks with erosional characteristics but high organic input from either autochthonous (LBC-B2) or allochthonous (M6-B) sources.

Principal component analysis of the summer data accounted for 56.1% of variation among stations. The first principal component axis accounted for 30.1% and was positively correlated with abundance of Chironomidae and Oligochaeta, but negatively associated with **Baetis**, **Tricorythodes** (Ephemeroptera), and Simuliidae. Depositional stations tended to have high densities of the former organisms and formed a fairly compact group (E; Figure H1). The second principal component accounted for 26.0% of variation among stations. High scores were positively associated with abundance of filter-feeding organisms (Simuliidae, **Hydra**) and **Tricorythodes**, whereas low scores correlated with the mayfly **Ephemerella** and detritivorus plecopterans. Two diffuse groupings could

be distinguished on the basis of this axis. The first (A/B; solid circle) consisted of open-canopy, erosional stations, which presumably are capable of maintaining a high quality seston supply resulting from periphytic growth on hard substrates. MacKay River mainstem stations (MR-B1 to MR-B4), DR-B, and PC-B1 appeared to form a subgroup (A; dashed circle) within this cluster. The smaller streams and PC-B2 seemed to fall within another subgroup (B; dashed circle), having higher densities of Chironomidae. This subgrouping may reflect differences in the amount of particulate detrital material in substrates. The second grouping (D) consisted of shaded, erosional stations, where benthic communities likely rely heavily on allochthonous energy inputs.

Analysis of fall data provided relatively poor resolution of station groupings. Principal component analysis accounted for 46.3% of variation among stations. The first principal component accounted for 25.6% of variation and was positively correlated with abundance of the mayflies **Tricorythodes** and **Caenis**, Chironomidae, and Oligochaeta. Stations MR-B1, MR-B4, PC-B2, and UBC-B could be distinguished from other stations as supporting these taxa in abundance, yet they were dissimilar to one another (Figure H2). The second principal component was positively correlated with Oligochaeta abundance, but negatively correlated with abundance of Simuliidae, Baetidae, and **Tricorythodes**. Stations M2-B, PC-B1, B1-B, and WID-B1 exhibited similar high Simuliidae densities and low Oligochaeta abundance (group A; Figure H1). Large Oligochaeta populations were found at stations M6-B, PC-B2, PC-B3, W3-B, WID-B2, LBC-B1, LBC-B2, and UBC-B (group C); these stations also supported low to moderate densities of mayflies. A third grouping (D) showed relatively high interstation similarity (stations MR-B2, MR-B3, DR-B, and BRC-B; Figure H2), and formed an intermediate cluster between the other two groupings (Figure H1).

Grouping on the basis of zoobenthic composition could not be related to structural or geographic characteristics of stations during fall. This may be partly because the taxa that best separated stations (excepting Simuliidae) are forms that overwinter as immatures and rely largely on detrital material for nutrients. Furthermore, few of these taxa actually grow during the winter months. It is possible that the distribution of overwintering organisms among stations is more constrained by microtopographical features that contribute to factors such as winter discharge conditions, depth of ice formation, groundwater inputs, and severity of spring runoff, than by aspects of the stream habitats themselves. Analysis of such features, however, is beyond the scope of the present study.

## **Conditions of Use**

R.L. & L. Environmental Services Ltd. and A.A. Aquatic Research Ltd., 1985. A study of aquatic environments in the Syncrude development area, 1984. Syncrude Canada Ltd., Edmonton, Alberta. Environmental Research Monograph 1985-3. 361 pp. plus appendices

Permission for non-commercial use, publication or presentation of excerpts or figures is granted, provided appropriate attribution (as above) is cited. Commercial reproduction, in whole or in part, is not permitted without prior written consent.

The use of these materials by the end user is done without any affiliation with or endorsement by Syncrude Canada Ltd. Reliance upon the end user's use of these materials is at the sole risk of the end user.